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EXPLANATORY NOTE

Capital City Bank Group, Inc. (the “Company”) is filing this Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A (the “Amendment” or
“Form10-K/A”) to amend and restate certain items in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2022,originally filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 1, 2023 (the “Original Form 10-
K”).Except as described below, no other information included in the Original Form 10-K is being amended or updated by
thisAmendment and this Amendment does not purport to reflect any information or events subsequent to the filing of the
OriginalForm 10-
K.
Restatement Background

As previously disclosed in the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 13, 2023, the
Companyidentified certain inter-company transactions between its subsidiaries, Capital City Home Loans Inc. (“CCHL”), and Capital
CityBank (“CCB”), involving residential mortgage loan purchases that were not properly recorded. The inaccuracies
materiallyimpacted the Company’s previously issued financial statements as of and for the annual period ended December 31, 2022,
thethree months ended March 31, 2022 and 2023, the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2023, and the three and
ninemonths ended September 30, 2022 (the “Impacted Financials”). In connection with these transactions, CCHL recorded
mortgagebanking revenue and a mortgage servicing right. On an ongoing basis, CCHL recognized noninterest income for servicing
theseloans on behalf of
CCB.
Because these inter-company transactions were not properly eliminated and net loan fees were not properly
recorded,management, after discussion with the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, FORVIS, LLP
(“FORVIS”),and the chair of the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, determined that the Impacted Financials should
nolonger be relied upon, and certain consolidated statement of financial condition line items, including loans, allowance for
creditlosses, other assets, other liabilities, and equity, and consolidated statement of income line items, including mortgage
bankingrevenues, loan interest income, compensation expense, other income, income taxes, and net income, needed to be restated.
Foradditional information on the restatements, see “Part II – Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary – Note 1 –
Restatementof Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” in this Form 10-
K/A.
The Company determined that it would file amendments to the Original Form 10-K and its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q
forthe three months ended March 31, 2023 and the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, including restated financial
statementsand related disclosures (collectively, the “Amended Reports”). All material restatement information will be included in
theAmended Reports, and we do not intend to separately amend the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q that the Company
haspreviously filed with the SEC for the three months ended March 31, 2022, the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, and
thethree and nine months ended September 30, 2022 (collectively, the “2022 Form 10-Qs”). As a result, the 2022 Form 10-Qs
shouldno longer be relied
upon.
Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial
Statements
This Form 10-K/A includes audited restated consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022, as well
asunaudited restated interim financial information for the quarterly periods in 2022. In addition to correcting the
accountingtreatment for the inter-company transactions described above, the restated consolidated financial statements for the year
endedDecember 31, 2022 included herein also correct previously identified errors that the Company determined to be immaterial,
bothindividually and in the aggregate.

For additional information on the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 and
thequarterly consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022, see Note 24 in “Part II – Item 8,
FinancialStatements and Supplementary Data” in this Form 10-
K/A.
This Form 10-K/A also amends and restates the following items included in the Original Form 10-K as appropriate to reflect
therestatement and revision of the relevant periods: Item 1. Business; Item 1A. Risk Factors; Item 6. Selected Financial Data; Item
7.Management’s Discussions and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations; Item 8. Financial Statements
andSupplementary Data; Item 9A. Controls and Procedures: and Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement
Schedules.
In accordance with Rule 12b-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), the Company
isalso including with this Form 10-K/A currently dated certifications of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and
ChiefFinancial Officer (attached as Exhibits 31.1, 31.2, 32.1, and 32.2). This Form 10-K/A also contains a modified report
fromFORVIS on the consolidated financial statements for years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, a
modifiedFORVIS opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022
andDecember 31, 2021, and a new consent of
FORVIS.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3

Except as discussed above and as further described herein, the Company has not modified or updated the disclosures presented
inthe Original Form 10-K. Accordingly, this Form 10-K/A does not reflect events occurring after the filing of the Original Form
10-K or modify or update those disclosures affected by any such subsequent events. Information not affected by the
restatementsreflects disclosures made at the time of the filing of the Original Form 10-K. Forward-looking statements included in this
Form10-K/A represent management’s views as of the date of the Original Form 10-K and should not be assumed to be accurate as
ofany date thereafter. This Amendment No. 1 should be read in conjunction with the Company's filings made with the
SECsubsequent to the filing of the Original Form 10-K, including any amendment to those
filings.
Control Considerations

In connection with the restatements discussed above, management has re-assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s
internalcontrol over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2022. Based on this assessment,
theCompany identified a material weakness in its internal control over financial reporting for inter-company mortgage sales
andservicing. As a result, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer concluded that the internal control over financial reporting
anddisclosure controls and procedures were not effective in 2022 and continuing during the periods covered by the
ImpactedFinancials. Management has taken steps towards remediating the material weakness in the Company’s internal control
overfinancial reporting. For additional information related to the material weakness in internal control over financial and the
relatedremedial measures, see “Part II – Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.”
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INTRODUCTORY NOTE

This Annual Report on Form 10-K/A contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private
SecuritiesLitigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements include, among others, statements about our beliefs,
plans,objectives, goals, expectations, estimates and intentions that are subject to significant risks and uncertainties and are subject
tochange based on various factors, many of which are beyond our control. The words “may,” “could,” “should,”
“would,”“believe,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “target,” “vision,” “goal,” and similar expressions are intended
toidentify forward-looking
statements.
All forward-looking statements, by their nature, are subject to risks and uncertainties. Our actual future results may
differmaterially from those set forth in our forward-looking
statements.
In addition to those risks discussed in this Annual Report under Item 1A Risk Factors, factors that could cause our actual
resultsto differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements, include, without
limitation:

● our ability to successfully manage credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, and other risks inherent to our
industry;● legislative or regulatory
changes;● changes in monetary and fiscal policies of the U.S.
Government;● inflation, interest rate, market and monetary fluctuations;

● the effects of security breaches and computer viruses that may affect our computer systems or fraud related to debit
cardproducts;

● the accuracy of our financial statement estimates and assumptions, including the estimates used for our allowance
forcredit losses, deferred tax asset valuation and pension
plan;● changes in our liquidity
position;● changes in accounting principles, policies, practices or
guidelines;● the frequency and magnitude of foreclosure of our
loans;● the effects of our lack of a diversified loan portfolio, including the risks of loan segments, geographic and
industryconcentrations;

● the strength of the United States economy in general and the strength of the local economies in which we
conductoperations; 

● our ability to declare and pay dividends, the payment of which is subject to our capital
requirements;● changes in the securities and real estate
markets;● structural changes in the markets for origination, sale and servicing of residential 
mortgages;● uncertainty in the pricing of residential mortgage loans that we sell, as well as competition for the mortgage
servicingrights related to these loans and related interest rate risk or price risk resulting from retaining mortgage servicing rights
andthe potential effects of higher interest rates on our loan origination 
volumes;● the effect of corporate restructuring, acquisitions or dispositions, including the actual restructuring and other
relatedcharges and the failure to achieve the expected gains, revenue growth or expense savings from such
corporaterestructuring, acquisitions or dispositions;

● the effects of natural disasters, harsh weather conditions (including hurricanes), widespread health emergencies
(includingpandemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic), military conflict, terrorism, civil unrest or other geopolitical
events;● our ability to comply with the extensive laws and regulations to which we are subject, including the laws for each
jurisdiction where we operate;

● the impact of the restatement of the Impacted
Financials;● any inability to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and/or disclosure control
orinability to remediate any existing material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and/or
disclosurecontrols deemed
ineffective;● the willingness of clients to accept third-party products and services rather than our products and services and vice
versa;● increased competition and its effect on
pricing;● technological
changes;● the outcomes of litigation or regulatory
proceedings;● negative publicity and the impact on our
reputation;● changes in consumer spending and saving habits;

● growth and profitability of our noninterest
income;● the limited trading activity of our common
stock;● the concentration of ownership of our common
stock;● anti-takeover provisions under federal and state law as well as our Articles of Incorporation and our
Bylaws;● other risks described from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission;
and● our ability to manage the risks involved in the
foregoing.
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However, other factors besides those listed
in

Item 1A Risk
Factors

 or discussed in this Annual Report also could adversely
affectour results, and you should not consider any such list of factors to be a complete set of all potential risks or uncertainties. 

Anyforward-looking statements made by us or on our behalf speak only as of the date they are made. We do not undertake to
updateany forward-looking statement, except as required by applicable
law.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

About
Us

General

Capital City Bank Group, Inc. (“CCBG”) is a financial holding company headquartered in Tallahassee, Florida. CCBG
wasincorporated under Florida law on December 13, 1982, to acquire five national banks and one state bank that all
subsequentlybecame part of CCBG’s bank subsidiary, Capital City Bank (“CCB” or the “Bank”). The Bank commenced operations in 1895.
Inthis report, the terms “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” mean CCBG and all subsidiaries included in our consolidated
financialstatements.

CCBG is one of the largest publicly traded financial holding companies headquartered in Florida and has approximately
$4.5billion in assets. We provide a full range of banking services, including traditional deposit and credit services, mortgage
banking,asset management, trust, merchant services, bankcards, securities brokerage services and financial advisory services, including
thesale of life insurance, risk management and asset protection services. The Bank has 58 banking offices and 89 ATMs/ITMs 
inFlorida, Georgia, and Alabama. Through Capital City Home Loans, LLC (“CCHL”), we have 33 additional offices in
theSoutheast for our mortgage banking business. The majority of the revenue (excluding CCHL), approximately 86%, is
derivedfrom our Florida market areas while approximately 13% and 1% of the revenue is derived from our Georgia and other
marketareas, respectively. Approximately 54% of the revenue (as restated) from CCHL is derived from our Georgia market areas
whileapproximately 38% and 8% is derived from our Florida and other market areas, 
respectively.
Below is a summary of our financial condition and results of operations for the past three fiscal years, which we believe is
asufficient period for understanding our general business development. Our financial condition and results of operations are
morefully discussed in our Management’s Discussion and Analysis on page 40 and our consolidated financial statements on page
64.
Dollars in millions

Year Ended
December 31,
 

Assets Deposits
Shareowners’

Equity Revenue (1) Net Income
2022 (As Restated) $4,519.2 $3,939.3 $387.3 $207.1 $33.4 

2021 $4,263.8 $3,712.9 $383.2 $213.9 $33.4 
2020 $3,798.1 $3,217.6 $320.8 $217.4 $31.6 

(1)Revenue represents interest income plus noninterest
income

Dividends and management fees received from the Bank are CCBG’s primary source of income. Dividend payments by the
Bankto CCBG depend on the capitalization, earnings and projected growth of the Bank, and are limited by various
regulatoryrestrictions, including compliance with a minimum Common Equity Tier 1 Capital conservation buffer. See the section
entitled“Regulatory Considerations” in this Item 1 and Note 17 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of
therestrictions.
 
Item 6 contains other financial and statistical information about
us.
Subsidiaries of CCBG
 
CCBG’s principal asset is the capital stock of CCB, our wholly owned banking subsidiary, which accounted for nearly 100%
ofconsolidated assets and net income attributable to CCBG at December 31, 2022. CCBG also maintains an insurance
subsidiary,Capital City Strategic Wealth, LLC. CCB has two primary subsidiaries, which are wholly owned, Capital City Trust 
Companyand Capital City Investments. CCB also maintains a 51% membership interest in a consolidated subsidiary, CCHL, which
weacquired on March 1, 2020. The nature of these subsidiaries is provided below.
 
Operating Segment

We have one reportable segment with two principal services: Banking Services and Wealth Management Services. 
BankingServices are operated at CCB, and Wealth Management Services are operated under three separate subsidiaries (Capital
CityTrust Company, Capital City Investments, and Capital City Strategic Wealth, LLC). Revenues from these principal services
forthe year ended 2022 totaled approximately 90.3% and 9.7% of our total revenue, respectively. In 2021 and 2020,
BankingServices (CCB) revenue was approximately 93.2% and 94.7% of our total revenue for each respective year.
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Capital City Bank

CCB is a Florida-chartered full-service bank engaged in the commercial and retail banking business. Significant services
offeredby CCB include:

● Business
Banking

 – We provide banking services to corporations and other business clients. Credit products are
availablefor a wide variety of general business purposes, including financing for commercial business properties,

equipment,inventories and accounts receivable, as well as commercial leasing and letters of credit. We also provide 
treasurymanagement services, and, through a marketing alliance with Elavon, Inc., merchant credit card transaction
processingservices.

● Commercial Real Estate
Lending

 – We provide a wide range of products to meet the financing needs of
commercialdevelopers and investors, residential builders and developers, and community development. Credit products are

availableto purchase land and build structures for business use and for investors who are developing residential or
commercialproperty.

● Residential Real Estate
Lending

 – We provide products through our strategic alliance with CCHL and its
existingnetwork of locations to help meet the home financing needs of consumers, including conventional permanent

andconstruction/ permanent (fixed, adjustable, or variable rate) financing arrangements, and FHA/VA/Government 
NationalMortgage Association (“GNMA”) loan products. We offer both fixed and adjustable rate residential mortgage
(ARM)loans. We offer these products through our existing network of CCHL locations. We do not originate 
subprimeresidential real estate loans.
 

● Retail Credit  – We provide a full-range of loan products to meet the needs of consumers, including personal 
loans,automobile loans, boat/RV loans, home equity loans, and through a marketing alliance with ELAN, we offer credit

cardprograms.

● Institutional Banking
–

We provide banking services to meet the needs of state and local governments, public
schoolsand colleges, charities, membership and not-for-profit associations including customized checking and savings

accounts,cash management systems, tax-exempt loans, lines of credit, and term 
loans.

● Retail
Banking

– We provide a full-range of consumer banking services, including checking accounts, savings
programs,interactive/automated teller machines (ATMs/ITMs), debit/credit cards, night deposit services, safe deposit

facilities,online banking, and mobile banking.

Capital City Trust
Company
Capital City Trust Company, or the Trust Company, provides asset management for individuals through agency, personal
trust,IRA, and personal investment management accounts. Associations, endowments, and other nonprofit entities hire the
TrustCompany to manage their investment portfolios. Additionally, a staff of well-trained professionals serves individuals requiring 
theservices of a trustee, personal representative, or a guardian. The market value of trust assets under discretionary
managementexceeded $1.082 billion at December 31, 2022, with total assets under administration exceeding $1.097
billion.
Capital City Investments

We offer our customers access to retail investment products through LPL Financial pursuant to which retail investment
productswould be offered through LPL. LPL offers a full line of retail securities products, including U.S. Government bonds, tax-
freemunicipal bonds, stocks, mutual funds, unit investment trusts, annuities, life insurance and long-term health care. Non-
depositinvestment and insurance products are: (i) not FDIC insured; (ii) not deposits, obligations, or guarantees by any bank; and
(iii)subject to investment risk, including the possible loss of principal amount invested.

Capital City Strategic Wealth, LLC.

We provide a multi-disciplinary strategic planning approach that requires examining all facets of our clients’ financial
livesthrough our business, estate, financial, insurance and business planning, tax planning, and asset protection advisory services.
 Insurance sales within this division include life, health, disability, long-term care, and annuity solutions.
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Lending Activities

One of our core goals is to support the communities in which we operate. We seek loans from within our primary market
area,which is defined as the counties in which our banking offices are located. We will also originate loans within our
secondarymarket area, defined as counties adjacent to those in which we have banking offices. There may also be occasions when we
willhave opportunities to make loans that are out of both the primary and secondary market areas, including participation
loans.These loans are only approved if the underwriting is consistent with our criteria and generally the project or applicant’s
primarybusiness is in or near our primary or secondary market areas. Approval of all loans is subject to our policies and
standardsdescribed in more detail below.

We have adopted comprehensive lending policies, underwriting standards and loan review procedures. Management and
ourBoard of Directors reviews and approves these policies and procedures on a regular basis (at least
annually).
Management has also implemented reporting systems designed to monitor loan originations, loan quality, concentrations
ofcredit, loan delinquencies, nonperforming loans, and potential problem loans. Our management and the Credit Risk
OversightCommittee periodically review our lines of business to monitor asset quality trends and the appropriateness of credit policies.
Inaddition, we establish total borrower exposure limits and monitor concentration risk. As part of this process, the
overallcomposition of the portfolio is reviewed to gauge diversification of risk, client concentrations, industry group, loan
type,geographic area, or other relevant classifications of loans. Specific segments of the portfolio are monitored and reported to
ourBoard on a quarterly basis, and we have strategic plans in place to supplement Board approved credit policies governing
exposurelimits and underwriting standards. We recognize that exceptions to the below-listed policy guidelines may occasionally occur
andhave established procedures for approving exceptions to these policy
guidelines.
Residential Real Estate Loans

We originate 1-4 family, owner-occupied residential real estate loans at CCHL for sale in the secondary market. A vast
majorityof residential loan originations are fixed-rate loans which are sold in the secondary market on a non-recourse basis. We
willfrequently sell loans and retain the servicing rights. Note 4 – Mortgage Banking Activities in the Notes to Our
ConsolidatedFinancial Statements provides additional information on our servicing portfolio.
 
CCB also maintains a portfolio of residential loans held for investment and will periodically purchase newly originated 1-
4family secured adjustable rate loans from CCHL for that portfolio. Residential loans held for investment are
generallyunderwritten in accordance with secondary market guidelines in effect at the time of origination, including loan-to-value, or
LTV,and documentation requirements. 

Residential real estate loans also include home equity lines of credit, or HELOCs, and home equity loans. Our home
equityportfolio includes revolving open-ended equity loans with interest-only or minimal monthly principal payments and closed-
endamortizing loans. Open-ended equity loans typically have an interest only 10-year draw period followed by a five-year
repaymentperiod of 0.75% of principal balance monthly and balloon payment at maturity. As of December 31, 2022, approximately 56%
ofour residential home equity loan portfolio consisted of first mortgages. Interest rates may be fixed or adjustable. Adjustable-
rateloans are tied to the Prime Rate with a typical margin of 1.0% or
more. 
Commercial Loans

Our policy sets forth guidelines for debt service coverage ratios, LTV ratios and documentation standards. Commercial loans
areprimarily made based on identified cash flows of the borrower with consideration given to underlying collateral and personal
orother guarantees. We have established debt service coverage ratio limits that require a borrower’s cash flow to be sufficient
tocover principal and interest payments on all new and existing debt. The majority of our commercial loans are secured by
theassets being financed or other business assets such as accounts receivable or inventory. Many of the loans in the
commercialportfolio have variable interest rates tied to the Prime Rate or U.S. Treasury 
indices.
Commercial Real Estate Loans

We have adopted guidelines for debt service coverage ratios, LTV ratios and documentation standards for commercial real
estateloans. These loans are primarily made based on identified cash flows of the borrower with consideration given to underlying
realestate collateral and personal guarantees. Our policy establishes a maximum LTV specific to property type and minimum
debtservice coverage ratio limits that require a borrower’s cash flow to be sufficient to cover principal and interest payments on
allnew and existing debt. Commercial real estate loans may be fixed or variable-rate loans with interest rates tied to the Prime
Rateor U.S. Treasury indices. We require appraisals for loans in excess of $250,000 that are secured by real property.
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Consumer Loans

Our consumer loan portfolio includes personal installment loans, direct and indirect automobile financing, and overdraft lines
ofcredit. The majority of the consumer loan portfolio consists of indirect and direct automobile loans. The majority of our
consumerloans are short-term and have fixed rates of interest that are priced based on current market interest rates and the
financialstrength of the borrower. Our policy establishes maximum debt-to-income ratios, minimum credit scores, and includes 
guidelinesfor verification of applicants’ income and receipt of credit
reports.
Expansion of Business

See MD&A (Business Overview) for disclosures regarding the expansion of our
Business.
Competition

We operate in a highly competitive environment, especially with respect to services and pricing, that has undergone
significantchanges. Since January 1, 2009, over 500 financial institutions have failed in the U.S., including many in Florida and
Georgia.Nearly all of the failed banks were community banks. The assets and deposits of many of these failed community banks
wereacquired mostly by larger financial institutions. The banking industry has also experienced significant consolidation
throughmergers and acquisition, which we expect will continue during 2023. However, we believe that the larger financial
institutionsacquiring banks in our market areas are less familiar with the markets in which we operate and typically target a different
clientbase. We also believe clients who bank at community banks tend to prefer the relationship style service of community
bankscompared to larger
banks.
As a result, we expect to be able to effectively compete in our markets with larger financial institutions through
providingsuperior client service and leveraging our knowledge and experience in providing banking products and services in our
marketareas. Thus, a further reduction of the number of community banks could continue to enhance our competitive position
andopportunities in many of our markets. However, larger financial institutions can benefit from economies of scale. Therefore, 
theselarger institutions may be able to offer banking products and services at more competitive prices than us. Additionally, 
theselarger financial institutions may offer financial products that we do not
offer.
Our primary market area consists of 20 counties in Florida, six counties in Georgia, and one county in Alabama. In these
markets,we compete against a wide range of banking and nonbanking institutions including banks, savings and loan associations,
creditunions, money market funds, mutual fund advisory companies, mortgage banking companies, investment banking
companies,finance companies and other types of financial institutions. Most of Florida’s major banking concerns have a presence in
LeonCounty, where our main office is located. Our Leon County deposits totaled $1.489 billion, or 38% of our consolidated 
depositsat December 31,
2022.
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The table below depicts our market share percentage within each county, based on commercial bank deposits within the
county.

Market Share as of June
30,

(1)

County 2022 2021 2020
Florida
 Alachua 4.9% 4.6% 4.5%
 Bay 0.3% 0.2% 0.0%
 Bradford 34.9% 32.4% 30.6%
 Citrus 4.7% 4.1% 3.6%
 Clay 2.3% 2.8% 2.0%
 Dixie 19.8% 18.9% 18.7%
 Gadsden 82.1% 81.1% 80.8%
 Gilchrist 41.2% 39.6% 38.7%
 Gulf 14.8% 14.6% 12.8%
 Hernando 5.0% 3.9% 3.5%
 Jefferson 24.8% 24.4% 23.0%
 Leon 15.4% 11.9% 13.3%
 Levy 25.4% 26.4% 24.2%
 Madison 14.0% 14.5% 14.0%
 Putnam 26.4% 23.2% 20.7%
 St. Johns 0.7% 0.7% 0.6%
 Suwannee 7.0% 6.8% 7.1%
 Taylor 73.8% 73.2% 72.4%
 Wakulla 10.0% 10.5% 8.3%
 Washington 11.2% 11.2% 11.0%
Georgia
 Bibb 3.2% 3.3% 3.2%
 Cobb (2) 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
 Grady 16.3% 14.8% 14.0%
 Laurens 7.8% 7.9% 8.4%
 Troup 6.4% 6.1% 6.5%
Alabama
 Chambers 9.3% 9.3% 9.6%

(1) Obtained from the FDIC Summary of Deposits Report for the year indicated.
(2) Banking office opened in the fourth quarter of 2022.

Seasonality

We believe our commercial banking operations are not generally seasonal in nature; however, public deposits tend to
increasewith tax collections in the fourth and first quarters of each year and decline as a result of governmental spending
thereafter.
Human Capital Matters  

We are dedicated to creating personal relationships with our customers and implementing solutions that are right for them.
Ourassociates (our employees) are critical to achieving this mission, and it is crucial that we continue to attract and retain
experiencedassociates. As part of these efforts, we strive to offer a competitive compensation and benefits program, foster a
communitywhere everyone feels included and empowered to do to their best work, and give associates the opportunity to give back to
theircommunities and make a social
impact.
At January 31, 2023, we had approximately 796 associates, which included approximately 763 full-time associates
andapproximately 33 part-time associates. None of our associates are represented by a labor union or covered by a 
collectivebargaining agreement. At January 31, 2023, approximately 72% of our current workforce was female while 28% was male, 
andapproximately 21% are ethnic minorities. The average tenure of our associates was approximately 9
years.
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For more than 10 years, Florida Trend has honored us by listing Capital City Bank as a Best Place to Work, and
AmericanBankers Magazine has recognized us as a Best Bank to Work For. Additionally, Georgia Trend recognized CCB in 2016
and2017 as a Best Place to Work. Tenure statistics support these accolades and further demonstrate that associates enjoy working 
forCCB.

Compensation and Benefits Program . Our compensation program is designed to attract and reward talented individuals
whopossess the skills necessary to support our business objectives, assist in the achievement of our strategic goals and create

long-term value for our shareowners. We provide our associates with compensation packages that include base salary, annual
incentivebonuses, and equity awards tied to the value of our stock price. We believe that a compensation program with both short-term
andlong-term awards provides fair and competitive compensation and aligns associate and shareowner interests, including
byincentivizing business and individual performance (pay for performance), motivating based on long-term company
performanceand integrating compensation with our business plans. In addition to cash and equity compensation, we also offer
associatesbenefits such as life and health (medical, dental & vision) insurance, paid time off, paid parental leave, a 401(k) plan, and
apension plan.

Diversity and
Inclusion

. We believe that an equitable and inclusive environment with diverse teams produces more
creativesolutions, results in better services and is crucial to our efforts to attract and retain key talent. We strive to promote

inclusionthrough our corporate values of integrity, advocacy, partnership, relationships, community, and exceptional service. In 2021,
weformed the Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DE&I) Charter and formed the DE&I Council. Our DE&I Council consists of
adiverse group of members from all levels of the organization. The Council’s focus is on diversity and inclusion in our
workforce,workplace, and community. They are responsible for connecting our diversity and inclusion activities with our broader
businessstrategies. Additionally, we created a Chief Diversity Officer position to provide direction and leadership as we build
processes,initiatives, and special programs aimed at DE&I. Additionally during 2021, we partnered with a third-party DE&I firm
whosemission is to embed equity and inclusion into work systems and culture, enhancing outcomes for employees and customers.
Ourpartnership will further develop and enhance our DE&I plan and includes development of focus group conversations,
interviewswith Senior Leadership, research of existing policies and documentation and outline of gaps in existing policies. All
associatesreceive DE&I education, awareness and training each year. In January 2022, we added four new directors to our CCBG Board
ofDirectors. Of these four directors 50% are white males, 25% are minority female and 25% are non-minority female. The
CCBGoutside directors are made up of 11 non-shareowner individuals. Of the 11 individuals, 27% are female and 18% are
ethnicminority. We continue to focus on building an inclusive culture through a variety of diversity and inclusion initiatives,
includingrelated to internal promotions and hiring practices. As part of these initiatives, we added the new position of Chief Culture
Officerand Head of Recruitment in 2022, and we have associate resource groups help to build an inclusive culture through
companyevents, participation in our recruitment efforts, and input into our hiring strategies. In addition, in response to emerging
workplacepractices, we made changes to our Flex – work/life balance program to assist our associates in maintaining a work/life
balanceconsistent with their goals and to attract, retain, and motivate key associates.
 
Health and Safety . The success of our business is fundamentally connected to the well-being of our people. Accordingly, we

arecommitted to the health, safety and wellness of our associates. We provide our associates and their families with access to
avariety of flexible and convenient health and welfare programs, including benefits that support their physical and mental
health,by providing tools and resources to help them improve or maintain their health status. We also offer choices to our
associateswhere possible so they can customize their benefits to meet their needs and the needs of their families. In response to the
COVID-19 pandemic, we implemented significant operating environment changes that we determined were in the best interest of
ourassociates, as well as the communities in which we operate, and which comply with government regulations. We have
retainedmany of these changes as a permanent part of our overall focus on associate and client safety, and we continue to follow local
andfederal guidance, including guidance prescribed by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”), regarding
COVID-19 precautions and health measures. 

Social Matters

Community
Involvement

. We aim to give back to the communities where we live and work and believe that this
commitmenthelps in our efforts to attract and retain associates. Our commitment to help our community starts with our associates.

Communityinvolvement is a hallmark for our organization, and it comes naturally to our associates. We encourage our associates to
volunteertheir hours with service organizations and philanthropic groups in the communities we serve. We recorded 9,508, 8,697,
and8,169 community service hours in 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively. Furthermore, the CCBG Foundation donated $0.3 
million,$0.2 million, and $0.3 million to various non-profit organizations in the communities we serve, during 2022, 2021, and
2020,respectively. Our community commitment to further financial literacy in our market remains an ongoing goal and focus for
ourassociates and directors. We continue to focus on ways to better our communities in which we operate through
monetaryresources and volunteer hours. 
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Access, affordability, and financial inclusion. In 2022, the CCBG Foundation made grants totaling $150,000 to 
CommunityReinvestment Act eligible organizations in our market area. Working with CCHL, we are committed to providing

educationaloutreach regarding home ownership and financial access for minorities. We are a long-time supporter of Habitat for
Humanity,with our associates providing volunteer hours on home builds. During 2020 to 2022, we partnered with Habitat for
Humanity,Warrick Dunn Charities, and Capital City Home Loans, LLC. to build and furnish three homes. During tax season, we
providelocations for community residents to access Volunteer Income Tax Assistance (VITA) services. VITA is a nationwide IRS
program that offers free tax preparation assistance to people who generally make $54,000 or less, persons with disabilities,
theelderly, and limited English-speaking taxpayers who need assistance in preparing their own tax returns. Since 2015, we
haveannually supported the United Way of the Big Bend in analyzing financial information for the annual grant review process. 
Manyof these grants are provided to low-moderate income communities in the Big Bend 
area.
Small Business Lending.
 

We are focused on supporting small businesses throughout our communities. The global
pandemicexposed the challenges of small business. Capital City Bank is proud to have participated in the Paycheck Protection

Program(PPP), originating 3,508 loans totaling more than $266 million. During the pandemic, our company financially supported
locallyowned restaurants to provide meals and gift cards for our
associates.
Environmental Matters 

We are responsible for protecting our planet and understand that reducing our business’s carbon footprint is key to a
sustainablefuture. We are committed to measuring and minimizing our collective impact on the environment while contributing
toenvironmental stewardship and responsible business operations. We strive to embed environmental sustainability throughout
ourproducts, services, operations, and culture to drive efficiencies and responsible resource use while creating comfortable, safe,
andhealthy workplaces for our
associates.

As part of our corporate responsibility, we continue to focus our efforts on
sustainabilitywithin our business and our community.

 
We are focused on sustainability and resource conservation and, as a result, seek to reduce resource consumption
throughefficiency initiatives in our branches and offices. We do this through company-wide recycling programs, the implementation
ofLED lighting in our workplaces, and working to reduce our reliance on disposable products. As we renovate or build
newfacilities, we try to leverage renewable sources for power and HVAC through the employment of solar panels. In 2022, we
madea commitment for a $7 million investment in SOLCAP 2022-1, LLC, a fund that was formed to make solar tax equity
investmentsin renewable solar energy projects that will provide us with tax credits and other tax benefits. We plan to continue to review
theseinvestment opportunities as they arise. We have also invested in tools and capabilities that allow our team members to
workremotely as appropriate. We work hard to ensure that our lending activities do not encourage business activities that could
causeirreparable damage to our reputation or the environment. As a result, we try to conduct business responsibly and actively
workwith shareowners to best serve our various constituents. We monitor the environmental, social, and human rights risks of
ourcustomers along with credit risks. This process involves management and Board oversight and controls such as enhanced
duediligence and a reputation risk review which is overseen by our Enterprise Risk Management Committee. In general, we
evaluateeach credit or transaction on its individual merits, with larger deals receiving more attention and deeper analysis, including
areview of environmental matters related to certain real estate loans which is overseen by our Credit Risk Oversight
Committee.

Regulatory Considerations

We must comply with state and federal banking laws and regulations that control virtually all aspects of our operations. These
laws and regulations generally aim to protect our depositors, not necessarily our shareowners or our creditors. Any changes
inapplicable laws or regulations may materially affect our business and prospects. Proposed legislative or regulatory changes
mayalso affect our operations. The following description summarizes some of the laws and regulations to which we are 
subject.References to applicable statutes and regulations are brief summaries, do not purport to be complete, and are qualified in
theirentirety by reference to such statutes and regulations.
 
Capital City Bank Group,
Inc.
We are registered with the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve as a bank holding company under the Bank
HoldingCompany Act of 1956 (“BHC Act”) and have also elected to be a financial holding company. As a result, we are subject 
tosupervisory regulation and examination by the Federal Reserve. The BHC Act, the Dodd -Frank Wall Street Reform 
andConsumer Protection Act, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Modernization Act, and other federal laws subject financial
holdingcompanies to restrictions on the types of activities in which they may engage, and to a range of supervisory requirements
andactivities, including regulatory enforcement actions for violations of laws and regulations.
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Permitted Activities

The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act reformed the U.S. banking system by: (i) allowing bank holding companies that qualify
as“financial holding companies,” such as CCBG, to engage in a broad range of financial and related activities; (ii) allowing
insurersand other financial service companies to acquire banks; (iii) removing restrictions that applied to bank holding
companyownership of securities firms and mutual fund advisory companies; and (iv) establishing the overall regulatory scheme
applicableto bank holding companies that also engage in insurance and securities operations. The general effect of the law was to establish
acomprehensive framework to permit affiliations among commercial banks, insurance companies, securities firms, and
otherfinancial service providers. Activities that are financial in nature are broadly defined to include not only banking, insurance,
andsecurities activities, but also merchant banking and additional activities that the Federal Reserve, in consultation with
theSecretary of the Treasury, determines to be financial in nature, incidental to such financial activities, or complementary 
activitiesthat do not pose a substantial risk to the safety and soundness of depository institutions or the financial system generally.
 
In contrast to financial holding companies, bank holding companies are limited to managing or controlling banks,
furnishingservices to or performing services for its subsidiaries, and engaging in other activities that the Federal Reserve determines
byregulation or order to be so closely related to banking or managing or controlling banks as to be a proper incident thereto.
Indetermining whether a particular activity is permissible, the Federal Reserve must consider whether the performance of such
anactivity reasonably can be expected to produce benefits to the public that outweigh possible adverse effects. Possible
benefitsinclude greater convenience, increased competition, and gains in efficiency. Possible adverse effects include undue
concentrationof resources, decreased or unfair competition, conflicts of interest, and unsound banking practices. Despite prior approval,
theFederal Reserve may order a bank holding company or its subsidiaries to terminate any activity or to terminate ownership
orcontrol of any subsidiary when the Federal Reserve has reasonable cause to believe that a serious risk to the financial
safety,soundness or stability of any bank subsidiary of that bank holding company may result from such an
activity.
Changes in Control

Subject to certain exceptions, the BHC Act and the Change in Bank Control Act (“CBCA”), together with the
applicableregulations, require Federal Reserve approval (or, depending on the circumstances, no notice of disapproval) prior to
anyacquisition of “control” of a bank or bank holding company. Under the BHC Act, a company (a broadly defined term that
includespartnerships among other things) that acquires the power, directly or indirectly, to direct the management or policies of an
insureddepository institution or to vote 25% or more of any class of voting securities of any insured depository institution is deemed
tocontrol the institution and to be a bank holding company. A company that acquires less than 5% of any class of voting
security(and that does not exhibit the other control factors) is presumed not to have control. For ownership levels between the 5%
and25% thresholds, the Federal Reserve has developed an extensive body of law on the circumstances in which control may or
maynot exist. Further, on January 30, 2020, the Federal Reserve finalized a rule that simplifies and increases the transparency of
itsrules for determining when one company controls another company for purposes of the BHC Act. The rule became
effectiveSeptember 30, 2020. It has and will likely continue to have a meaningful impact on control determinations related to
investmentsin banks and bank holding companies and investments by bank holding companies in nonbank
companies.
Under the CBCA, if an individual or a company that acquires 10% or more of any class of voting securities of an
insureddepository institution or its holding company and either that institution or company has registered securities under Section 12
ofthe Exchange Act, or no other person will own a greater percentage of that class of voting securities immediately after
theacquisition, then that investor is presumed to have control and may be required to file a change in bank control notice with
theinstitution’s or the holding company’s primary federal regulator. Our common stock is registered under Section 12 of
theExchange Act so we are subject to these rules.

As a financial holding company, we are required to obtain prior approval from the Federal Reserve before (i) acquiring all
orsubstantially all of the assets of a bank or bank holding company, (ii) acquiring direct or indirect ownership or control of
morethan 5% of the outstanding voting stock of any bank or bank holding company (unless we own a majority of such bank’s
votingshares), or (iii) acquiring, merging or consolidating with any other bank or bank holding company. In determining whether
toapprove a proposed bank acquisition, federal bank regulators will consider, among other factors, the effect of the acquisition
oncompetition, the public benefits expected to be received from the acquisition, the projected capital ratios and levels on a
post-acquisition basis, and the companies’ records of addressing the credit needs of the communities they serve, including the needs
oflow and moderate income neighborhoods, consistent with the safe and sound operation of the bank, under the
CommunityReinvestment Act of
1977.
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Under Florida law, a person or entity proposing to directly or indirectly acquire control of a Florida bank must also
obtainpermission from the Florida Office of Financial Regulation. The Florida Statutes define “control” as either (i) indirectly
ordirectly owning, controlling or having power to vote 25% or more of the voting securities of a bank; (ii) controlling the election
ofa majority of directors of a bank; (iii) owning, controlling, or having power to vote 10% or more of the voting securities as well
asdirectly or indirectly exercising a controlling influence over management or policies of a bank; or (iv) as determined by
theFlorida Office of Financial Regulation. These requirements will affect us because the Bank is chartered under Florida law
andchanges in control of CCBG are indirect changes in control of
CCB.
Prohibitions Against Tying
Arrangements
Banks are subject to the prohibitions of 12 U.S.C. 1972 on certain tying arrangements. We are prohibited, subject to
someexceptions, from extending credit to or offering any other service, or fixing or varying the consideration for such extension
ofcredit or service, on the condition that the customer obtain some additional service from the institution or its affiliates or
notobtain services of a competitor of the
institution.
Capital; Dividends; Source of Strength

The Federal Reserve imposes certain capital requirements on financial holding companies under the BHC Act, including
aminimum leverage ratio and a minimum ratio of “qualifying” capital to risk-weighted assets. These requirements are described
below under “Capital Regulations.” Subject to these capital requirements and certain other restrictions, we are generally able
toborrow money to make a capital contribution to CCB, and such loans may be repaid from dividends paid from CCB to us. We 
arealso able to raise capital for contributions to CCB by issuing securities without having to receive regulatory approval, subject
tocompliance with federal and state securities laws.

It is the Federal Reserve’s policy that bank holding companies should generally pay dividends on common stock only out
ofincome available over the past year, and only if prospective earnings retention is consistent with the organization’s 
expectedfuture needs and financial condition. It is also the Federal Reserve’s policy that bank holding companies should not
maintaindividend levels that undermine their ability to be a source of strength to their banking subsidiaries. Additionally, the
FederalReserve has indicated that bank holding companies should carefully review their dividend policies and has discouraged
paymentratios that are at maximum allowable levels unless both asset quality and capital are very strong. The Federal Reserve
possessesenforcement powers over bank holding companies and their non-bank subsidiaries to prevent or remedy actions that
representunsafe or unsound practices or violations of applicable statutes and regulations. Among these powers is the ability to proscribe
thepayment of dividends by banks and bank holding companies.
 
Bank holding companies are expected to consult with the Federal Reserve before redeeming any equity or other capital
instrumentincluded in Tier 1 or Tier 2 capital prior to stated maturity, if such redemption could have a material effect on the level
orcomposition of the organization’s capital base. In addition, a bank holding company may not repurchase shares equal to 10%
ormore of its net worth if it would not be well-capitalized (as defined by the Federal Reserve) after giving effect to such
repurchase.Bank holding companies experiencing financial weaknesses, or that are at significant risk of developing financial
weaknesses,must consult with the Federal Reserve before redeeming or repurchasing common stock or other regulatory capital
instruments.
In accordance with Federal Reserve policy, which has been codified by the Dodd-Frank Act, we are expected to act as a source
offinancial strength to CCB and to commit resources to support CCB in circumstances in which we might not otherwise do so.
Infurtherance of this policy, the Federal Reserve may require a financial holding company to terminate any activity or 
relinquishcontrol of a nonbank subsidiary (other than a nonbank subsidiary of a bank) upon the Federal Reserve’s determination that
suchactivity or control constitutes a serious risk to the financial soundness or stability of any subsidiary depository institution of
thefinancial holding company. Further, federal bank regulatory authorities have additional discretion to require a financial
holdingcompany to divest itself of any bank or nonbank subsidiary if the agency determines that divestiture may aid the
depositoryinstitution’s financial condition.
 
Safe and Sound Banking
Practices
Bank holding companies and their nonbanking subsidiaries are prohibited from engaging in activities that represent unsafe
andunsound banking practices or that constitute a violation of law or regulations. Under certain conditions the Federal Reserve
mayconclude that some actions of a bank holding company, such as a payment of a cash dividend, would constitute an unsafe
andunsound banking practice. The Federal Reserve also has the authority to regulate the debt of bank holding companies,
includingthe authority to impose interest rate ceilings and reserve requirements on such debt. The Federal Reserve may also require a
bankholding company to file written notice and obtain its approval prior to purchasing or redeeming its equity securities, unless
certainconditions are met. 
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Capital City Bank

Capital City Bank is a state-chartered commercial banking institution that is chartered by and headquartered in the State of
Floridaand is subject to supervision and regulation by the Florida Office of Financial Regulation. The Florida Office of
FinancialRegulation supervises and regulates all areas of our operations including, without limitation, the making of loans, the issuance
ofsecurities, the conduct of our corporate affairs, the satisfaction of capital adequacy requirements, the payment of dividends,
andthe establishment or closing of banking centers. We are also a member bank of the Federal Reserve System, which makes
ouroperations subject to broad federal regulation and oversight by the Federal Reserve. In addition, our deposit accounts are
insuredby the FDIC up to the maximum extent permitted by law, and the FDIC has certain supervisory enforcement powers over us.
 
As a Florida state-chartered bank, we are empowered by statute, subject to the limitations contained in those statutes, to take
andpay interest on savings and time deposits, to accept demand deposits, to make loans on residential and other real estate, to
makeconsumer and commercial loans, to invest (with certain limitations) in equity securities and in debt obligations of banks
andcorporations and to provide various other banking services for the benefit of our clients. Various consumer laws and
regulationsalso affect our operations, including state usury laws, laws relating to fiduciaries, consumer credit and equal credit
opportunitylaws, and fair credit reporting. In addition, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act of 1991, or
FDICIA,prohibits insured state-chartered institutions from conducting activities as principal that are not permitted for national banks.
Abank, however, may engage in certain otherwise prohibited activity if it meets its minimum capital requirements and the
FDICdetermines that the activity does not present a significant risk to the Deposit Insurance 
Fund.
Safety and Soundness Standards / Risk
Management
The federal banking agencies have adopted guidelines establishing operational and managerial standards to promote the
safetyand soundness of federally insured depository institutions. The guidelines set forth standards for internal controls,
informationsystems, internal audit systems, loan documentation, credit underwriting, interest rate exposure, asset growth, compensation,
feesand benefits, asset quality and
earnings.
In general, the safety and soundness guidelines prescribe the goals to be achieved in each area, and each institution is
responsiblefor establishing its own procedures to achieve those goals. If an institution fails to comply with any of the standards set forth
inthe guidelines, the financial institution’s primary federal regulator may require the institution to submit a plan for achieving
andmaintaining compliance. If a financial institution fails to submit an acceptable compliance plan or fails in any material respect
toimplement a compliance plan that has been accepted by its primary federal regulator, the regulator is required to issue an
orderdirecting the institution to cure the deficiency. Until the deficiency cited in the regulator’s order is cured, the regulator 
mayrestrict the financial institution’s rate of growth, require the financial institution to increase its capital, restrict the rates
theinstitution pays on deposits or require the institution to take any action the regulator deems appropriate under the circumstances.
Noncompliance with the standards established by the safety and soundness guidelines may also constitute grounds for
otherenforcement action by the federal bank regulatory agencies, including cease and desist orders and civil money
penaltyassessments. 

The bank regulatory agencies have increasingly emphasized the importance of sound risk management processes and
stronginternal controls when evaluating the activities of the financial institutions they supervise. Properly managing risks has
beenidentified as critical to the conduct of safe and sound banking activities and has become even more important as
newtechnologies, product innovation and the size and speed of financial transactions have changed the nature of banking markets.
Theagencies have identified a spectrum of risks facing a banking institution including, but not limited to, credit, market,
liquidity,operational, legal and reputational risk. In particular, recent regulatory pronouncements have focused on operational risk,
whicharises from the potential that inadequate information systems, operational problems, breaches in internal controls, fraud
orunforeseen catastrophes will result in unexpected losses. New products and services, third party risk management
andcybersecurity are critical sources of operational risk that financial institutions are expected to address in the current
environment.The Bank is expected to have active board and senior management oversight; adequate policies, procedures and limits;
adequaterisk measurement, monitoring and management information systems; and comprehensive internal
controls.
Reserves

The Federal Reserve requires all depository institutions to maintain reserves against transaction accounts (noninterest bearing
andNOW checking accounts). The balances maintained to meet the reserve requirements imposed by the Federal Reserve may
beused to satisfy liquidity requirements. An institution may borrow from the Federal Reserve Bank “discount window” as
asecondary source of funds, provided that the institution meets the Federal Reserve Bank’s credit
standards.
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Dividends

CCB is subject to legal limitations on the frequency and amount of dividends that can be paid to CCBG. The Federal Reserve
mayrestrict the ability of CCB to pay dividends if such payments would constitute an unsafe or unsound banking
practice.Additionally, financial institutions are now required to maintain a capital conservation buffer of at least 2.5% of risk-
weightedassets in order to avoid restrictions on capital distributions and other payments. If a financial institution’s capital
conservationbuffer falls below the minimum requirement, its maximum payout amount for capital distributions and discretionary
paymentsdeclines to a set percentage of eligible retained income based on the size of the buffer. See “Capital Regulations,” below 
foradditional details on this new capital requirement.

In addition, Florida law and Federal regulation place restrictions on the declaration of dividends from state-chartered banks
totheir holding companies. Under the Florida Financial Institutions Code, the board of directors of a state-chartered bank, after
itcharges off bad debts, depreciation and other worthless assets, if any, and makes provisions for reasonably anticipated
futurelosses on loans and other assets, may quarterly, semi-annually or annually declare a dividend of up to the aggregate net profits
ofthat period combined with the bank’s retained net profits for the preceding two years. In addition, with the approval of the
FloridaOffice of Financial Regulation and Federal Reserve, the bank’s board of directors may declare a dividend from retained
netprofits which accrued prior to the preceding two years. Before declaring such dividends, 20% of the net profits for the
precedingperiod as is covered by the dividend must be transferred to the surplus fund of the bank until this fund becomes equal to
theamount of the bank’s common stock then issued and outstanding. However, a Florida state-chartered bank may not declare
anydividend if (i) its net income (loss) from the current year combined with the retained net income (loss) for the preceding two
yearsaggregates a loss or (ii) the payment of such dividend would cause the capital account of the bank to fall below the
minimumamount required by law, regulation, order or any written agreement with the Florida Office of Financial Regulation or a
federalregulatory agency. Under Federal Reserve regulations, a state member bank may, without the prior approval of the
FederalReserve, pay a dividend in an amount that, when taken together with all dividends declared during the calendar year, does
notexceed the sum of the bank’s net income during the current calendar year and the retained net income of the prior two
calendaryears. The Federal Reserve may approve greater
amounts.
Insurance of Accounts and Other Assessments
 
Deposits at U.S. domiciled banks are insured by the FDIC, subject to limits and conditions of applicable laws and
regulations.Our deposit accounts are insured by the Deposit Insurance Fund, or DIF, generally up to a maximum of $250,000 per
separatelyinsured depositor. In order to fund the DIF, all insured depository institutions are required to pay quarterly assessments to
theFDIC that are based on an institutions assignment to one of four risk categories based on supervisory evaluations,
regulatorycapital levels and certain other factors. The FDIC has the discretion to adjust an institution’s risk rating and may terminate
itsinsurance of deposits upon a finding that the institution engaged or is engaging in unsafe and unsound practices, is in an unsafe
orunsound condition to continue operations, or violated any applicable law, regulation, rule, order or condition imposed by
theFDIC or written agreement entered into with the FDIC. The FDIC may also prohibit any FDIC-insured institution from
engagingin any activity it determines to pose a serious risk to the Deposit Insurance Fund
(“DIF”).
In October 2022, the FDIC adopted a final rule to increase the initial base deposit insurance assessment rate schedules
uniformlyby 2 basis points beginning with the first quarterly assessment period of 2023. The increased assessment is expected to
improvethe likelihood that the DIF reserve ratio would reach the statutory minimum of 1.35% by the statutory deadline prescribed
underthe FDIC’s amended restoration plan.

Transactions with Affiliates and Insiders

Pursuant to Sections 23A and 23B of the Federal Reserve Act and Regulation W, the authority of CCB to engage in
transactionswith related parties or “affiliates” or to make loans to insiders is limited. Loan transactions with an affiliate generally must
becollateralized and certain transactions between CCB and its affiliates, including the sale of assets, the payment of money or
theprovision of services, must be on terms and conditions that are substantially the same, or at least as favorable to CCB, as
thoseprevailing for comparable nonaffiliated transactions. In addition, CCB generally may not purchase securities issued
orunderwritten by affiliates. 
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Loans to executive officers and directors of an insured depository institution or any of its affiliates or to any person who
directlyor indirectly, or acting through or in concert with one or more persons, owns, controls or has the power to vote more than 10%
ofany class of voting securities of a bank, which we refer to as “10% Shareowners,” or to any political or campaign committee the
funds or services of which will benefit those executive officers, directors, or 10% Shareowners or which is controlled by
thoseexecutive officers, directors or 10% Shareowners, are subject to Sections 22(g) and 22(h) of the Federal Reserve Act and
thecorresponding regulations (Regulation O) and Section 13(k) of the Exchange Act relating to the prohibition on personal loans
toexecutives (which exempts financial institutions in compliance with the insider lending restrictions of Section 22(h) of the
FederalReserve Act). Among other things, these loans must be made on terms substantially the same as those prevailing on
transactionsmade to unaffiliated individuals and certain extensions of credit to those persons must first be approved in advance by
adisinterested majority of the entire board of directors. Section 22(h) of the Federal Reserve Act prohibits loans to any of
thoseindividuals where the aggregate amount exceeds an amount equal to 15% of an institution’s unimpaired capital and surplus
plusan additional 10% of unimpaired capital and surplus in the case of loans that are fully secured by readily marketable collateral,
orwhen the aggregate amount on all of the extensions of credit outstanding to all of these persons would exceed our
unimpairedcapital and unimpaired surplus. Section 22(g) identifies limited circumstances in which we are permitted to extend credit
toexecutive officers. 

Community Reinvestment Act

The Community Reinvestment Act and its corresponding regulations are intended to encourage banks to help meet the
creditneeds of the communities they serve, including low- and moderate-income neighborhoods, consistent with safe and
soundbanking practices. These regulations provide for regulatory assessment of a bank’s record in meeting the credit needs of 
itsmarket area. Federal banking agencies are required to publicly disclose each bank’s rating under the Community 
ReinvestmentAct. The Federal Reserve considers a bank’s Community Reinvestment Act rating when the bank submits an application
toestablish bank branches, merge with another bank, or acquire the assets and assume the liabilities of another bank. In the case of
afinancial holding company, the Community Reinvestment Act performance record of all banks involved in a merger
oracquisition are reviewed in connection with the application to acquire ownership or control of shares or assets of a bank or
tomerge with another bank or bank holding company. An unsatisfactory record can substantially delay or block the transaction.
Wereceived a satisfactory rating on our most recent Community Reinvestment Act assessment.
 
In 2022, the Federal Reserve, along with the FDIC and OCC, issued a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (“NPR”) that
invitedpublic comment on an approach to modernize the regulations relating to the Community Reinvestment Act to strengthen
theachievement of the core purpose of the statute, and to adapt to changes in the banking industry, including the expanded role
ofmobile and online banking. We continue to evaluate the impact of any changes to the regulations relating to the 
CommunityReinvestment Act and their impact to our financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity, which cannot be predicted 
atthis time.
 
Capital Regulations

The federal banking regulators have adopted risk-based, capital adequacy guidelines for financial holding companies and
theirsubsidiary banks based on the Basel III standards. Under these guidelines, assets and off -balance sheet items are assigned
tospecific risk categories each with designated risk weightings. These risk-based capital guidelines were designed to
makeregulatory capital requirements more sensitive to differences in risk profiles among banks and bank holding companies,
toaccount for off-balance sheet exposure, to minimize disincentives for holding liquid assets, and to achieve greater consistency
inevaluating the capital adequacy of major banks throughout the world. The resulting capital ratios represent capital as a
percentageof total risk-weighted assets and off-balance sheet items.
 
In computing total risk-weighted assets, bank and bank holding company assets are given risk-weights of 0%, 20%, 50%,
100%and 150%. In addition, certain off-balance sheet items are given similar credit conversion factors to convert them to
assetequivalent amounts to which an appropriate risk-weight will apply. Most loans will be assigned to the 100% risk category, 
exceptfor performing first mortgage loans fully secured by 1-to-4 family and certain multi-family residential property, which carry
a50% risk rating. Most investment securities (including, primarily, general obligation claims on states or other
politicalsubdivisions of the United States) will be assigned to the 20% category, except for municipal or state revenue bonds, which
havea 50% risk-weight, and direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury or obligations backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S.
Government, which have a 0% risk-weight. In covering off -balance sheet items, direct credit substitutes, including
generalguarantees and standby letters of credit backing financial obligations, are given a 100% conversion factor. Transaction -
relatedcontingencies such as bid bonds, standby letters of credit backing nonfinancial obligations, and undrawn commitments
(includingcommercial credit lines with an initial maturity of more than one year) have a 50% conversion factor. Short-term 
commercialletters of credit are converted at 20% and certain short-term unconditionally cancelable commitments have a 0% factor.
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Under the final rules, minimum requirements increased for both the quality and quantity of capital held by banking organizations.
 In this respect, the final rules implemented strict eligibility criteria for regulatory capital instruments and improved
themethodology for calculating risk-weighted assets to enhance risk sensitivity. Consistent with the international Basel
IIIframework, the rules included a new minimum ratio of Common Equity Tier 1 Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets of 4.5%.
Therules also created a Common Equity Tier 1 Capital conservation buffer of 2.5% of risk-weighted assets. This buffer is added
toeach of the three risk-based capital ratios to determine whether an institution has established the buffer. The rules raised
theminimum ratio of Tier 1 Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets from 4% to 6% and included a minimum leverage ratio of 4% for 
allbanking organizations. If a financial institution’s capital conservation buffer falls below 2.5% (e.g., if the institution’s 
CommonEquity Tier 1 Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets is less than 7.0%), then capital distributions and discretionary payments will
belimited or prohibited based on the size of the institution’s buffer. The types of payments subject to this limitation
includedividends, share buybacks, discretionary payments on Tier 1 instruments, and discretionary bonus
payments.
The capital regulations may also impact the treatment of accumulated other comprehensive income, or AOCI, for
regulatorycapital purposes. AOCI generally flows through to regulatory capital, however, community banks and their holding
companieswere allowed a one-time irrevocable opt-out election to continue to treat AOCI the same as under the old regulations
forregulatory capital purposes. This election was required to be made on the first call report or bank holding company annual
report(on form FR Y-9C) filed after January 1, 2015. We made the opt-out election. Additionally, the rules also permitted
communitybanks with less than $15 billion in total assets to continue to count certain non -qualifying capital instruments issued prior to
May19, 2010, as Tier 1 capital, including trust preferred securities and cumulative perpetual preferred stock (subject to a limit of
25%of Tier 1 capital). However, non-qualifying capital instruments issued on or after May 19, 2010, would not qualify for Tier
1capital
treatment.
Commercial Real Estate Concentration Guidelines
 
The federal banking regulators have implemented guidelines to address increased concentrations in commercial real estate
loans.These guidelines describe the criteria regulatory agencies will use as indicators to identify institutions potentially exposed
tocommercial real estate concentration risk. An institution that has (i) experienced rapid growth in commercial real estate
lending,(ii) notable exposure to a specific type of commercial real estate, (iii) total reported loans for construction, land development, 
andother land representing 100% or more of total risk-based capital, or (iv) total commercial real estate (including construction)
loansrepresenting 300% or more of total risk-based capital and the outstanding balance of the institutions commercial real
estateportfolio has increased by 50% or more in the prior 36 months, may be identified for further supervisory analysis of a
potentialconcentration risk. 

At December 31, 2022, CCB’s ratio of construction, land development and other land loans to total risk-based capital was
71%,its ratio of total commercial real estate loans to total risk-based capital was 239% and, therefore, CCB was under the 100%
and300% thresholds, respectively, set forth in clauses (iii) and (iv) above. As a result, we are not deemed to have a concentration
incommercial real estate lending under applicable regulatory
guidelines.
Prompt Corrective Action

The federal banking agencies are required to take “prompt corrective action” with respect to financial institutions that do not
meetminimum capital requirements. The law establishes five categories for this purpose: “well-capitalized,” “adequately
capitalized,”“undercapitalized,” “significantly undercapitalized” and “critically undercapitalized.” To be considered “well-capitalized,” 
aninsured depository institution must maintain minimum capital ratios and must not be subject to any order or written directive
tomeet and maintain a specific capital level for any capital measure. An institution that fails to remain well-capitalized
becomessubject to a series of restrictions that increase in severity as its capital condition weakens. Such restrictions may include
aprohibition on capital distributions, restrictions on asset growth or restrictions on the ability to receive regulatory approval
ofapplications. The regulations apply only to banks and not to BHCs. However, the Federal Reserve is authorized to
takeappropriate action at the holding company level, based on the undercapitalized status of the holding company’s
subsidiarybanking institutions. In certain instances relating to an undercapitalized banking institution, the BHC would be required
toguarantee the performance of the undercapitalized subsidiary’s capital restoration plan and could be liable for civil
moneydamages for failure to fulfill those guarantee
commitments.
In addition, failure to meet capital requirements may cause an institution to be directed to raise additional capital. Federal
lawfurther mandates that the agencies adopt safety and soundness standards generally relating to operations and management,
assetquality and executive compensation, and authorizes administrative action against an institution that fails to meet such
standards.Failure to meet capital guidelines may subject a banking organization to a variety of other enforcement remedies,
includingadditional substantial restrictions on its operations and activities, termination of deposit insurance by the FDIC and, under
certainconditions, the appointment of a conservator or receiver.
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At December 31, 2022, we exceeded the requirements contained in the applicable regulations, policies and directives pertaining
tocapital adequacy to be classified as “well capitalized” and are unaware of any material violation or alleged violation of
theseregulations, policies or directives (see table below). Rapid growth, poor loan portfolio performance, or poor
earningsperformance, or a combination of these factors, could change our capital position in a relatively short period of time,
makingadditional capital infusions necessary. Our capital ratios can be found in Note 17 to the Notes to our Consolidated 
FinancialStatements.

Interstate Banking and Branching

The Dodd-Frank Act relaxed interstate branching restrictions by modifying the federal statute governing de novo
interstatebranching by state member banks. Consequently, a state member bank may open its initial branch in a state outside of the
bank’shome state by way of an interstate bank branch, so long as a bank chartered under the laws of that state would be permitted
toopen a branch at that location.
 
Anti-money Laundering

The Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act
of2001 (the “USA Patriot Act”), provides the federal government with additional powers to address terrorist threats
throughenhanced domestic security measures, expanded surveillance powers, increased information sharing and broadened anti-
moneylaundering requirements. By way of amendments to the Bank Secrecy Act, or “BSA,” the USA Patriot Act puts in place
measuresintended to encourage information sharing among bank regulatory and law enforcement agencies. In addition, certain
provisionsof the USA Patriot Act impose affirmative obligations on a broad range of financial
institutions.
The USA Patriot Act, and BSA Acts and the related federal regulations require banks to establish anti-money
launderingprograms that include policies, procedures and controls to detect, prevent and report money laundering and terrorist financing
andto verify the identity of their customers and of beneficial owners of their legal entity
customers.
The Anti-Money Laundering Act (“AMLA”), which amends the BSA, was enacted in early 2021. The AMLA is intended to be
acomprehensive reform and modernization of U.S. bank secrecy and anti-money laundering laws. In particular, it codifies a
risk-based approach to anti-money laundering compliance for financial institutions, requires the U.S. Department of the Treasury
topromulgate priorities for anti-money laundering and countering the financing of terrorism policy, requires the development of
standards for testing technology and internal processes for BSA compliance, expands enforcement- and investigation-
relatedauthority (including increasing available sanctions for certain BSA violations), and expands BSA whistleblower incentives
andprotections. 

Many AMLA provisions will require additional rulemakings, reports and other measures, and the impact of the AMLA
willdepend on, among other things, rulemaking and implementation guidance. In June 2021, the Financial Crimes
EnforcementNetwork, a bureau of the U.S. Department of the Treasury, issued the priorities for anti-money laundering and countering
thefinancing of terrorism policy required under the AMLA. The priorities include corruption, cybercrime, terrorist financing,
fraud,transnational crime, drug trafficking, human trafficking and proliferation
financing.
There is also increased scrutiny of compliance with the sanctions programs and rules administered and enforced by the Office
ofForeign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of Treasury, or “OFAC.” OFAC administers and enforces economic and
tradesanctions against targeted foreign countries and regimes, terrorists, international narcotics traffickers, those engaged in
activitiesrelated to the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, and other threats to the national security, foreign policy or economy
ofthe United States, based on U.S. foreign policy and national security goals. OFAC issues regulations that restrict transactions
byU.S. persons or entities (including banks), located in the U.S. or abroad, with certain foreign countries, their nationals
or“specially designated nationals.” OFAC regularly publishes listings of foreign countries and designated nationals that
areprohibited from conducting business with any U.S. entity or individual. While OFAC is responsible for promulgating,
developingand administering these controls and sanctions, all of the bank regulatory agencies are responsible for ensuring that
financialinstitutions comply with these regulations.

Privacy

A variety of federal and state privacy laws govern the collection, safeguarding, sharing and use of customer information,
andrequire that financial institutions have policies regarding information privacy and security. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act
andrelated regulations require banks and their affiliated companies to adopt and disclose privacy policies, including
policiesregarding the sharing of personal information with third parties. Some state laws also protect the privacy of information of
stateresidents and require adequate security of such data, and certain state laws may require us to notify affected individuals
ofsecurity breaches of computer databases that contain their personal information. These laws may also require us to notify
lawenforcement, regulators or consumer reporting agencies in the event of a data breach, as well as businesses and
governmentalagencies that own
data.
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Overdraft Fee Regulation

The Electronic Fund Transfer Act prohibits financial institutions from charging consumers fees for paying overdrafts 
onautomated teller machines, or ATM, and one-time debit card transactions, unless a consumer consents, or opts in, to the
overdraftservice for those type of transactions. If a consumer does not opt in, any ATM transaction or debit that overdraws the
consumer’saccount will be denied. Overdrafts on the payment of checks and regular electronic bill payments are not covered by this
newrule. Before opting in, the consumer must be provided a notice that explains the financial institution’s overdraft
services,including the fees associated with the service, and the consumer’s choices. Financial institutions must provide consumers who
donot opt in with the same account terms, conditions and features (including pricing) that they provide to consumers who do opt
in. 
Consumer Laws and Regulations

CCB is also subject to other federal and state consumer laws and regulations that are designed to protect consumers in
transactions with banks. While the list set forth below is not exhaustive, these laws and regulations include the Truth in
LendingAct, the Truth in Savings Act, the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, the Expedited Funds Availability Act, the Check Clearing for
the21st Century Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act,
theFair Housing Act, the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act, the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act, the Mortgage
DisclosureImprovement Act, and the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, among others. These laws and regulations mandate
certaindisclosures and regulate the manner in which financial institutions must deal with clients when taking deposits or making loans
toclients. CCB must comply with these consumer protection laws and regulations as part of its ongoing client relations.
 
In addition, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau issues regulations and standards under these federal consumer
protectionlaws that affect our consumer businesses. These include regulations setting “ability to repay” standards for residential
mortgageloans and mortgage loan servicing and originator compensation standards, which generally require creditors to make a
reasonable,good faith determination of a consumer’s ability to repay any consumer credit transaction secured by a dwelling (excluding
anopen-end credit plan, timeshare plan, reverse mortgage, or temporary loan) and establishes certain protections from liability
underthis requirement for loans that meet the requirements of the “qualified mortgage” safe harbor. Also, the more recent
TILA-RESPA Integrated Disclosure, or TRID, rules for mortgage closings have impacted our loan applications. These rules,
includingthe required loan forms, generally increased the time it takes to approve mortgage 
loans.
Future Legislative Developments

Various bills are from time to time introduced in Congress and the Florida legislature. This legislation may change banking
andtax statutes and the environment in which our banking subsidiary and we operate in substantial and unpredictable ways.
Wecannot determine the ultimate effect that potential legislation, if enacted, or implementing regulations with respect thereto,
wouldhave upon our financial condition or results of operations or that of our banking
subsidiary.
Legislative and Regulatory Responses to the COVID-19
Pandemic
The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or CARES Act, which came into law in 2020, was a $2.2
trillioneconomic stimulus bill that was intended to provide relief in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act, among
otherthings, amended the SBA’s loan program, in which the Bank participates, to create a guaranteed, unsecured loan program
(the“PPP”) to fund operational costs of eligible businesses, organizations and self-employed persons during COVID-19. The
PPPauthorized financial institutions to make federally guaranteed loans to qualifying small businesses and non-profit
organizations.These loans carry an interest rate of 1% per annum and a maturity of two years for loans originated prior to June 5, 2020 and
fiveyears for loans originated on or after June 5, 2020. The PPP provides that such loans may be forgiven if the borrowers meet 
certainrequirements with respect to maintaining employee headcount and payroll and the use of the loan proceeds after the loan
isoriginated. Although the PPP ended in accordance with its terms on May 31, 2021, outstanding PPP loans continue to go
throughthe process of either obtaining forgiveness from the SBA or pursuing claims under the SBA
guaranty. 
There have also been a number of regulatory actions intended to help mitigate the adverse economic impact of the COVID-
19pandemic on borrowers, including several mandates from the bank regulatory agencies, requiring financial institutions to 
workconstructively with borrowers affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. While these programs have generally expired,
governmentalauthorities may take additional actions in the future to limit the adverse impacts of COVID-19 that may affect the Bank and
itsclients.
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Effect of Governmental Monetary Policies

The commercial banking business is affected not only by general economic conditions, but also by the monetary policies of
theFederal Reserve. Changes in the discount rate on member bank borrowing, availability of borrowing at the “discount
window,”open market operations, changes in the Fed Funds target interest rate, changes in interest rates payable on reserve accounts,
theimposition of changes in reserve requirements against member banks’ deposits and assets of foreign banking centers and
theimposition of and changes in reserve requirements against certain borrowings by banks and their affiliates are some of
theinstruments of monetary policy available to the Federal Reserve. These monetary policies are used in varying combinations
toinfluence overall growth and distributions of bank loans, investments and deposits, which may affect interest rates charged
onloans or paid on deposits. The monetary policies of the Federal Reserve have had a significant effect on the operating results
ofcommercial banks and are expected to continue to do so in the future. The Federal Reserve’s policies are primarily influenced
byits dual mandate of price stability and full employment, and to a lesser degree by short -term and long-term changes in
theinternational trade balance and in the fiscal policies of the U.S. Government. Future changes in monetary policy and the effect
ofsuch changes on our business and earnings in the future cannot be
predicted.
Website Access to Company’s Reports

Our Internet website is www.ccbg.com. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports
onForm 8-K, including any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d), and reports
filedpursuant to Section 16, 13(d), and 13(g) of the Exchange Act are available free of charge through our website as soon
asreasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
Theinformation on our website is not incorporated by reference into this
report.
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Item 1A. Risk
Factors
An investment in our common stock contains a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the following risk factors
beforedeciding whether to invest in our common stock. Our business, including our operating results and financial condition, could
beharmed by any of these risks. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to
beimmaterial also may materially and adversely affect our business. The trading price of our common stock could decline due
toany of these risks, and you may lose all or part of your investment. In assessing these risks, you should also refer to the
otherinformation contained in our filings with the SEC, including our financial statements and related
notes.

New Risk Factors in this
Amendment

Except for the two new risk factors included below and updates to numerical data, this Item 1A. Risk Factors section in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K/A has not been updated to reflect developments occurring subsequent to the filing of the
OriginalForm 10-K. All risk factors, however, should be considered in the context of these two new risk
factors.
The Company recently identified a material weakness in its internal control over financial reporting. If we are not able to
remediate this material weakness, or if we experience additional material weaknesses or other deficiencies in our internal
control over financial reporting in the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal control over
financialreporting, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results, prevent fraud, or file our periodic reports in a
timelymanner, which may cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information and may lead to a decline in 
ourstock price.

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material 
weaknessesin such internal control. Section 404 of the Sarbanes -Oxley Act requires that we furnish a report by management on, among 
otherthings, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. This assessment requires disclosure of any material
weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over financial reporting. Our independent registered public
accounting firm also needs to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Effective internal
controlover financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and, together with adequate disclosure controls
andprocedures, is designed to prevent fraud. Any failure to maintain or implement required new or improved controls, or
difficultiesencountered in implementation could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations.
 
Subsequent to the filing of the Original Form 10-K, management identified a material weakness in its internal control over
financial reporting related to certain inter-company transactions. As discussed in Item 9A. Controls and Procedures, the
Company's management has re-evaluated its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and its
disclosure controls and procedures and concluded that they were not effective as of December 31, 2022. Management has
beenactively engaged during the fourth quarter of 2023 in developing remediation plans to address the material weakness. These
plansinclude:

● Enhancing the precision of management review controls to ensure intercompany accounts are properly eliminated in
consolidation;

● Enhancing the procedures for identifying new intercompany accounts and activities subject to elimination in
consolidation; 

● Increasing the granularity of general ledger mapping for inter-company accounts subject to elimination in
consolidation;and

● Enhancing the financial close checklist and pre-close meeting agenda to ensure proper and timely identification of
inter-company activities subject to
elimination.For additional information related to the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting and the related 

remedialmeasures, see “Part II – Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

There can be no assurance as to when the material weakness will be remediated or that additional material weaknesses will 
notarise in the future. If the Company is unable to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, its ability to 
record,process and report financial information timely and accurately could be adversely affected, which could subject the Company
tolitigation, investigations, or breach of contract claims, require management resources, increase costs, negatively affect investor
confidence, and adversely impact its stock
price.
We face risks related to the restatement of our financial information and the material weakness in our internal control 
overfinancial reporting, as described in the "Explanatory Note"

above.
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As discussed in the Explanatory Note and in Note 2, “Restatement and Other Corrections of Previously Issued Financial
Statements” in the notes to the financial statements, we determined to restate certain financial information and related 
footnotedisclosures in our previously issued financial statements. As a result, we have become subject to a number of additional risks
anduncertainties, which may affect investor confidence in the accuracy of our financial disclosures and may raise reputational 
issuesfor our business. We expect to continue to face the risks and challenges related to the restatements, including the
following:

● we may face potential for litigation or other disputes, which may include, among others, claims invoking the
federal and state securities laws, contractual claims, or other claims arising from the restatements;
and● the processes undertaken to effect the restatements may not have been adequate to identify and correct all
errorsin our historical financial statements and, as a result, we may discover additional errors and our financial
statements remain subject to the risk of future
restatement.

We cannot assure that all of the risks and challenges described above will be eliminated or that general reputational harm will
notpersist. If one or more of the foregoing risks or challenges persist, our business, operations and financial condition are likely to
bematerially and adversely affected.

Market
Risks

We may incur losses if we are unable to successfully manage interest rate 
risk.
Our profitability depends to a large extent on Capital City Bank’s net interest income, which is the difference between income
oninterest-earning assets, such as loans and investment securities, and expense on interest-bearing liabilities such as deposits
andborrowings. We are unable to predict changes in market interest rates, which are affected by many factors beyond our
control,including inflation, recession, unemployment, federal funds target rate, money supply, domestic and international events
andchanges in the United States and other financial markets. Our net interest income may be reduced if: (i) more interest-
earningassets than interest-bearing liabilities reprice or mature during a time when interest rates are declining or (ii) more interest-
bearingliabilities than interest-earning assets reprice or mature during a time when interest rates are
rising.
Changes in the difference between short-term and long-term interest rates may also harm our business. We generally use
short-term deposits to fund longer-term assets. When interest rates change, assets and liabilities with shorter terms reprice more
quicklythan those with longer terms, which could have a material adverse effect on our net interest margin. During 2022, the
FederalReserve raised the federal funds rate seven times for a cumulative increase of 4.25% and has signaled that it expects not to
reducethe federal funds rate in the near-term. Prior to 2022, the Federal Reserve had not raised the federal funds rate since
December2018. The increase in the federal funds rate could have an adverse effect on our net interest income and profitability. If
marketinterest rates continue to rise rapidly, interest rate adjustment caps may also limit increases in the interest rates on adjustable 
rateloans, which could further reduce our net interest income. Further, increased price competition for deposits resulting from
thereturn to a historically normal interest rate environment could adversely affect our net interest
margin.
Although we continuously monitor interest rates and have a number of tools to manage our interest rate risk exposure, changes
inmarket assumptions regarding future interest rates could significantly impact our interest rate risk strategy, our financial 
positionand results of operations. If we do not properly monitor our interest rate risk management strategies, these activities may
noteffectively mitigate our interest rate sensitivity or have the desired impact on our results of operations or financial
condition.
Interest rates and economic conditions affect consumer demand for housing and can create volatility in the mortgage industry. 
These risks can have a material impact on the volume of mortgage originations and refinancings, adversely affecting
mortgagebanking revenues and the profitability of our mortgage banking business.
 
See Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations under the section
captioned“Net Interest Income” and “Market Risk and Interest Rate Sensitivity” elsewhere in this report for further discussion related
tointerest rate sensitivity and our management of interest rate
risk.
The fair value of our investments could decline which would cause a reduction in shareowners’
equity.
A portion of our investment securities portfolio (38.5%) at December 31, 2022 has been designated as available-for-sale
pursuantto U.S. generally accepted accounting principles relating to accounting for investments. Such principles require that
unrealizedgains and losses in the estimated value of the available-for-sale portfolio be “marked to market” and reflected as a separate item
inshareowners’ equity (net of tax) as accumulated other comprehensive income/losses. Shareowners’ equity will continue to
reflectthe unrealized gains and losses (net of tax) of these investments. The fair value of our investment portfolio may decline, causing
acorresponding decline in shareowners’
equity.



25

Management believes that several factors will affect the fair values of our investment portfolio. These include, but are not
limitedto, changes in interest rates or expectations of changes in interest rates, the degree of volatility in the securities markets,
inflationrates or expectations of inflation and the slope of the interest rate yield curve (the yield curve refers to the differences
betweenshort-term and long-term interest rates; a positively sloped yield curve means short -term rates are lower than long-term
rates).These and other factors may impact specific categories of the portfolio differently, and we cannot predict the effect these
factorsmay have on any specific
category.
Inflationary pressures and rising prices may affect our results of operations and financial
condition.
Inflation rose sharply at the end of 2021 and continued rising in 2022 at levels not seen for over 40 years. Inflationary
pressuresare currently expected to remain elevated throughout 2023. Small to medium -sized businesses may be impacted more
duringperiods of high inflation as they are not able to leverage economics of scale to mitigate cost pressures compared to
largerbusinesses. Consequently, the ability of our business customers to repay their loans may deteriorate, and in some cases
thisdeterioration may occur quickly, which would adversely impact our results of operations and financial condition. Furthermore,
aprolonged period of inflation could cause wages and other costs to further increase which could adversely affect our results
ofoperations and financial condition. Sustained higher interest rates by the Federal Reserve may be needed to tame
persistentinflationary price pressures, which could push down asset prices and weaken economic activity. A deterioration in
economicconditions in the United States and our markets could result in an increase in loan delinquencies and non-performing
assets,decreases in loan collateral values and a decrease in demand for our products and services, all of which, in turn, would
adverselyaffect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
The impact of interest rates on our mortgage banking business can have a significant impact on
revenues.
Changes in interest rates can impact our mortgage-related revenues and net revenues associated with our mortgage activities. 
Adecline in mortgage rates generally increases the demand for mortgage loans as borrowers refinance, but also generally leads
toaccelerated payoffs. Conversely, in a constant or increasing rate environment, we would expect fewer loans to be refinanced and
adecline in payoffs. Although we use models to assess the impact of interest rates on mortgage-related revenues, the estimates
ofrevenues produced by these models are dependent on estimates and assumptions of future loan demand, prepayment speeds
andother factors which may differ from actual subsequent 
experience.
Shares of our common stock are not an insured deposit and may lose
value.
The shares of our common stock are not a bank deposit and will not be insured or guaranteed by the FDIC or any
othergovernment agency. Your investment will be subject to investment risk, and you must be capable of affording the loss of
yourentire
investment.
Limited trading activity for shares of our common stock may contribute to price
volatility.
While our common stock is listed and traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, there has historically been limited
tradingactivity in our common stock. The average daily trading volume of our common stock over the 12-month period
endingDecember 31, 2022 was approximately 27,987 shares. Due to the limited trading activity of our common stock, relativity
smalltrades may have a significant impact on the price of our common
stock.
Securities analysts may not initiate coverage or continue to cover our common stock, and this may have a negative
impacton its market
price.
The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities analysts publish about
usand our business. We do not have any control over securities analysts, and they may not initiate coverage or continue to cover
ourcommon stock. If securities analysts do not cover our common stock, the lack of research coverage may adversely affect
itsmarket price. If we are covered by securities analysts, and our common stock is the subject of an unfavorable report, our
stockprice would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases to cover our Company or fails to publish regular reports on
us,we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which may cause our stock price or trading volume to
decline.
We may be adversely impacted by the transition from LIBOR as a reference 
rate.
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The United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct Authority and the administrator of LIBOR have announced that the publication of 
themost commonly used U.S. dollar London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) settings will cease to be published or cease to
berepresentative after June 30, 2023. The publication of all other LIBOR settings ceased to be published as of December 31, 2021.
 Given consumer protection, litigation, and reputation risks, the bank regulatory agencies have indicated that entering into
newcontracts that use LIBOR as a reference rate after December 31, 2021, would create safety and soundness risks and that they
willexamine bank practices accordingly. Therefore, the agencies encouraged banks to cease entering into new contracts that
useLIBOR as a reference rate as soon as practicable and in any event by December 31, 2021. Prior to December 31, 2021,
wediscontinued originating LIBOR-based loans.
 
At December 31, 2022, we have 112 loans totaling approximately $71 million that are indexed to LIBOR. We believe our 
currentportfolio of LIBOR based loan contracts contain the necessary fallback language, however, the timing and manner in which
eachcustomer’s contract transitions to a replacement index will vary on a case-by-case basis. We also have $33 million in floating
rateinvestment securities that are indexed to LIBOR. We are currently evaluating fallback language for each investment security.
 Lastly, we have two floating rate subordinated debenture notes totaling $53 million and a related interest rate swap contract 
for$30 million that are indexed to LIBOR (Refer to Note 12 – Long Term Borrowings and Note 5 – Derivatives in our
ConsolidatedFinancial Statements). Effective June 30, 2023, in accordance with the trust agreement and the Adjustable Interest Rate
(LIBOR)Act of 2021, LIBOR will be replaced with 3-month CME term SOFR (secured overnight financing rate) as the interest rate
indexfor these notes. The interest rate swap contract adheres to the International Swaps and Derivatives Association’s protocol
whichrequires conversion to the fallback SOFR rate at the time of LIBOR cessation. Since replacement rates are calculated
differently,payments under contracts referencing new rates will differ from those referencing LIBOR, which may lead to increased
volatilityas compared to LIBOR.

Credit
Risks

Our loan portfolio includes loans with a higher risk of loss which could lead to higher loan losses and
nonperformingassets.

We originate commercial real estate loans, commercial loans, construction loans, vacant land loans, consumer loans,
andresidential mortgage loans primarily within our market area. Commercial real estate, commercial, construction, vacant land,
andconsumer loans may expose a lender to greater credit risk than traditional fixed-rate fully amortizing loans secured by
single-family residential real estate because the collateral securing these loans may not be sold as easily as single-family residential
realestate. In addition, these loan types tend to involve larger loan balances to a single borrower or groups of related borrowers
andare more susceptible to a risk of loss during a downturn in the business cycle. These loans also have historically had greater
creditrisk than other loans for the following
reasons:

● Commercial Real Estate
Loans

. Repayment is dependent on income being generated in amounts sufficient to
coveroperating expenses and debt service. These loans also involve greater risk because they are generally not fully

amortizingover the loan period, but rather have a balloon payment due at maturity. A borrower’s ability to make a balloon
paymenttypically will depend on the borrower’s ability to either refinance the loan or timely sell the underlying property. 
AtDecember 31, 2022, commercial mortgage loans comprised approximately 30.7% of our total loan
portfolio.

● Commercial Loans . Repayment is generally dependent upon the successful operation of the borrower’s business.
Inaddition, the collateral securing the loans may depreciate over time, be difficult to appraise, be illiquid, or fluctuate

invalue based on the success of the business. At December 31, 2022, commercial loans comprised approximately 9.7%
ofour total loan
portfolio.

● Construction Loans . The risk of loss is largely dependent on our initial estimate of whether the property’s value
atcompletion equals or exceeds the cost of property construction and the availability of take-out financing. During

theconstruction phase, a number of factors can result in delays or cost overruns. If our estimate is inaccurate or if
actualconstruction costs exceed estimates, the value of the property securing our loan may be insufficient to ensure
fullrepayment when completed through a permanent loan, sale of the property, or by seizure of collateral. At December
31,2022, construction loans comprised approximately 9.2% of our total loan 
portfolio.

● Vacant Land Loans . Because vacant or unimproved land is generally held by the borrower for investment purposes
orfuture use, payments on loans secured by vacant or unimproved land will typically rank lower in priority to the

borrowerthan a loan the borrower may have on their primary residence or business. These loans are susceptible to
adverseconditions in the real estate market and local economy. At December 31, 2022, vacant land loans
comprisedapproximately 3.3% of our total loan
portfolio.
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● HELOCs . Our open-ended home equity loans have an interest-only draw period followed by a five-year
repaymentperiod of 0.75% of the principal balance monthly and a balloon payment at maturity. Upon the commencement of

therepayment period, the monthly payment can increase significantly, thus, there is a heightened risk that the borrower
willbe unable to pay the increased payment. Further, these loans also involve greater risk because they are generally not
fullyamortizing over the loan period, but rather have a balloon payment due at maturity. A borrower’s ability to make
aballoon payment may depend on the borrower’s ability to either refinance the loan or timely sell the underlying property.
 At December 31, 2022, HELOCs comprised approximately 8.2% of our total loan
portfolio.

● Consumer Loans . Consumer loans (such as automobile loans and personal lines of credit) are collateralized, if at
all,with assets that may not provide an adequate source of payment of the loan due to depreciation, damage, or loss.

AtDecember 31, 2022, consumer loans comprised approximately 12. 8% of our total loan portfolio, with indirect auto
loansmaking up a majority of this portfolio at approximately 93.3% of the total 
balance.

The increased risks associated with these types of loans result in a correspondingly higher probability of default on such loans
(ascompared to fixed-rate fully amortizing single-family real estate loans). Loan defaults would likely increase our loan losses
andnonperforming assets and could adversely affect our allowance for loan losses and our results of
operations.
Our loan portfolio is heavily concentrated in mortgage loans secured by properties in Florida and Georgia which
causesour risk of loss to be higher than if we had a more geographically diversified portfolio.
 
Our interest-earning assets are heavily concentrated in mortgage loans secured by real estate, particularly real estate located
inFlorida and Georgia. At December 31, 2022, approximately 77.5% of our loans included real estate as a primary, secondary,
ortertiary component of collateral. The real estate collateral in each case provides an alternate source of repayment in the event
ofdefault by the borrower; however, the value of the collateral may decline during the time the credit is extended. If we are
requiredto liquidate the collateral securing a loan during a period of reduced real estate values to satisfy the debt, our earnings and
capitalcould be adversely
affected.
Additionally, at December 31, 2022, a significant number of our loans secured by real estate are secured by commercial
andresidential properties located in Florida and Georgia. The concentration of our loans in these areas subjects us to risk that
adownturn in the economy or recession in these areas could result in a decrease in loan originations and increases in
delinquenciesand foreclosures, which would more greatly affect us than if our lending were more geographically diversified. In addition,
sincea large portion of our portfolio is secured by properties located in Florida and Georgia, the occurrence of a natural disaster, 
suchas a hurricane, or a man-made disaster could result in a decline in loan originations, a decline in the value or destruction
ofmortgaged properties and an increase in the risk of delinquencies, foreclosures or loss on loans originated by us. We may
sufferfurther losses due to the decline in the value of the properties underlying our mortgage loans, which would have an
adverseimpact on our results of operations and financial
condition.
Our concentration in loans secured by real estate may increase our credit losses, which would negatively affect
ourfinancial results. 

Due to the lack of diversified industry within some of the markets served by CCB and the relatively close proximity of
ourgeographic markets, we have both geographic concentrations as well as concentrations in the types of loans funded.
Specifically,due to the nature of our markets, a significant portion of the portfolio has historically been secured with real estate. At
December31, 2022, approximately 30.7% and 29.4% of our $2.5 billion loan portfolio was secured by commercial real estate and
residentialreal estate, respectively. As of this same date, approximately 9.2% was secured by property under
construction.
In the event we are required to foreclose on a property securing one of our mortgage loans or otherwise pursue our remedies
inorder to protect our investment, we may be unable to recover funds in an amount equal to our projected return on our
investmentor in an amount sufficient to prevent a loss to us due to prevailing economic conditions, real estate values and other
factorsassociated with the ownership of real property. As a result, the market value of the real estate or other collateral underlying
ourloans may not, at any given time, be sufficient to satisfy the outstanding principal amount of the loans, and consequently, 
wewould sustain loan
losses.
An inadequate allowance for credit losses would reduce our 
earnings.
We are exposed to the risk that our clients may be unable to repay their loans according to their terms and that any
collateralsecuring the payment of their loans may not be sufficient to assure full repayment. This could result in credit losses that
areinherent in the lending business. We evaluate the collectability of our loan portfolio and provide an allowance for credit
lossesthat we believe is adequate based upon such factors
as:

● the risk characteristics of various classifications of
loans;● previous loan loss
experience;
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● specific loans that have loss
potential;● delinquency
trends;● estimated fair market value of the collateral;

● current and future economic conditions; and
● geographic and industry loan

concentrations.
At December 31, 2022, our allowance for credit losses for loans held for investment was $25.1 million, which
representedapproximately 0.98% of our total loans held for investment. We had $2.3 million in nonaccruing loans at December 31,
2022. The allowance is based on management’s reasonable estimate and may not prove sufficient to cover future loan losses. 
Althoughmanagement uses the best information available to make determinations with respect to the allowance for credit losses,
futureadjustments may be necessary if economic conditions differ substantially from the assumptions used or adverse
developmentsarise with respect to our nonperforming or performing loans. In addition, regulatory agencies, as an integral part of
theirexamination process, periodically review our estimated losses on loans. Our regulators may require us to recognize
additionallosses based on their judgments about information available to them at the time of their examination. Accordingly, the
allowancefor credit losses may not be adequate to cover all future loan losses and significant increases to the allowance may be required
inthe future if, for example, economic conditions worsen. A material increase in our allowance for credit losses would
adverselyimpact our net income and capital in future periods, while having the effect of overstating our current period
earnings.
We may incur significant costs associated with the ownership of real property as a result of foreclosures, which
couldreduce our net
income.
Since we originate loans secured by real estate, we may have to foreclose on the collateral property to protect our investment
andmay thereafter own and operate such property, in which case we would be exposed to the risks inherent in the ownership of
realestate.

The amount that we, as a mortgagee, may realize after a foreclosure is dependent upon factors outside of our control,
including,but not limited to:

● general or local economic
conditions;● environmental cleanup
liability;● neighborhood values;

● interest rates;
● real estate tax rates;
● operating expenses of the mortgaged properties;
● supply of and demand for rental units or

properties;● ability to obtain and maintain adequate occupancy of the
properties;● zoning
laws;● governmental rules, regulations and fiscal policies; and

● acts of God.

Certain expenditures associated with the ownership of real estate, including real estate taxes, insurance and maintenance
costs,may adversely affect the income from the real estate. Furthermore, we may need to advance funds to continue to operate or
toprotect these assets. As a result, the cost of operating real property assets may exceed the rental income earned from
suchproperties or we may be required to dispose of the real property at a
loss.
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Liquidity
Risks

Liquidity risk could impair our ability to fund operations and jeopardize our financial 
condition.
Effective liquidity management is essential for the operation of our business. We require sufficient liquidity to meet client
loanrequests, client deposit maturities and withdrawals, payments on our debt obligations as they come due and other
cashcommitments under both normal operating conditions and other unpredictable circumstances causing industry or general
financialmarket stress. If we are unable to raise funds through deposits, borrowings, earnings and other sources, it could have a
substantialnegative effect on our liquidity. In particular, a majority of our liabilities during 2022 were checking accounts and other
liquiddeposits, which are generally payable on demand or upon short notice. By comparison, a substantial majority of our assets
wereloans, which cannot generally be called or sold in the same time frame. Although we have historically been able to
replacematuring deposits and advances as necessary, we might not be able to replace such funds in the future, especially if a
largenumber of our depositors seek to withdraw their accounts at the same time, regardless of the reason. Our access to
fundingsources in amounts adequate to finance our activities on terms that are acceptable to us could be impaired by factors that affect
usspecifically or the financial services industry or economy in general. Factors that could negatively impact our access to
liquiditysources include a decrease in the level of our business activity as a result of a downturn in the markets in which our loans
areconcentrated, adverse regulatory action against us, or our inability to attract and retain deposits. Our access to deposits may
benegatively impacted by, among other factors, periods of low interest rates or high interest rates. Periods of high interest
ratescould promote increased competition for deposits, including from new financial technology competitors, or provide
customerswith alternative investment options. Our ability to borrow could also be impaired by factors that are not specific to us, such as
adisruption in the financial markets or negative views and expectations about the prospects for the financial services industry. If
weare unable to maintain adequate liquidity, it could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations or
financialcondition.

We may be unable to pay dividends in the
future.
In 2022, our Board of Directors declared four quarterly cash dividends. Declarations of any future dividends will be contingent
onour ability to earn sufficient profits and to remain well capitalized, including our ability to hold and generate sufficient capital
tocomply with the Common Equity Tier 1 Capital conservation buffer requirement. In addition, due to our contractual
obligationswith the holders of our trust preferred securities, if we defer the payment of accrued interest owed to the holders of our
trustpreferred securities, we may not make dividend payments to our 
shareowners.
Further, under applicable statutes and regulations, CCB’s board of directors, after charging-off bad debts, depreciation and
otherworthless assets, if any, and making provisions for reasonably anticipated future losses on loans and other assets, may 
quarterly,semi-annually, or annually declare and pay dividends to CCBG of up to the aggregate net income of that period combined
withthe CCB’s retained net income for the preceding two years and, with the approval of the Florida Office of Financial 
Regulationand Federal Reserve, declare a dividend from retained net income which accrued prior to the preceding two years. 
Additionalstate laws generally applicable to Florida corporations may also limit our ability to declare and pay dividends. Thus, our ability
tofund future dividends may be restricted by state and federal laws and
regulations.

Regulatory and Compliance
Risks

We are subject to extensive regulation, which could restrict our activities and impose financial requirements or
limitationson the conduct of our
business.
We are subject to extensive regulation, supervision and examination by our regulators, including the Florida Office of
FinancialRegulation, the Federal Reserve, and the FDIC. Our compliance with these industry regulations is costly and restricts certain
ofour activities, including payment of dividends, mergers and acquisitions, investments, lending and interest rates charged on 
loans,interest rates paid on deposits, access to capital and brokered deposits and locations of banking offices. If we are unable to
meetthese regulatory requirements, our financial condition, liquidity and results of operations would be materially and
adverselyaffected.

Our activities are also regulated under consumer protection laws applicable to our lending, deposit and other activities. Many
ofthese regulations are intended primarily for the protection of our depositors and the Deposit Insurance Fund and not for
thebenefit of our shareowners. In addition to the regulations of the bank regulatory agencies, as a member of the Federal Home
LoanBank of Atlanta (“FHLB”), we must also comply with applicable regulations of the Federal Housing Finance Agency and
theFederal Home Loan Bank.
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Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations could subject us to restrictions on our business activities, fines and
otherpenalties, any of which could adversely affect our results of operations, capital base and the price of our securities. Further,
anynew laws, rules and regulations could make compliance more difficult or expensive or otherwise adversely affect our business
andfinancial condition. Please refer to the Section entitled “Business – Regulatory Considerations” on page
10.
U.S. federal banking agencies may require us to increase our regulatory capital, long-term debt or liquidity 
requirements,which could result in the need to issue additional qualifying securities or to take other actions, such as to sell
companyassets.

We are subject to U.S. regulatory capital and liquidity rules. These rules, among other things, establish minimum requirements
toqualify as a well-capitalized institution. If CCB fails to maintain its status as well capitalized under the applicable
regulatorycapital rules, the Federal Reserve will require us to agree to bring the bank back to well-capitalized status. For the duration
ofsuch an agreement, the Federal Reserve may impose restrictions on our activities. If we were to fail to enter into or comply
withsuch an agreement or fail to comply with the terms of such agreement, the Federal Reserve may impose more severe
restrictionson our activities, including requiring us to cease and desist activities permitted under the Bank Holding Company Act of
1956.
Capital and liquidity requirements are frequently introduced and amended. It is possible that regulators may increase
regulatorycapital requirements, change how regulatory capital is calculated or increase liquidity requirements.
 
In 2013, the Federal Reserve Board released its final rules which implement in the United States the Basel III regulatory
capitalreforms from the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and certain changes required by the Dodd-Frank Act. Under the
finalrule, minimum requirements increased for both the quality and quantity of capital held by banking organizations. Consistent
withthe international Basel framework, the rule includes a new minimum ratio of Common Equity Tier 1 Capital, or CET1, to
Risk-Weighted Assets, or RWA, of 4.5% and a CET1 conservation buffer of 2.5% of RWA (which was fully phased-in in 2019)
thatapply to all supervised financial institutions. The CET1 conservation buffer requirement requires us to hold additional
CET1capital in excess of the minimum required to meet the CET1 to RWA ratio requirement. The rule also, among other things,
raisedthe minimum ratio of Tier 1 Capital to RWA from 4% to 6% and included a minimum leverage ratio of 4% for all
bankingorganizations. The impact of the new capital rules requires us to maintain higher levels of capital, which we expect will lower
ourreturn on equity. Additionally, if our CET1 to RWA ratio does not exceed the minimum required plus the additional
CET1conservation buffer, we may be restricted in our ability to pay dividends or make other distributions of capital to our
shareowners.
Further changes to and compliance with the regulatory capital and liquidity requirements may impact our operations by
requiringus to liquidate assets, increase borrowings, issue additional equity or other securities, cease or alter certain operations,
sellcompany assets or hold highly liquid assets, which may adversely affect our results of operations. We may be prohibited
fromtaking capital actions such as paying or increasing dividends or repurchasing 
securities.
Changes in accounting standards or assumptions in applying accounting policies could adversely affect
us.
Our accounting policies and methods are fundamental to how we record and report our financial condition and results
ofoperations. Some of these policies require use of estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported value of our assets
orliabilities and results of operations and are critical because they require management to make difficult, subjective and
complexjudgments about matters that are inherently uncertain. If those assumptions, estimates or judgments were incorrectly made,
wecould be required to correct and restate prior-period financial statements. Accounting standard-setters and those who interpret
theaccounting standards, the SEC, banking regulators and our independent registered public accounting firm may also amend or
evenreverse their previous interpretations or positions on how various standards should be applied. These changes may be difficult
topredict and could impact how we prepare and report our financial statements. In some cases, we could be required to apply a
newor revised standard retrospectively, resulting in us revising prior-period financial statements.
  
Florida financial institutions, such as CCB, face a higher risk of noncompliance and enforcement actions with the
BankSecrecy Act and other anti-money laundering statutes and
regulations.
Since September 11, 2001, banking regulators have intensified their focus on anti-money laundering and Bank Secrecy
Actcompliance requirements, particularly the anti-money laundering provisions of the USA PATRIOT Act. There is also
increasedscrutiny of compliance with the rules enforced by the Office of Foreign Assets Control, or OFAC. Since 2004, federal
bankingregulators and examiners have been extremely aggressive in their supervision and examination of financial institutions located
inthe State of Florida with respect to the institution’s Bank Secrecy Act/anti-money laundering compliance. Consequently,
numerous formal enforcement actions have been instituted against financial institutions. If CCB’s policies, procedures 
andsystems are deemed deficient or the policies, procedures and systems of the financial institutions that it has already acquired
ormay acquire in the future are deficient, CCB would be subject to liability, including fines and regulatory actions such
asrestrictions on its ability to pay dividends and the necessity to obtain regulatory approvals to proceed with certain aspects of
itsbusiness plan, including its acquisition
plans.
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Fee revenues from overdraft protection programs constitute a significant portion of our noninterest income and may
besubject to increased supervisory scrutiny. 

Revenues derived from transaction fees associated with overdraft protection programs offered to consumers represent
asignificant portion of our noninterest income. In 2022, the Company collected approximately $10.6 million in net
consumeroverdraft transaction fees. 

In 2022, certain members of Congress and the leadership of the CFPB have expressed a heightened interest in bank
consumeroverdraft protection programs. In 2022, the CFPB piloted a supervision effort to collect key metrics from some
supervisedinstitutions regarding the consumer impact of their overdraft and non-sufficient fund practices, with the intent of using
thisinformation to identify institutions for further examination and review. The CFPB has indicated that it intends to
pursueenforcement actions against banking organizations, and their executives, that oversee overdraft practices that are deemed to
beunlawful, and indeed took action against a large bank for charging “surprise” overdraft fees known as authorized positive fee.
InOctober of 2022, the CFPB issued guidance to help banks avoid charging illegal surprise overdraft fees. In addition,
theComptroller of the Currency has identified potential options for reform of national bank overdraft protection practices,
includingproviding a grace period before the imposition of a fee, refraining from charging multiple fees in a single day and eliminating
feesaltogether. 

In response to this increased congressional and regulatory scrutiny, and in anticipation of enhanced supervision and
enforcementof overdraft protection practices in the future, certain banking organizations have begun to modify their overdraft
protectionprograms, including by discontinuing the imposition of overdraft transaction fees. These competitive pressures from our peers,
aswell as any adoption by our regulators of new rules or supervisory guidance or more aggressive examination and
enforcementpolicies in respect of banks’ overdraft protection practices, could cause us to modify our program and practices in ways that
mayhave a negative impact on our revenue and earnings, which, in turn, could have an adverse effect on our financial condition
andresults of
operations.

Operational
Risks

Many types of operational risks can affect our earnings
negatively.
We regularly assess and monitor operational risk in our businesses. Despite our efforts to assess and monitor operational risk,
ourrisk management framework may not be effective in all cases. Factors that can impact operations and expose us to risks varying 
insize, scale and scope include:

● failures of technological systems or breaches of security measures, including, but not limited to, those resulting
fromcomputer viruses or cyber-attacks;

● unsuccessful or difficult implementation of computer systems upgrades;
● human errors or omissions, including failures to comply with applicable laws or corporate policies and

procedures;● theft, fraud or misappropriation of assets, whether arising from the intentional actions of internal personnel or
externalthird parties;

● breakdowns in processes, breakdowns in internal controls or failures of the systems and facilities that support
ouroperations;

● deficiencies in services or service delivery;
● negative developments in relationships with key counterparties, third-party vendors, or employees in our day-to-

dayoperations; and
● external events that are wholly or partially beyond our control, such as pandemics, geopolitical events, political

unrest,natural disasters or acts of terrorism.

While we have in place many controls and business continuity plans designed to address these factors and others, these plans
maynot operate successfully to mitigate these risks effectively. If our controls and business continuity plans do not mitigate
theassociated risks successfully, such factors may have a negative impact on our business, financial condition or results 
ofoperations. In addition, an important aspect of managing our operational risk is creating a risk culture in which all
employeesfully understand that there is risk in every aspect of our business and the importance of managing risk as it relates to their
jobfunctions. We continue to enhance our risk management program to support our risk culture. Nonetheless, if we fail to provide
theappropriate environment that sensitizes all of our employees to managing risk, our business could be impacted
adversely.
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We are subject to certain operational risks, including, but not limited to, customer, employee or third-party fraud
anddata processing system failures and
errors.
We rely on the ability of our employees and systems to process a high number of transactions. Operational risk is the risk of
lossresulting from our operations, including but not limited to, the risk of fraud by employees or persons outside our company, 
theexecution of unauthorized transactions by employees, errors relating to transaction processing and technology, breaches of
ourinternal control systems and compliance requirements. Insurance coverage may not be available for such losses, or
whereavailable, such losses may exceed insurance limits. This risk of loss also includes the potential legal actions that could arise as
aresult of operational deficiencies or as a result of non-compliance with applicable regulatory standards, adverse business
decisionsor their implementation, or customer attrition due to potential negative publicity. In the event of a breakdown in our
internalcontrol systems, improper operation of systems or improper employee actions, we could suffer financial loss, face
regulatoryaction, and/or suffer damage to our reputation.
 
We are subject to credit and/or settlement risk arising from the soundness of other financial institutions
andcounterparties which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
Financial services institutions are interrelated as a result of trading, clearing, counterparty, or other relationships. We have
exposure to many different industries and counterparties, and routinely execute transactions with counterparties in the
financialservices industry, including commercial banks, brokers and dealers, investment banks, other institutional clients, and
certainvendors. Many of these transactions expose us to credit or settlement risk in the event of a default or other failure to adhere
tocontractual obligations by a counterparty or client. In addition, our credit or settlement risk may be exacerbated when
anycollateral held by us cannot be realized upon or is liquidated at prices not sufficient to recover the full amount of the credit
orderivative exposure due to us. Increased interconnectivity amongst financial institutions also increases the risk of cyber-
attacksand information system failures for financial institutions. Any such losses could have a material adverse effect on our
business,financial condition, and results of
operations.
Pandemics, natural disasters, global climate change, acts of terrorism and global conflicts may have a negative impact
onour business and operations.

Pandemics (such as the COVID-19 pandemic), natural disasters, global climate change, acts of terrorism, global conflicts or
othersimilar events have in the past, and may in the future have, a negative impact on our business and operations. These events
impactus negatively to the extent that they result in reduced capital markets activity, lower asset price levels, or disruptions in
generaleconomic activity in the United States or abroad, or in financial market settlement functions. In addition, these or similar
eventsmay impact economic growth negatively, which could have an adverse effect on our business and operations and may have
otheradverse effects on us in ways that we are unable to
predict.
Our business operations could be disrupted if significant portions of our workforce were unable to work effectively, 
includingbecause of illness, quarantines, government actions, or other restrictions in connection with the pandemic. Further, work-
from-home and other modified business practices may introduce additional operational risks, including cybersecurity and
executionrisks, which may result in inefficiencies or delays, and may affect our ability to, or the manner in which we, conduct our
businessactivities. Disruptions to our clients could result in increased risk of delinquencies, defaults, foreclosures and losses on our
loans.The escalation of the pandemic may also negatively impact regional economic conditions for a period of time, resulting
indeclines in local loan demand, liquidity of loan guarantors, loan collateral (particularly in real estate), loan originations
anddeposit availability.

Litigation may adversely affect our
results.
We are subject to litigation in the ordinary course of business. Claims and legal actions, including supervisory actions by
ourregulators, could involve large monetary claims and significant defense costs. The outcome of litigation and regulatory matters
aswell as the timing of ultimate resolution are inherently difficult to predict.
Actual legal and other costs of resolving claims may be greater than our legal reserves. The ultimate resolution of a pending
legalproceeding, depending on the remedy sought and granted, could materially adversely affect our results of operations and
financialcondition.

In addition, governmental authorities have, at times, sought criminal penalties against companies in the financial services
sectorfor violations, and, at times, have required an admission of wrongdoing from financial institutions in connection with
resolvingsuch matters. Criminal convictions or admissions of wrongdoing in a settlement with the government can lead to greater
exposurein civil litigation and reputational harm.

Substantial legal liability or significant regulatory action against us could have material adverse financial effects or
causesignificant reputational harm, which adversely impact our business prospects. Further, we may be exposed to
substantialuninsured liabilities, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial
condition.
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Strategic
Risks

Our future success is dependent on our ability to compete effectively in the highly competitive banking
industry.
We face vigorous competition for deposits, loans and other financial services in our market area from other banks and
financialinstitutions, including savings and loan associations, savings banks, finance companies and credit unions. A number of
ourcompetitors are significantly larger than we are and have greater access to capital and other resources. Many of our
competitorsalso have higher lending limits, more expansive branch networks, and offer a wider array of financial products and services. To 
alesser extent, we also compete with other providers of financial services, such as money market mutual funds, brokerage
firms,consumer finance companies, insurance companies and governmental organizations, which may offer financial products
andservices on more favorable terms than we are able to. Many of our non-bank competitors are not subject to the same
extensiveregulations that govern our activities. As a result, these non-bank competitors have advantages over us in providing
certainservices. The effect of this competition may reduce or limit our margins or our market share and may adversely affect our 
resultsof operations and financial
condition.
Our directors, executive officers, and principal shareowners, if acting together, have substantial control over all
mattersrequiring shareowner approval, including changes of control. Because Mr. William G. Smith, Jr. is a
principalshareowner and our Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of CCB, he has substantial
controlover all matters on a day-to-day basis.

Our directors, executive officers, and principal shareowners beneficially owned approximately 23.3% of the outstanding shares
ofour common stock at December 31, 2022. William G. Smith, Jr., our Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officerbeneficially owned 17.1% of our shares as of that date. Accordingly, these directors, executive officers, and
principalshareowners, if acting together, may be able to influence or control matters requiring approval by our shareowners, including 
theelection of directors and the approval of mergers, acquisitions or other extraordinary transactions. Moreover, because William
G.Smith, Jr. is the Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer of CCBG and Chairman of CCB, he has substantial 
controlover all matters on a day-to-day basis, including the nomination and election of directors.

These directors, executive officers, and principal shareowners may also have interests that differ from yours and may vote in
away with which you disagree, and which may be adverse to your interests. The concentration of ownership may have the effect
ofdelaying, preventing or deterring a change of control of our company, could deprive our shareowners of an opportunity to
receivea premium for their common stock as part of a sale of our Company and might ultimately affect the market price of our
commonstock. You may also have difficulty changing management, the composition of the Board of Directors, or the general direction
ofour Company.

Our Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, and certain laws and regulations may prevent or delay transactions you
mightfavor, including a sale or merger of
CCBG.
CCBG is registered with the Federal Reserve as a financial holding company under the Bank Holding Company Act, or BHC
Act.As a result, we are subject to supervisory regulation and examination by the Federal Reserve. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, the
BHC Act, and other federal laws subject financial holding companies to restrictions on the types of activities in which they
mayengage, and to a range of supervisory requirements and activities, including regulatory enforcement actions for violations of
lawsand regulations.

Provisions of our Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, certain laws and regulations and various other factors may make it
moredifficult and expensive for companies or persons to acquire control of us without the consent of our Board of Directors. It
ispossible, however, that you would want a takeover attempt to succeed because, for example, a potential buyer could offer
 apremium over the then prevailing price of our common
stock.
For example, our Articles of Incorporation permit our Board of Directors to issue preferred stock without shareowner action.
Theability to issue preferred stock could discourage a company from attempting to obtain control of us by means of a tender
offer,merger, proxy contest or otherwise. We are also subject to certain provisions of the Florida Business Corporation Act and
ourArticles of Incorporation that relate to business combinations with interested shareowners. Other provisions in our Articles
ofIncorporation or Bylaws that may discourage takeover attempts or make them more difficult include:
 

● Supermajority voting requirements to remove a director from
office;● Provisions regarding the timing and content of shareowner proposals and
nominations;● Supermajority voting requirements to amend Articles of Incorporation unless approval is received by a majority
of“disinterested directors”;

● Absence of cumulative voting; and
● Inability for shareowners to take action by written consent.
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Reputational
Risks

Damage to our reputation could harm our businesses, including our competitive position and business
prospects.
Our ability to attract and retain customers, clients, investors and employees is impacted by our reputation. Harm to our
reputationcan arise from various sources, including officer, director or employee fraud, misconduct and unethical behavior, 
securitybreaches, litigation or regulatory outcomes, compensation practices, lending practices, the suitability or reasonableness
ofrecommending particular trading or investment strategies, including the reliability of our research and models, prohibiting
clientsfrom engaging in certain transactions and employee sales practices. Additionally, our reputation may be harmed by failing
todeliver products, subpar standards of service and quality expected by our customers, clients and the community, 
compliancefailures, the inability to manage technology change or maintain effective data management, cyber incidents, internal and
externalfraud, inadequacy of responsiveness to internal controls, unintended disclosure of personal, proprietary or
confidentialinformation, conflicts of interest and breach of fiduciary obligations, the handling of health emergencies or pandemics, and the
activities of our clients, customers, counterparties and third parties, including vendors. Our reputation may also be
negativelyimpacted by our environmental, social, and governance practices and disclosures, our businesses and our customers,
includingpractices and disclosures related to climate change. Actions by the financial services industry generally or by certain members
orindividuals in the industry also can adversely affect our reputation. In addition, adverse publicity or negative information
postedon social media by employees, the media or otherwise, whether or not factually correct, may adversely impact our
businessprospects or financial
results.We are subject to complex and evolving laws and regulations regarding privacy, know-your-customer requirements,
dataprotection, cross-border data movement and other matters. Principles concerning the appropriate scope of consumer
andcommercial privacy vary considerably in different jurisdictions, and regulatory and public expectations regarding the
definitionand scope of consumer and commercial privacy may remain fluid. It is possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied
byvarious jurisdictions in a manner inconsistent with our current or future practices, or that is inconsistent with one another. 
Ifpersonal, confidential or proprietary information of customers or clients in our possession, or in the possession of third
parties(including their downstream service providers) or financial data aggregators, is mishandled, misused or mismanaged, or if we
donot timely or adequately address such information, we may face regulatory, reputational and operational risks which
couldadversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations.
We could suffer reputational harm if we fail to properly identify and manage potential conflicts of interest. Management
ofpotential conflicts of interest has become increasingly complex as we expand our business activities through more
numeroustransactions, obligations and interests with and among our clients. The failure to adequately address, or the perceived failure
toadequately address, conflicts of interest could affect the willingness of clients to use our products and services, or give rise
tolitigation or enforcement actions, which could adversely affect our 
business.
Our actual or perceived failure to address these and other issues, such as operational risks, gives rise to reputational risk that
couldharm us and our business prospects. Failure to appropriately address any of these issues could also give rise to
additionalregulatory restrictions, legal risks and reputational harm, which could, among other consequences, increase the size and
numberof litigation claims and damages asserted or subject us to enforcement actions, fines and penalties, and cause us to incur
relatedcosts and expenses.

Technology Risks

We process, maintain, and transmit confidential client information through our information technology systems, such
asour online banking service. Cybersecurity issues, such as security breaches and computer viruses, affecting
ourinformation technology systems or fraud related to our debit card products could disrupt our business, result in
theunintended disclosure or misuse of confidential or proprietary information, damage our reputation, increase our
costs,and cause
losses.
We collect and store sensitive data, including our proprietary business information and that of our clients, and
personallyidentifiable information of our clients and employees, in
our

information technology systems . We also provide our clients the
ability to bank
online.

The secure processing, maintenance, and transmission of this information is critical to our
operations.

 Our
network, or those of our clients, could be vulnerable to unauthorized access, computer viruses, phishing schemes and
othersecurity problems. Financial institutions and companies engaged in data processing have increasingly reported breaches in
thesecurity of their websites or other systems, some of which have involved sophisticated and targeted attacks intended to
obtainunauthorized access to confidential information, destroy data, disrupt or degrade service, sabotage systems or cause other
damage.
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We may be required to spend significant capital and other resources to protect against the threat of security breaches
andcomputer viruses or to alleviate problems caused by security breaches or viruses. Security breaches and viruses could expose us
toclaims, litigation and other possible liabilities. Any inability to prevent security breaches or computer viruses could also
causeexisting clients to lose confidence in our systems and could adversely affect our reputation and our ability to generate
deposits.
Additionally, fraud losses related to debit and credit cards have risen in recent years due in large part to growing and
evolvingschemes to illegally use cards or steal consumer credit card information despite risk management practices employed by the
debitand credit card industries. Many issuers of debit and credit cards have suffered significant losses in recent years due to the theft
ofcardholder data that has been illegally exploited for personal
gain.
The potential for debit and credit card fraud against us or our clients and our third-party service providers is a serious issue.
Debitand credit card fraud is pervasive, and the risks of cybercrime are complex and continue to evolve. In view of the recent
high-profile retail data breaches involving client personal and financial information, the potential impact on us and any exposure
toconsumer losses and the cost of technology investments to improve security could cause losses to us or our clients, damage to
ourbrand, and an increase in our
costs.
Item
1B.

 Unresolved Staff Comments
 
None.

Item 2. Properties

We are headquartered in Tallahassee, Florida. Our executive office is in the Capital City Bank building located on the corner
ofTennessee and Monroe Streets in downtown Tallahassee. The building is owned by CCB, but is located on land leased under
along-term
agreement.
At December 31, 2022, Capital City Bank had 58 banking offices. Of these locations, we lease the land, buildings, or both
atseven locations and own the land and buildings at the remaining 51. CCHL had 33 loan production offices, all of which
wereleased. Capital City Strategic Wealth, LLC. maintained five offices, all of which were leased.
 

 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are party to lawsuits and claims arising out of the normal course of business. In management’s opinion, there are no
knownpending claims or litigation, the outcome of which would, individually or in the aggregate, have a material effect on
ourconsolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash
flows.
Item 4 . Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareowner Matters, and Issuer Purchases of
EquitySecurities

Common Stock Market Prices and Dividends

Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “CCBG.” We had a total of 1,124
shareownersof record at January 31,
2023.
The following table presents the range of high and low closing sales prices reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market and
cashdividends declared for each quarter during the past two years.
 

2022 2021

Fourth
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Second
Quarter

First
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Second
Quarter

First
Quarter

Common stock
price:High $ 36.23 $ 33.93 $ 28.55 $ 28.88 $ 29.00 $ 26.10 $ 27.39 $ 28.98
Low 31.14 27.41 24.43 25.96 24.77 22.02 24.55 21.42
Close 32.50 31.11 27.89 26.36 26.40 24.74 25.79 26.02
Cash dividends per share
 

0.17 0.17 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.15 0.15

Florida law and Federal regulations impose restrictions on our ability to pay dividends and limitations on the amount of
dividendsthat the Bank can pay annually to us. See Item 1. “Capital; Dividends; Sources of Strength” and “Dividends” in the
Businesssection on page 11 and 13, Item 1A. “Market Risks” in the Risk Factors section on page 19, Item 7. “Liquidity and
CapitalResources – Dividends” – in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Operating Results on page 
56and Note 17 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.
Performance Graph

This performance graph compares the cumulative total shareowner return on our common stock with the cumulative
totalshareowner return of the Nasdaq Composite Index and the S&P U.S. Small Cap Banks Index for the past five years. The
graphassumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2017 in our common stock and each of the above indices, and that all
dividendswere reinvested. The shareowner return shown below represents past performance and should not be considered indicative
offuture performance.
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Period Ending
Index 12/31/17 12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31/20 12/31/21 12/31/22
Capital City Bank Group, Inc.
 

$ 100.00 $ 102.49 $ 137.30 $ 113.48 $ 124.86 $ 157.09
Nasdaq Composite
 

100.00 97.16 132.81 192.47 235.15 158.65
SNL $1B-$5B Bank Index
 

100.00 83.44 104.69 95.08 132.36 116.69
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data
(As Restated)

(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Data) 2022 2021 2020
Interest Income $ 131,910 $ 106,351 $ 106,197
Net Interest Income 125,022 102,861 101,326
Provision for Credit Losses 7,494 (1,553) 9,645
Noninterest Income 75,181 107,545 111,165
Noninterest Expense(1) 151,634 162,508 149,962
Pre-Tax Loss (Income) Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests (2) 135 (6,220) (11,078)
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners 33,412 33,396 31,576

Per Common Share:
Basic Net Income $ 1.97 $ 1.98 $ 1.88
Diluted Net Income 1.97 1.98 1.88
Cash Dividends Declared 0.66 0.62 0.57
Diluted Book Value 22.73 22.63 19.05
Diluted Tangible Book Value (3) 17.27 17.12 13.76

Performance Ratios:
Return on Average Assets 0.77 % 0.84 % 0.93 %
Return on Average Equity 8.81 9.92 9.36
Net Interest Margin (FTE) 3.14 2.83 3.30
Noninterest Income as % of Operating Revenues 37.55 51.11 52.32
Efficiency Ratio 75.62 77.11 70.43

Asset Quality:
Allowance for Credit Losses ("ACL") $ 25,068 $ 21,606 $ 23,816
ACL to Loans Held for Investment ("HFI") 0.98 % 1.12 % 1.19 %
Nonperforming Assets ("NPAs") 2,728 4,339 6,679
NPAs to Total Assets 0.06 0.10 0.18
NPAs to Loans HFI plus OREO 0.11 0.22 0.33
ACL to Non-Performing Loans 1,091.33 499.93 405.66
Net Charge-Offs to Average Loans HFI 0.18 (0.03) 0.12

Capital Ratios:
Tier 1 Capital 14.27 % 16.14 % 16.19 %
Total Capital 15.30 17.15 17.30
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital 12.38 13.86 13.71
Tangible Common Equity (3) 6.65 6.95 6.25
Leverage 8.91 8.95 9.33
Equity to Assets 8.57 8.99 8.45
Dividend Pay-Out 33.50 31.31 30.32

Averages for the Year:
Loans Held for Investment $ 2,189,440 $ 2,000,563 $ 1,957,576
Earning Assets 3,989,248 3,652,486 3,083,675
Total Assets 4,332,302 3,984,064 3,391,071
Deposits 3,763,336 3,406,886 2,844,347
Shareowners’ Equity 379,290 336,821 337,313

Year -End Balances:
Loans Held for Investment $ 2,547,685 $ 1,931,465 $ 2,006,426
Earning Assets 4,177,177 3,949,111 3,475,904
Total Assets 4,519,223 4,263,849 3,798,071
Deposits 3,939,317 3,712,862 3,217,560
Shareowners’ Equity 387,281 383,166 320,837

Other Data:
Basic Average Shares Outstanding 16,950,810 16,862,932 16,784,711
Diluted Average Shares Outstanding 16,984,740 16,892,947 16,821,950
Shareowners of Record(4) 1,124 1,157 1,201
Banking Locations(4) 59 57 57
Full-Time Equivalent Associates(4)(5) 992 954 954
(1) For 2022 and 2021, includes pension settlement charge of $2.3 million and  $3.1
million, respectively.(2) Acquired 51% membership interest in Brand Mortgage Group, LLC, re-named as Capital City Home Loans,  LLC, on March 1, 2020 - fully consolidated.
(3) Diluted tangible book value and tangible common equity  ratio are non-GAAP financial measures. For additional information, including a reconciliation
 to GAAP, refer to page 39.
(4) As of January 31st of the following year.
(5) Reflects 992 full-time equivalent associates that  includes 196 full-time equivalent associates at CCHL.
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

We present a tangible common equity ratio and a tangible book value per diluted share that, in each case, removes the effect
ofgoodwill that resulted from merger and acquisition activity. We believe these measures are useful to investors because it
allowsinvestors to more easily compare our capital adequacy to other companies in the industry. The generally accepted
accountingprinciples (“GAAP”) to non-GAAP reconciliation for selected year-to-date financial data is provided
below.
Non-GAAP Reconciliation - Selected Financial
Data

(As Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands, except per share data) 2022 2021 2020
Shareowners' Equity (GAAP) $ 387,281 $ 383,166 $ 320,837
Less: Goodwill and Other Intangibles (GAAP) 93,093 93,253 89,095
Tangible Shareowners' Equity (non-GAAP) A 294,188 289,913 231,742
Total Assets (GAAP) 4,519,223 4,263,849 3,798,071
Less: Goodwill and Other Intangibles (GAAP) 93,093 93,253 89,095
Tangible Assets (non-GAAP) B $ 4,426,130 $ 4,170,596 $ 3,708,976
Tangible Common Equity Ratio (non-GAAP) A/B 6.65% 6.95% 6.25%
Actual Diluted Shares Outstanding (GAAP) C 17,039,401 16,935,389 16,844,997
Tangible Book Value per Diluted Share (non-GAAP) A/C 17.27 17.12 13.76
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

Management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) provides supplemental information, which sets forth the major factors
thathave affected our financial condition and results of operations and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
FinancialStatements and related notes included in this Form 10-K/A. The MD&A is divided into subsections entitled
“BusinessOverview,” “Executive Overview,” “Results of Operations,” “Financial Condition,” “Liquidity and Capital Resources,”
“Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements,” and “Accounting Policies.” The following information should provide a better understanding
ofthe major factors and trends that affect our earnings performance and financial condition, and how our performance during
2022compares with prior years. Throughout this section, Capital City Bank Group, Inc., and its subsidiaries, collectively, are
referredto as “CCBG,” “Company,” “we,” “us,” or
“our.”
We have restated our previously issued consolidated financial statements contained in this Form 10-K/A. For background on
therestatement, the fiscal periods impacted, control considerations and other information, see “Explanatory Note” preceding “Part I
-Item 1. Business” above. In addition, this MD&A is being restated to conform to the restated financial statements. For
additionalinformation related to the restatements, see “Part II - Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”
below.
CAUTION CONCERNING FORWARD -LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K/A, including this MD&A section, contains “forward -looking statements” within the meaning of the
PrivateSecurities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements include, among others, statements about our
beliefs,plans, objectives, goals, expectations, estimates and intentions that are subject to significant risks and uncertainties and are
subjectto change based on various factors, many of which are beyond our control. The words “may,” “could,” “should,” 
“would,”“believe,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “target,” “vision,” “goal,” and similar expressions are intended
toidentify forward-looking
statements.
All forward-looking statements, by their nature, are subject to risks and uncertainties. Our actual future results may
differmaterially from those set forth in our forward-looking statements. Please see the Introductory Note
and

Item 1A Risk
Factors

 of
this Annual Report for a discussion of factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those in the
forward-looking statements.

However, other factors besides those listed
in

Item 1A Risk
Factors

 or discussed in this Annual Report also could adversely
affectour results, and you should not consider any such list of factors to be a complete set of all potential risks or uncertainties. 

Anyforward-looking statements made by us or on our behalf speak only as of the date they are made. We do not undertake to
updateany forward-looking statement, except as required by applicable
law.
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Our Business

We are a financial holding company headquartered in Tallahassee, Florida, and we are the parent of our wholly owned
subsidiary,Capital City Bank (the “Bank” or “CCB”). We provide a full range of banking services, including traditional deposit and
creditservices, mortgage banking, asset management, trust, merchant services, bankcards, securities brokerage services and
financialadvisory services, including the sale of life insurance, risk management, and asset protection services. The Bank has 58
bankingoffices and 89 ATMs/ITMs in Florida, Georgia and Alabama. Through Capital City Home Loans, LLC (“CCHL”), we have
33additional offices in the Southeast for our mortgage banking business. Please see the section captioned “About Us” beginning
onpage 4 for more detailed information about our
business.
Our profitability, like most financial institutions, is dependent to a large extent upon net interest income, which is the
differencebetween the interest and fees received on interest earning assets, such as loans and securities, and the interest paid on
interest-bearing liabilities, principally deposits and borrowings. Results of operations are also affected by the provision for credit
losses,operating expenses such as salaries and employee benefits, occupancy , and other operating expenses including income taxes,
andnoninterest income such as mortgage banking revenues, wealth management fees, deposit fees, and bank card fees.
 
Strategic
Review
Operating
Philosophy

. Our philosophy is to build long-term client relationships based on quality service, high ethical
standards,and safe and sound banking practices. We maintain a locally oriented, community-based focus, which is augmented

byexperienced, centralized support in select specialized areas. Our local market orientation is reflected in our network of
bankingoffice locations, experienced community executives with a dedicated President for each market, and community boards
whichsupport our focus on responding to local banking needs. We strive to offer a broad array of sophisticated products and to
providequality service by empowering associates to make decisions in their local markets.
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Strategic Initiatives . In 2021, we initiated a new five-year strategic plan “2025 In Focus” that will guide us in the areas of
clientexperience, channel optimization, market expansion, and culture. As part of 2025 In Focus, we aim to take our brand

ofrelationship banking to the next level, further deepen relationships within our communities, expand into new higher
growthmarkets, diversify our revenue sources, invest in new technology that will support the expansion of client relationships,
scalewithin our lines of business, and drive higher profitability. In 2022, we implemented initiatives in support of the strategic
plan,including the implementation of an integrated marketing software aimed at deepening client relationships, initiation of
acomprehensive review of our banking office network, continued expansion into new markets, and in 2020 and 2021 continued
ourefforts to diversify our revenues by expanding our residential mortgage banking and wealth businesses (discussed further
below-Recent Acquisition/Expansion Activity ).

Markets . We maintain a blend of large and small markets in Florida and Georgia, all in close proximity to major
interstatethoroughfares such as Interstates 10 and 75. Our larger markets include Tallahassee (Leon County, Florida), 

Gainesville(Alachua County, Florida), Macon (Bibb County, Georgia), and Suncoast (Hernando/Pasco/Citrus Counties, Florida). The
largeremployers in these markets are state and local governments, healthcare providers, educational institutions, and small
businesses,providing stability and good growth dynamics that have historically grown in excess of the national average. We serve
anadditional fifteen smaller, less competitive, rural markets located on the outskirts of, and centered between, our larger 
marketswhere we are positioned as a market leader. In 12 of 18 markets in Florida and two of four Georgia markets, we frequently
rankwithin the top four banks in terms of deposit market share. Furthermore, in the counties in which we operate, we maintain
an8.4% deposit market share in the Florida counties and 5.4% in the Georgia counties (excluding Northern Arc markets entered
in2022). Our markets provide for a strong core deposit funding base, a key differentiator and driver of our profitability
andfranchise value.
 
Recent Acquisition/Expansion Activity . We have continued our expansion into the Northern Arc of Atlanta, Georgia by

openingfull-service offices in Marietta (Cobb County) in the fourth quarter of 2022 and Duluth (Gwinnett County) in the first quarter
of2023. Additionally, we expanded our presence in the Florida Panhandle by opening a full-service office in Watersound,
Floridain the fourth quarter of 2022. To expand our presence and commitment to our Gainesville market, we plan to open a third
full-service banking office in the area in early 2023. During 2022, we hired leadership and banking teams in the Northern Arc
andWalton County office markets, including commercial bankers, retail delivery support, private banking, wealth advisors,
andtreasury professionals. Further, CCHL loan originators will reside in the Northern Arc and Walton County 
offices.
On April 30, 2021, a newly formed subsidiary of CCBG, Capital City Strategic Wealth, LLC (“CCSW”) acquired substantially
allof the assets of Strategic Wealth Group, LLC and certain related businesses (“SWG”) – Refer to Note 1 – Significant
AccountingPolicies/Business Combination for additional information on this
transaction.
On March 1, 2020, CCB completed its acquisition of a 51% membership interest in Brand Mortgage Group, LLC
(“Brand”)which is now operated as CCHL – Refer to Note 1 – Significant Accounting Policies/Business Combination for
additionalinformation on this transaction.
 
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

For 2022, net income attributable to common shareowners totaled $33.4 million, or $1.97 per diluted share, compared to
netincome of $33.4 million, or $1.98 per diluted share, for 2021 and $31.6 million, or $1.88 per diluted share, for
2020.
The increase in net income attributable to common shareowners for 2022 was attributable to higher net interest income of
$22.2million, lower noninterest expense of $10.9 million, and lower income taxes of $1.9 million, partially offset by a $9.0
millionincrease in the provision for credit losses and lower noninterest income of $32.4 million. Net income attributable to
commonshareowners included a $6.4 million increase in the deduction to record the 49% non-controlling interest in the earnings of CCHL.
 
The increase in net income attributable to common shareowners for 2021 was attributable to a decrease in the provision for
creditlosses of $11.2 million, higher net interest income of $1.5 million and lower income taxes of $0.4 million, partially offset 
byhigher noninterest expense of $12.5 million and lower noninterest income of $3.6 million. Net income attributable to
commonshareowners included a $4.9 million decrease in the deduction to record the 49% non-controlling interest in the earnings of
CCHL.
Below are Summary Highlights  of our 2022 financial

performance:
● Strong growth in net interest income of 21.5% reflected improved earning asset mix and strength of deposit franchise

 ● Loan growth of $616 million, or 31.9 % (end of period) and $189 million, or 9.4% (year-to-date
average)● Average Deposits grew $356 million, or 10.5%
 ● Noninterest income decreased 30.1% due to lower mortgage banking revenues reflecting a slowdown in
secondarymarket loan sales and a shift in residential loan production mix to adjustable rate production for our loan
portfolio.Wealth management fees increased 31.9% due to higher insurance revenues and deposit fees increased 17.2%

● Noninterest expense decreased 6.7% due to lower compensation expense reflective of lower salary expense,
primarilydue to higher realized loan cost (credit offset to salary expense) driven by strong new loan production for the
year.Noninterest expense for 2022 included pension settlement charges totaling $2.3 million or $0.11 per
share.
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● Tangible book value per share increased $0.15, or 0.9%, and reflected stable earnings and a favorable re-
measurementadjustment for pension plan, partially offset by higher unrealized investment security
losses.

For more detailed information, refer to the following additional sections of the MD&A “Results of Operations” and “Financial
Condition”.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

A condensed earnings summary for the last three fiscal years is presented in Table 1
below:
Table 1
CONDENSED SUMMARY OF
EARNINGS

(As Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share 
Data)

2022 2021 2020
Interest Income $ 131,910 $ 106,351 $ 106,197
Taxable Equivalent 
Adjustments

325 349 430
Total Interest Income (FTE) 132,235 106,700 106,627
Interest Expense 6,888 3,490 4,871
Net Interest Income (FTE) 125,347 103,210 101,756
Provision for Credit
Losses

7,494 (1,553) 9,645
Taxable Equivalent 
Adjustments

325 349 430
Net Interest Income After Provision for Credit
Losses

117,528 104,414 91,681
Noninterest Income 75,181 107,545 111,165
Noninterest Expense 151,634 162,508 149,962
Income Before Income
Taxes

41,075 49,451 52,884
Income Tax Expense 7,798 9,835 10,230
Pre-Tax Income Attributable to Noncontrolling
Interests

135 (6,220) (11,078)
Net Income Attributable to Common
Shareowners

$ 33,412 $ 33,396 $ 31,576

Basic Net Income Per
Share

$ 1.97 $ 1.98 $ 1.88
Diluted Net Income Per
Share

$ 1.97 $ 1.98 $ 1.88

Net Interest Income and
Margin
Net interest income represents our single largest source of earnings and is equal to interest income and fees generated by
earningassets, less interest expense paid on interest bearing liabilities. We provide an analysis of our net interest income,
includingaverage yields and rates in Tables 2 and 3 below. We provide this information on a “taxable equivalent” basis to reflect the
tax-exempt status of income earned on certain loans and
investments.
For 2022, our taxable equivalent net interest income increased $22.1 million, or 21.4%. This follows an increase of $1.5
million,or 1.4% in 2021. The increase in 2022 was primarily due to strong loan growth, higher interest rates, and growth in
theinvestment portfolio. The increase in 2021 was primarily due to higher small business (“SBA PPP”) loan income combined
withlower interest expense, partially offset by lower investment portfolio income due to lower reinvestment rates.
 
For 2022, taxable equivalent interest income increased $25.5 million, or 23.9%, over 2021. For 2021, taxable equivalent
interestincome increased $0.1 million, or 0.1%, over 2020. The increase in 2022 was primarily due to an overall improved earning 
assetmix and higher interest rates on earning assets. The increase in 2021 was primarily due to income on SBA PPP loans, 
partiallyoffset by lower rates on earning assets. 

For 2022, interest expense increased $3.4 million, or 97.4%, over 2021. For 2021, interest expense decreased $1.4 million,
or28.4%, from 2020. The variances for both 2022 and 2021 were related to our negotiated rate deposits, primarily NOW
accountswhich were tied to an adjustable rate index until mid-2022. Our cost of interest bearing deposits was 17 basis points in 2022,
4basis points in 2021, and 10 basis points in 2020. Our total cost of deposits (including noninterest bearing accounts ) was 9
basispoints in 2022, 2 basis points in 2021, and 5 basis points in 2020. To a lesser extent, higher interest expense for our variable
rateshort-term borrowings (warehouse line of credit for mortgage banking) and subordinated notes contributed to the increase
in2022. Our total cost of funds (interest expense/average earning assets) was 17 basis points in 2022, 10 basis points in 2021,
and16 basis points in 2020.
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Our interest rate spread (defined as the taxable-equivalent yield on average earning assets less the average rate paid on
interestbearing liabilities) increased 25 basis points in 2022 and decreased 43 basis points in 2021. Our net interest margin (defined
astaxable-equivalent interest income less interest expense divided by average earning assets) of 3.14% in 2022 reflected a 31
basispoint increase over 2021. The net interest margin of 2.83% in 2021 reflected a 47 basis point decrease from 2020. The
increasein the interest rate spread and net interest margin in 2022 reflected an improved earning asset mix, higher yields across a
majorityof our earning assets due to the rapid increase in interest rates, and good control of our deposit cost. The decline in the
interestrate spread and net interest margin in 2021 reflected lower earning asset yields due to lower rates, in addition to a higher level
oflower yielding overnight funds driven by strong deposit growth.
 
During 2022, the Federal Open Market Committee (“FOMC”) raised interest rates 425 basis points, putting the federal
fundstarget rate at a range of 4.25%-4.50%, compared to a range of 0.00%-0.25% at the end of 2021. Our asset sensitive position, 
withstrong core deposit funding and ample liquidity provide benefits in the higher rate environment.
 
Table 2
AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST
RATES

(As Restated)
2022 2021 2020

(Taxable Equivalent Basis - Dollars
in Thousands)

Average
Balance Interest

Average
Rate

Average
Balance Interest

Average
Rate

Average
Balance Interest

Average
Rate

ASSETS
Loans Held for Sale (1)(2) $ 48,502 $ 2,175 4.49 % $ 78,328 $ 2,555 3.24 % $

 
81,125 $ 2,895 3.57 %

Loans Held for Investment (1)(2) 2,189,440 104,578 4.78 2,000,563 94,332 4.76 1,957,576 92,261 4.71
Taxable Investment Securities 1,098,876 15,917 1.45 778,953 8,724 1.12 574,199 10,176 1.77
Tax-Exempt Investment Securities (2) 2,668 54 2.03 3,772 91 2.39 5,123 124 2.42
Fed Funds Sold & Int Bearing Dep 649,762 9,511 1.46 790,870 998 0.13 465,652 1,171 0.25
Total Earning Assets 3,989,248 132,235 3.32 % 3,652,486 106,700 2.92 % 3,083,675 106,627 3.46 %
Cash & Due From Banks 76,929 72,409 68,386
Allowance for Credit Losses (21,688) (22,960) (20,690)
Other Assets 287,813 282,129 259,700
TOTAL ASSETS $ 4,332,302 $ 3,984,064 $ 3,391,071

LIABILITIES
NOW Accounts $ 1,065,838 $ 2,799 0.26 % $ 965,320 $ 294 0.03 % $

 
826,280 $ 930 0.11 %

Money Market Accounts 283,407 203 0.07 278,606 134 0.05 235,931 223 0.09
Savings Accounts 628,313 309 0.05 537,023 263 0.05 423,529 207 0.05
Time Deposits 94,646 133 0.14 102,220 148 0.14 104,393 188 0.18
Total Interest Bearing Deposits 2,072,204 3,444 0.17 % 1,883,169 839 0.04 % 1,590,133 1,548 0.10 %
Short-Term Borrowings 40,483 1,761 4.35 53,511 1,360 2.54 69,119 1,690 2.44
Subordinated Notes Payable 52,887 1,652 3.08 52,887 1,228 2.29 52,887 1,472 2.74
Other Long-Term Borrowings 665 31 4.62 1,887 63 3.33 5,304 161 3.03
Total Interest Bearing Liabilities 2,166,239 6,888 0.32 % 1,991,454 3,490 0.18 % 1,717,443 4,871 0.28 %
Noninterest Bearing Deposits 1,691,132 1,523,717 1,254,214
Other Liabilities 85,684 111,567 72,400
TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,943,055 3,626,738 3,044,057
Temporary Equity 9,957 20,505 9,701

TOTAL SHAREOWNERS’
EQUITY 379,290 336,821 337,313

TOTAL LIABILITIES,
TEMPORARY EQUITY AND
SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY $ 4,332,302 $ 3,984,064 $ 3,391,071

Interest Rate Spread 3.00 % 2.75 % 3.18 %
Net Interest Income $ 125,347 $ 103,210 $ 101,756
Net Interest Margin (3) 3.14 % 2.83 % 3.30 %

(1)  Average balances include net loan fees, discounts and premiums, and nonaccrual loans.  Interest income includes loan fees of $0.5 million for 2022,  
 $6.6 million for 2021, and $2.6 million for 2020.  SBA PPP loans averaged $0.1 million in 2022, $92.4 million  in 2021, and $125.4 million in 2020.
(2)  Interest income includes the effects of taxable equivalent adjustments using  a 21% tax rate.
(3)  Taxable equivalent net interest income divided by average earning assets.
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Table 3
RATE/VOLUME ANALYSIS (1)

2022 (as restated) vs. 2021 2021 vs. 2020

(Taxable Equivalent Basis -
Dollars in Thousands)

Increase (Decrease) Due to Change In Increase (Decrease) Due to Change In
Total Volume Rate

 

Total Calendar(3) Volume Rate
Earnings Assets:
Loans Held for Sale (2) $ (380) $ (967) $ 587 $ (340) $ (8) $ (100) $ (232)
Loans Held for Investment (2) 10,247 8,982 1,265 2,071 (252) 2,092 231
Taxable Investment Securities 7,193 3,583 3,610 (1,451) (28) 3,657 (5,080)
Tax-Exempt Investment Securities(2) (37) (27) (10) (34) - (33) (1)
Funds Sold 8,513 (178) 8,691 (173) (3) 821 (991)
Total $ 25,536 $ 11,393 $ 14,143 73 $ (291) $ 6,437 $ (6,073)

Interest Bearing Liabilities:
NOW Accounts $ 2,505 $ 31 $ 2,474 (636) $ (3) $ 159 $ (792)
Money Market Accounts 69 2 67 (89) (1) 44 (132)
Savings Accounts 46 45 1 56 - 56 -
Time Deposits (15) (11) (4) (40) (1) (3) (36)
Short-Term Borrowings 401 (331) 732 (330) (4) (383) 57
Subordinated Notes Payable 424 - 424 (244) (4) - (240)
Other Long-Term Borrowings (32) (41) 9 (98) - (104) 6
Total $ 3,398 $ (305) $ 3,703 (1,381) $ (13) $ (231) $ (1,137)

Changes in Net Interest Income $ 22,138 $ 11,698 $ 10,440 $ 1,454 $ (278) $ 6,668 $ (4,936)

(1) This table shows the change in taxable equivalent net interest income for comparative periods based on either changes in average
 volume or changes in average rates for interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities. Changes which are not solely
 due to volume changes or solely due to rate changes have been attributed to rate changes. SBA PPP loan income totaled less
 than $0.1 million in 2022, $7.9 million in 2021, and $3.2 million in 2020.

(2) Interest income includes the effects of taxable equivalent adjustments using a 21% tax rate to adjust on tax-exempt loans and securities
 and securities to a taxable equivalent basis.

(3) Reflects one extra calendar day in 2020.

Provision for Credit Losses

For 2022, we recorded a provision for credit loss expense of $7.5 million ($7.4 million expense for loans HFI and $0.1
millionexpense for unfunded loan commitments) compared to a provision benefit of $1.6 million for 2021 ($2.8 million benefit for
loansHFI and $1.2 million expense for unfunded loan commitments), and provision expense of $9.6 million for 2020 ($9.0
millionexpense for loans HFI and $0.6 million expense for unfunded loan commitments ). The higher level of provision in 2022
wasprimarily attributable to strong loan growth and weaker projected economic conditions, primarily a higher rate of unemployment.
 The credit loss provision in 2021 was favorably impacted by strong loan recoveries. We discuss the various factors that
haveimpacted our provision expense in more detail under the heading Allowance for Credit
Losses.
Noninterest Income

For 2022, noninterest income totaled $75.2 million, a $32.4 million decrease from 2021, due to lower mortgage banking
revenuesof $40.5 million, partially offset by higher wealth management fees of $4.4 million, deposit fees of $3.2 million, other income
of$1.2 million, and bank card fees of $0.1 million. Lower mortgage banking revenues at CCHL, for 2022 generally reflected
areduction in refinancing activity and, to a lesser degree, lower purchase mortgage originations primarily driven by higher
interestrates. In addition, gain on sale margins were pressured due to a lower level of governmental loan originations and
mandatorydelivery loan sales (both of which provide a higher gain on sale percentage). Strong best efforts adjustable rate production
byCCHL during 2022 contributed to the Bank’s loan growth and earnings.
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For 2021, noninterest income totaled $107.5 million, a $3.6 million decrease from 2020 primarily attributable to lower
mortgagebanking revenues of $10.9 million, partially offset by strong gains in wealth management fees of $2.7 million, bank card fees
of$2.2 million, and deposit fees of $1.1 million. The decline in mortgage banking revenues was driven generally by
lowerrefinancing activity, a shift in production mix (lower government versus conventional product), and lower market driven gain
onsale margins. 

Noninterest income as a percent of total operating revenues (net interest income plus noninterest income) was 37.55% in
2022,51.11% in 2021, and 52.32% in 2020. In 2022 and 2021, lower mortgage banking revenues drove the decrease in the percentage.
 The table below reflects the major components of noninterest
income.
Table 4
NONINTEREST INCOME

(As Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Deposit Fees $ 22,121 $ $ 18,882 $ 17,800
Bank Card
Fees

15,401 15,274 13,044
Wealth Management Fees 18,059 13,693 11,035
Mortgage Banking Revenues 11,909 52,425 63,344
Other 7,691 7,271 5,942
Total Noninterest Income $ 75,181 $ $ 107,545 $ 111,165

Significant components of noninterest income are discussed in more detail
below.
Deposit Fees . For 2022, deposit fees (service charge fees, insufficient fund/overdraft fees, and business account analysis

fees)totaled $22.1 million compared to $18.9 million in 2021 and $17.8 million in 2020. The $3.2 million, or 17.2%, increase in
2022reflected higher monthly service charge fees and overdraft fees. The conversion, in the third quarter of 2021, of our
remainingfree checking accounts to a monthly maintenance fee account type drove the increase in service charge fees. The increase
inoverdraft fees was driven by higher utilization of our overdraft service which is closely correlated (inversely) with the
consumersavings rate which has declined noticeably since it substantially increased during 2020 and 2021 due to the high level
ofgovernmental stimulus related to the COVID-19 pandemic. The $1.1 million, or 6.1%, increase in 2021 reflected
theaforementioned conversion of the remaining free checking accounts to a monthly maintenance fee account type.
 
Bank Card Fees . Bank card fees totaled $15.4 million in 2022 compared to $15.3 million in 2021 and $13.0 million in 2020. 

Theslight increase in 2022 reflected incremental revenues from growth in new checking accounts that was partially offset
bytransaction volume which reflected a slowdown in consumer spending. The favorable variance in 2021 generally reflected
anincrease in card-not-present debit card transactions and increased on-line spending by our clients in part due to the pandemic
andsignificant government stimulus in 2020 and 2021.
 
Wealth Management Fees . Wealth management fees including both trust fees (i.e., managed accounts and trusts/estates)

andretail brokerage fees (i.e., investment, insurance products, and retirement accounts) totaled $18.1 million in 2022 compared
to$13.7 million in 2021 and $11.0 million in 2020. The increase in 2022 was primarily due to higher insurance revenues of
$3.7million and retail brokerage fees of $0.6 million. The higher level of insurance revenues reflected the acquisition of CCSW
in2021. The increase in fees for 2021 reflected higher retail brokerage fees of $1.8 million and trust fees of $0.8 million. 
Higherretail brokerage transaction volume and advisory accounts added from the acquisition of CCSW drove the increase in
retailbrokerage fees. The increase in trust fees was primarily attributable to an increase in assets under management. At December
31,2022, total assets under management (“AUM”) were approximately $2.273 billion compared to $2.324 billion at December
31,2021 and $1.979 billion at December 31, 2020. The decrease in AUM in 2022 generally reflected lower account
values/returnsreflective of volatile market conditions during the year partially offset by new account
growth.
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Mortgage Banking
Revenues

. Mortgage banking revenues totaled $11.9 million in 2022 compared to $52.4 million in 2021
and$63.3 million in 2020. Lower mortgage banking revenues at CCHL for 2022 reflected a reduction in refinancing activity and, to

alesser degree, lower purchase mortgage originations primarily driven by higher interest rates. In addition, gain on sale
marginswere pressured due to a lower level of governmental loan originations and mandatory delivery loan sales (both of which provide
ahigher gain on sale percentage). Throughout 2022, strong best efforts origination volume allowed us to book a steady flow
ofadjustable rate residential loans in our portfolio which contributed to loan growth and earnings. In addition, continued stability
inour construction/permanent loan program partially offset the slowdown in secondary market originations. The decrease in
2021was driven generally by lower refinancing volume, a shift in production mix (lower government versus conventional
product),and lower market driven gain on sale margins. We provide a detailed overview of our mortgage banking operation, including
adetailed break-down of mortgage banking revenues, mortgage servicing activity, and warehouse funding within Note 4
-Mortgage Banking Activities in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Production volume totaled $1.02 billion in
2022,$1.52 billion in 2021, and $1.56 billion in 2020. Refinancing activity represented 13% of loan production in 2022, 30% in
2021,and 40% in 2020. For 2022, CCHL realized a $0.2 million net loss ($0.01 per diluted share) versus $3.9 million net
income($0.23 per diluted share) in 2021, and $8.7 million net income ($0.52 per diluted share) in 2020.
 
Other. Other noninterest income totaled $7.7 million in 2022 compared to $7.3 million in 2021 and $5.9 million in 2020. 

The$0.4 million increase in 2022 was primarily attributable to a $0.4 million increase in miscellaneous income, primarily from a
$0.2million gain on the termination of a lease. The increase in 2021 was primarily attributable to a higher level of loan servicing
feesat CCHL from servicing retained secondary market loan
sales.
Noninterest Expense

For 2022, noninterest expense totaled $151.6 million, a $10.9 million decrease from 2021, due to a decrease in
compensationexpense of $10.0 million and other expense of $1.6 million, partially offset by an increase in occupancy expense of $0.6 million.
 The decrease in compensation expense was primarily due to a decrease in salary expense of $10.6 million that was partially
offsetby an increase in associate benefit expense of $0.6 million. The variance in salary expense was primarily due to higher
realizedloan cost (credit offset to salary expense) of $7.7 million and lower variable/performance -based compensation of $4.5 million,
partially offset by higher base salary expense of $1.8 million (merit and new market staffing additions). The increase in associate
benefit expense was primarily attributable to an increase in associate insurance expense (utilized self-insurance reserves in
2021)of $0.4 million and stock compensation expense of $0.7 million, partially offset by lower pension service cost expense of
$0.6million. The decrease in other expense was primarily due to lower pension plan related costs, including a decrease of $4.9
millionfor the non-service cost component of our pension plan (reflected in pension – other) attributable to the utilization of a
lowerdiscount rate for plan liabilities and a decrease of $0.8 million for pension plan settlement expense. These favorable
varianceswere partially offset by an increase in other real estate expense of $1.2 million, travel/entertainment and advertising costs of
$1.3million (return to pre-pandemic levels and market expansion), other losses of $0.9 million (primarily debit card and check
fraud),VISA share swap conversion ratio payments of $0.4 million, and FDIC insurance fees of $0.3 million. Gains from the sale of
twobanking offices in 2021 drove the increase in other real estate expense. The increase in occupancy expense is related to
leaseexpense for four new banking offices added in 2022 and various software purchases, including network security and end of
lifeupgrades.

For 2021, noninterest expense totaled $162.5 million, a $12.5 million increase over 2020 attributable to the addition of
expensesat CCHL (March 1, 2020 acquisition) of $2.3 million and higher expenses at the Bank totaling $10.2 million. The increase
inexpenses at the Bank were primarily due to an increase in compensation expense of $3.7 million, including an increase in
salaryexpense of $3.1 million (merit raises and realized loan cost) and associate benefit expense of $0.6 million
(primarilypension/service cost), occupancy expense of $0.5 million, and other expense of $5.9 million. The increase in occupancy
reflectedhigher lease expense for two new loan production offices added in 2021 and higher depreciation expense related to
technologyinvestments. The increase in other expense was primarily due to pension plan settlement expense of $3.1 million and
higherexpense of $2.1 million for the non-service cost component of our pension plan (reflected in pension – other) attributable to
theutilization of a lower discount rate for plan liabilities. Increases in processing fees of $0.7 million (debit card
volume),professional fees of $0.6 million, and FDIC insurance fees of $0.5 million (higher asset size) that were partially offset by
adecrease in other real estate expense of $1.6 million (gains from the sale of two banking offices in 2021), also contributed to
theincrease in other expense. 

Our operating efficiency ratio (expressed as noninterest expense as a percent of taxable equivalent net interest income
plusnoninterest income) was 75.62%, 77.11% and 70.43% in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The decrease in this metric for
2022was primarily driven by higher taxable equivalent net interest income (refer to caption headed Net Interest Income and
Margin)and lower noninterest expense. The increase in this metric for 2021 reflected higher noninterest expense, largely
theaforementioned higher level of pension plan expenses.
 
Expense management is an important part of our culture and strategic focus. We will continue to review and
evaluateopportunities to optimize our delivery operations and invest in technology that provides favorable returns/scale and/or
mitigatesrisk. The table below reflects the major components of noninterest expense.
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Table 5
NONINTEREST EXPENSE

(As Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Salaries $ 74,590 $ 85,211 $ 80,846
Associate
Benefits

16,929 16,259 15,434
Total Compensation 91,519 101,470 96,280

Premises 11,184 10,879 10,512
Equipment 13,390 13,053 12,147
Total Occupancy, net 24,574 23,932 22,659

Legal Fees 1,413 1,411 1,570
Professional Fees 5,437 5,633 4,863
Processing Services 6,534 6,569 5,832
Advertising 3,208 2,683 2,998
Travel and Entertainment 1,815 1,063 855
Telephone 2,851 2,975 2,869
Insurance – Other 2,409 2,096 1,607
Pension -
Other

(3,043) 1,913 (216)
Pension Settlement 2,321 3,072 -
Other Real Estate, Net (337) (1,488) 104
Miscellaneous 12,933 11,179 10,541
Total Other Expense 35,541 37,106 31,023

Total Noninterest Expense $ 151,634 $ 162,508 $ 149,962

Significant components of noninterest expense are discussed in more detail below.

Compensation. Compensation expense totaled $91.5 million in 2022 compared to $101.5 million in 2021 and $96.3 million
in2020. For 2022, the $10.0 million, or 9.8%, net decrease reflected a decrease in salary expense of $10.6 million that was

partiallyoffset by an increase in associate benefit expense of $0.6 million. The variance in salary expense was primarily due to
higherrealized loan cost (credit offset to salary expense) of $7.7 million and lower variable/performance-based compensation of
$4.5million ($6.7 million decrease at CCHL (lower loan volume) partially offset by a $2.2 million increase at the Bank
(primarilyrelated to higher insurance revenues)). These decreases were partially offset by higher base salary expense of $1.8 million at
theBank (merit and new market staffing additions). The increase in associate benefit expense was primarily attributable to
anincrease in associate insurance expense (utilized self-insurance reserves in 2021) of $0.4 million and stock compensation
expenseof $0.7 million, partially offset by lower pension service cost expense of $0.6
million.
For 2021, the $5.2 million, or 5.4%, net increase was attributable to increases in salary expense of $4.4 million and
associatebenefit expense of $0.8 million. Increases in salary expense of $3.1 million and associate benefit expense of $0.6 million at the
Bank drove a majority of the increase with the addition of CCHL compensation expense for a full 12-month period in 2021
versusa ten month period in 2020 driving the remaining portion of the variance. The higher level of salary expense at the Bank
reflectedan increase in base salaries of $1.8 million, primarily merit raises, and a decrease in realized loan cost of $0.8 million
(creditoffset to salary expense). The increase in associate benefit expense at the Bank was attributable to an increase in pension
planservice cost of $1.1 million partially offset by a decrease in associate insurance expense of $0.4 million.
 
Occupancy . Occupancy expense (including premises and equipment) totaled $24.5 million for 2022 compared to $23.9

millionfor 2021, and $22.7 million for 2020. For 2022, the $0.6 million, or 2.7%, increase was attributable to increases in
softwarelicense expense of $0.5 million and banking office lease expense of $0.3 million, partially offset by a decrease in maintenance
andrepairs expense of $0.1 million. The increase in software license expense reflected software upgrades for personal computers
andnetwork servers, and additional investment in network security monitoring software. 

For 2021, the $1.2 million, or 5.3%, increase was attributable to an increase in occupancy expense of $0.5 million at the
Bankprimarily related to depreciation and software license expense for additional ATM/ITM investments and other
infrastructureinvestments for business line support and risk management. The remainder of the variance reflected CCHL occupancy
expensefor a full 12-month period versus a ten month period in 2020.
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Other. Other noninterest expense totaled $35.5 million in 2022 compared to $37.1 million in 2021 and $31.0 million in 2020.
 For 2022, the $1.6 million, or 4.2%, decrease was due to lower pension related costs, including a decrease of $4.9 million for

thenon-service cost component of our pension plan (reflected in pension – other) attributable to the utilization of a lower
discountrate for plan liabilities and a decrease of $0.8 million for pension plan settlement expense. These favorable variances
werepartially offset by an increase in other real estate expense of $1.2 million, travel/entertainment and advertising costs of
$1.3million (return to pre-pandemic levels and market expansion), other losses of $0.9 million (primarily debit card and check
fraud),VISA share swap conversion ratio payments of $0.4 million, and FDIC insurance fees of $0.3 million. Gains from the sale of
twobanking offices in 2021 drove the increase in other real estate expense.
 
For 2021, the $6.1 million, or 19.7%, increase was driven by an increase in other expenses at the Bank of $5.9 million,
primarilyan increase in pension related expenses, including higher expense of $2.1 million for the non-service cost component of
ourpension plan attributable to the utilization of a lower discount rate for plan liabilities. Additionally, we incurred $3.1 million
inpension settlement charges in 2021 related to a high level of lump sum payments to retirees. Lastly, we realized an increase
inexpense for processing fees of $0.7 million (debit card volume), professional fees of $0.6 million (temporary staffing
support),and insurance – other (FDIC insurance premiums) of $0.5 million (larger asset size), that were partially offset by a decrease
inother real estate expense of $1.6 million (higher gains from the sale of banking offices) contributed to the increase.
 
Income
Taxes
For 2022, we realized income tax expense of $7.8 million (effective rate of 19%) compared to $9.8 million (effective rate of
20%)for 2021 and $10.2 million (effective rate of 19%) for 2020. Income tax expense for 2022 and 2021 was unfavorably
impacteddue to lower CCHL income. For 2022, income tax expense was favorably impacted by $0.4 million related to tax
benefitsaccrued via a 2022 investment in a solar tax credit equity fund. Further, 2022 income tax expense was favorably impacted
bydiscrete tax items totaling $0.7 million related to a favorable deferred tax adjustment for our Supplemental Executive
RetirementPlan and a State of Florida corporate tax refund. Income tax expense for 2021 was unfavorably impacted by net discrete tax
itemstotaling $0.3 million. 

In September 2021, Florida enacted a corporate tax rate reduction from 4.5% to 3.535% retroactive to January 1, 2021, with
anexpiration date of December 31, 2021, therefore, there was no material impact to our deferred tax accounts. Our 2021 and
2020state tax rates were adjusted to reflect the one percentage point (2020) and two percentage point (2021) reductions each year. 
TheFlorida tax rate reverted to 5.5% effective January 1, 2022.
 
Absent discrete items, we expect our annual effective tax rate to approximate 21%-22% in 2023.
 
FINANCIAL
CONDITION
Average assets totaled approximately $4.332 billion for 2022, an increase of $348.2 million, or 8.7%, over 2021. 
Averageearning assets were approximately $3.989 billion for 2022, an increase of $336.8 million, or 9.2%, over 2021. Compared to
2021,average overnight funds decreased $141.1 million, while investment securities increased $318.8 million and average loans
heldfor investment were higher by $188.9 million. We discuss these variances in more detail below.

Table 2 provides information on average balances and rates, Table 3 provides an analysis of rate and volume variances and
Table6 highlights the changing mix of our interest earning assets over the last three fiscal 
years.
Loans

In 2022, average loans HFI increased $188.9 million, or 9.4%, compared to an increase of $43.0 million, or 2.2%, in
2021.Compared to 2021, the growth in average loans was broad based with increases realized in most loan categories,
moresignificantly so in the residential real estate, construction, and consumer (indirect auto) segments. Total loans HFI at
December31, 2022 totaled $2.548 billion, a $616 million increase over December 31, 2021 and primarily reflected higher balances in
thefollowing categories: residential real estate of $389 million, commercial real estate of $119 million, and construction of
$60million. At December 31, 2022, our consumer loans balances reflected direct loans of $22 million and indirect auto loans of
$303million. During 2022, indirect auto balances peaked at $338 million in May, but declined gradually for the remainder of the
yearas we focused on reducing exposure to this loan segment which totaled $303 million at December 31, 2022.
 
As part of our overall strategy, we will purchase newly originated 1-4 family real estate secured adjustable rate loans from CCHL.
 The strategic alliance with CCHL provides us a larger pool of loan purchase opportunities, including participation loans
forconstruction/perm product, which in large part drove the aforementioned increases in residential real estate and
constructionloans.
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Expansion into new markets in the Northern Arc of Atlanta, Georgia (Cobb and Gwinnett Counties) and Walton County,
Floridadrove incremental loan growth of approximately $65 million in 2022 as we added to those banking teams throughout 2022.
 
In 2022, average loans held for sale (“HFS”) decreased $29.8 million, or 38.1%, from 2021 due to lower loan volume at CCHL.
 Loans HFI and HFS as a percentage of average earning assets decreased slightly to 56.1% in 2022 compared to 56.9% in
2021,primarily attributable to an increase in our investment portfolio.
 
Table 6
SOURCES OF EARNING ASSET
GROWTH

(As Restated) (As Restated) (As Restated)
2021 to Percentage Components of

2022 Total Average Earning Assets
(Average Balances – Dollars In Thousands) Change Change 2022 2021 2020
Loans:

Loans HFS $ (29,826) (8.9) % 1.2 % 2.1 % 2.6 %

Loans HFI:
Commercial, Financial, and Agricultural (71,063) (21.1) 6.0 8.5 11.7
Real Estate – Construction 56,999 16.9 5.4 4.3 4.0
Real Estate – Commercial Mortgage 23,031 6.8 17.6 18.6 21.1
Real Estate –
Residential

126,843 37.7 12.3 10.0 11.5
Real Estate – Home Equity 908 0.3 4.9 5.3 6.4
Consumer 52,159 15.5 8.7 8.0 8.8

Total HFI Loans 188,877 56.1 54.9 54.7 63.5
Total Loans HFS and HFI $ 159,051 47.2 56.1 56.8 66.1 %

Investment
Securities:Taxable $ 319,923 95.0 % 27.5 % 21.3 % 18.6 %

Tax-Exempt (1,104) (0.3) 0.1 0.1 0.2
Total Securities $ 318,819 94.7 % 27.6 % 21.4 % 18.8 %

Funds Sold (141,108) (41.9) 16.3 21.8 15.1

Total Earning Assets $ 336,762 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %

Our average total loans (HFS and HFI)-to-deposit ratio was 59.5% in 2022, 61.0% in 2021, and 71.7% in 2020.
 
The composition of our HFI loan portfolio at December 31 for each of the past three years is shown in Table 7. Table 8
arraysour HFI loan portfolio at December 31, 2022, by maturity period. As a percentage of the HFI loan portfolio, loans with
fixedinterest rates represented 33.3% at December 31, 2022 compared to 39.3% at December 31, 2021. A higher level of 1-4
familyreal estate secured adjustable rate loan production in 2022 drove the decrease in the percentage.
 
Table 7
LOANS HFI BY CATEGORY

(As Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Commercial, Financial and
Agricultural

$ 247,362 $ 223,086 $ 393,930
Real Estate – Construction 234,519 174,394 135,831
Real Estate – Commercial Mortgage 782,557 663,550 648,393
Real Estate –
Residential

749,513 360,021 352,543
Real Estate – Home Equity 208,217 187,821 205,479
Consumer 325,517 322,593 270,250
Total Loans HFI, Net of Unearned Income $ 2,547,685 $ 1,931,465 $ 2,006,426
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Table 8
LOANS HFI MATURITIES

(As Restated)
Maturity Periods

(Dollars in Thousands)
One
Year or Less

Over One
Through

Five
Years

 Five
Through
Fifteen
Years

Over
Fifteen
Years Total

Commercial, Financial and
Agricultural

$ 51,514 $ 128,783 $ 65,957 $ 1,108 $ 247,362
Real Estate – Construction 113,672 66,238 22,471 32,138 234,519
Real Estate – Commercial Mortgage 46,777 112,179 330,311 293,290 782,557
Real Estate –
Residential

19,789 477,723 103,673 148,328 749,513
Real Estate – Home Equity 3,820 10,815 79,512 114,070 208,217
Consumer (1) 5,835 143,516 176,157 9 325,517
Total $ 241,407 $ 939,254 $ 778,081 $ 588,943 $ 2,547,685

Total Loans HFI with Fixed Rates $ 92,180 $ 368,969 $ 351,766 $ 27,227 $ 840,142
Total Loans HFI with Floating or Adjustable
Rates

149,227 570,285 426,315 561,716 1,707,543
Total $ 241,407 $ 939,254 $ 778,081 $ 588,943 $ 2,547,685

(1)Demand loans and overdrafts are reported in the category of one year or
less.

Credit Quality

Table 9 provides the components of nonperforming assets and various other credit quality and risk metrics at December
31

st for
the last three fiscal years. Information regarding our accounting policies related to nonaccruals, past due loans, and troubled
debtrestructurings is provided in Note 3 – Loans Held for Investment and Allowance for Credit
Losses.
Overall credit quality continues to remain strong. Nonperforming assets (nonaccrual loans and other real estate) totaled
$2.7million at December 31, 2022 compared to $4.3 million at December 31, 2021. At December 31, 2022, nonperforming assets
as apercent of total assets was 0.06%, a decrease of four basis points from December 31, 2021.
 
Table 9
CREDIT QUALITY

(As Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Nonaccruing
Loans:Commercial, Financial and

Agricultural
$ 41 $ 90 $ 161

Real Estate – Construction 17 - 179
Real Estate – Commercial Mortgage 645 604 1,412
Real Estate –
Residential

239 2,097 3,130
Real Estate – Home Equity 771 1,319 695
Consumer 584 212 294

Total Nonaccruing Loans 2,297 4,322 5,871
Other Real Estate Owned 431 17 808
Total Nonperforming Assets $ 2,728 $ 4,339 $ 6,679
Past Due Loans 30 – 89 Days $ 7,829 $ 3,600 $ 4,594
Performing Troubled Debt
Restructurings

5,913 7,643 13,887
Classified Loans $ 19,342 $ 17,912 $ 17,631

Nonaccruing Loans/Loans 0.09 % 0.22 % 0.29 %
Nonperforming Assets/Total Assets 0.06 0.10 0.18
Nonperforming Assets/Loans Plus
OREO

0.11 0.22 0.33
Allowance/Nonaccruing Loans 1,091.33 % 499.93 % 405.66 %
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Nonaccrual Loans . Nonaccrual loans totaled $2.3 million at December 31, 2022, a $2.0 million decrease from December
31,2021. Generally, loans are placed on nonaccrual status if principal or interest payments become 90 days past due or

managementdeems the collectability of the principal and interest to be doubtful. Once a loan is placed in nonaccrual status, all
previouslyaccrued and uncollected interest is reversed against interest income. Interest income on nonaccrual loans is recognized when
theultimate collectability is no longer considered doubtful. Loans are returned to accrual status when the principal and
interestamounts contractually due are brought current or when future payments are reasonably assured. If interest on our loans
classifiedas nonaccrual during 2022 had been recognized on a fully accruing basis, we would have recorded an additional $0.2 million
ofinterest income for the year ended December 31,
2022.
Other Real Estate
Owned

. OREO represents property acquired as the result of borrower defaults on loans or by receiving a
deedin lieu of foreclosure. OREO is recorded at the lower of cost or estimated fair value, less estimated selling costs, at the time

offoreclosure. Write-downs occurring at foreclosure are charged against the allowance for credit losses. On an ongoing
basis,properties are either revalued internally or by a third-party appraiser as required by applicable regulations. Subsequent declines
invalue are reflected as other noninterest expense. Carrying costs related to maintaining the OREO properties are expensed
asincurred and are also reflected as other noninterest
expense.
OREO totaled $0.4 million at December 31, 2022 versus $0.02 million at December 31, 2021. During 2022, we added
propertiestotaling $2.4 million and sold properties totaling $2.0 million. For 2021, we added properties totaling $1.7 million,
soldproperties totaling $2.8 million, and recorded net favorable valuation adjustments totaling $0.3 
million.
Troubled Debt Restructurings (“TDRs”).
 

TDRs are loans on which, due to the deterioration in the borrower’s financial
condition,the original terms have been modified and deemed a concession to the borrower. From time to time we will modify a loan as

aworkout alternative. Most of these instances involve an extension of the loan term, an interest rate reduction, or a
principalmoratorium. A TDR classification can be removed if the borrower’s financial condition improves such that the borrower is
nolonger in financial difficulty, the loan has not had any forgiveness of principal or interest, and the loan is subsequently 
refinancedor restructured at market terms and qualifies as a new loan in calendar years after the year in which the restructuring took
place.
Loans classified as TDRs at December 31, 2022 totaled $6.1 million compared to $8.0 million at December 31, 2021. 
AccruingTDRs made up approximately $5.9 million of our TDR portfolio at December 31, 2022, of which $0.3 million was over 30
dayspast due. The weighted average rate for the loans within the accruing TDR portfolio was 5.96%. During 2022, we modified
twoloan contracts totaling approximately $0.1 million compared to three loan contracts totaling approximately $0.6 million during
2021. Our TDR default rate (default balance as a percentage of average TDRs) in 2022 and 2021 was 0.0% and
4.1%,respectively.

Past Due Loans . A loan is defined as a past due loan when one full payment is past due or a contractual maturity is over 30
dayspast due. Past due loans at December 31, 2022 totaled $7.8 million compared to $3.6 million at December 31, 2021. 

Indirectauto loans represented a large portion of the increase and at December 31, 2022 reflected 73% of total dollars past due and
72%of total dollars past due at December 31,
2021.  
Potential Problem Loans . Potential problem loans are defined as those loans which are now current but where management 

hasdoubt as to the borrower’s ability to comply with present loan repayment terms. At December 31, 2022, we had $2.8 million
inloans of this type which were not included in either of the nonaccrual, TDR or 90 day past due loan categories compared to
$1.5million at December 31, 2021. Management monitors these loans closely and reviews their performance on a regular
basis. 
Loan Concentrations . Loan concentrations exist when there are amounts loaned to multiple borrowers engaged in

similaractivities which cause them to be similarly impacted by economic or other conditions and such amount exceeds 10% of
totalloans. Due to the lack of diversified industry within our markets and the relatively close proximity of the markets, we have
bothgeographic concentrations as well as concentrations in the types of loans funded. Specifically, due to the nature of our markets,
 asignificant portion of our HFI loan portfolio has historically been secured with real estate, approximately 78% at December
31,2022 and 72% at December 31, 2021 with the increase driven by a higher volume of 1-4 family residential real estate
loansoriginated in 2022. The primary types of real estate collateral are commercial properties and 1-4 family residential
properties.
We review our loan portfolio segments and concentration limits on an ongoing basis and will make adjustments as needed
tomitigate/reduce risk to segments that reflect decline or stress.
 
We have established an internal lending limit of $10 million for the total aggregate amount of credit that will be extended to
aclient and any related entities within our Board approved policies. This compares to our legal lending limit of approximately
$91million.
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The following table summarizes our real estate loan category as segregated by the type of property. Property type
concentrationsare stated as a percentage of total real estate loans at December
31.
Table 10
REAL ESTATE LOANS BY PROPERTY
TYPE

(As Restated)
2022 2021

Investor
Real Estate

Owner
Occupied

 Real Estate
Investor

Real Estate

Owner
Occupied

 Real Estate
Vacant Land, Construction, and Land
Development

14.8 % - 18.1 % -
Improved Property 27.4 57.8 % 28.4 53.5 %
Total Real Estate Loans 42.2 % 57.8 % 46.5 % 53.5 %

A major portion of our real estate loan category is centered in the owner occupied category which carries a lower risk of
non-collection than certain segments of the investor category. Approximately 42% of the investor real estate category was secured
byresidential real estate at December 31,
2022.
Allowance for Credit Losses

The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the loans’ amortized cost basis to present the
netamount expected to be collected on the loans. The allowance for credit losses is adjusted by a credit loss provision which
isreported in earnings and reduced by the charge-off of loan amounts, net of recoveries. Loans are charged off against
theallowance when management believes the uncollectability of a loan balance is confirmed. Expected recoveries do not exceed
theaggregate of amounts previously charged-off and expected to be charged-off. Expected credit loss inherent in non-
cancellableoff-balance sheet credit exposures is provided through the credit loss provision, but recorded separately in other
liabilities.
Management estimates the allowance balance using relevant available information, from internal and external sources, relating
topast events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Historical loan default and loss experience provides
thebasis for the estimation of expected credit losses. Adjustments to historical loss information incorporate management’s view
ofcurrent conditions and forecasts.
 
Detailed information regarding the methodology for estimating the amount reported in the allowance for credit losses is
providedin Note 1 – Significant Accounting Policies/Allowance for Credit Losses in the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
Note 3 – Loans Held for Investment and Allowance for Credit Losses in the Consolidated Financial Statements provides
theactivity in the allowance and the allocation by loan type for each of the past three fiscal
years.
For 2022, we realized net loan charge-offs of $3.9 million, or 0.18%, of average HFI loans, compared to net loan recoveries
of$0.6 million, or 0.03%, for 2021, and net loan charge-offs of $2.4 million, or 0.12%, for 2020. A majority of the increase in
2022reflected higher commercial loan charge-offs and consumer loan (indirect auto) charge-offs, as well as a significant reduction
inloan recoveries. The increase in commercial loan charge-offs was primarily attributable to one problem loan relationship that
wasresolved in the second quarter of 2022.
 
At December 31, 2022, the allowance for credit losses represented 0.98% of HFI loans and provided coverage of 1,091%
ofnonperforming loans compared to 1.12% and 500%, respectively, at December 31, 2021 and 1.19% and 406%, respectively, 
atDecember 31, 2020.
 
At December 31, 2022, the allowance for credit losses for HFI loans totaled $25.1 million compared to $21.6 million at
December31, 2021 and $23.8 million at December 31, 2020. Incremental allowance related to loan growth, a higher projected rate
ofunemployment and its effect on rates of default, and slower prepayment speeds (due to higher interest rates) were all
contributingfactors driving the $3.5 million increase in the allowance during 2022. The $2.2 million decrease in the allowance for
creditlosses in 2021 reflected improvements in forecasted economic conditions, favorable loan migration and net loan
recoveriestotaling $0.6 million, partially offset by incremental reserves needed for loan growth (excluding SBA PPP).
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Table 11
ALLOCATION OF ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT
LOSSES

(As Restated)
2022 2021 2020

(Dollars in Thousands)
ACL

Amount

Percent of
Loans to

Total Loans
ACL

Amount

Percent of
Loans to

Total Loans
ACL

Amount

Percent of
Loans to

Total Loans
Commercial, Financial and Agricultural $ 1,506 9.7 % $ 2,191 11.6 % $ 2,204 19.6 %
Real Estate:

Construction 2,654 9.2 3,302 9.0 2,479 6.8
Commercial 4,815 30.7 5,810 34.4 7,029 32.3
Residential 10,741 29.4 4,129 18.6 5,440 17.6
Home Equity 1,864 8.2 2,296 9.7 3,111 10.2
Consumer 3,488 12.8 3,878 16.7 3,553 13.5

 
Total $ 25,068 100 % $ 21,606 100 % $ 23,816 100 %

Investment Securities

Our average investment portfolio balance increased $318.8 million, or 40.7%, in 2022 and increased $203.4 million, or 35.1%, 
in2021. As a percentage of average earning assets, our investment portfolio represented 27.6% in 2022, compared to 21.4%
in2021. In 2022, the growth in the investment portfolio was attributable to an investment purchase program implemented to
takeadvantage of higher rates and deploy a portion of our excess liquidity, in addition to reinvesting a portion of the portfolio
cashflow during the year. As we continue to monitor our overall liquidity levels throughout 2023, we will allow cash flow from
theinvestment portfolio to run-off and we will review various investment strategies as appropriate.
 
In 2022, average taxable investments increased $319.9 million, or 41.1%, while tax-exempt investments decreased $1.1
million,or 29.3%. Taxable bonds increased as part of our overall investment strategy, and non-taxable investments decreased as the
tax-equivalent yield was generally unattractive throughout 2022 compared to taxable investments. At December 31, 2022,
municipalsecurities (taxable and non-taxable) comprised 3.8% of the portfolio. 

Our investment portfolio is a significant component of our operations and, as such, it functions as a key element of liquidity
andasset/liability management. Two types of classifications are approved for investment securities which are Available -for-
Sale(“AFS”) and Held-for-Maturity (“HTM”). In 2022 and 2021, we purchased securities under both the AFS and HTM designations.
 At December 31, 2022, $413.3 million, or 38.5% of our investment portfolio was classified as AFS, with $660.7 million,
or61.5%, classified as HTM. At December 31, 2021, the AFS and HTM portfolio comprised 65.8% and 34.1%, respectively.
 During the third quarter of 2022, U.S. Treasury obligations totaling $168.4 million with unrealized losses of $9.4 million
weretransferred from AFS to HTM. At December 31, 2022, $7.9 million was remaining in unrealized losses for these
securities.
Table 12 provides the composition of our investment securities portfolio at December 31 for each of the last three fiscal
years.
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Table 12
INVESTMENT SECURITIES
COMPOSITION

2022 2021 2020

(Dollars in Thousands)
Carrying
Amount Percent

Carrying
Amount Percent

Carrying
Amount Percent

Available for Sale
U.S. Government Treasury $ 22,050 2.1 % $ 187,868 18.9 % $ 104,519 21.1 %
U.S. Government
Agency

186,052 17.3 237,578 23.9 208,531 42.2
States and Political
Subdivisions

40,329 3.8 46,980 4.7 3,632 0.7
Mortgage-Backed Securities 69,405 6.5 88,869 8.9 515 0.1
Corporate Debt
Securities

88,236 8.2 86,222 8.7 - -
Other Securities 7,222 0.6 7,094 0.7 7,673 1.6
Total 413,294 38.5 654,611 65.8 324,870 65.7

Held to Maturity
U.S. Government Treasury 457,374 42.6 115,499 11.6 5,001 1.0
Mortgage-Backed Securities 203,370 18.9 224,102 22.5 164,938 33.3
Total 660,744 61.5 339,601 34.1 169,939 34.3

Other Equity Securities 10 - 861 0.1 - -

Total Investment Securities $ 1,074,048 100 % $ 995,073 100 % $ 494,809 100 %

The classification of a security is determined upon acquisition based on how the purchase will affect our asset/liability
strategyand future business plans and opportunities. Classification determinations will also factor in regulatory capital
requirements,volatility in earnings or other comprehensive income, and liquidity needs. Securities in the AFS portfolio are recorded at
fairvalue with unrealized gains and losses associated with these securities recorded net of tax, in the accumulated
othercomprehensive income (loss) component of shareowners’ equity. Securities designated as HTM are those acquired or owned
withthe intent of holding them to maturity (final payment date). HTM investments are measured at amortized cost. It is
neithermanagement’s current intent nor practice to participate in the trading of investment securities for the purpose of recognizing 
gainsand therefore we do not maintain a trading
portfolio.
At December 31, 2022, there were 928 positions (combined AFS and HTM) with pre-tax unrealized losses totaling $90.0 million.
 The GNMA mortgage-backed securities, U.S. Treasuries, and SBA securities held carry the full faith and credit guarantee of 
theU.S. Government, and are 0% risk-weighted assets. Other mortgage-backed securities held (Federal National
MortgageAssociation and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation) are issued by U.S. Government sponsored entities. 
Directobligations of U.S. Government agencies (Federal Farm Credit Bank and Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta) are also owned.
 We believe the long history of no credit losses on government securities indicates that the expectation of nonpayment of
theamortized cost basis is zero. A large portion of the SBA securities float monthly or quarterly with the prime rate and
areuncapped. The remaining positions owned are municipal and corporate bonds. At December 31, 2022, 26 corporate
positionshad a total allowance for credit loss of $28,000 and 21 municipal positions had a total allowance for credit loss of $13,000. All
ofthese positions maintain an overall rating of at least “A-”, and all are expected to mature at par.
 
The average maturity of our investment portfolio at December 31, 2022 was 3.57 years compared to 3.62 years at December
31,2021. The average life of our investment portfolio decreased slightly primarily due to the natural aging of the portfolio,
partiallyoffset by a portion of the portfolio being reinvested into short-to-intermediate term securities.
 
The weighted average taxable equivalent yield of our investment portfolio at December 31, 2022 was 2.03% versus 1.12%
in2021. This increase in yield reflected higher reinvestment rates during 2022. Our bond portfolio contained no investments
inobligations, other than U.S. Governments, of any state, municipality, political subdivision, or any other issuer that exceeded
10%of our shareowners’ equity at December 31,
2022. 
Table 13 and Note 2 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements present a detailed analysis of our investment securities
asto type, maturity, unrealized losses, and yield at December
31.



 

     
 

                   
 

 

 
              

 

 
              

 

                                                              
                    

   

 
              

 

          

                                                                        
          

 
                   

 
 

                    

56

Table 13
MATURITY DISTRIBUTION OF INVESTMENT
SECURITIES

Within 1 year 1 - 5 years 5 - 10 years After 10 years Total
(Dollars in
Thousands) Amount WAY(3) Amount WAY(3) Amount WAY(3) Amount WAY(3) Amount WAY(3)

Available for Sale
U.S. Government
Treasury $ 2,862 4.40 % $ 19,188 0.70 % $ - - % $ - - % $ 22,050 1.18 %
U.S. Government
Agency 40,904 1.39 143,233 2.99 1,915 1.70 - - 186,052 2.62
States and Political
Subdivisions 4,039 1.42 17,298 1.35 18,992 1.85 - - 40,329 0.72
Mortgage-Backed
Securities(1) 1 2.03 4,424 1.26 46,069 2.13 18,911 2.39 69,405 2.14
Corporate Debt
Securities 1,000 5.05 65,554 1.77 21,682 2.18 - - 88,236 1.91
Other Securities(2) - - - - - - 7,222 5.79 7,222 5.79
Total $ 48,806 1.64 % $ 249,697 2.35 % $ 88,658 2.07 % $ 26,133 3.33 % $ 413,294 2.23 %

Held to Maturity
U.S. Government
Treasury $ - - % $ 457,374 1.93 % $ - - % $ - - % $ 457,374 1.93 %
Mortgage-Backed
Securities(1) 2,582 2.59 138,781 1.83 62,007 1.80 - - 203,370 1.83
Total $ 2,582 2.59 % $ 596,155 1.91 % $ 62,007 1.80 % $ - - % $ 660,744 1.90 %
Equity Securities $ - - % $ - - % $ - - % $ 10 5.63 % $ 10 5.63 %

Total Investment
Securities $ 51,388 1.69 % $ 845,852 2.04 % $ 150,665 1.96 % $ 26,143 3.34 % $ 1,074,048 2.03 %

(1) Based on weighted-average maturity.
(2) Federal Home Loan Bank Stock and Federal Reserve  Bank Stock are included in this category for weighted average yield, but  do not have stated maturities.
(3) Weighted average yield calculated based on current amortized cost balances – not presented on a tax equivalent basis.

Deposits and Short-Term 
Borrowings
Average total deposits for 2022 were $3.763 billion, an increase of $356.5 million, or 10.5%, over 2021. Average 
depositsincreased $562.5 million, or 19.8%, from 2020 to
2021.

 Both year-over-year increases occurred in all deposit types
exceptcertificates of deposit, with the largest increases occurring in noninterest bearing, NOW accounts, and savings accounts. 

Strong deposit growth occurred during 2022 reflecting additional federal stimulus inflows as well as core deposit growth. 
Inaddition, strong seasonal growth of public funds occurred in the fourth quarter of 2022 which is expected to be drawn down
overthe course of 2023.
 
The FOMC has increased their benchmark interest rate aggressively by 425 basis points during 2022. This resulted in a shift
indeposit mix which we began to see in the fourth quarter of 2022, primarily in two large corporate clients totaling
approximately$40 million that migrated from noninterest bearing to interest bearing deposit accounts. Also in the fourth quarter, we began
torealize some run-off of stimulus funds and core deposits from our more rate sensitive clients in favor of higher
yieldinginvestments. We have several strategies in place to protect core deposits and mitigate deposit run-off, and we will continue
toclosely monitor several metrics such as the sensitivity of our clients to our deposit rates, our overall liquidity position,
andcompetitor rates when pricing deposits. This strategy is consistent with previous rate cycles and allows us to manage the mix
ofour deposits as well as the overall client relationship rather than competing solely on rate. We believe this enabled us to
maintaina low cost of funds (interest expense/average earning assets) of 17 basis points for 2022 and 10 basis points for 2021.
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Table 2 provides an analysis of our average deposits, by category, and average rates paid thereon for each of the last three
fiscalyears. Table 14 reflects the shift in our deposit mix over the last year and Table 15 provides a maturity distribution of
timedeposits in denominations of $250,000 and over at December 31, 2022. For 2022, noninterest bearing deposits represented
44.9%of total average deposits. This compares to 44.7% in 2021 and 44.1% in
2020.
Average short -term borrowings decreased $13.0 million in 2022 primarily due to the decline in warehouse line borrowings
atCCHL that are used to support our held for sale loan portfolio. See Note 11 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
foradditional information on short-term
borrowings.
We continue to focus on the value of our deposit franchise, which produces a strong base of core deposits with minimal 
relianceon wholesale funding.

Table 14
SOURCES OF DEPOSIT
GROWTH

2021 to Percentage Components of
2022 of Total Total Deposits

(Average Balances - Dollars in
Thousands)

Change Change 2022 2021 2020
Noninterest Bearing
Deposits

$ 167,415 47.0 % 44.9 % 44.7 % 44.1 %
NOW Accounts 100,518 28.2 28.3 28.3 29.0
Money Market Accounts 4,801 1.3 7.5 8.2 8.3
Savings Accounts 91,290 25.6 16.7 15.8 14.9
Time
Deposits

(7,574) (2.1) 2.6 3.0 3.7
Total
Deposits

$ 356,450 100 % 100 % 100 % 100 %

Table 15
MATURITY DISTRIBUTION OF CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSITS GREATER THAN
$250,000

2022

(Dollars in Thousands)
 Certificates 
of Deposit Percent

Three months or
less

$ 1,518 12.2 %
Over three through six
months

2,356 18.9
Over six through twelve
months

2,527 20.3
Over twelve
months

6,048 48.6
Total $ 12,449 100 %

Market Risk and Interest Rate
Sensitivity
Overview.  Market risk arises from changes in interest rates, exchange rates, commodity prices, and equity prices. We have

riskmanagement policies designed to monitor and limit exposure to market risk and we do not participate in activities that give rise
tosignificant market risk involving exchange rates, commodity prices, or equity prices. In asset and liability management
activities,our policies are designed to minimize structural interest rate
risk.
Interest Rate Risk
Management.

 Our net income is largely dependent on net interest income. Net interest income is susceptible
tointerest rate risk to the degree that interest-bearing liabilities mature or reprice on a different basis than interest-

earningassets. When interest-bearing liabilities mature or reprice more quickly than interest-earning assets in a given period, a
significantincrease in market rates of interest could adversely affect net interest income. Similarly, when interest-earning assets mature or
reprice more quickly than interest-bearing liabilities, falling market interest rates could result in a decrease in net
interestincome. Net interest income is also affected by changes in the portion of interest-earning assets that are funded by
interest-bearing liabilities rather than by other sources of funds, such as noninterest -bearing deposits and shareowners’
equity.
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We have established what we believe to be a comprehensive interest rate risk management policy, which is administered
bymanagement’s Asset Liability Management Committee (“ALCO”). The policy establishes limits of risk, which are
quantitativemeasures of the percentage change in net interest income (a measure of net interest income at risk) and the fair value of
equitycapital (a measure of economic value of equity (“EVE”) at risk) resulting from a hypothetical change in interest rates
formaturities from one day to 30 years. We measure the potential adverse impacts that changing interest rates may have on
ourshort-term earnings, long-term value, and liquidity by employing simulation analysis through the use of computer modeling. 
Thesimulation model captures optionality factors such as call features and interest rate caps and floors imbedded in investment
andloan portfolio contracts. As with any method of gauging interest rate risk, there are certain shortcomings inherent in the
interestrate modeling methodology used by us. When interest rates change, actual movements in different categories of interest-earning
assets and interest-bearing liabilities, loan prepayments, and withdrawals of time and other deposits, may deviate
significantlyfrom assumptions used in the model. Finally, the methodology does not measure or reflect the impact that higher rates may
haveon adjustable-rate loan clients’ ability to service their debts, or the impact of rate changes on demand for loan and
depositproducts.

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition is subject to testing for interest rate shock possibilities to indicate the
inherentinterest rate risk. We prepare a current base case and several alternative interest rate simulations (+/- 100, 200, 300, and 400
basispoints (bp)), at least once per quarter, and report the analysis to ALCO, our Market Risk Oversight Committee (“MROC”),
ourRisk Oversight Committee (“ROC”) and the Board of Directors. (The -200bp, -300bp, and -400bp rate scenarios were
notmodeled in 2021 due to the low interest rate environment below 2.00%). We augment our interest rate shock analysis
withalternative interest rate scenarios on a quarterly basis that may include ramps, parallel shifts, and a flattening or steepening of
theyield curve (non-parallel shift). In addition, more frequent forecasts may be produced when interest rates are 
particularlyuncertain or when other business conditions so dictate.

Our goal is to structure the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition so that net interest earnings at risk over 12-month
and24-month periods and the economic value of equity at risk do not exceed policy guidelines at the various interest rate
shocklevels. We attempt to achieve this goal by balancing, within policy limits, the volume of floating-rate liabilities with a
similarvolume of floating-rate assets, by keeping the average maturity of fixed-rate asset and liability contracts reasonably matched,
bymanaging the mix of our core deposits, and by adjusting our rates to market conditions on a continuing basis. At December
31,2022, the instantaneous rate shock of -200bp, -300bp and -400bp over 12-months and over 24-months was outside of the
desiredparameters due to the limited ability to reprice deposits in these respective shock scenarios.
  
Analysis.  Measures of net interest income at risk produced by simulation analysis are indicators of an institution’s short-

termperformance in alternative rate environments. These measures are typically based upon a relatively brief period, and do
notnecessarily indicate the long-term prospects or economic value of the institution.
  
Table 16
ESTIMATED CHANGES IN NET INTEREST INCOME (1)

Percentage Change (12-month shock) +400
bp

+300
bp

+200
bp

+100
bp

-100
bp

-200
bp

-300
bp

-400
bpPolicy Limit -15.0 % -12.5 % -10.0 % -7.5 % -7.5 % -10.0 % -12.5 % -15.0 %

December 31,
2022

11.3 % 8.4 % 5.5 % 2.8 % -5.0 % -12.3 % -20.0 % -27.1 %
December 31,
2021

36.6 % 27.2 % 17.8 % 8.7 % -6.2 % n/a % n/a % n/a %

Percentage Change (24-month shock) +400
bp

+300
bp

+200
bp

+100
bp

-100
bp

-200
bp

-300
bp

-400
bpPolicy Limit -17.5 % -15.0 % -12.5 % -10.0 % -10.0 % -12.5 % -15.0 % -17.5 %

December 31,
2022

31.3 % 25.2 % 19.0 % 13.1 % -2.0 % -13.8 % -25.7 % -36.3 %
December 31,
2021

55.0 % 40.5 % 26.1 % 12.2 % -11.1 % n/a % n/a % n/a %

The Net Interest Income at risk position was generally less favorable at December 31, 2022 compared to December 31, 2021
forthe 12-month and 24-month shocks for rising rate scenarios. Strong loan growth and a reduction in our overnight funds
balanceduring the year made us less asset sensitive, which is less favorable in rising rate environments, and more favorable in a
fallingrate environment. 

Net Interest Income at risk is within our prescribed policy limits over both the 12-month and 24-month periods for all rising
ratescenarios, and the down 100 bps rate scenario. The percent change over both a 12-month and 24-month shock are outside
ofpolicy in a rates down 200 bps, down 300 bps, and down 400 bps scenarios due to our limited ability to lower our deposit
ratesrelative to the decline in market rate. In addition, this analysis incorporates an instantaneous, parallel shock and assumes
wemove with market rates and do not lag our deposit rates.
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The measures of equity value at risk indicate our ongoing economic value by considering the effects of changes in interest
rateson all of our cash flows by discounting the cash flows to estimate the present value of assets and liabilities. The
differencebetween these discounted values of the assets and liabilities is the economic value of equity, which in theory approximates the
fairvalue of our net
assets.
Table 17
ESTIMATED CHANGES IN ECONOMIC VALUE OF
EQUITY

(1)

Changes in Interest
Rates

+400
bp

+300
bp

+200
bp

+100
bp

-100
bp

-200
bp

 -300
bp

-400
bpPolicy Limit -30.0 % -25.0 % -20.0 % -15.0 % -15.0 % -20.0 % -25.0 % -30.0 %

December 31,
2022

11.0 % 9.0 % 6.4 % 3.6 % -7.4 % -18.8 % -30.9 % -40.1 %
December 31,
2021

31.5 % 24.6 % 16.5 % 8.2 % -19.0 % n/a % n/a % n/a %

EVE Ratio (policy minimum
5.0%)

21.7 % 21.0 % 20.1 % 19.2 % 16.6 % 14.3 % 12.0 % 10.2 %

(1) Down 200, 300 and 400 bp rate scenarios have been added due to the current interest rate environment.

At December 31, 2022, the economic value of equity was favorable in all rising rate environments and was within
prescribedtolerance levels. Factors that can impact EVE values include the absolute level of rates, the overall structure of the balance
sheet(including liquidity levels), pre-payment speeds, loan floors, and the change of model
assumptions.
Although the change in EVE exceeds policy guidelines in the down 300 bps and down 400 bps rate scenarios, the EVE
Ratios(EVE/EVA) were 12.0% and 10.2%, respectively, at December 31, 2022 and were therefore within policy guidelines. EVE is
outof compliance only if BOTH the EVE and EVE ratio are outside of policy guidelines. Therefore, EVE is currently in
compliancewith policy in all rate scenarios.
 
As the interest rate environment and the dynamics of the economy continue to change, additional simulations will be analyzed
toaddress not only the changing rate environment, but also the changing statement of financial condition mix, measured
overmultiple years, to help assess the risk to the Company.
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL 
RESOURCES
Liquidity

In general terms, liquidity is a measurement of our ability to meet our cash needs. Our objective in managing our liquidity is
tomaintain our ability to fund loan commitments, purchase securities, accommodate deposit withdrawals or repay other liabilities
inaccordance with their terms, without an adverse impact on our current or future earnings. Our liquidity strategy is guided
bypolicies that are formulated and monitored by our ALCO and senior management, and which take into account the
marketabilityof assets, the sources and stability of funding and the level of unfunded commitments. We regularly evaluate all of our
variousfunding sources with an emphasis on accessibility, stability, reliability, and cost-effectiveness. For 2022 and 2021, our
principalsource of funding was client deposits, supplemented by our short-term and long-term borrowings, primarily from our
trust-preferred securities, securities sold under repurchase agreements, federal funds purchased, and FHLB borrowings. We
believethat the cash generated from operations, our borrowing capacity and our access to capital resources are sufficient to meet
ourfuture operating capital and funding
requirements.
At December 31, 2022, we had the ability to generate approximately $1.354 billion in additional liquidity through all of
ouravailable resources beyond our overnight funds sold position. In addition to the primary borrowing outlets mentioned above,
wealso have the ability to generate liquidity by borrowing from the Federal Reserve Discount Window and through
brokereddeposits. We recognize the importance of maintaining liquidity and have developed a Contingent Liquidity Plan, which
addressesvarious liquidity stress levels and our response and action based on the level of severity. We periodically test our credit
facilitiesfor access to the funds, but also understand that as the severity of the liquidity level increases certain credit facilities may
nolonger be available. We conduct quarterly liquidity stress tests and the results are reported to ALCO, MROC, ROC and the
Boardof Directors. We believe the liquidity available to us is sufficient to meet our ongoing
needs. 
We also view our investment portfolio as a liquidity source and have the option to pledge securities in our portfolio as
collateralfor borrowings or deposits, and/or to sell selected securities. Our portfolio consists of debt issued by the U.S. Treasury, 
U.S.governmental agencies, municipal governments, and corporate entities. The weighted-average maturity of our portfolio was
3.57years at December 31, 2022 and the available-for-sale portfolio had a net unrealized pre-tax loss of $41.9
million.
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Our average net overnight funds sold position (defined as funds sold plus interest-bearing deposits with other banks less
fundspurchased) was $649.8 million in 2022 compared to an average net overnight funds sold position of $790.9 million in 2021. 
Thedeclining overnight funds position in 2022 reflected strong growth in average loans.
 
We expect capital expenditures over the next 12 months to be approximately $8.0 million, which will consist primarily
oftechnology purchases for banking offices, office leasehold improvements, business applications, and information
technologysecurity needs as well as furniture and fixtures and banking office remodels. We expect that these capital expenditures will
befunded with existing resources without impairing our ability to meet our ongoing
obligations.
Borrowings

At December 31, 2022, total advances from the FHLB consisted of $0.6 million in outstanding debt comprised of three notes. 
In2022, the Bank made FHLB advance payments totaling $0.9 million. Two advances matured, none were paid off, and no
newfixed rate advances were obtained in 2022. The FHLB notes are collateralized by a floating lien on certain 1-4 family
residentialmortgage loans, commercial real estate mortgage loans, and home equity mortgage loans.
 
We have issued two junior subordinated deferrable interest notes to wholly owned Delaware statutory trusts. The first note
for$30.9 million was issued to CCBG Capital Trust I in November 2004. The second note for $32.0 million was issued to
CCBGCapital Trust II in May 2005.
 
In the second quarter of 2020, we entered into a derivative cash flow hedge of our interest rate risk related to our
subordinateddebt. The notional amount of the derivative is $30 million ($10 million of the CCBG Capital Trust I borrowing and $20
millionof the CCBG Capital Trust II borrowing). The interest rate swap agreement requires CCBG to pay fixed and receive
variable(Libor plus spread) and has an average all-in fixed rate of 2.50% for 10 years. Additional detail on the interest rate
swapagreement is provided in Note 5 – Derivatives in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
For 2022, average short-term borrowings, consisting primarily of CCHL warehouse line balances, declined $13.0
millioncompared to 2021 due to lower residential loan production volume which reduced short-term borrowing
needs.
See Note 11 – Short Term Borrowings and Note 12 – Long Term Borrowings in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statementsfor additional information on
borrowings.
In the ordinary course of business, we have entered into contractual obligations and have made other commitments to make
futurepayments. Refer to the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements elsewhere in this report for the expected
timingof such payments as of December 31, 2022. These include payments related to (i) long-term borrowings (Note 12 – Long-
TermBorrowings), (ii) short-term borrowings (Note 11 – Short-Term Borrowings), (iii) operating leases (Note 7 – Leases), (iv)
timedeposits with stated maturities (Note 10 – Deposits), and (v) commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit (Note 21
–Commitments and Contingencies).

Capital
Resources
Shareowners’ equity was $387.3 million at December 31, 2022 compared to $383.2 million at December 31, 2021. For
2022,shareowners’ equity was positively impacted by net income attributable to common shareowners of $33.4 million, a $3.1
millionincrease in the fair value of the interest rate swap related to subordinated debt, stock compensation accretion of $1.3 million,
netadjustments totaling $1.6 million related to transactions under our stock compensation plans, and an $8.7 million decrease in
theaccumulated other comprehensive loss for our pension plan. Shareowners’ equity was reduced by common stock dividends
of$11.2 million ($0.66 per share) and a $32.8 million increase in the unrealized loss on investment securities. Additional
historicalinformation on capital changes is provided in the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareowners’ Equity in
theConsolidated Financial
Statements.
We continue to maintain a strong capital position. The ratio of shareowners' equity to total assets at December 31, 2022
was8.57% compared to 8.99% at December 31, 2021. Further, our tangible common equity ratio was 6.65% (non-GAAP
financialmeasure) at December 31, 2022 compared to 6.95% at December 31, 2021. The decline in the ratios in 2022 was
substantiallydue to an increase in the unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities.
 
We are subject to regulatory risk-based capital requirements that measure capital relative to risk-weighted assets and off-
balancesheet financial instruments. At December 31, 2022, our total risk-based capital ratio was 15.30% compared to 17.15%
atDecember 31, 2021. Our common equity tier 1 capital ratio was 12.38% and 13.86%, respectively, on these dates. Our
leverageratio was 8.91% and 8.95%, respectively, on these dates. With the exception of the leverage ratio, the decline in our
regulatorycapital ratios compared to 2021 was attributable to strong loan growth during 2022. For a detailed discussion of our
regulatorycapital requirements, refer to the “Regulatory Considerations – Capital Regulations” section on page 15. See Note 17 in
theNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information as to our capital
adequacy.



61

At December 31, 2022, our common stock had a book value of $22.73 per diluted share compared to $22.63 at December
31,2021. Book value is impacted by the net unrealized gains and losses on investment securities. At December 31, 2022, the
netunrealized loss was $37.3 million compared to an unrealized loss of $4.6 million at December 31, 2021. Book value is
alsoimpacted by the recording of our unfunded pension liability through other comprehensive income in accordance with
AccountingStandards Codification Topic 715. At December 31, 2022, the net pension liability reflected in accumulated other
comprehensiveloss was $4.5 million compared to $13.2 million at December 31, 2021. The favorable adjustment to our unfunded
pensionliability reflected a higher discount rate used to calculate the present value of the pension obligation that was partially offset by
alower than estimated return on plan assets. The higher discount rate reflected the increase in long-term interest rates in 2022.
 This adjustment also favorably impacted our tangible capital ratio. Further, book value is impacted by the periodic
adjustmentmade to record temporary equity at redemption value and there were no adjustments made during 2022.
 
In February 2014, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 1,500,000 shares of our outstanding common
stockover a five-year period. Repurchases under the 2014 plan could be made in the open market or in privately
negotiatedtransactions; however, we were not obligated to repurchase any specified number of shares. In January 2019, the 2014 plan
wasterminated and our Board of Directors approved a new share repurchase plan that authorizes the repurchase of up to
750,000shares of our outstanding common stock over a five-year period. Terms of this plan are substantially similar to the 2014 plan. 
Noshares were repurchased in 2022 or 2021. 99,952 shares were repurchased in 2020 at an average price of $20.39 and
77,000shares were repurchased in 2019 at an average price of $23.40. Since 2014, a total of 1,361,682 shares of our
outstandingcommon stock have been repurchased at an average price of $17. 93 under our stock repurchase plans. In January 2023,
werepurchased 25,000 shares of our common stock at $32.39 per share.
 
Dividends

Adequate capital and financial strength are paramount to our stability and the stability of CCB. Cash dividends declared and
paidshould not place unnecessary strain on our capital levels. When determining the level of dividends, the following factors
areconsidered:

● Compliance with state and federal laws and
regulations;● Our capital position and our ability to meet our financial
obligations;● Projected earnings and asset levels; and

● The ability of the Bank and us to fund
dividends.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET
ARRANGEMENTS
We are a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risks in the normal course of business to meet the financing
needsof our clients. See Note 21 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements. 
If commitments arising from these financial instruments continue to require funding at historical levels, management does
notanticipate that such funding will adversely impact our ability to meet on-going obligations. In the event these
commitmentsrequire funding in excess of historical levels, management believes current liquidity, investment security maturities,
availableadvances from the FHLB and Federal Reserve Bank, and warehouse lines of credit provide a sufficient source of funds to
meetthese commitments.

In conjunction with the sale and securitization of loans held for sale and their related servicing rights, we may be exposed
toliability resulting from recourse, repurchase, and make-whole agreements. If it is determined subsequent to our sale of a loan
orits related servicing rights that a breach of the representations or warranties made in the applicable sale agreement has
occurred,which may include guarantees that prepayments will not occur within a specified and customary time frame, we may have
anobligation to either (a) repurchase the loan for the unpaid principal balance, accrued interest, and related advances; (b)
indemnifythe purchaser against any loss it suffers; or (c) make the purchaser whole for the economic benefits of the loan and its
relatedservicing rights.

Our repurchase, indemnification and make-whole obligations vary based upon the terms of the applicable agreements, the
natureof the asserted breach, and the status of the mortgage loan at the time a claim is made. We establish reserves for estimated
lossesof this nature inherent in the origination of mortgage loans by estimating the losses inherent in the population of all loans
soldbased on trends in claims and actual loss severities experienced. The reserve will include accruals for probable contingent
lossesin addition to those identified in the pipeline of claims received. The estimation process is designed to include amounts based
onactual losses experienced from actual
activity.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in
accordancewith accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, which require us to make various estimates
andassumptions (see Note 1 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). We believe that, of our significant
accountingpolicies, the following may involve a higher degree of judgment and 
complexity.
Allowance for Credit Losses . The amount of the allowance for credit losses represents management’s best estimate of

currentexpected credit losses considering available information, from internal and external sources, relevant to assessing exposure
tocredit loss over the contractual term of the instrument. Relevant available information includes historical credit loss
experience,current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. While historical credit loss experience provides the basis for
theestimation of expected credit losses, adjustments to historical loss information may be made for changes in loan risk grades,
lossexperience trends, loan prepayment trends, differences in current portfolio-specific risk characteristics, environmental
conditions,future expectations, or other relevant factors. While management utilizes its best judgment and information available,
theultimate adequacy of our allowance accounts is dependent upon a variety of factors beyond our control, including
theperformance of our portfolios, the economy, changes in interest rates, and the view of the regulatory authorities
towardclassification of assets. Detailed information on the Allowance for Credit Losses valuation, and the assumptions used are
providedin Note 1 – Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
Goodwill . Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquired businesses over the fair value of their identifiable net
assets. We perform an impairment review on an annual basis or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicatethat the carrying value may not be recoverable. Adverse changes in the economic environment, declining operations, or
otherfactors could result in a decline in the estimated implied fair value of goodwill. If the estimated implied fair value of goodwill
isless than the carrying amount, a loss would be recognized to reduce the carrying amount to the estimated implied fair
value.
We evaluate goodwill for impairment on an annual basis and in 2017 adopted Accounting Standards Update 2017-04,
Intangibles– Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying Accounting for Goodwill Impairment which allows for a qualitative assessment
of goodwill impairment indicators. If the assessment indicates that impairment has more than likely occurred, the Company
mustcompare the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit
exceedsits estimated fair value, an impairment charge is recorded equal to the
excess.
During the fourth quarter of 2022, we performed our annual impairment testing. We proceeded with qualitative assessment
byevaluating impairment indicators and concluded there were none that indicated that goodwill impairment had occurred.
 
Pension Assumptions . We have a defined benefit pension plan for the benefit of substantially all of our associates. Our

fundingpolicy with respect to the pension plan is to contribute, at a minimum, amounts sufficient to meet minimum funding
requirementsas set by law. Pension expense is determined by an external actuarial valuation based on assumptions that are evaluated
annuallyas of December 31, the measurement date for the pension obligation. The service cost component of pension expense is
reflectedas “Compensation Expense” in the Consolidated Statements of Income. All other components of pension expense are reflected
as“Other Expense”. 

The Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition reflect an accrued pension benefit cost due to funding levels
andunrecognized actuarial amounts. The most significant assumptions used in calculating the pension obligation are the
weighted-average discount rate used to determine the present value of the pension obligation, the weighted-average expected long-term
rateof return on plan assets, and the assumed rate of annual compensation increases. These assumptions are re-evaluated
annuallywith the external actuaries, taking into consideration both current market conditions and anticipated long-term market
conditions.
The discount rate is determined by matching the anticipated defined pension plan cash flows to the spot rates of a corporate
AA-rated bond index/yield curve and solving for the single equivalent discount rate which would produce the same present value.
 This methodology is applied consistently from year to year. The discount rate utilized in 2022 was 3.11%. The estimated
impactto 2022 pension expense of a 25 basis point increase or decrease in the discount rate would have been an approximate
$0.9million decrease or increase, respectively. We anticipate using a 5.63% discount rate in 2023.
 
Based on the balances at the December 31, 2022 measurement date, the estimated impact on accumulated other
comprehensiveloss of a 25 basis point increase or decrease in the discount rate would have been a decrease or increase of approximately
$2.2million (after-tax). The estimated impact on accumulated other comprehensive loss of a 1% favorable/unfavorable variance in
theactual rate of return on plan assets versus the assumed rate of return on plan assets of 6.75% would have been an
approximate$1.2 million (after-tax) decrease/increase, respectively.
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The weighted-average expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is determined based on the current and anticipated
futuremix of assets in the plan. The assets currently consist of equity securities, U.S. Government and Government agency
debtsecurities, and other securities (typically temporary liquid funds awaiting investment). The weighted-average expected long-
termrate of return on plan assets utilized for 2022 was 6.75%. The estimated impact to 2022 pension expense of a 25 basis
pointincrease or decrease in the rate of return would have been an approximate $0.4 million decrease or increase, respectively. 
Weanticipate using a rate of return on plan assets of 6.75% for
2023.
The assumed rate of annual compensation increases of 4.40% in 2022 reflected expected trends in salaries and the
employeebase. We anticipate using a compensation increase of approximately 5.10% for 2023 reflecting current market trends.

Detailed information on the pension plan, the actuarially determined disclosures, and the assumptions used are provided in
Note15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
Income
Taxes

. Income tax expense is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the change in deferred 
taxassets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the expected future tax amounts for the temporary differences

betweencarrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities, computed using enacted tax rates. A valuation allowance, if
needed,reduces deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.
  
A tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is “more likely than not” that the tax position would be sustained in a
taxexamination, with a tax examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax benefit that
isgreater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions not meeting the “more likely than not” test, no
taxbenefit is recorded. 
 
We recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in other 

expenses.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET

RISK 
See “Financial Condition - Market Risk and Interest Rate Sensitivity” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
FinancialCondition and Results of Operations, above, which is incorporated herein by
reference.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm

To the Shareowners, Board of Directors and Audit Committee
 Capital City Bank Group,
Inc.Tallahassee, Florida

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial
Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Capital City Bank Group, Inc.
(the“Company”) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
changesin shareowners’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2022, and the
relatednotes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred
toabove present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and
theresults of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2022, in
conformitywith accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States)(“PCAOB”), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established 
inInternal Control – Integrated Framework:
(2013)

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated March 1, 2023 (December 22, 2023, as to the effects of the material weakness described
inManagement’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting (as revised)), expressed an adverse opinion on
theeffectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting because of the material 
weakness.
Restatement of Previously Issued Financial
Statements
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the 2022 consolidated financial statements have been restated
tocorrect a misstatement. 

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
onthe Company’s financial statements based on our audits.
 
We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company
inaccordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
ExchangeCommission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
theaudits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due
toerror or fraud. 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
toerror or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test
basis,evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accountingprinciples used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financialstatements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below arises from the current-period audit of the financial statements that
wascommunicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that
arematerial to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. 
Thecommunication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole,
andwe are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Allowance for Credit
Losses
The Company’s loans held for investment portfolio totaled $2.55 billion as of December 31, 2022, and the allowance for
creditlosses on loans held for investment was $25.1 million. The Company’s unfunded loan commitments totaled $781.1 million,
withan allowance for credit loss of $3.0 million. The Company’s available-for-sale securities and held-to-maturity securities
portfolios totaled $1.07 billion as of
 December 31, 2022, and the allowance for credit losses on securities was $41,000. Together these allowance amounts 
representthe allowance for credit losses (ACL). 
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As more fully described in Notes 1, 2, 3 and 21 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements, the Company estimates
itsexposure to expected credit losses as of the statement of financial condition date for existing financial instruments held

atamortized cost and off-balance sheet exposures, such as unfunded loan commitments, lines of credit and other
unusedcommitments that are not unconditionally cancelable by the
Company.
The determination of the ACL requires management to exercise significant judgment and consider numerous subjective
factors,including determining qualitative factors utilized to adjust historical loss rates, loan credit risk grading and identifying
loansrequiring individual evaluation among others. As disclosed by management, different assumptions and conditions could result
ina materially different amount for the estimate of the ACL.
 
We identified the ACL at December 31, 2022, as a critical audit matter. Auditing the ACL involved a high degree of
subjectivityin evaluating management’s estimates, such as evaluating management’s identification of credit quality indicators, grouping
ofloans determined to be similar into pools, estimating the remaining life of loans in a pool, assessment of economic conditions
andother environmental factors, evaluating the adequacy of specific allowances associated with individually evaluated loans
andassessing the appropriateness of loan credit risk
grades.
The primary procedures we performed as of December 31, 2022, to address this critical audit matter
included:

● Obtained an understanding of the Company’s process for establishing the ACL, including the qualitative
factoradjustments of the ACL

● Tested the design and operating effectiveness of controls, including those related to technology, over the
ACL,including:
o loan data completeness and accuracy 
o reconciliation of loan balances accounted for at amortized cost and underlying detail

 o classifications of loans by loan pool
 o historical charge-off data

o evaluation of appraisals
o the establishment of qualitative adjustments

 o back testing and stress testing
o loan credit risk ratings

 o establishment of specific ACL on individually evaluated loan,
 o management’s review and disclosure controls over the
ACL● Tested the completeness and accuracy of the information utilized in the ACL, including evaluating the relevance

andreliability of such
information● Tested the ACL model’s computational accuracy 

● Evaluated the qualitative adjustments to the ACL, including assessing the basis for adjustments and the
reasonablenessof the significant assumptions

● Tested the loan review functions and evaluated the reasonableness of loan credit risk
ratings● Evaluated the reasonableness of specific allowances on individually evaluated
loans● Evaluated the overall reasonableness of assumptions used by management considering trends identified within
peergroups

● Evaluated the accuracy and completeness of ASU No. 2016-
13,

Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 
326):Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, disclosures in the consolidated financial

statements● Evaluated credit quality trends in delinquencies, non-accruals, charge -offs and loan risk ratings
 ● Tested estimated utilization rate of unfunded loan
commitments● Evaluated documentation prepared to assess the methodology utilized in the ACL calculation for securities
forreasonableness

FORVIS,
LLP

 
(Formerly, BKD, LLP)
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since
2021.
Little Rock,
Arkansas
March 1, 2023 (December 22, 2023, as to the effects of the restatement discussed in Note
1)
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm

To the Shareowners and the Board of Directors of Capital City Bank Group,
Inc.
Opinion on the Financial
StatementsWe have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of income, comprehensive
income

, shareowners'
equityand cash flows of Capital City Bank Group, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the related

notes(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated
financialstatements present fairly, in all material respects, the results of the Company’s operations and its cash flows for
theyear ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.
Basis for
OpinionThese financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express
anopinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered
withthe PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federalsecurities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan
andperform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
materialmisstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of
materialmisstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond
tothose risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimatesmade by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that
ouraudit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
/s/ Ernst & Young 
LLP
We served as the Company’s auditor from 2007 to
2021.
Tallahassee, Florida

March 1, 2021
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL

CONDITION
(As Restated)

As of
December
31,

As of
December
31,(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021

ASSETS
Cash and Due From
Banks

$ 72,114 $ 65,313
Federal Funds Sold and Interest Bearing
Deposits

528,536 970,041
Total Cash and Cash
Equivalents

600,650 1,035,354

Investment Securities, Available for Sale, at fair value (amortized cost of
$

455,232 and $660,732) 413,294 654,611
Investment Securities, Held to Maturity (fair value of
$

612,701 and $339,699) 660,744 339,601
Equity Securities 10 861

Total Investment Securities 1,074,048 995,073

Loans Held For Sale, at fair
value

26,909 52,532

Loans, Held for
Investment

2,547,685 1,931,465
Allowance for Credit
Losses

(25,068) (21,606)
Loans Held for Investment,
Net

2,522,617 1,909,859

Premises and Equipment,
Net

82,138 83,412
Goodwill and Other Intangibles 93,093 93,253
Other Real Estate Owned 431 17
Other Assets 119,337 94,349

Total Assets $ 4,519,223 $ 4,263,849

LIABILITIES
Deposits:

Noninterest Bearing
Deposits

$ 1,653,620 $ 1,668,912
Interest Bearing
Deposits

2,285,697 2,043,950
Total
Deposits

3,939,317 3,712,862

Short-Term Borrowings 56,793 34,557
Subordinated Notes
Payable

52,887 52,887
Other Long-Term Borrowings 513 884
Other Liabilities 73,675 67,735

Total Liabilities 4,123,185 3,868,925

Temporary Equity 8,757 11,758

SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY
Preferred Stock, $ .01 par value; 3,000,000  shares

authorized;
no shares issued and

outstanding
- -

Common Stock, $ .01 par value; 90,000,000  shares
authorized;

16,986,785  and 16,892,060  
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively

170 169
Additional Paid-In
Capital

37,331 34,423
Retained Earnings 387,009 364,788
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax (37,229) (16,214)
Total Shareowners’ 
Equity

387,281 383,166
Total Liabilities, Temporary Equity, and Shareowners’
Equity

$ 4,519,223 $ 4,263,849

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these
statements.
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Years Ended December
31,(As Restated)

(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share 
Data)

2022 2021 2020
INTEREST INCOME
Loans, including Fees $ 106,444 $ 96,561 $ 94,752
Investment Securities:

Taxable 15,917 8,724 10,176
Tax
Exempt

38 68 98
Federal Funds Sold and Interest Bearing
Deposits

9,511 998 1,171
Total Interest Income 131,910 106,351 106,197

INTEREST EXPENSE
Deposits 3,444 839 1,548
Short-Term Borrowings 1,761 1,360 1,690
Subordinated Notes
Payable

1,652 1,228 1,472
Other Long-Term Borrowings 31 63 161
Total Interest Expense 6,888 3,490 4,871

NET INTEREST INCOME 125,022 102,861 101,326
Provision for Credit
Losses

7,494 (1,553) 9,645
Net Interest Income After Provision for Credit
Losses

117,528 104,414 91,681

NONINTEREST INCOME
Deposit Fees 22,121 18,882 17,800
Bank Card
Fees

15,401 15,274 13,044
Wealth Management Fees 18,059 13,693 11,035
Mortgage Banking Revenues 11,909 52,425 63,344
Other 7,691 7,271 5,942
Total Noninterest Income 75,181 107,545 111,165

NONINTEREST EXPENSE
Compensation 91,519 101,470 96,280
Occupancy, Net 24,574 23,932 22,659
Other 35,541 37,106 31,023
Total Noninterest Expense 151,634 162,508 149,962

INCOME BEFORE INCOME
TAXES

41,075 49,451 52,884
Income Tax Expense 7,798 9,835 10,230

NET INCOME $ 33,277 $ 39,616 $ 42,654
Loss (Income) Attributable to Noncontrolling
Interests

135 (6,220) (11,078)

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON
SHAREOWNERS

$ 33,412 $ 33,396 $ 31,576

BASIC NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 1.97 $ 1.98 $ 1.88
DILUTED NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 1.97 $ 1.98 $ 1.88

Average Basic Common Shares
Outstanding

16,951 16,863 16,785
Average Diluted Common Shares Outstanding 16,985 16,893 16,822

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these
statements.



 

 

          

   

  
    

 
 

  

        

   

        

        
   

                  

                  
   
      

70

CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Years Ended December
31,(As Restated)

(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON
SHAREOWNERS

$ 33,412 $ 33,396 $ 31,576
Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:Investment Securities:

Change in net unrealized (loss) gain on securities available-for-
sale

(35,814) (9,673) 2,437
Unrealized losses on securities transferred from available-for-sale 
to held-to-maturity (9,384) - -
Amortization of unrealized losses on securities transferred
from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity 1,469 26 36

Derivative:
Change in net unrealized gain on effective cash flow 
derivative

4,146 1,476 574

Benefit Plans:
Reclassification adjustment for amortization of prior service
cost

292 234 (880)
Reclassification adjustment for amortization of net loss 4,752 10,806 4,391
Defined benefit plan
settlement

2,321 3,072 -
Current year actuarial gain
(loss)

4,223 31,339 (27,924)
Total Benefit Plans 11,588 45,451 (24,413)

Other comprehensive (loss) income, before 
tax:

(27,995) 37,280 (21,366)
Deferred tax (expense) benefit related to other comprehensive
income

6,980 (9,352) 5,405
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of
tax

(21,015) 27,928 (15,961)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $ 12,397 $ 61,324 $ 15,615

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS'

EQUITY

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
(Loss) Income, 
Net of Taxes(Dollars in Thousands, Except Share Data)

Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings Total

Balance, January 1, 2020 16,771,544 $ 168 $ 32,092 $ 322,937 $ (28,181) $ 327,016
Impact of Adopting ASC 326 (CECL) - - - (3,095) - (3,095)
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - 31,576 - 31,576
Reclassification to Temporary Equity (1) - - - (9,323) - (9,323)
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (15,961) (15,961)
Cash Dividends ($0.57 per share) - - - (9,567) - (9,567)
Stock Based Compensation - - 892 - - 892
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 118,981 1 1,340 - - 1,341
Repurchase of Common Stock (99,952) (1) (2,041) - - (2,042)
Balance, December 31, 2020 16,790,573 168 32,283 332,528 (44,142) 320,837
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - 33,396 - 33,396
Reclassification to Temporary Equity (1) - - - 9,323 - 9,323
Other Comprehensive Income, Net of Tax - - - - 27,928 27,928
Cash Dividends ($0.62 per share) - - - (10,459) - (10,459)
Stock Based Compensation - - 843 - - 843
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 101,487 1 1,297 - - 1,298
Balance, December 31, 2021 16,892,060 169 34,423 364,788 (16,214) 383,166
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners
(as restated) - - - 33,412 - 33,412

Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (21,015) (21,015)
Cash Dividends ($0.66 per share) - - - (11,191) - (11,191)
Stock Based Compensation - - 1,630 - - 1,630
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 94,725 1 1,278 - - 1,279
Balance, December 31, 2022 (as restated) 16,986,785 $ 170 $ 37,331 $ 387,009 $ (37,229) $ 387,281

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

(1)Adjustments to redemption value for non-controlling interest in
CCHL
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December
31,(As Restated)

(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Income Attributable to Common
Shareowners

$ 33,412 $ 33,396 $ 31,576
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Cash From Operating Activities:
 Provision for Credit
Losses

7,494 (1,553) 9,645
 Depreciation 7,596 7,607 7,230
 Amortization of Premiums, Discounts, and Fees, net 7,772 14,072 7,533
 Amortization of Intangible Assets 160 107 -
 Pension Settlement Charges 2,321 3,072 -
 Originations of Loans Held for
Sale

(996,312) (1,541,356) (606,337)
 Proceeds From Sales of Loans Held for
Sale

1,033,844 1,655,288 565,151
 Mortgage Banking Revenues (11,909) (52,425) (63,344)
 Net Additions for Capitalized Mortgage Servicing
Rights

726 72 (2,792)
 Change in Valuation Provision for Mortgage Servicing Rights - (250) 250
 Stock Compensation 1,630 843 892
 Net Tax Benefit from Stock
Compensation

(27) (4) (84)
 Deferred Income Taxes (3,870) (4,157) (53)
 Net Change in Operating
Leases

(108) (165) (156)
 Net Gain on Sales and Write-Downs of Other Real Estate
Owned

(422) (1,662) (393)
 Net (Increase) Decrease in Other Assets (8,636) 10,885 (38,353)
 Net Increase (Decrease) in Other
Liabilities

8,837 (7,846) 40,624
 Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities 82,508 115,924 (48,611)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIESSecurities Held to
Maturity: Purchases (219,865) (251,525) (32,250)
 Payments, Maturities, and Calls 55,314 78,544 99,251
Securities Available for Sale:
 Purchases (52,238) (523,961) (108,728)
 Proceeds from the Sale of
Securities

3,365 495 -
 Payments, Maturities, and Calls 81,596 178,425 186,499
Purchases of Loans Held for
Investment

(438,415) (114,913) (43,804)
Net (Increase) Decrease in Loans (184,349) 183,249 (130,020)
Net Cash Paid for Acquisitions - (4,482) (2,405)
Proceeds From Sales of Other Real Estate
Owned

2,406 4,502 2,835
Purchases of Premises and Equipment,
net

(6,322) (5,193) (9,738)
Noncontrolling Interest
Contributions

2,867 7,139 5,766
Net Cash Used In Investing
Activities

(755,641) (447,720) (32,594)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIESNet Increase in
Deposits

226,455 495,302 572,106
Net Increase (Decrease) in Short-Term 
Borrowings

22,114 (45,938) 73,156
Repayment of Other Long-Term Borrowings (249) (1,332) (3,363)
Dividends Paid (11,191) (10,459) (9,567)
Payments to Repurchase Common
Stock

- - (2,042)
Issuance of Common Stock Under Compensation
Plans

1,300 1,028 1,041
Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities 238,429 438,601 631,331
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

(434,704) 106,805 550,126
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of
Year

1,035,354 928,549 378,423
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of
Year

$ 600,650 $ 1,035,354 $ 928,549
Supplemental Cash Flow
Disclosures: Interest Paid $ 6,586 $ 3,547 $ 4,841
 Income Taxes Paid $ 7,466 $ 16,339 $ 9,171
Noncash Investing and Financing
Activities: Loans and Premises Transferred to Other Real Estate Owned $ 2,398 $ 1,717 $ 2,297
The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these
statements.



73

Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements
Note 1
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations

Capital City Bank Group, Inc. (“CCBG”) provides a full range of banking and banking-related services to individual
andcorporate clients through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Capital City Bank (“CCB” or the “Bank” and together with CCBG,
the“Company”), with banking offices located in Florida, Georgia, and Alabama. The Company is subject to competition from
otherfinancial institutions, is subject to regulation by certain government agencies and undergoes periodic examinations by
thoseregulatory authorities.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of CCBG and CCB. CCBG also maintains an insurance
subsidiary,Capital City Strategic Wealth, LLC (“CCSW”). CCB has two primary subsidiaries, which are wholly owned, Capital City
TrustCompany and Capital City Investments. CCB also maintains
a

51% membership interest in a consolidated subsidiary, Capital
CityHome Loans, LLC (“CCHL”). All material inter-company transactions and accounts have been eliminated in

consolidation.
The Company, which operates a single reportable business segment that is comprised of commercial banking within the states
ofFlorida, Georgia, and Alabama, follows accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and
reportingpractices applicable to the banking industry. The principles which materially affect the financial position, results of 
operationsand cash flows are summarized below.

The Company determines whether it has a controlling financial interest in an entity by first evaluating whether the entity is
avoting interest entity or a variable interest entity under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.Voting interest entities are entities in which the total equity investment at risk is sufficient to enable the entity to finance
itselfindependently and provide the equity holders with the obligation to absorb losses, the right to receive residual returns and
theright to make decisions about the entity’s activities. The Company consolidates voting interest entities in which it has all, or
atleast a majority of, the voting interest. As defined in applicable accounting standards, variable interest entities (“VIE’s”) 
areentities that lack one or more of the characteristics of a voting interest entity. A controlling financial interest in an entity
ispresent when an enterprise has a variable interest, or a combination of variable interests, that will absorb a majority of the
entity’sexpected losses, receive a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or both. The enterprise with a controlling
financialinterest, known as the primary beneficiary, consolidates the VIE. Two of CCBG’s wholly owned subsidiaries, CCBG
CapitalTrust I (established November 1, 2004) and CCBG Capital Trust II (established May 24, 2005) are VIEs for which the
Companyis not the primary beneficiary. Accordingly, the accounts of these entities are not included in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Certain previously reported amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. The Company
hasevaluated subsequent events for potential recognition and/or disclosure through the date the consolidated financial
statementsincluded in this Annual Report on Form 10-K were filed with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission.
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
ofAmerica requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
thedisclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
andexpenses during the reporting period. Actual results could vary from these estimates. Material estimates that are
particularlysusceptible to significant changes in the near-term relate to the determination of the allowance for credit losses, pension
expense,income taxes, loss contingencies, valuation of other real estate owned, and valuation of goodwill and their respective analysis
ofimpairment.

Business Combination

On April 30, 2021, a newly formed subsidiary of CCBG, CCSW acquired substantially all of the assets of Strategic
WealthGroup, LLC and certain related businesses (“SWG”), including advisory, service, and insurance carrier agreements, and
theassignment of all related revenues thereof. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, SWG principles became officers of
CCSWand will continue the operation of their five offices in South Georgia offering wealth management services and
comprehensiverisk management and asset protection services for individuals and
businesses.

CCBG paid
$

4.5 million in cash consideration
andrecorded goodwill of $ 2.8 million and a customer relationship intangible asset of

$
1.6 million.
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On March 1, 2020, CCB completed its acquisition of
a

51% membership interest in Brand Mortgage Group, LLC
(“Brand”),which is now operated as CCHL. CCHL was consolidated into CCBG’s financial statements effective March 1, 2020. 

Assetsacquired totaled
$

52 million (consisting primarily of loans held for sale) and liabilities assumed totaled 
$

42 million (consisting
primarily of warehouse line borrowings). The primary reasons for the acquisition and strategic alliance with Brand was to
gainaccess to an expanded residential mortgage product line-up and investor base (including a mandatory delivery channel for
loansales), to hedge our net interest income business and to generate other operational synergies and cost savings. CCB made a
$

7.1
million cash payment for
its

51% membership interest and entered into a buyout agreement for the remaining 49%
noncontrollinginterest resulting in temporary equity with a fair value of

$
7.4 million. Goodwill totaling $ 4.3 million was recorded in

connectionwith this acquisition. Factors that contributed to the purchase price resulting in goodwill include Brand’s strong
managementteam and expertise in the mortgage industry, historical record of earnings, and operational synergies created as part of
thestrategic alliance.  

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Since 2019, the Company has adopted ASU 2016-
13

Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of
CreditLosses on Financial Instruments, ASU 2019-12

“
Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income
Taxes,”

 
ASU2020-01 “ Investments – Equity Securities (Topic 321) and Investments – Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 

323)”,
ASU

2020-04 “ Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848)”, ASU 2020-08
“

Codification Improvements to Subtopic 310-20, Receivables
–Nonrefundable Fees and Other

Costs”,
and ASU 2020-09
“

Debt (Topic 470): Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to
SECRelease No. 33-

10762”
.

Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial 
Statements
We have restated herein our audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2022. We have
alsorestated interim financial statement periods for the each of the quarters ended March 31, 2022, June 30, 2022 and September
30,2022 and restated the impacted balances within the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
Restatement Background

As part of the normal course of business, CCHL sold residential mortgage loans to CCB. CCHL recorded mortgage
bankingrevenue and a mortgage servicing right on the aforementioned loans. On an ongoing basis, CCHL recognized noninterest
incomefor servicing these loans on behalf of CCB, which required elimination entries at a consolidated level. These elimination
entrieswere not made, resulting in misstatements. As a result of this misstatement, assets are overstated by
$

6.7 million as of
December31, 2022 and net income is overstated by

$
6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, net of tax effects. This

represents0.15% of previously reported total assets as of December 31, 2022
and

16.78% of previously reported net income for the
yearended December 31, 2022. As a result, diluted EPS decreased from

$
2.36 per share to

$
1.97 per share.

Description of
Misstatements
Misstatements Associated with Mortgage Loan Sale
Transactions

a)  Net Loan Origination Costs & Gain on Sale of Loan
 
CCHL originated certain mortgage loans that were sold to the Bank for a premium. The gain recorded by CCHL and
thecorresponding loan purchase premium recorded by the Bank should have been eliminated in consolidation.
Additionally,the Company did not defer net loan origination costs on these loans. The impacts of the net loan origination costs &
gainon sale of loan misstatements on each period are presented in this note and Note
24,

Quarterly Financial Data
(Unaudited) .

b) Mortgage Servicing Right (“MSR”) Asset

CCHL recorded an MSR asset and recognized a corresponding gain related to the aforementioned loans sold to
andserviced for the Bank. As the MSR asset is recorded at amortized cost, CCHL also recorded amortization expense
ineach period in other non-interest expense. The MSR asset, gain, and amortization expense should have been
eliminatedin consolidation. The impacts of the MSR asset misstatements on each period are presented in this note and Note
24,Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) .

c) Mortgage Servicing 

The Bank recorded servicing fee expense and CCHL recorded servicing income; these amounts should have
beeneliminated in consolidation. The impacts of the mortgage servicing misstatements on each period are presented in
thisnote and Note
24,

Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) . 
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d) Statement of Financial Condition Misclassification
 
CCHL classifies all mortgage production as loans held for sale. The portion of this production that was designated to
besold to the Bank should have been designated as loans held for investment for the Consolidated Financial
Statements.This reclassification includes the reversal of the related mark-to-market adjustment and the establishment of
theAllowance for Credit Losses (“ACL”) on these loans. While previously the mark-to-market adjustment had
beenreversed and the ACL established at the time the loans were sold to the Bank, this correction reflects those entries in
theappropriate periods. The impacts of the restatement on each period are presented in this note and Note
24,

Quarterly
Financial Data (Unaudited) . 

Other Immaterial Adjustments

As part of the restatement, we made corrections to the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition, that the
Companydetermined to be immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate for the year ended December 31, 2022 related to prior
periods(the “Other Adjustments”).
 
The Other Adjustments included corrections and reclassifications on our Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as
ofDecember 31, 2022 that had no impact on shareowners’ equity. These corrections and reclassifications were identified as part
ofthe misstatements associated with mortgage loan sale transactions noted above. The Company adjusted the
ConsolidatedStatement of Financial Condition to record net deferred fees and costs that resulted in an increase to total assets of
$

3.4 
million,which represent the amount that should have been recorded in prior periods. Additionally, the Company reclassified mark-

to-market and ACL adjustments that were related to the “Statement of Financial Condition Misclassification” noted above
thatresulted in less than a
$

156 thousand increase in total assets and less than a
$

156 thousand decrease in net income.

The combined impacts of the correction of the misstatement associated with the mortgage sale transactions and the
OtherAdjustments are reflected in the “restatement impacts” column of the restatement tables below and Note
24,

Quarterly
FinancialData (Unaudited) .

Description of Restatement
Tables
The following tables present the amounts previously reported and a reconciliation of the restatement amounts reported on
therestated Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as of December 31, 2022, the restated Consolidated Statement of
Income,the restated Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the restated Consolidated Statements of Change in
Shareowners

’
Equity and the restated Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2022. The amounts
previouslyreported for the year ended December 31, 2022 were derived from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December31, 2022, originally filed March 1,
2023.
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

CONDITION
As of December 31,
2022

(Dollars in Thousands, except per share
data)

As
Previously
Reported

Restatement
Impact As

RestatedASSETS:
Cash and Due From
Banks

$ 72,114 $ - $ 72,114
Federal Funds Sold and Interest Bearing
Deposits

528,536 - 528,536
Total Cash and Cash
Equivalents

600,650 - 600,650

Investment Securities, Available for Sale, at fair value (amortized cost
of$455,232 ) 413,294 - 413,294
Investment Securities Held to Maturity (fair value of
$

612,701) 660,744 - 660,744
Other Equity Securities 10 - 10
 Total Investment Securities 1,074,048 - 1,074,048

Loans Held For
Sale

54,635 (27,726) 26,909

Loans, Net of Unearned Income 2,525,180 22,505 2,547,685
Allowance for Loan
Losses

(24,736) (332) (25,068)
Loans, Net 2,500,444 22,173 2,522,617

Premises and Equipment,
Net

82,138 - 82,138
Goodwill 93,093 - 93,093
Other Real Estate Owned 431 - 431
Other Assets 120,519 (1,182) 119,337
Total Assets $ 4,525,958 $ (6,735) $ 4,519,223

LIABILITIES
Deposits:

Noninterest Bearing
Deposits

$ 1,653,620 $ - $ 1,653,620
Interest Bearing
Deposits

2,285,697 - 2,285,697
Total
Deposits

3,939,317 - 3,939,317

Short-Term Borrowings 56,793 - 56,793
Subordinated Notes
Payable

52,887 - 52,887
Other Long-Term Borrowings 513 - 513
Other Liabilities 73,675 - 73,675
Total Liabilities 4,123,185 - 4,123,185

Temporary Equity 8,757 - 8,757

SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY
Preferred Stock, $ .01 par value; 3,000,000  shares

authorized;
no shares issued

andoutstanding - - -
Common Stock, $ .01 par value; 90,000,000  shares

authorized;
16,986,785  shares

issued and outstanding at December 31,
2022

170 - 170
Additional Paid-In
Capital

37,331 - 37,331
Retained Earnings 393,744 (6,735) 387,009
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax (37,229) - (37,229)

Total Shareowners'
Equity

394,016 (6,735) 387,281
 Total Liabilities, Temporary Equity, and Shareowners'
Equity

$ 4,525,958 $ (6,735) $ 4,519,223
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

For Year Ended December 31,
2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

As
Previously
Reported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated
INTEREST INCOME
Loans, Including Fees $ 105,882 $ 562 $ 106,444
Investment Securities:

Taxable Securities 15,917 - 15,917
Tax Exempt
Securities

38 - 38
Funds Sold 9,511 - 9,511

Total Interest Income 131,348 562 131,910

INTEREST EXPENSE
Deposits 3,444 - 3,444
Short-Term Borrowings 1,761 - 1,761
Subordinated Notes
Payable

1,652 - 1,652
Other Long-Term Borrowings 31 - 31

Total Interest Expense 6,888 - 6,888
Net Interest Income 124,460 562 125,022
Provision for Loan
Losses

7,162 332 7,494
Net Interest Income After Provision For Loan
Losses

117,298 230 117,528

NONINTEREST INCOME
Deposit Fees 22,121 - 22,121
Bank Card
Fees

15,401 - 15,401
Wealth Management Fees 18,059 - 18,059
Mortgage Banking Fees 30,624 (18,715) 11,909
Other 8,422 (731) 7,691

Total Noninterest Income 94,627 (19,446) 75,181

NONINTEREST EXPENSE
Compensation 100,542 (9,023) 91,519
Occupancy, Net 24,574 - 24,574
Other 36,712 (1,171) 35,541

Total Noninterest Expense 161,828 (10,194) 151,634

INCOME BEFORE INCOME
TAXES

50,097 (9,022) 41,075
Income Tax Expense 10,085 (2,287) 7,798

NET INCOME 40,012 (6,735) 33,277
Pre-Tax Income Attributable to Noncontrolling
Interests

135 - 135

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON
SHAREOWNERS

$ 40,147 $ (6,735) $ 33,412

BASIC NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 2.37 $ (0.40) $ 1.97
DILUTED NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 2.36 $ (0.39) $ 1.97

AVERAGE SHARES:
Basic 16,951 - 16,951
Diluted 16,985 - 16,985
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For Year Ended December 31,
2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

As
Previously
Reported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated
NET INCOME $ 40,147 $ (6,735) $ 33,412
Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:Investment Securities:

Change in net unrealized (loss) gain on securities available for
sale

(35,814) - (35,814)

Unrealized losses on securities transferred from available for sale to held 
tomaturity (9,384) - (9,384)
Amortization of unrealized losses on securities transferred from available for sale
toheld to maturity 1,469 - 1,469

Total Investment Securities (43,729) - (43,729)
Derivative:

Change in net unrealized gain on effective cash flow 
derivative

4,146 - 4,146

Benefit Plans:
Reclassification adjustment for amortization of prior service
cost

292 - 292
Reclassification adjustment for amortization of net loss 4,752 - 4,752
Defined benefit plan
settlement

2,321 - 2,321
Current year actuarial
loss

4,223 - 4,223
 Total Benefit Plans 11,588 - 11,588

Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:

(27,995) - (27,995)
Deferred tax expense (benefit) related to other comprehensive
income

6,980 - 6,980
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
tax

(21,015) - (21,015)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $ 19,132 $ (6,735) $ 12,397
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS'

EQUITY

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss, Net
of Taxes Total

 
As Previously
ReportedBalance, January 1, 2022, as previously reported 16,892,060 $ 169 $ 34,423 $ 364,788 $ (16,214) $ 383,166

Net Income - - - 40,147 - 40,147
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (21,015) (21,015)
Cash Dividends ($0.66 per share) - - - (11,191) - (11,191)

 Stock Performance Plan Compensation - - 1,630 - - 1,630
 Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 94,725 1 1,278 - - 1,279

Balance, December 31, 2022, as previously reported 16,986,785 170 37,331 393,744 (37,229) 394,016

Restatement Impacts
Net Income - - - (6,735) - (6,735)

Balance, December 31,
2022

- - - (6,735) - (6,735)

As
RestatedBalance, January 1, 2022, as
restated

16,892,060 169 34,423 364,788 (16,214) 383,166
Net Income - - - 33,412 - 33,412
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (21,015) (21,015)
Cash Dividends
($

0.66 per share) - - - (11,191) - (11,191)
 Stock Performance Plan
Compensation

- - 1,630 - - 1,630
 Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 94,725 1 1,278 - - 1,279

Balance, December 31, 2022, as
restated

16,986,785 $ 170 $ 37,331 $ 387,009 $ (37,229) $ 387,281
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31,
2022

(Dollars in Thousands) As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Income Attributable to Common
Shareowners

$ 40,147 $ (6,735) $ 33,412
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to
 Provision for Credit
Losses

7,162 332 7,494
 Depreciation 7,596 - 7,596
 Amortization of Premiums, Discounts, and Fees, net 8,333 (561) 7,772
 Amortization of Intangible Assets 160 - 160
 Pension Settlement Charge 2,321 - 2,321
 Originations of Loans Held-for-Sale (1,024,526) 28,214 (996,312)
 Proceeds From Sales of Loans Held-for-
Sale

1,053,047 (19,203) 1,033,844
 Mortgage Banking Revenues (30,624) 18,715 (11,909)
 Net Decrease for Capitalized Mortgage Servicing Rights (2,742) 3,468 726
 Stock Compensation 1,630 - 1,630
 Net Tax Benefit From Stock-Based Compensation (27) - (27)
 Deferred Income Taxes (Benefit) (1,583) (2,287) (3,870)
 Net Change in Operating
Leases

(108) - (108)
 Net (Gain) Loss on Sales and Write-Downs of Other Real Estate
Owned

(422) - (422)
 Net Decrease (Increase) in Other Assets (8,636) - (8,636)
 Net (Decrease) Increase in Other
Liabilities

8,837 - 8,837
Net Cash Provided (Used In) By Operating Activities 60,565 21,943 82,508
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIESSecurities Held to
Maturity: Purchases (219,865) - (219,865)
 Payments, Maturities, and Calls 55,314 - 55,314
Securities Available for Sale:
 Purchases (52,238) - (52,238)
 Proceeds from Sale of
Securities

3,365 - 3,365
 Payments, Maturities, and Calls 81,596 - 81,596
Purchase of loans held for
investment

(438,415) - (438,415)
Net Increase in Loans Held for
Investment

(162,406) (21,943) (184,349)
Proceeds From Sales of Other Real Estate
Owned

2,406 - 2,406
Purchases of Premises and Equipment (6,322) - (6,322)
Noncontrolling interest contributions received 2,867 - 2,867
Net Cash Used In Investing
Activities

(733,698) (21,943) (755,641)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIESNet Increase in
Deposits

226,455 - 226,455
Net (Decrease) Increase in Other Short-Term
Borrowings

22,114 - 22,114
Repayment of Other Long-Term Borrowings (249) - (249)
Dividends Paid (11,191) - (11,191)
Issuance of Common Stock Under Compensation
Plans

1,300 - 1,300
Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities 238,429 - 238,429
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

(434,704) - (434,704)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period
 

1,035,354 - 1,035,354
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period
 

$ 600,650 $ - $ 600,650
Supplemental Cash Flow
Disclosures: Interest Paid $ 6,586 $ - $ 6,586
 Income Taxes Paid $ 7,466 $ - $ 7,466
Noncash Investing and Financing
Activities: Loans and Premises Transferred to Other Real Estate Owned $ 2,398 $ - $ 2,398
The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these
statements.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and due from banks, interest-bearing deposits in other banks, and federal
fundssold. Generally, federal funds are purchased and sold for one-day periods and all other cash equivalents have a maturity of
90days or less. The Company is required to maintain average reserve balances with the Federal Reserve Bank based upon
apercentage of deposits. On March 26, 2020, the Federal Reserve reduced the amount of the required reserve balance 
to

zero.
 

The Company maintains certain cash balances that are restricted under warehouse lines of credit and master
repurchaseagreements. The restricted cash balance at December 31, 2022 was
$

0.5 million.

Investment Securities

Investment securities are classified as held-to-maturity (“HTM”) and carried at amortized cost when the Company has the
positiveintent and ability to hold them until maturity. Investment securities not classified as held-to-maturity are classified as
available-for-sale (“AFS”) and carried at fair value. The Company does not have trading investment securities. Investment
securitiesclassified as equity securities that do not have readily determinable fair values, are measured at cost and remeasured to fair
valuewhen impaired or upon observable transaction prices. The Company determines the appropriate classification of securities at
thetime of purchase. For reporting and risk management purposes, we further segment investment securities by the issuer of
thesecurity which correlates to its risk profile: U.S. government treasury, U.S. government agency, state and political
subdivisions,mortgage-backed securities, and corporate debt securities. Certain equity securities with limited marketability, such as stock
inthe Federal Reserve Bank and the Federal Home Loan Bank, are classified as available -for-sale and carried at cost.
 
Interest income includes amortization and accretion of purchase premiums and discounts. Realized gains and losses are
derivedfrom the amortized cost of the security sold. Gains and losses on the sale of securities are recorded on the trade date and
aredetermined using the specific identification method. Securities transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity 
arerecorded at amortized cost plus or minus any unrealized gain or loss at the time of transfer. Any existing unrecognized gain
orloss continues to be reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (net of tax) and amortized as an adjustment to
interestincome over the remaining life of the security. Any existing allowance for credit loss is reversed at the time of transfer.
 Subsequent to transfer, the allowance for credit losses on the transferred security is evaluated in accordance with the
accountingpolicy for held-to-maturity securities. Additionally, any allowance amounts reversed or established as part of the transfer
arepresented on a gross basis in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
 
The accrual of interest is generally suspended on securities more than 90 days past due with respect to principal or interest. 
Whena security is placed on nonaccrual status, all previously accrued and uncollected interest is reversed against current income
andthus not included in the estimate of credit losses.
 
Credit losses and changes thereto, are established as an allowance for credit loss through a provision for credit loss expense.
 Losses are charged against the allowance when management believes the uncollectability of a security is confirmed or
wheneither of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met.

Certain debt securities in the Company’s investment portfolio were issued by a U.S. government entity or agency and are
eitherexplicitly or implicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government. The Company considers the long history of no credit losses on
thesesecurities indicates that the expectation of nonpayment of the amortized cost basis is zero, even if the U.S. government were
totechnically default. Further, certain municipal securities held by the Company have been pre-refunded and secured
bygovernment guaranteed treasuries. Therefore, for the aforementioned securities, the Company does not assess or record
expectedcredit losses due to the zero loss
assumption.
Impairment - Available -for-Sale
Securities

.

Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities are excluded from earnings and reported, net of tax, in other
comprehensiveincome. For available-for-sale securities that are in an unrealized loss position, the Company first assesses whether it intends
tosell, or whether it is more likely than not it will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. 
Ifeither of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met, the security’s amortized cost basis is written down to fair value
through income. For available-for-sale securities that do not meet the aforementioned criteria or have a zero loss assumption, 
theCompany evaluates whether the decline in fair value has resulted from credit losses or other factors. In making this
assessment,management considers the extent to which fair value is less than amortized cost, any changes to the rating of the security by
arating agency, and adverse conditions specifically related to the security, among other factors. If the assessment indicates that
acredit loss exists, the present value of cash flows to be collected from the security are compared to the amortized cost basis of
thesecurity. If the present value of cash flows expected to be collected is less than the amortized cost basis, a credit loss exists
andan allowance for credit losses is recorded through a provision for credit loss expense, limited by the amount that fair value is
lessthan the amortized cost basis. Any impairment that is not credit related is recognized in other comprehensive income.
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Allowance for Credit Losses - Held-to-Maturity
Securities.
Management measures expected credit losses on each individual held-to-maturity debt security that has not been deemed to
havea zero assumption. Each security that is not deemed to have zero credit losses is individually measured based on net
realizablevalue, or the difference between the discounted value of the expected cash flows, based on the original effective rate, and
therecorded amortized basis of the security. To the extent a shortfall is related to credit loss, an allowance for credit loss is
recordedthrough a provision for credit loss expense.  

Loans Held for Investment

Loans held for investment (“HFI”) are stated at amortized cost which includes the principal amount outstanding, net
premiumsand discounts, and net deferred loan fees and costs. Accrued interest receivable on loans is reported in other assets and is
notincluded in the amortized cost basis of loans. Interest income is accrued on the effective yield method based on
outstandingprincipal balances and includes loan late fees. Fees charged to originate loans and direct loan origination costs are deferred
andamortized over the life of the loan as a yield adjustment.
 
The Company defines loans as past due when one full payment is past due or a contractual maturity is over 30 days late. 
Theaccrual of interest is generally suspended on loans more than 90 days past due with respect to principal or interest. When a loan
isplaced on nonaccrual status, all previously accrued and uncollected interest is reversed against current income and thus a
policyelection has been made to not include in the estimate of credit losses. Interest income on nonaccrual loans is recognized when
theultimate collectability is no longer considered doubtful. Loans are returned to accrual status when the principal and
interestamounts contractually due are brought current or when future payments are reasonably assured.
 
Loan charge-offs on commercial and investor real estate loans are recorded when the facts and circumstances of the
individualloan confirm the loan is not fully collectible and the loss is reasonably quantifiable. Factors considered in making
thesedeterminations are the borrower’s and any guarantor’s ability and willingness to pay, the status of the account in bankruptcy
court(if applicable), and collateral value. Charge-off decisions for consumer loans are dictated by the Federal Financial
InstitutionsExamination Council’s Uniform Retail Credit Classification and Account Management Policy which establishes standards for
theclassification and treatment of consumer loans, which generally require charge-off after 120 days of
delinquency.
The Company has adopted comprehensive lending policies, underwriting standards and loan review procedures designed
tomaximize loan income within an acceptable level of risk. Reporting systems are used to monitor loan originations, loan
ratings,concentrations, loan delinquencies, nonperforming and potential problem loans, and other credit quality metrics. The
ongoingreview of loan portfolio quality and trends by Management and the Credit Risk Oversight Committee support the process
forestimating the allowance for credit
losses.

 

Allowance for Credit Losses

The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the loans’ amortized cost basis to present the
netamount expected to be collected on the loans. The allowance for credit losses is adjusted by a credit loss provision which
isreported in earnings, and reduced by the charge-off of loan amounts, net of recoveries. Loans are charged off against
theallowance when management believes the uncollectability of a loan balance is confirmed. Expected recoveries do not exceed
theaggregate of amounts previously charged-off and expected to be charged-off. Expected credit loss inherent in non-
cancellableoff-balance sheet credit exposures is provided for through the credit loss provision, but recorded separately in other
liabilities.
Management estimates the allowance balance using relevant available information, from internal and external sources, relating
topast events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Historical loan default and loss experience provides
thebasis for the estimation of expected credit losses. Adjustments to historical loss information incorporate management’s view
ofcurrent conditions and forecasts.
 
The methodology for estimating the amount of credit losses reported in the allowance for credit losses has two basic
components:first, an asset-specific component involving loans that do not share risk characteristics and the measurement of expected
creditlosses for such individual loans; and second, a pooled component for expected credit losses for pools of loans that share
similarrisk characteristics. 
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Loans That Do Not Share Risk Characteristics (Individually 
Analyzed)
Loans that do not share similar risk characteristics are evaluated on an individual basis. Loans deemed to be collateral
dependenthave differing risk characteristics and are individually analyzed to estimate the expected credit loss. A loan is
collateraldependent when the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty and repayment of the loan is dependent on the liquidation
andsale of the underlying collateral. For collateral dependent loans where foreclosure is probable, the expected credit loss
ismeasured based on the difference between the fair value of the collateral (less selling cost) and the amortized cost basis of
theasset. For collateral dependent loans where foreclosure is not probable, the Company has elected the practical expedient
allowedby Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 326-20 to measure
theexpected credit loss under the same approach as those loans where foreclosure is probable. For loans with balances greater
than$250,000, the fair value of the collateral is obtained through independent appraisal of the underlying collateral. For loans
withbalances less than $250,000, the Company has made a policy election to measure expected loss for these individual loans
utilizingloss rates for similar loan types. The aforementioned measurement criteria are applied for collateral dependent troubled
debtrestructurings. 

Loans That Share Similar Risk Characteristics (Pooled 
Loans)
The general steps in determining expected credit losses for the pooled loan component of the allowance are as
follows:

● Segment loans into pools according to similar risk
characteristics● Develop historical loss rates for each loan pool
segment● Incorporate the impact of
forecasts● Incorporate the impact of other qualitative factors
 ● Calculate and review pool specific allowance for credit loss
estimate

A discounted cash flow methodology is utilized to calculate expected cash flows for the life of each individual loan. 
Thediscounted present value of expected cash flow is then compared to the loan’s amortized cost basis to determine the credit
lossestimate. Individual loan results are aggregated at the pool level in determining total reserves for each loan pool.
 
The primary inputs used to calculate expected cash flows include historical loss rates which reflect probability of default
(“PD”)and loss given default (“LGD”), and prepayment rates. The historical look-back period is a key factor in the calculation of the
PDrate and is based on management’s assessment of current and forecasted conditions and may vary by loan pool. Loans subject
tothe Company’s risk rating process are further sub-segmented by risk rating in the calculation of PD rates. LGD rates
generallyreflect the historical average net loss rate by loan pool. Expected cash flows are further adjusted to incorporate the impact of
loanprepayments which will vary by loan segment and interest rate conditions. In general, prepayment rates are based on
observedprepayment rates occurring in the loan portfolio and consideration of forecasted interest
rates.
In developing loss rates, adjustments are made to incorporate the impact of forecasted conditions. Certain assumptions are
alsoapplied, including the length of the forecast and reversion periods. The forecast period is the period within which management
isable to make a reasonable and supportable assessment of future conditions. The reversion period is the period beyond
whichmanagement believes it can develop a reasonable and supportable forecast, and bridges the gap between the forecast period
andthe use of historical default and loss rates. The remainder period reflects the remaining life of the loan. The length of the
forecastand reversion periods are periodically evaluated and based on management’s assessment of current and forecasted conditions
andmay vary by loan pool. For purposes of developing a reasonable and supportable assessment of future conditions,
managementutilizes established industry and economic data points and sources, including the Federal Open Market Committee forecast,
withthe forecasted unemployment rate being a significant factor. PD rates for the forecast period will be adjusted accordingly
basedon management’s assessment of future conditions. PD rates for the remainder period will reflect the historical mean PD rate.
 Reversion period PD rates reflect the difference between forecast and remainder period PD rates calculated using a straight-
lineadjustment over the reversion period.
 
Loss rates are further adjusted to account for other risk factors that impact loan defaults and losses. These adjustments are
basedon management’s assessment of trends and conditions that impact credit risk and resulting credit losses, more specifically
internaland external factors that are independent of and not reflected in the quantitative loss rate calculations. Risk factors
managementconsiders in this assessment include trends in underwriting standards, nature/volume/terms of loan originations, past due
loans,loan review systems, collateral valuations, concentrations, legal/regulatory/political conditions, and the unforeseen impact
ofnatural disasters.
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Allowance for Credit Losses on Off-Balance Sheet Credit Exposures

The Company estimates expected credit losses over the contractual period in which it is exposed to credit risk through
acontractual obligation to extend credit, unless that obligation is unconditionally cancellable by the Company. The allowance
forcredit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures is adjusted as a provision for credit loss expense and is recorded in
otherliabilities. The estimate includes consideration of the likelihood that funding will occur and an estimate of expected credit
losseson commitments expected to be funded over its estimated life and applies the same estimated loss rate as determined for
currentoutstanding loan balances by segment. Off-balance sheet credit exposures are identified and classified in the same categories
asthe allowance for credit losses with similar risk characteristics that have been previously 
mentioned.
Mortgage Banking Activities

Mortgage Loans Held for Sale and Revenue
Recognition
Mortgage loans held for sale (“HFS”) are carried at fair value under the fair value option with changes in fair value recorded
inmortgage banking revenues on the Consolidated Statements of Income. The fair value of mortgage loans held for sale
committedto investors is calculated using observable market information such as the investor commitment, assignment of trade or
othermandatory delivery commitment prices. The Company bases loans committed to Federal National Mortgage
Association(“FNMA”), Government National Mortgage Association (“GNMA”), and Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation(“FHLMC”) (“Agency”) investors based on the Agency’s quoted mortgage backed security (“MBS”) prices. The fair value
ofmortgage loans held for sale not committed to investors is based on quoted best execution secondary market prices. If no
suchquoted price exists, the fair value is determined using quoted prices for a similar asset or assets, such as MBS prices, adjusted
forthe specific attributes of that loan, which would be used by other market 
participants.
Gains and losses from the sale of mortgage loans held for sale are recognized based upon the difference between the
salesproceeds and carrying value of the related loans upon sale and are recorded in mortgage banking revenues on the
ConsolidatedStatements of Income. Sales proceeds reflect the cash received from investors through the sale of the loan and servicing
releasepremium. If the related mortgage loan is sold with servicing retained, the MSR addition is recorded in mortgage banking
revenueson the Consolidated Statements of Income. Mortgage banking revenues also includes the unrealized gains and losses
associatedwith the changes in the fair value of mortgage loans held for sale, and the realized and unrealized gains and losses from
derivativeinstruments.

Mortgage loans held for sale are considered sold when the Company surrenders control over the financial assets. Control
isconsidered to have been surrendered when the transferred assets have been isolated from the Company, beyond the reach of
theCompany and its creditors; the purchaser obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that
right)to pledge or exchange the transferred assets; and the Company does not maintain effective control over the transferred
assetsthrough either an agreement that both entitles and obligates the Company to repurchase or redeem the transferred assets
beforetheir maturity or the ability to unilaterally cause the holder to return specific assets. The Company typically considers the
abovecriteria to have been met upon acceptance and receipt of sales proceeds from the
purchaser.
Government National Mortgage Association (“GNMA”) optional repurchase programs allow financial institutions to buy
backindividual delinquent mortgage loans that meet certain criteria from the securitized loan pool for which the institution
providesservicing. At the servicer’s option and without GNMA’s prior authorization, the servicer may repurchase such a delinquent
loanfor an amount equal to 100 percent of the remaining principal balance of the loan. Under FASB ASC Topic 860, “Transfers
andServicing,” this buy-back option is considered a conditional option until the delinquency criteria are met, at which time the
optionbecomes unconditional. When the Company is deemed to have regained effective control over these loans under
theunconditional buy-back option, the loans can no longer be reported as sold and must be brought back onto the
ConsolidatedStatement of Financial Condition, regardless of whether there is intent to exercise the buy-back option. These loans are
reportedin other assets with the offsetting liability being reported in other liabilities.
 
Derivative Instruments (IRLC/Forward
Commitments)
The Company holds and issues derivative financial instruments such as interest rate lock commitments (“IRLCs”) and
otherforward sale commitments. IRLCs are subject to price risk primarily related to fluctuations in market interest rates. To hedge
theinterest rate risk on certain IRLCs, the Company uses forward sale commitments, such as to-be-announced securities (“TBAs”)
ormandatory delivery commitments with investors. Management expects these forward sale commitments to experience changes
infair value opposite to the changes in fair value of the IRLCs thereby reducing earnings volatility. Forward sale commitments
arealso used to hedge the interest rate risk on mortgage loans held for sale that are not committed to investors and still subject
toprice risk. If the mandatory delivery commitments are not fulfilled, the Company pays a pair-off fee. Best effort forward sale
commitments are also executed with investors, whereby certain loans are locked with a borrower and simultaneously
committedto an investor at a fixed price. If the best effort IRLC does not fund, there is no obligation to fulfill the investor
commitment.
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The Company considers various factors and strategies in determining what portion of the IRLCs and uncommitted mortgage
loansheld for sale to economically hedge. All derivative instruments are recognized as other assets or other liabilities on
theConsolidated Statements of Financial Condition at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments
arerecognized in mortgage banking revenues on the Consolidated Statements of Income in the period in which they occur. Gains
andlosses resulting from the pairing-out of forward sale commitments are recognized in mortgage banking revenues on
theConsolidated Statements of Income. The Company accounts for all derivative instruments as free-standing derivative
instrumentsand does not designate any for hedge
accounting.
Mortgage Servicing Rights (“MSRs”) and Revenue Recognition
 
The Company sells residential mortgage loans in the secondary market and may retain the right to service the loans sold.
Uponsale, an MSR asset is capitalized, which represents the then current fair value of future net cash flows expected to be realized
forperforming servicing activities. As the Company has not elected to subsequently measure any class of servicing assets under
thefair value measurement method, the Company follows the amortization method. MSRs are amortized to noninterest
income(other income) in proportion to and over the period of estimated net servicing income, and are assessed for impairment at
eachreporting date. MSRs are carried at the lower of the initial capitalized amount, net of accumulated amortization, or estimated
fairvalue, and included in other assets, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. 

The Company periodically evaluates its MSRs asset for impairment. Impairment is assessed based on fair value at each
reportingdate using estimated prepayment speeds of the underlying mortgage loans serviced and stratifications based on the
riskcharacteristics of the underlying loans (predominantly loan type and note interest rate). As mortgage interest rates
fall,prepayment speeds are usually faster and the value of the MSRs asset generally decreases, requiring additional valuation reserve.
 Conversely, as mortgage interest rates rise, prepayment speeds are usually slower and the value of the MSRs asset
generallyincreases, requiring less valuation reserve. A valuation allowance is established, through a charge to earnings, to the extent
theamortized cost of the MSRs exceeds the estimated fair value by stratification. If it is later determined that all or a portion of
thetemporary impairment no longer exists for a stratification, the valuation is reduced through a recovery to earnings. An other-
than-temporary impairment (i.e., recoverability is considered remote when considering interest rates and loan pay off activity)
isrecognized as a write-down of the MSRs asset and the related valuation allowance (to the extent a valuation allowance
isavailable) and then against earnings. A direct write-down permanently reduces the carrying value of the MSRs asset
andvaluation allowance, precluding subsequent recoveries.

Derivative/Hedging Activities

At the inception of a derivative contract, the Company designates the derivative as one of three types based on the
Company’sintentions and belief as to the likely effectiveness as a hedge. These three types are (1) a hedge of the fair value of a
recognizedasset or liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment (“fair value hedge”), (2) a hedge of a forecasted transaction or
thevariability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability (“cash flow hedge”), or (3) an
instrumentwith no hedging designation (“standalone derivative”). For a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the derivative, as well as
theoffsetting loss or gain on the hedged item, are recognized in current earnings as fair values change. For a cash flow hedge,
thegain or loss on the derivative is reported in other comprehensive income and is reclassified into earnings in the same
periodsduring which the hedged transaction affects earnings. For both types of hedges, changes in the fair value of derivatives that
arenot highly effective in hedging the changes in fair value or expected cash flows of the hedged item are recognized immediately
incurrent earnings. Net cash settlements on derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting are recorded in interest income or
interestexpense, based on the item being hedged. Net cash settlements on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
arereported in non-interest income. Cash flows on hedges are classified in the cash flow statement the same as the cash flows of the
items being hedged.

The Company formally documents the relationship between derivatives and hedged items, as well as the risk-
managementobjective and the strategy for undertaking hedge transactions at the inception of the hedging relationship. This
documentationincludes linking fair value or cash flow hedges to specific assets and liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of
FinancialCondition or to specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions. The Company also formally assesses, both at the
hedge’sinception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivative instruments that are used are highly effective in offsetting changes
infair values or cash flows of the hedged items. The Company discontinues hedge accounting when it determines that the
derivativeis no longer effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item, the derivative is settled
orterminates, a hedged forecasted transaction is no longer probable, a hedged firm commitment is no longer firm, or treatment of
thederivative as a hedge is no longer appropriate or intended. When hedge accounting is discontinued, subsequent changes in fair
value of the derivative are recorded as non-interest income. When a fair value hedge is discontinued, the hedged asset or
liabilityis no longer adjusted for changes in fair value and the existing basis adjustment is amortized or accreted over the remaining life
ofthe asset or liability. When a cash flow hedge is discontinued but the hedged cash flows or forecasted transactions are 
stillexpected to occur, gains or losses that were accumulated in other comprehensive income are amortized into earnings over
thesame periods, in which the hedged transactions will affect
earnings.
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Long-Lived Assets

Premises and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, computed on the straight-line method over the
estimateduseful lives for each type of asset with premises being depreciated over a range
of

10 to 40 years, and equipment being
depreciated over a range of 3 to 10 years. Additions, renovations and leasehold improvements to premises are capitalized

anddepreciated over the lesser of the useful life or the remaining lease term. Repairs and maintenance are charged to
noninterestexpense as incurred.

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment if circumstances suggest that their carrying value may not be recoverable,
bycomparing the carrying value to estimated undiscounted cash flows. If the asset is deemed impaired, an impairment charge
isrecorded equal to the carrying value less the fair value. See Note 6 – Premises and Equipment for additional
information.
Leases

The Company has entered into various operating leases, primarily for banking offices. Generally, these leases have initial 
leaseterms from one to ten years. Many of the leases have one or more lease renewal options. The exercise of lease renewal options
isat the Company’s sole discretion. The Company does not consider exercise of any lease renewal options reasonably certain.
 Certain of the lease contain early termination options. No renewal options or early termination options have been included in
thecalculation of the operating right-of-use assets or operating lease liabilities. Certain of the lease agreements provide for
periodicadjustments to rental payments for inflation. At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes a lease liability
atthe present value of the lease payments not yet paid, discounted using the discount rate for the lease or the
Company’sincremental borrowing rate. As the majority of the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses
itsincremental borrowing rate at the commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The
incrementalborrowing rate is based on the term of the lease. At the commencement date, the Company also recognizes a right-of-use
assetmeasured at (i) the initial measurement of the lease liability; (ii) any lease payments made to the lessor at or before
thecommencement date less any lease incentives received; and (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee. Leases with
aninitial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition. For these short-
termleases, lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company has no leases classified as
financeleases. See Note 7 – Leases for additional
information.
Bank Owned Life
Insurance 
The Company, through its subsidiary bank, has purchased life insurance policies on certain key officers. Bank owned
lifeinsurance is recorded at the amount that can be realized under the insurance contract at the statement of financial condition
date,which is the cash surrender value adjusted for other charges or other amounts due that are probable at
settlement.
Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of businesses acquired over the fair value of the net assets acquired. In
accordancewith FASB ASC Topic 350, the Company determined it has one goodwill reporting unit. Goodwill is tested for
impairmentannually during the fourth quarter or on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely
thannot reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying value. Other intangible assets relate to customer
intangiblespurchased as part of a business acquisition. Intangible assets are tested for impairment at least annually or whenever changes
incircumstances indicate the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable from future undiscounted cash flows. See Note
8– Goodwill and Other Intangibles for additional
information

. 

Other Real Estate
Owned
Assets acquired through, or in lieu of, loan foreclosure are held for sale and are initially recorded at the lower of cost or fair
valueless estimated selling costs, establishing a new cost basis. Subsequent to foreclosure, valuations are periodically performed
bymanagement and the assets are carried at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. The valuation of
foreclosedassets is subjective in nature and may be adjusted in the future because of changes in economic conditions. Revenue
andexpenses from operations and changes in value are included in noninterest 
expense.

 

Loss Contingencies

Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business are recorded as liabilities
whenthe likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. See Note 21 – Commitments
andContingencies for additional information.
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Noncontrolling
Interest
To the extent the Company’s interest in a consolidated entity represents less than 100% of the entity’s equity, the
Companyrecognizes noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries. In the case of the CCHL acquisition (previously noted under
BusinessCombination), the noncontrolling interest represents equity which is redeemable or convertible for cash at the option of the
equityholder and is classified within temporary equity in the mezzanine section of the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.
 The call/put option is redeemable at the option of either CCBG (call) or the noncontrolling interest holder (put) on or
afterJanuary 1, 2025, and therefore, not entirely within CCBG’s control. The subsidiary’s net income or loss and related dividends
areallocated to CCBG and the noncontrolling interest holder based on their relative ownership percentages. The
noncontrollinginterest carrying value is adjusted on a quarterly basis to the higher of the carrying value or current redemption value, at
theStatement of Financial Condition date, through a corresponding adjustment to retained earnings. The redemption value
iscalculated quarterly and is based on the higher of a predetermined book value or pre-tax earnings multiple. To the extent the
redemption value exceeds the fair value of the noncontrolling interest, the Company’s earnings per share attributable to
commonshareowners is adjusted by that amount. The Company uses an independent valuation expert to assist in estimating the fair
valueof the noncontrolling interest using: 1) the discounted cash flow methodology under the income approach, and (2) the
guidelinepublic company methodology under the market approach. The estimated fair value is derived from equally weighting the result
ofeach of the two methodologies. The estimation of the fair value includes significant assumptions concerning: (1) projected
loanvolumes; (2) projected pre-tax profit margins; (3) tax rates and (4) discount
rates.
Income
Taxes
Income tax expense is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the change in deferred tax assets
andliabilities (excluding deferred tax assets and liabilities related to business combinations or components of other
comprehensiveincome). Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the expected future tax amounts for the temporary differences between
carryingamounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities, computed using enacted tax rates. A valuation allowance, if needed,
reducesdeferred tax assets to the expected amount most likely to be realized. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon
thegeneration of a sufficient level of future taxable income and recoverable taxes paid in prior years. The income tax effects
relatedto settlements of share-based payment awards are reported in earnings as an increase or decrease in income tax expense.
 
The Company files a consolidated federal income tax return and a separate federal tax return for CCHL. Each subsidiary files
aseparate state income tax
return.
Earnings Per Common
Share
Basic earnings per common share is based on net income divided by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstandingduring the period excluding non-vested stock. Diluted earnings per common share include the dilutive effect of stock options
andnon-vested stock awards granted using the treasury stock method. A reconciliation of the weighted-average shares used
incalculating basic earnings per common share and the weighted average common shares used in calculating diluted earnings
percommon share for the reported periods is provided in Note 16 — Earnings Per
Share.
Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income includes all changes in shareowners’ equity during a period, except those resulting from transactions
withshareowners. Besides net income, other components of the Company’s comprehensive income include the after tax effect
ofchanges in the net unrealized gain/loss on securities available-for-sale, unrealized gain/loss on cash flow derivatives, and
changesin the funded status of defined benefit and supplemental executive retirement plans. Comprehensive income is reported in
theaccompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and Changes in Shareowners’
Equity.
Stock Based Compensation

Compensation cost is recognized for share-based awards issued to employees, based on the fair value of these awards at the
dateof grant. Compensation cost is recognized over the requisite service period, generally defined as the vesting period. The
marketprice of the Company’s common stock at the date of the grant is used for restricted stock awards. For stock purchase plan
awards,a Black-Scholes model is utilized to estimate the fair value of the award. The impact of forfeitures of share-based awards
oncompensation expense is recognized as forfeitures occur.
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Revenue
Recognition
FASB ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), establishes principles for reporting
informationabout the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the entity’s contracts to provide goods 
orservices to customers. The core principle requires an entity to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services
tocustomers in an amount that reflects the consideration that it expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for those goods
orservices recognized as performance obligations are satisfied.

The majority of the Company’s revenue -generating transactions are not subject to ASC 606, including revenue generated 
fromfinancial instruments, such as our loans, letters of credit, and investment securities, and revenue related to the sale of
residentialmortgages in the secondary market, as these activities are subject to other GAAP discussed elsewhere within our disclosures. 
TheCompany recognizes revenue from these activities as it is earned based on contractual terms, as transactions occur, or as
servicesare provided and collectability is reasonably assured. Descriptions of the major revenue-generating activities that are within
thescope of ASC 606, which are presented in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income as components of non-
interestincome are as follows:

Deposit Fees - these represent general service fees for monthly account maintenance and activity- or transaction-based fees
andconsist of transaction-based revenue, time-based revenue (service period), item-based revenue or some other individual
attribute-based revenue. Revenue is recognized when the Company’s performance obligation is completed which is generally monthly
foraccount maintenance services or when a transaction has been completed. Payment for such performance obligations are
generallyreceived at the time the performance obligations are
satisfied.
Wealth Management - trust fees and retail brokerage fees – trust fees represent monthly fees due from wealth management
clientsas consideration for managing the client’s assets. Trust services include custody of assets, investment management, fees for
trustservices and similar fiduciary activities. Revenue is recognized when the Company’s performance obligation is completed
eachmonth or quarter, which is the time that payment is received. Also, retail brokerage fees are received from a third-party
broker-dealer, for which the Company acts as an agent, as part of a revenue-sharing agreement for fees earned from customers that
arereferred to the third party. These fees are for transactional and advisory services and are paid by the third party on a
monthlybasis and recognized ratably throughout the quarter as the Company’s performance obligation is satisfied.

Bank Card Fees – bank card related fees primarily includes interchange income from client use of consumer and business
debitcards. Interchange income is a fee paid by a merchant bank to the card-issuing bank through the interchange network.
 Interchange fees are set by the credit card associations and are based on cardholder purchase volumes. The Company
recordsinterchange income as transactions
occur.
Gains and Losses from the Sale of Bank Owned Property – the performance obligation in the sale of other real estate
ownedtypically will be the delivery of control over the property to the buyer. If the Company is not providing the financing of the
sale,the transaction price is typically identified in the purchase and sale agreement. However, if the Company provides
sellerfinancing, the Company must determine a transaction price, depending on if the sale contract is at market terms and taking
intoaccount the credit risk inherent in the arrangement.
 
Insurance Commissions – insurance commissions recorded by the Company are received from various insurance carriers based
oncontractual agreements to sell policies to customers on behalf of the carriers. The performance obligation for the Company is
tosell life and health insurance policies to customers. This performance obligation is met when a new policy is sold (effective 
date)or when an existing policy renews. New policies and renewals generally have a one-year term. In the agreements with
theinsurance carriers, a commission rate is agreed upon. The commission is recognized at the time of the sale of the policy
(effectivedate) or when a policy renews. Insurance commissions are recorded within other noninterest income.
 
Other non-interest income primarily includes items such as mortgage banking fees (gains from the sale of residential
mortgageloans held for sale), bank-owned life insurance, and safe deposit box fees, none of which are subject to the requirements of
ASC606.

The Company has made no significant judgments in applying the revenue guidance prescribed in ASC 606 that affects
thedetermination of the amount and timing of revenue from the above-described contracts with
clients.
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Accounting Standard
Updates
ASU 2022-02, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage 
Disclosures”.

The
amendments eliminate the accounting guidance for troubled debt restructurings by creditors that have adopted the CECL
modeland enhance the disclosure requirements for loan modifications and restructurings made with borrowers experiencing
financialdifficulty. In addition, the amendments require disclosure of current-period gross write-offs for financing receivables and
netinvestment in leases by year of origination in the vintage disclosures. The amendments in this update are for fiscal
yearsbeginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company believes the adoption
ofthis guidance will not have a material impact on its consolidated financial 
statements.
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Note 2
INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Investment Portfolio
Composition

. The following tables summarize the amortized cost and related fair value of
investmentsecurities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity, the corresponding amounts of gross unrealized gains and losses,

andallowance for credit
losses.

Available for Sale
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Allowance for Fair

(Dollars in Thousands) Cost Gains Losses Credit Losses Value
December 31,
2022U.S. Government Treasury $ 23,977 $ 1 $ 1,928 $ - $ 22,050
U.S. Government
Agency

198,888 27 12,863 - 186,052
States and Political
Subdivisions

47,197 - 6,855 (13) 40,329
Mortgage-Backed Securities (1) 80,829 2 11,426 - 69,405
Corporate Debt
Securities

97,119 19 8,874 (28) 88,236
Other Securities (2) 7,222 - - - 7,222
Total $ 455,232 $ 49 $ 41,946 $ (41) $ 413,294

December 31,
2021U.S. Government Treasury $ 190,409 $ 65 $ 2,606 $ - $ 187,868
U.S. Government
Agency

238,490 1,229 2,141 - 237,578
States and Political
Subdivisions

47,762 44 811 (15) 46,980
Mortgage-Backed Securities (1) 89,440 27 598 - 88,869
Corporate Debt
Securities

87,537 10 1,304 (21) 86,222
Other Securities (2) 7,094 - - - 7,094
Total $ 660,732 $ 1,375 $ 7,460 $ (36) $ 654,611

Held to Maturity
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

(Dollars in Thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value
December 31,
2022U.S. Government Treasury $ 457,374 $ - $ 25,641 $ 431,733
Mortgage-Backed Securities 203,370 8 22,410 180,968
Total $ 660,744 $ 8 $ 48,051 $ 612,701

December 31,
2021U.S. Government Treasury $ 115,499 $ - $ 1,622 $ 113,877
Mortgage-Backed Securities 224,102 2,819 1,099 225,822
Total $ 339,601 $ 2,819 $ 2,721 $ 339,699

(1) Comprised of residential mortgage-backed securities.
(2) Includes Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank recorded at cost of $ 2.1 million and $ 5.1 million,

respectively, at December 31, 2022 and of
$

2.0 million and $ 5.1 million, respectively, at December 31,
2021.

At December 31, 2022, and 2021, the investment portfolio had
$

0.01 million and $ 0.9 million, respectively, in equity securities.
 These securities do not have a readily determinable fair value and were not credit impaired.

 
Securities with an amortized cost of
$

656.1 million and $ 463.8 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, 
werepledged to secure public deposits and for other

purposes.
At December 31, 2022 and 2021, there
were

no holdings of securities of any one issuer, other than the U.S. Government and
itsagencies, in an amount greater than 10% of shareowners’

equity.
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The Bank, as a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (“FHLB”), is required to own capital stock in the FHLB
basedgenerally upon the balances of residential and commercial real estate loans, and FHLB advances. FHLB stock which is
includedin other securities is pledged to secure FHLB advances. No ready market exists for this stock, and it has no quoted fair
value;however, redemption of this stock has historically been at par value. As a member of the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta,
theBank is required to maintain stock in the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta based on a specified ratio relative to the Bank’s capital.
 Federal Reserve Bank stock is carried at
cost.
During the third quarter of 2022, the Company transferred certain securities from the AFS to HTM classification. Transfers
aremade at fair value on the date of the transfer. 
The

33 securities had an amortized cost basis and fair value of
$

168.4 million and
$159.0 million, respectively at the time of the transfer. The net unamortized, unrealized loss on the transferred securities

includedin accumulated other comprehensive loss in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition at December
31,2022 totaled
$

7.9 million. This amount will be amortized out of accumulated other comprehensive loss over the remaining life
ofthe underlying securities as an adjustment of the yield on those

securities.
Investment
Sales

. There were no significant sales of investment securities for each of the last three fiscal
years.

Maturity Distribution . The following table shows the Company’s AFS and HTM investment securities maturity
distributionbased on contractual maturity at December 31, 2022. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities

becauseborrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations. Mortgage-backed securities and certain amortizing U.S.
governmentagency securities are shown separately since they are not due at a certain maturity date. Equity securities do not have
acontractual maturity date.

Available for Sale Held to Maturity
Amortized  Fair  Amortized  Fair

(Dollars in Thousands) Cost Value Cost Value
Due in one year or
less

$ 47,408  $ 44,255  $ -  $ -
Due after one through five
years

 153,009   140,296   457,374   431,733
Due after five through ten
years

51,785 42,566 - -
Mortgage-Backed Securities  80,829   69,405   203,370   180,968
U.S. Government
Agency

114,979 109,550 - -
Other Securities  7,222   7,222   -   -
Total $ 455,232  $ 413,294  $ 660,744  $ 612,701

Unrealized Losses . The following table summarizes the investment securities with unrealized losses at December 31,
aggregatedby major security type and length of time in a continuous unrealized loss

position:
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Less Than 12 Months Greater Than 12 Months Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

(Dollars in Thousands) Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
December 31,
2022Available for Sale
U.S. Government Treasury $ 983  $ -  $ 19,189  $ 1,928  $ 20,172  $ 1,928
U.S. Government
Agency

63,112 2,572 113,004 10,291 176,116 12,863
States and Political
Subdivisions

1,425  2  38,760  6,853  40,185  6,855
Mortgage-Backed Securities  6,594   959   60,458   10,467   67,052   11,426
Corporate Debt
Securities

26,959 878 58,601 7,996 85,560 8,874
Total 99,073  4,411  290,012  37,535  389,085  41,946
 
Held to Maturity
U.S. Government Treasury  177,552   11,018   254,181   14,623   431,733   25,641
Mortgage-Backed Securities  88,723 6,814 91,462 15,596 180,185 22,410
Total $ 266,275  $ 17,832  $ 345,643  $ 30,219  $ 611,918  $ 48,051

December 31,
2021Available for Sale 
U.S. Government Treasury $ 172,206  $ 2,606  $ -  $ -  $ 172,206  $ 2,606
U.S. Government
Agency

127,484 1,786 17,986 355 145,470 2,141
States and Political
Subdivisions

 42,122   811   -   -   42,122   811
Mortgage-Backed Securities 81,832 598 - - 81,832 598
Equity Securities 69,354 1,304 - - 69,354 1,304
Total 492,998  7,105  17,986  355  510,984  7,460
 
Held to Maturity
U.S. Government Treasury  113,877   1,622   -   -   113,877   1,622
Mortgage-Backed Securities 115,015 1,099 - - 115,015 1,099
Total $ 228,892  $ 2,721  $ -  $ -  $ 228,892  $ 2,721

At December 31, 2022, there
were

928 positions (combined AFS and HTM securities) with unrealized losses totaling 
$

90.0
million. At December 31, 2021 there
were

401 positions (combined AFS and HTM securities) with unrealized losses
totaling$10.2 million. For

2022,
87 of these of these positions were U.S. Treasury bonds and carry the full faith and credit of the U.S.

Government. 714 of these positions were U.S. government agency and mortgage-backed securities issued by U.S.
governmentsponsored entities. We believe the long history of no credit losses on government securities indicates that the expectation

ofnonpayment of the amortized cost basis is zero. The remaining 127 positions (municipal securities and corporate bonds) have
acredit component. At December 31, 2022, all collateralized mortgage obligation securities (“CMO”), MBS, Small 

BusinessAdministration securities (“SBA”), U.S. Agency, and U.S. Treasury bonds held were AAA rated. At December 31,
2022,corporate debt securities had an allowance for credit losses of
$

28,000 and municipal securities had an allowance
$

13,000. None
of the securities held by the Company were past due or in nonaccrual status at December 31,
2022.
Credit Quality Indicators
 
The Company monitors the credit quality of its investment securities through various risk management procedures, including
themonitoring of credit ratings. A large portion of the debt securities in the Company’s investment portfolio were issued by a
U.S.government entity or agency and are either explicitly or implicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government. The Company
believesthe long history of no credit losses on these securities indicates that the expectation of nonpayment of the amortized cost basis
iszero, even if the U.S. government were to technically default. Further, certain municipal securities held by the Company
havebeen pre-refunded and secured by government guaranteed treasuries. Therefore, for the aforementioned securities, the
Companydoes not assess or record expected credit losses due to the zero loss assumption. The Company monitors the credit quality of
itsmunicipal and corporate securities portfolio via credit ratings which are updated on a quarterly basis. On a quarterly
basis,municipal and corporate securities in an unrealized loss position are evaluated to determine if the loss is attributable to
creditrelated factors and if an allowance for credit loss is
needed.
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Note 3
LOANS HELD FOR INVESTMENT AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT
LOSSES
Loan Portfolio
Composition

. The composition of the HFI loan portfolio at December 31 was as
follows:

(As Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021
Commercial, Financial and
Agricultural

$ 247,362  $ 223,086
Real Estate – Construction  234,519   174,394
Real Estate – Commercial Mortgage  782,557   663,550
Real Estate –
Residential

(1)  749,513   360,021
Real Estate – Home Equity  208,217   187,821
Consumer (2)  325,517   322,593

Loans Held for Investment, Net of Unearned
Income

$ 2,547,685  $ 1,931,465

(1) Includes loans in process with outstanding balances of
$

6.1 million and $ 13.6 million for 2022 and 2021,
respectively.(2) Includes overdraft balances of

$
1.1 million and $ 1.1 million for December 31, 2022 and 2021,

respectively.
Net deferred costs, which include premiums on purchased loans, included in loans were
$

5.1 million at December 31, 2022
and$3.9 million at December 31, 2021.

 
Accrued interest receivable on loans which is excluded from amortized cost totaled
$

8.0 million at December 31, 2022 and
$

5.3
million at December 31, 2021, and is reported separately in Other Assets.
 
The Company has pledged a floating lien on certain 1-4 family residential mortgage loans, commercial real estate mortgage
loans,and home equity loans to support available borrowing capacity at the FHLB and has pledged a blanket floating lien on
allconsumer loans, commercial loans, and construction loans to support available borrowing capacity at the Federal Reserve Bank
ofAtlanta. 

Loan Purchases and
Sales

. The Company will purchase newly originated 1-4 family real estate secured adjustable rate
loansfrom CCHL, a related party effective on March 1, 2020 (see Note 1 – Significant Accounting Policies). These loan

purchasestotaled $421.7 million and $ 97.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and were not
creditimpaired. In addition, the Company purchased commercial real estate loans that were not credit impaired from a third

partytotaling $15.0 million and $ 17.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
 

The Company transferred
$

9.4 million of home equity loans from HFI to HFS during 2021. There
were

no transfers during
2022.

Allowance for Credit Losses . The methodology for estimating the amount of credit losses reported in the allowance for
creditlosses (“ACL”) has two basic components: first, an asset-specific component involving loans that do not share risk

characteristicsand the measurement of expected credit losses for such individual loans; and second, a pooled component for expected
creditlosses for pools of loans that share similar risk characteristics. This methodology is discussed further in Note 1 –
SignificantAccounting Policies.
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The following table details the activity in the allowance for credit losses by portfolio segment for the years ended December 31.
 Allocation of a portion of the allowance to one category of loans does not preclude its availability to absorb losses in
othercategories.

Commercial, Real Estate
Financial, Real Estate Commercial Real Estate Real Estate

(Dollars in Thousands) Agricultural Construction Mortgage Residential Home Equity Consumer Total
2022 (As Restated)
Beginning Balance $ 2,191 $ 3,302 $ 5,810 $ 4,129 $ 2,296 $ 3,878 $ 21,606
 Provision for Credit Losses (As
Restated)

316 (658) (746) 6,328 (422) 2,579 7,397

 Charge-Offs (1,308) - (355) - (193) (6,050) (7,906)
 Recoveries 307 10 106 284 183 3,081 3,971
 Net (Charge-Offs) Recoveries (1,001) 10 (249) 284 (10) (2,969) (3,935)
Ending Balance (As Restated) $ 1,506 $ 2,654 $ 4,815 $ 10,741 $ 1,864 $ 3,488 $ 25,068

2021
Beginning Balance $ 2,204 $ 2,479 $ 7,029 $ 5,440 $ 3,111 $ 3,553 $ 23,816
 Provision for Credit Losses (227) 813 (1,679) (1,956) (1,125) 1,332 (2,842)
 Charge-Offs (239) - (405) (108) (103) (3,972) (4,827)
 Recoveries 453 10 865 753 413 2,965 5,459
 Net (Charge-Offs) Recoveries 214 10 460 645 310 (1,007) 632
Ending Balance $ 2,191 $ 3,302 $ 5,810 $ 4,129 $ 2,296 $ 3,878 $ 21,606

2020
Beginning Balance $ 1,675 $ 370 $ 3,416 $ 3,128 $ 2,224 $ 3,092 $ 13,905
 Impact of Adopting ASC 326 488 302 1,458 1,243 374 (596) 3,269
 Provision for Credit Losses 578 1,757 1,865 940 486 3,409 9,035
 Charge-Offs (789) - (28) (150) (151) (5,042) (6,160)
 Recoveries 252 50 318 279 178 2,690 3,767
 Net (Charge-Offs) Recoveries (537) 50 290 129 27 (2,352) (2,393)
Ending Balance $ 2,204 $ 2,479 $ 7,029 $ 5,440 $ 3,111 $ 3,553 $ 23,816

The $3.5 million (as restated) increase in the allowance for credit losses in 2022 reflected incremental allowance related to
loangrowth, a higher projected rate of unemployment and its effect on rates of default, and slower prepayment speeds (due to

higherinterest rates). The $ 2.8 million decrease in the allowance for credit losses in 2021 reflected improvements in
forecastedeconomic conditions, favorable loan migration and net recoveries totaling

$
0.6 million, partially offset by incremental

reservesneeded for loan growth (excluding Small Business Administration Paycheck Protection Program). Four unemployment
rateforecast scenarios continue to be utilized to estimate probability of default and are weighted based on management’s estimate 
ofprobability. See Note 1 – Significant accounting policies for more on the calculation of the provision for credit losses. See
Note21 – Commitments and Contingencies for information on the provision for credit losses related to off-balance sheet
commitments.
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Loan Portfolio Aging.
 

A loan is defined as a past due loan when one full payment is past due or a contractual maturity is over
30days past due

(“DPD”).
The following table presents the aging of the amortized cost basis in accruing past due loans by class of loans at December
31,

30-59 60-89 90 +
 

Total Total Nonaccrual Total
(Dollars in Thousands) DPD DPD DPD Past

Due
Current Loans Loans

2022 (As Restated)
Commercial, Financial and
Agricultural

$ 109 $ 126 $ - $ 235 $ 247,086 $ 41 $ 247,362
Real Estate – Construction  359 - - 359 234,143 17 234,519
Real Estate – Commercial Mortgage  158 149 - 307 781,605 645 782,557
Real Estate –
Residential

(1)  845 530 - 1,375 747,899 239 749,513
Real Estate – Home Equity  - 35 - 35 207,411 771 208,217
Consumer  3,666 1,852 - 5,518 319,415 584 325,517
Total $ 5,137 $ 2,692 $ - $ 7,829 $ 2,537,559 $ 2,297 $ 2,547,685

2021
Commercial, Financial and
Agricultural

$ 100 $ 23 $ - $ 123 $ 222,873 $ 90 $ 223,086
Real Estate – Construction  - - - - 174,394 - 174,394
Real Estate – Commercial Mortgage  151 - - 151 662,795 604 663,550
Real Estate –
Residential

 365 151 - 516 357,408 2,097 360,021
Real Estate – Home Equity  210 - - 210 186,292 1,319 187,821
Consumer  1,964 636 - 2,600 319,781 212 322,593
Total $ 2,790 $ 810 $ - $ 3,600 $ 1,923,543 $ 4,322 $ 1,931,465

Nonaccrual Loans . Loans are generally placed on nonaccrual status if principal or interest payments become 90 days past
dueand/or management deems the collectability of the principal and/or interest to be doubtful. Loans are returned to accrual

statuswhen the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current or when future payments are reasonably assured.
 The Company did not recognize a significant amount of interest income on nonaccrual loans for the years ended December
31,2022 and 2021.
 
The following table presents the amortized cost basis of loans in nonaccrual status and loans past due over 90 days and still
onaccrual by class of loans.

2022
 

2021
Nonaccrual Nonaccrual 90 +

Days
Nonaccrual Nonaccrual 90 +

DaysWith No With Still With No With Still
(Dollars in Thousands) ACL

 
ACL

 
Accruing ACL

 
ACL

 
Accruing

Commercial, Financial and
Agricultural

$ - $ 41 $ - $ 67 $ 23 $ -
Real Estate – Construction  - 17 - - - -
Real Estate – Commercial Mortgage  389 256 - - 604 -
Real Estate –
Residential

 - 239 - 928 1,169 -
Real Estate – Home Equity  - 771 - 463 856 -
Consumer  - 584 - - 212 -
Total Nonaccrual Loans $ 389 $ 1,908 $ - $ 1,458 $ 2,864 $ -
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Collateral Dependent
Loans

. The following table presents the amortized cost basis of collateral dependent loans at December
31:

2022 2021

Real Estate Non Real
Estate

Real Estate Non Real
Estate(Dollars in Thousands) Secured Secured Secured Secured

Commercial, Financial and
Agricultural

$ - $ - $ - $ 67
Real Estate – Construction - - - -
Real Estate – Commercial Mortgage 389 - 455 -
Real Estate –
Residential

160 - 1,645 -
Real Estate – Home Equity 130 - 649 -
Consumer 21 - - -

Total $ 700 $ - $ 2,749 $ 67

A loan is collateral dependent when the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty and repayment of the loan is dependent
onthe sale or operation of the underlying collateral.
 
The Bank’s collateral dependent loan portfolio is comprised primarily of real estate secured loans, collateralized by
eitherresidential or commercial collateral types. The loans are carried at fair value based on current values determined by
eitherindependent appraisals or internal evaluations, adjusted for selling costs or other amounts to be deducted when
estimatingexpected net sales proceeds.
 
Residential Real Estate Loans In Process of
Foreclosure

. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had
$

0.6 million and
$0.9 million, respectively, in 1-4 family residential real estate loans for which formal foreclosure proceedings were in

process.
Troubled Debt Restructurings
(“TDRs”)

. TDRs are loans in which the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty and
theCompany has granted an economic concession to the borrower that it would not otherwise consider. In these instances, as part

ofa work-out alternative, the Company will make concessions including the extension of the loan term, a principal moratorium,
areduction in the interest rate, or a combination thereof. The impact of the TDR modifications and defaults are factored into
theallowance for credit losses on a loan-by-loan basis. Thus, specific reserves are established based upon the results of either
adiscounted cash flow analysis or the underlying collateral value, if the loan is deemed to be collateral dependent. A
TDRclassification can be removed if the borrower’s financial condition improves such that the borrower is no longer in
financialdifficulty, the loan has not had any forgiveness of principal or interest, and the loan is subsequently refinanced or restructured
atmarket terms and qualifies as a new loan.

At December 31, 2022, the Company had
$

6.1 million in TDRs, of which
$

5.9 million were performing in accordance with
themodified terms. At December 31, 2021, the Company had

$
8.0 million in TDRs, of which

$
7.6 million were performing

inaccordance with modified terms. For TDRs, the Company estimated
$

0.3 million and $ 0.3 million of credit loss reserves
atDecember 31, 2022 and 2021,

respectively.
The modifications made to TDRs involved either an extension of the loan term, a principal moratorium, a reduction in the
interestrate, or a combination thereof. For the year ended December 31, 2022, there
were

two loans modified with a recorded
investmentof $0.1 million. For the year ended December 31, 2021, there

were
three loans modified with a recorded investment of

$
0.6

million. For the year ended December 31, 2020, there
were

three loans modified with a recorded investment of
$

0.2 million. 
Thefinancial impact of these modifications was not material.

 
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, there
were

no loans classified as TDRs, for which there was a payment
defaultand the loans were modified within the 12 months prior to

default.
Credit Risk
Management

. The Company has adopted comprehensive lending policies, underwriting standards and loan
reviewprocedures designed to maximize loan income within an acceptable level of risk. Management and the Board of Directors of

theCompany (the “Board”) review and approve these policies and procedures on a regular basis (at least annually).
 
Reporting systems are used to monitor loan originations, loan quality, concentrations of credit, loan delinquencies
andnonperforming loans and potential problem loans. Management and the Credit Risk Oversight Committee periodically
reviewour lines of business to monitor asset quality trends and the appropriateness of credit policies. In addition, total borrower
exposure limits are established and concentration risk is monitored. As part of this process, the overall composition of the
loanportfolio is reviewed to gauge diversification of risk, client concentrations, industry group, loan type, geographic area, or
otherrelevant classifications of loans. Specific segments of the loan portfolio are monitored and reported to the Board on a
quarterlybasis and have strategic plans in place to supplement Board-approved credit policies governing exposure limits and
underwritingstandards. Detailed below are the types of loans within the Company’s loan portfolio and risk characteristics unique to each.
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Commercial, Financial, and Agricultural – Loans in this category are primarily made based on identified cash flows of
theborrower with consideration given to underlying collateral and personal or other guarantees. Lending policy establishes
debtservice coverage ratio limits that require a borrower’s cash flow to be sufficient to cover principal and interest payments on
allnew and existing debt. The majority of these loans are secured by the assets being financed or other business assets such
asaccounts receivable, inventory, or equipment. Collateral values are determined based upon third-party appraisals and evaluations.
 Loan to value ratios at origination are governed by established policy guidelines.
 
Real Estate Construction – Loans in this category consist of short-term construction loans, revolving and non-revolving
creditlines and construction/permanent loans made to individuals and investors to finance the acquisition, development, construction
orrehabilitation of real property. These loans are primarily made based on identified cash flows of the borrower or project
andgenerally secured by the property being financed, including 1-4 family residential properties and commercial properties that
areeither owner-occupied or investment in nature. These properties may include either vacant or improved property. 
Constructionloans are generally based upon estimates of costs and value associated with the completed project. Collateral values
aredetermined based upon third-party appraisals and evaluations. Loan to value ratios at origination are governed by
establishedpolicy guidelines. The disbursement of funds for construction loans is made in relation to the progress of the project and as
suchthese loans are closely monitored by on-site inspections.
 
Real Estate Commercial Mortgage – Loans in this category consist of commercial mortgage loans secured by property that
iseither owner-occupied or investment in nature. These loans are primarily made based on identified cash flows of the borrower 
orproject with consideration given to underlying real estate collateral and personal guarantees. Lending policy establishes
debtservice coverage ratios and loan to value ratios specific to the property type. Collateral values are determined based upon
third-party appraisals and evaluations.
 
Real Estate Residential – Residential mortgage loans held in the Company’s loan portfolio are made to borrowers
thatdemonstrate the ability to make scheduled payments with full consideration to underwriting factors such as current
income,employment status, current assets, other financial resources, credit history, and the value of the collateral. Collateral consists
ofmortgage liens on 1-4 family residential properties. Collateral values are determined based upon third party appraisals
andevaluations. The Company does not originate sub-prime loans.
 
Real Estate Home Equity – Home equity loans and lines are made to qualified individuals for legitimate purposes
generallysecured by senior or junior mortgage liens on owner-occupied 1-4 family homes or vacation homes. Borrower qualifications
include favorable credit history combined with supportive income and debt ratio requirements and combined loan to value
ratioswithin established policy guidelines. Collateral values are determined based upon third-party appraisals and evaluations.
 
Consumer Loans – This loan category includes personal installment loans, direct and indirect automobile financing, and
overdraftlines of credit. The majority of the consumer loan category consists of indirect and direct automobile loans. Lending
policyestablishes maximum debt to income ratios, minimum credit scores, and includes guidelines for verification of applicants’
incomeand receipt of credit
reports.
Credit Quality
Indicators

. As part of the ongoing monitoring of the Company’s loan portfolio quality, management 
categorizesloans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of borrowers to service their debt such as:

currentfinancial information, historical payment performance, credit documentation, and current economic and market trends,
amongother factors. Risk ratings are assigned to each loan and revised as needed through established monitoring procedures
forindividual loan relationships over a predetermined amount and review of smaller balance homogenous loan pools. The
Companyuses the definitions noted below for categorizing and managing its criticized loans. Loans categorized as “Pass” do not meet
thecriteria set forth below and are not considered
criticized.
Special Mention – Loans in this category are presently protected from loss, but weaknesses are apparent which, if not
corrected,could cause future problems. Loans in this category may not meet required underwriting criteria and have no
mitigatingfactors. More than the ordinary amount of attention is warranted for these
loans.
Substandard – Loans in this category exhibit well-defined weaknesses that would typically bring normal repayment into
jeopardy.These loans are no longer adequately protected due to well-defined weaknesses that affect the repayment capacity of
theborrower. The possibility of loss is much more evident and above average supervision is required for these
loans.
Doubtful – Loans in this category have all the weaknesses inherent in a loan categorized as Substandard, with the
characteristicthat the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions, and values,
highlyquestionable and
improbable.
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Performing/Nonperforming – Loans within certain homogenous loan pools (home equity and consumer) are not
individuallyreviewed, but are monitored for credit quality via the aging status of the loan and by payment activity. The performing
ornonperforming status is updated on an on-going basis dependent upon improvement and deterioration in credit
quality.
The following table summarizes gross loans held for investment at December 31, 2022 by years of origination and
internallyassigned credit risk ratings (refer to Credit Risk Management section for detail on risk rating
system).

Term Loans by Origination Year
(As Restated) Revolving (As

Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 Prior Loans Total

Commercial, Financial,
Agricultural:
Pass $ 96,326 $ 43,584 $ 20,061 $ 14,744 $ 6,899 $ 11,970 $ 50,934 $ 244,518
Special Mention - 262 7 - 51 - 2,330 2,650
Substandard  -  -  -  -  13  133  48  194
Total $ 96,326 $ 43,846 $ 20,068 $ 14,744 $ 6,963 $ 12,103 $ 53,312 $ 247,362

Real Estate -
Construction:
Pass $ 141,784 $ 73,219 $ 11,928 $ 397 $ - $ 123 $ 4,431 $ 231,882
Special Mention - 716 384 832 - - - 1,932
Substandard  17  -  688  -  -  -  -  705
Total $ 141,801 $ 73,935 $ 13,000 $ 1,229 $ - $ 123 $ 4,431 $ 234,519

Real Estate - Commercial
Mortgage:
Pass $ 243,818 $ 159,334 $ 131,131 $ 55,122 $ 51,864 $ 101,175 $ 20,575 $ 763,019
Special Mention 635 1,860 931 1,420 724 2,405 549 8,524
Substandard  9,115  -  -  659  220  631  389  11,014
Total $ 253,568 $ 161,194 $ 132,062 $ 57,201 $ 52,808 $ 104,211 $ 21,513 $ 782,557

Real Estate - Residential:
Pass $ 473,235 $ 97,083 $ 46,322 $ 29,179 $ 19,791 $ 65,071 $ 10,822 $ 741,503
Special Mention 94 360 533 - - 648 - 1,635
Substandard  560  766  1,034  913  714  2,388  -  6,375
Total $ 473,889 $ 98,209 $ 47,889 $ 30,092 $ 20,505 $ 68,107 $ 10,822 $ 749,513

Real Estate - Home
Equity:
Performing $ 149 $ 136 $ 12 $ 397 $ 147 $ 1,215 $ 205,390 $ 207,446
Nonperforming - - - 15 - 13 743 771
Total $ 149  136  12  412  147  1,228  206,133  208,217

Consumer:
Performing $ 134,021 $ 111,762 $ 37,010 $ 21,065 $ 12,273 $ 3,739 $ 5,064 $ 324,934
Nonperforming 248 59 120 115 7 30 4 583
Total $ 134,269 $ 111,821 $ 37,130 $ 21,180 $ 12,280 $ 3,769 $ 5,068 $ 325,517
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Note 4
MORTGAGE BANKING
ACTIVITIES
The Company’s mortgage banking activities include mandatory delivery loan sales, forward sales contracts used to 
manageresidential loan pipeline price risk, utilization of warehouse lines to fund secondary market residential loan closings,
andresidential mortgage servicing.

Residential Mortgage Loan
Production
The Company originates, markets, and services conventional and government -sponsored residential mortgage loans. 
Generally,conforming fixed rate residential mortgage loans are held for sale in the secondary market and non-conforming and
adjustable-rate residential mortgage loans may be held for investment. The volume of residential mortgage loans originated for sale
andsecondary market prices are the primary drivers of origination
revenue.
Residential mortgage loan commitments are generally outstanding for 30 to 90 days, which represents the typical period
fromcommitment to originate a residential mortgage loan to when the closed loan is sold to an investor. Residential mortgage
loancommitments are subject to both credit and price risk. Credit risk is managed through underwriting policies and
procedures,including collateral requirements, which are generally accepted by the secondary loan markets. Price risk is primarily related
tointerest rate fluctuations and is partially managed through forward sales of residential mortgage-backed securities
(primarilyTBAs) or mandatory delivery commitments with investors. 

The unpaid principal balance of residential mortgage loans held for sale, notional amounts of derivative contracts related
toresidential mortgage loan commitments and forward contract sales and their related fair values are set forth
below.

(As Restated)
December 31,
2022

December 31,
2021Unpaid Principal Unpaid Principal

(Dollars in Thousands) Balance/Notional Fair
Value

Balance/Notional Fair
ValueResidential Mortgage Loans Held for

Sale
$ 26,274 $ 26,909 $ 50,773 $ 52,532

Residential Mortgage Loan Commitments (1) 36,535 819 51,883 1,258
Forward Sales
Contracts

(2) 15,500 187 48,000 (7)
$ 27,915 $ 53,783

(1)Recorded in other assets at fair
value(2)Recorded in other assets and (other liabilities) at fair
value

At December 31, 2022, the Company had
$

0.6 million residential mortgage loans held for sale 30-89 days past due and
$

0.1
million of loans were on nonaccrual status. At December 31, 2021, the Company had
$

0.2 million of residential mortgage
loansheld for sale 30-89 days past due and no loans were on nonaccrual status.

 
Mortgage banking revenues for the year ended December 31, was as
follows:

(Dollars in Thousands)
(As Restated) 

2022 2021 2020
Net realized gain on sales of mortgage
loans

$ 5,565 $ 49,355 $ 59,709
Net change in unrealized gain on mortgage loans held for
sale

(1,164) (2,410) 2,926
Net change in the fair value of mortgage loan
commitments

(439) (3,567) 2,625
Net change in the fair value of forward sales contracts 192 900 284
Pair-Offs on net settlement of forward sales
contracts

4,956 2,956 (9,602)
Mortgage servicing rights additions 565 1,416 3,448
Net origination fees 2,234 3,775 3,954
Total mortgage banking revenues $ 11,909 $ 52,425 $ 63,344

Residential Mortgage
Servicing
The Company may retain the right to service residential mortgage loans sold. The unpaid principal balance of loans serviced
forothers is the primary driver of servicing
revenue.
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The following represents a summary of mortgage servicing
rights.

(As Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021
Number of residential mortgage loans serviced for
others

1,769 2,106
Outstanding principal balance of residential mortgage loans serviced for
others

$ 410,740 $ 532,967
Weighted average interest
rate

3.62% 3.59%
Remaining contractual term (in
months)

298 317

Conforming conventional loans serviced by the Company are sold to the Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA”) on
anon-recourse basis, whereby foreclosure losses are generally the responsibility of FNMA and not the Company. The
governmentloans serviced by the Company are secured through the GNMA, whereby the Company is insured against loss by the
FederalHousing Administration or partially guaranteed against loss by the Veterans Administration. At December 31, 2022,
theservicing portfolio balance consisted of the following loan types: FNMA 
(

60.2%), GNMA
(

0.1%), and private investor
(

39.7%).
 FNMA and private investor loans are structured as actual/actual payment remittance 

.
The Company had $ 0.3 million and $ 2.0 million in delinquent residential mortgage loans currently in GNMA pools serviced

bythe Company at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The right to repurchase these loans and the corresponding
liabilityhas been recorded in other assets and other liabilities, respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. 
Forthe years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, the Company repurchased
$

1.7 million and $ 2.8 million of GNMA
delinquent or defaulted mortgage loans with the intention to modify their terms and include the loans in new GNMA pools.
  
Activity in the capitalized mortgage servicing rights for the year ended December 31, was as
follows:

(As Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Beginning balance $ 3,774 $ 3,452 $ 910
Additions due to loans sold with servicing
retained

565 1,416 3,448
Deletions and amortization (1,291) (1,344) (656)
Valuation Allowance reversal - 250 (250)
Sale of Servicing Rights (1) (449) - -
Ending balance $ 2,599 $ 3,774 $ 3,452

(1)The Company sold an MSR portfolio with an unpaid principal balance of
$

50 million for a sales price of $ 0.6 million,
 recognizing a $ 0.2 million gain on sale, recorded in other noninterest income on the Consolidated Statement of

Income.
The Company did not record any permanent impairment losses on mortgage servicing rights for the years ended December

31,2022 and 2021.
 
The key unobservable inputs used in determining the fair value of the Company’s mortgage servicing rights at December 31,
wasas follows:

2022 2021
Minimum Maximum Minimum Maximum

Discount rates 9.50% 12.00% 11.00% 15.00%
Annual prepayment
speeds

12.33% 20.23% 11.98% 23.79%
Cost of servicing (per loan) $ 85 95 $ 60 73

Changes in residential mortgage interest rates directly affect the prepayment speeds used in valuing the Company’s 
mortgageservicing rights. A separate third-party model is used to estimate prepayment speeds based on interest rates, housing 
turnoverrates, estimated loan curtailment, anticipated defaults, and other relevant factors. The weighted average annual prepayment
speedwas 13.42 % at December 31, 2022

and
15.85% at December 31,

2021.
Warehouse Line
Borrowings
The Company has the following warehouse lines of credit and master repurchase agreements with various financial institutions
atDecember 31,
2022.
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Amounts
(Dollars in Thousands) Outstanding
$75 million master repurchase agreement without defined expiration. Interest is at the Prime rate

minus
1.00%

to plus 1.00%, with a floor rate
of

3.25%. A cash pledge deposit of $ 0.5 million is required by the
lender.

$ 9,577

$75 million warehouse line of credit agreement expiring
in

December 2022 . Interest is at the SOFR
plus

2.25%
to 3.25%. 40,575

$ 50,152

Warehouse line borrowings are classified as short-term borrowings. At December 31, 2021, warehouse line borrowings
totaled$29.0 million. At December 31, 2022, the Company had mortgage loans held for sale and construction permanent loans

pledgedas collateral under the above warehouse lines of credit and master repurchase agreements. The above agreements also
containcovenants which include certain financial requirements, including maintenance of minimum tangible net worth, minimum
liquidassets and maximum debt to net worth ratio, as defined in the agreements. The Company was in compliance with all
significantdebt covenants at December 31, 2022.
 
The Company intends to renew the warehouse lines of credit and master repurchase agreements when they
mature.
The Company has extended a
$

50 million warehouse line of credit to CCHL. Balances and transactions under this line of
creditare eliminated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and thus not included in the total short-term borrowings

notedon the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition. The balance of this line of credit at December 31, 2022 and December
31,2021 was $ 22.9 million and $ 14.8 million, respectively.

Note 5
DERIVATIVES 

The Company enters into derivative financial instruments to manage exposures that arise from business activities that result in
thereceipt or payment of future known and uncertain cash amounts, the value of which are determined by interest rates. 
TheCompany’s derivative financial instruments are used to manage differences in the amount, timing, and duration of the
Company’sknown or expected cash receipts and its known or expected cash payments principally related to the Company’s 
subordinateddebt. 

Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate swaps with notional amounts totaling
$

30 million at December 31, 2022 were designed as a cash flow hedge
forsubordinated debt. Under the swap arrangement, the Company will pay a fixed interest rate

of
2.50% and receive a variable

interest rate based on three-month LIBOR plus a weighted average margin
of

1.83%. Effective June 30, 2023, in accordance
withthe swap agreement and the Adjustable Interest Rate (LIBOR) Act of 2021, LIBOR will be replaced with SOFR

(securedovernight financing rate) as the interest rate index.
 
For derivatives designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk, the gain or loss on the derivative is
recordedin accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) and subsequently reclassified into interest expense in the same
period(s)during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Amounts reported in accumulated other comprehensive income related
toderivatives will be reclassified to interest expense as interest payments are made on the Company’s variable-rate 
subordinateddebt.

The following table reflects the cash flow hedges included in the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Condition.

Statement of Financial Notional Fair Weighted
Average(Dollars in Thousands) Condition Location  Amount Value  Maturity
(Years)Interest rate swaps related to subordinated

debt:December 31,
2022

Other Assets $ 30,000 $ 6,195 7.5
December 31,
2021

Other Assets $ 30,000 $ 2,050 8.5

The following table presents the net gains (losses) recorded in AOCI and the Consolidated Statement of Income related to
thecash flow derivative instruments (interest rate swaps related to subordinated
debt).
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Amount of
Gain

Amount of
Gain(Loss)

Recognized
(Loss)
Reclassified(Dollars in Thousands) Category in AOCI from AOCI to

IncomeDecember 31,
2022

Interest Expense $ 4,625 $ 337 
December 31,
2021

Interest Expense $ 1,530 $ (151)
December 31,
2020

Interest Expense $ 428 $ (64)

The Company estimates there will be approximately
$

1.3 million reclassified as a decrease to interest expense within the next
12months.

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had a collateral liability of 
$

5.8 million and $ 2.0 million, respectively.

Note 6
PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT

The composition of the Company’s premises and equipment at December 31 was as
follows:
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021
Land $ 22,847 $ 23,575
Buildings 109,849 110,503
Fixtures and Equipment 59,627 57,010
Total Premises and Equipment 192,323 191,088
Accumulated Depreciation (110,185) (107,676)
Premises and Equipment,
Net

$ 82,138 $ 83,412

Depreciation expense for the above premises and equipment was approximately $ 7.6 million, $ 7.6 million, and $ 7.0 million in
2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively
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Note 7
LEASES

Operating leases in which the Company is the lessee are recorded as operating lease right of use (“ROU”) assets and
operatingliabilities, included in other assets and liabilities, respectively, on its Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition.
 
Operating lease ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset during the lease term and operating
leaseliabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and operating
leaseliabilities are recognized at lease commencement based on the present value of the remaining lease payments using a discount
ratethat represents the Company’s incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date. Operating lease expense, which
iscomprised of amortization of the ROU asset and the implicit interest accreted on the operating lease liability, is recognized on
astraight-line basis over the lease term, and is recorded in occupancy expense in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
 
The Company’s operating leases primarily relate to banking offices with remaining lease terms from one
to

forty-three
years

. 
TheCompany’s leases are not complex and do not contain residual value guarantees, variable lease payments, or 

significantassumptions or judgments made in applying the requirements of ASC Topic 842. Operating leases with an initial term of
12months or less are not recorded on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition and the related lease expense is
recognizedon a straight-line basis over the lease term. At December 31, 2022, ROU assets and liabilities were
$

22.3 million and $ 22.7
million, respectively. At December 31, 2021, the operating lease ROU assets and liabilities were
$

11.5 million and $ 12.2 
million,respectively. The Company does not have any finance leases or any significant lessor

agreements.
The table below summarizes our lease expense and other information at December 31, related to the Company’s operating
leases:
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Operating lease expense $ 1,719 $ 1,445 $ 1,018
Short-term lease expense 658 663 530
Total lease expense $ 2,377 $ 2,108 $ 1,548

Other information:
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease
liabilities:Operating cash flows from operating
leases

$ 1,937 $ 1,609 $ 1,174
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease
liabilities

12,475 784 11,101

Weighted-average remaining lease term — operating leases (in
years)

19.5 25.3 25.4
Weighted-average discount rate — operating
leases

3.1 % 2.0 % 2.1 %

The table below summarizes the maturity of remaining lease
liabilities:

(Dollars in Thousands) December 31,
20222022 $ 2,482

2023 2,307
2024 2,089
2025 2,013
2026 1,939
2027 and thereafter 18,922
Total $ 29,752
Less: Interest (7,086)
Present Value of Lease
Liability

$ 22,666

At December 31, 2022, the Company had three additional operating lease obligations for banking offices that have not
yetcommenced. The first lease has payments totaling
$

1.9 million based on the initial contract term
of

15 years, the second
haspayments totaling $ 1.4 million based on the initial contract term

of
10 years, and the third has payments totaling

$
0.1 million

based on the initial contract term
of

5 years. Payments for all three banking offices are expected to commence during the
firstquarter of 2023.

 
A related party is the lessor in an operating lease with the Company. The Company’s minimum payment is
$

0.2 million
annuallythrough 2042, and will reprice at annual fair market rental value until 2052, for an aggregate remaining obligation of

$
2.4 

millionat December 31,
2022.
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Note 8
GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had goodwill of
$

91.8 million. Goodwill is tested for impairment on an
annualbasis, or more often if impairment indicators exist. Testing allows for a qualitative assessment of goodwill impairment indicators.

 If the assessment indicates that impairment has more than likely occurred, the Company must compare the estimated fair value
ofthe reporting unit to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value,
animpairment charge is recorded equal to the
excess.
On April 30, 2021, CCSW acquired substantially all of the assets of SWG, including advisory, service, and insurance
carrieragreements, and the assignment of all related revenues thereof. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, SWG
principlesbecame officers of CCSW and will continue the operation of their five offices in South Georgia offering wealth
managementservices and comprehensive risk management and asset protection services for individuals and
businesses.

CCBG paid
$

4.5
million in cash consideration and recorded goodwill of
$

2.8 million and a customer relationship intangible asset
(

10
year

 life) of
$1.6 million. Amortization expense related to the customer relationship intangible totaled

$
0.2 million and $ 0.1 million in 2022

and 2021, respectively. The current intangible asset balance as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 was
$

1.3 million
and $1.6 million, respectively. The estimated amortization expense for each of the nine succeeding fiscal years is

$
0.2 million per

year.

During the fourth quarter of 2022, the Company performed its annual goodwill impairment testing and determined
that

no
goodwill impairment existed at December 31, 2022
and

no goodwill impairment existed at December 31, 2021. The
Companywill continue to evaluate goodwill for impairment as defined by ASC Topic 

350.
Note 9
OTHER REAL ESTATE OWNED

The following table presents other real estate owned activity at December 
31,
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Beginning Balance $ 17 $ 808 $ 953
Additions 2,398 1,717 2,297
Valuation Write-Downs (11) (31) (792)
Sales (1,973) (2,809) (1,650)
Other - 332 -
Ending Balance $ 431 $ 17 $ 808

Net expenses applicable to other real estate owned for the three years ended December 31, was as
follows:
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Gains from the Sale of
Properties

$ (480) $ (1,711) $ (1,218)
Losses from the Sale of
Properties

47 18 33
Rental Income from
Properties

(21) - -
Property Carrying Costs 106 174 497
Valuation Adjustments 11 31 792
Total $ (337) $ (1,488) $ 104

Note 10
DEPOSITS

The composition of the Company’s interest bearing deposits at December 31 was as
follows:
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021
NOW Accounts $ 1,290,494 $ 1,070,154
Money Market Accounts 267,383 274,611
Savings
Deposits

637,374 599,811
Time
Deposits

90,446 99,374
Total Interest Bearing Deposits $ 2,285,697 $ 2,043,950
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At December 31, 2022 and 2021,
$

1.1 million in overdrawn deposit accounts were reclassified as
loans.

The amount of time deposits that meet or exceed the FDIC insurance limit of $250,000 totaled
$

11.1 million and $ 10.0 million
atDecember 31, 2022 and 2021,

respectively.
At December 31, the scheduled maturities of time deposits were as
follows:
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022
2023 $ 69,221
2024 10,284
2025 5,122
2026 1,737
2027 4,082
Total $ 90,446

Interest expense on deposits for the three years ended December 31, was as
follows:
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
NOW Accounts $ 2,800 $ 294 $ 930
Money Market Accounts 203 134 223
Savings
Deposits

309 263 207
Time Deposits <
$250,000

129 145 179
Time Deposits >
$250,000

3 3 9
Total Interest Expense $ 3,444 $ 839 $ 1,548
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Note 11
SHORT-TERM
BORROWINGS
Short-term borrowings included the following:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Federal Funds

Purchased

Securities 
Sold
UnderRepurchase

Agreements (1)

Other 
Short-Term

Borrowings (2)

2022
Balance at December
31

$ - $ 6,582 $ 50,211
Maximum indebtedness at any month
end

- 9,452 50,211
Daily average indebtedness
outstanding

2 8,095 32,386
Average rate paid for the
year

3.39 % 0.17 % 5.40 %
Average rate paid on period-end
borrowings

- % 0.40 % 7.61 %

2021
Balance at December
31

$ - $ 4,955 $ 29,602
Maximum indebtedness at any month
end

- 6,755 58,309
Daily average indebtedness
outstanding

2 5,762 47,748
Average rate paid for the
year

2.39 % 0.04 % 2.84 %
Average rate paid on period-end
borrowings

- % 0.04 % 2.36 %

2020
Balance at December
31

$ - $ 4,851 $ 74,803
Maximum indebtedness at any month
end

- 5,922 94,071
Daily average indebtedness
outstanding

2 5,384 63,733
Average rate paid for the
year

2.56 % 0.10 % 4.36 %
Average rate paid on period-end
borrowings

- % 0.04 % 3.00 %

(1)Balances are fully collateralized by government treasury or agency securities held in the Company's investment
portfolio.(2)Comprised of FHLB advances totaling $0.1 million and warehouse lines of credit totaling $50.1 million at December 31,

2022.
Note 12
LONG-TERM
BORROWINGS
Federal Home Loan Bank Advances. The Company had one FHLB long-term advance totaling

$
0.5 million at December

31,2022. The advance matures in 2025 and has a rate of 4.80%. The Company had FHLB long-term advances totaling $0.9
millionat December 31, 2021 with a weighted-average rate of

3.37%.
 The FHLB advances are collateralized by a floating lien on
certain1-4 family residential mortgage loans, commercial real estate mortgage loans, and home equity mortgage loans. Interest on

theFHLB advances is paid on a monthly
basis.
Scheduled minimum future principal payments on our other long-term borrowings at December 31 were as
follows:
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022
2023 $ 199
2024 198
2025 116
Total $ 513

Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Notes. The Company has issued two junior subordinated deferrable interest notes
towholly owned Delaware statutory trusts. The first note for

$
30.9 million was issued to CCBG Capital Trust I. The second

notefor $32.0 million was issued to CCBG Capital Trust II. The two trusts are considered variable interest entities for which
theCompany is not the primary beneficiary. Accordingly, the accounts of the trusts are not included in the Company’s

consolidatedfinancial statements. See Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies for additional information about the Company’s
consolidationpolicy. Details of the Company’s transaction with the two trusts are provided
below.
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In November 2004, CCBG Capital Trust I issued
$

30.0 million of trust preferred securities which represent interest in the
assetsof the trust. The interest payments are due quarterly

at
3-month LIBOR  plus a margin of 1.90%, adjusted quarterly. 

EffectiveJune 30, 2023, in accordance with the trust agreement and the Adjustable Interest Rate (LIBOR) Act of 2021, LIBOR will
bereplaced with 3-month CME term SOFR (secured overnight financing rate) as the interest rate index. The trust
preferredsecurities will mature on December 31,

2034
, and are redeemable upon approval of the Federal Reserve in whole or in part at
theoption of the Company at any time after December 31, 2009 and in whole at any time upon occurrence of certain events

affectingtheir tax or regulatory capital treatment. Distributions on the trust preferred securities are payable quarterly on March 31, June
30,September 30, and December 31 of each year. CCBG Capital Trust I also issued
$

0.9 million of common equity securities
toCCBG. The proceeds of the offering of trust preferred securities and common equity securities were used to purchase a

$
30.9

million junior subordinated deferrable interest note issued by the Company, which has terms similar to the trust
preferredsecurities. On April 12, 2016, the Company retired
$

10 million in face value of trust preferred securities that were auctioned
aspart of a liquidation of a pooled collateralized debt obligation fund. The trust preferred securities were originally issued

throughCCBG Capital Trust
I.
In May 2005, CCBG Capital Trust II issued 
$

31.0 million of trust preferred securities which represent interest in the assets of
thetrust. The interest payments are due quarterly

at
3-month LIBOR  plus a margin of 1.80%, adjusted quarterly. The trust

preferredsecurities will mature on June 15,
2035

, and are redeemable upon approval of the Federal Reserve in whole or in part at the
optionof the Company and in whole at any time upon occurrence of certain events affecting their tax or regulatory capital treatment.

 Distributions on the trust preferred securities are payable quarterly on March 15, June 15, September 15, and December 15
ofeach year. CCBG Capital Trust II also issued
$

0.9 million of common equity securities to CCBG. The proceeds of the
offeringof trust preferred securities and common equity securities were used to purchase a

$
32.0 million junior subordinated deferrable

interest note issued by the Company, which has terms substantially similar to the trust preferred securities.
 
The Company has the right to defer payments of interest on the two notes at any time or from time to time for a period of up
totwenty consecutive quarterly interest payment periods. Under the terms of each note, in the event that under
certaincircumstances there is an event of default under the note or the Company has elected to defer interest on the note, the
Companymay not, with certain exceptions, declare or pay any dividends or distributions on its capital stock or purchase or acquire any
ofits capital stock. At December 31, 2022, the Company has paid all interest payments in full.
 
The Company has entered into agreements to guarantee the payments of distributions on the trust preferred securities
andpayments of redemption of the trust preferred securities. Under these agreements, the Company also agrees, on a
subordinatedbasis, to pay expenses and liabilities of the two trusts other than those arising under the trust preferred securities. The
obligationsof the Company under the two junior subordinated notes, the trust agreements establishing the two trusts, the guarantee
andagreement as to expenses and liabilities, in aggregate, constitute a full and unconditional guarantee by the Company of the
twotrusts’ obligations under the two trust preferred security
issuances.
Despite the fact that the accounts of CCBG Capital Trust I and CCBG Capital Trust II are not included in the
Company’sconsolidated financial statements, the
$

20.0 million and $ 31.0 million, respectively, in trust preferred securities issued by
thesesubsidiary trusts are included in the Tier 1 Capital of Capital City Bank Group, Inc. as allowed by Federal Reserve

guidelines.
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Note 13 
INCOME
TAXES
The provision for income taxes reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income is comprised of the
followingcomponents:

2022
(Dollars in Thousands) (As Restated) 2021 2020
Current:

Federal $ 10,646 $ 12,039 $ 8,625
State 1,022 1,044 1,658

11,668 13,083 10,283
Deferred:

Federal (2,994) (3,246) (143)
State (899) (10) 130
Change in Valuation Allowance 23 8 (40)

(3,870) (3,248) (53)
Total:

Federal 7,652 8,793 8,482
State 123 1,034 1,788
Change in Valuation Allowance 23 8 (40)

Total $ 7,798 $ 9,835 $ 10,230

Income taxes provided were different than the tax expense computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate
of

21%
topre-tax income as a result of the

following:
2022

(Dollars in Thousands) (As Restated) 2021 2020
Tax Expense at Federal Statutory
Rate

$ 8,625 $ 10,385 $ 11,106
Increases (Decreases) Resulting
From:Tax-Exempt Interest Income (248) (271) (341)
State Taxes, Net of Federal 
Benefit

94 819 1,413
Other (546) 375 601
Change in Valuation Allowance 23 8 (40)
Tax-Exempt Cash Surrender Value Life Insurance Benefit (175) (173) (173)
Noncontrolling Interest 25 (1,308) (2,336)
Actual Tax Expense $ 7,798 $ 9,835 $ 10,230

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets result from differences between assets and liabilities measured for financial
reportingpurposes and for income tax return purposes. These assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws
thatare currently in effect. 
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The net deferred tax asset and the temporary differences comprising that balance at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as
follows:

(As Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021
Deferred Tax Assets Attributable to:
Allowance for Credit
Losses

$ 6,042 $ 5,308
Accrued Pension/SERP 1,530 4,468
State Net Operating Loss and Tax Credit Carry-Forwards 1,920 1,984
Other Real Estate Owned 917 1,029
Accrued SERP Liability 3,246 2,442
Lease Liability 4,547 2,597
Net Unrealized Losses on Investment
Securities

12,499 1,532
Other 3,043 2,325
Investment in Partnership 1,544
Total Deferred Tax Assets $ 35,288 $ 21,685

Deferred Tax Liabilities Attributable to:
Depreciation on Premises and Equipment $ 3,382 $ 3,208
Deferred Loan Fees and Costs 2,372 2,016
Intangible Assets 3,310 3,276
Accrued Pension Liability 1,043 2,138
Right of Use Asset 4,474 2,453
Investments 469 469
Other 2,099 857
Total Deferred Tax Liabilities 17,149 14,417
Valuation Allowance 1,671 1,648
Net Deferred Tax Asset $ 16,468 $ 5,620

In the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax assets, with the exception of certain state
netoperating loss carry-forwards and certain state tax credit carry-forwards expected to expire prior to utilization, will be realized.
 Accordingly, a valuation allowance of
$

1.6 million is recorded at December 31, 2022. At December 31, 2022, the Company
hadstate loss and tax credit carry-forwards of approximately $ 1.9 million, which expire at various dates

from
2023 through 2037.

At December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021, the Company
had

no material unrecognized gross tax
benefits.

It is the Company’s policy to recognize interest and penalties accrued relative to unrecognized tax benefits in their
respectivefederal or state income taxes accounts. There
were

no penalties and interest related to income taxes recorded in the
ConsolidatedStatements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020. There

were
no amounts accrued in

theConsolidated Statements of Financial Condition for penalties and interest as of December 31, 2022 and
2021.
The Company files a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return and a separate U.S. federal income tax return for CCHL.
Eachsubsidiary files various returns in states where its banking offices are located. The Company is no longer subject to U.S.
federalor state tax examinations for years before
2019.
Note 14
STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

At December 31, 2022, the Company had three stock-based compensation plans, consisting of the 2021 Associate Incentive
Plan(“AIP”), the 2021 Associate Stock Purchase Plan (“ASPP”), and the 2021 Director Stock Purchase Plan (“DSPP”). These
plans,which were approved by the shareowners in April 2021, replaced substantially similar plans approved by the shareowners
in2011. Total compensation expense associated with these plans for 2020 through 2022 was
$

1.6 million, $1.6 million, and $ 2.3
million, respectively. 
 



110

 

             

        

AIP.  The AIP allows key associates and directors to earn various forms of equity-based incentive compensation. Under the
AIP,there were 700,000 shares reserved for issuance. On an annual basis, the Company, pursuant to the terms and conditions of

theAIP, will create an annual incentive plan (“Plan”), under which all participants are eligible to earn performance shares. 
Awardsfor associates under the 2021 Plan were tied to internally established performance goals. At base level targets, the grant-date
fairvalue of the shares eligible to be awarded in 2022 was approximately
$

1.1 million. Approximately 60% of the award is in the
form of stock
and

40% in the form of a cash bonus. For 2022, a total
of

24,222 shares were eligible for issuance, but
additionalshares could be earned if performance exceeded established goals. A total

of
41,460 shares were earned for 2022 that were

issuedin January 2023. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, Directors
earned

11,847 and 10,377 shares, respectively,
under the Plan. The Company recognized expense of
$

1.9 million, $ 1.2 million and $ 1.0 million for the years ended
December31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, related to the AIP.

 
Executive Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) . The Company has established a Performance Share Unit Plan under

theprovisions of the AIP that allows William G. Smith, Jr., the Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer of CCBG,
Inc.,Thomas A. Barron, the President of CCB, and J. Kimbrough Davis, Chief Financial Officer of the Company to earn shares
basedon the compound annual growth rate in diluted earnings per share over a three-year period. The Company recognized expense
of$0.2 million, $0.2 million and $ 0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Shares

issuedunder the plan
were

6,849, 27,915, and 32,482 for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. A total
of4,909  shares were earned in 2022 that were issued in January 2023.

 
After deducting the shares earned, but not issued, in 2022 under the AIP and 
LTIP,

545,035  shares remain eligible for issuance
under the 2021 AIP.

DSPP. The Company’s DSPP allows the directors to purchase the Company’s common stock at a price equal
to

90% of the
closing price on the date of purchase. Stock purchases under the DSPP are limited to the amount of the directors’ annual
retainerand meeting fees. Under the DSPP, there
were

300,000 shares reserved for issuance. The Company recognized
$

0.1 million in
expense under the DSPP for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. The Company issued shares under the
DSPPtotaling 14,977, 19,362 and 16,119 for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. At December 31,

2022,there were 265,661 shares eligible for issuance under the
DSPP.

ASPP. Under the Company’s ASPP, substantially all associates may purchase the Company’s common stock through
payrolldeductions at a price equal

to
90% of the lower of the fair market value at the beginning or end of each six-month

offeringperiod. Stock purchases under the ASPP are limited to 10% of an associate’s eligible compensation, up to a maximum of
$

25,000
(fair market value on each enrollment date) in any plan year. Under the ASPP, there
were

400,000  shares of common
stockreserved for issuance. The Company recognized

$
0.1 million, $0.1 million and $ 0.2 million in expense under the ASPP for the

years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The Company issued shares under the ASPP
totaling

31,101,
22,126 and 33,910 for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. At December 31,

2022,
346,773 shares

remained eligible for issuance under the
ASPP.
Based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model, the weighted average estimated fair value of each of the purchase
rightsgranted under the ASPP was $ 4.03 for 2022. For 2021 and 2020, the weighted average fair value purchase right granted

was$3.96 and $5.83, respectively. In calculating compensation, the fair value of each stock purchase right was estimated on the
dateof grant using the following weighted average

assumptions:
2022 2021 2020

Dividend yield 2.4 % 2.5 % 2.4 %
Expected volatility 17.6 % 21.8 % 45.6 %
Risk-free interest
rate

1.4 % 0.1 % 0.9 %
Expected life (in
years)

0.5 0.5 0.5
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Note 15
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Pension
Plan
The Company sponsors a noncontributory pension plan covering substantially all of its associates. Benefits under this
plangenerally are based on the associate’s total years of service and average of the five highest years of compensation during the
tenyears immediately preceding their departure. The Company’s general funding policy is to contribute amounts sufficient to
meetminimum funding requirements as set by law and to ensure deductibility for federal income tax purposes. On December
30,2019, the plan was amended to remove plan eligibility for new associates hired after December 31, 2019.
 
The following table details on a consolidated basis the changes in benefit obligation, changes in plan assets, the funded status
ofthe plan, components of pension expense, amounts recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Financial
Condition,and major assumptions used to determine these
amounts.
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(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation:
Benefit Obligation at Beginning of
Year

$ 172,508 $ 212,566 $ 180,830
Service Cost 6,289 6,971 5,828
Interest Cost 4,665 4,885 5,612
Actuarial (Gain) Loss (39,962) (14,934) 32,172
Benefits Paid (2,139) (2,087) (11,677)
Expenses Paid (416) (259) (260)
Settlements (32,794) (34,634) -
Special/Contractual Termination Benefits - - 61
Projected Benefit Obligation at End of
Year

$ 108,151 $ 172,508 $ 212,566

Change in Plan Assets:
Fair Value of Plan Assets at Beginning of
Year

$ 165,274 $ 171,775 $ 161,646
Actual Return on Plan
Assets

(25,649) 30,479 17,066
Employer
Contributions

- - 5,000
Benefits Paid (2,139) (2,087) (11,677)
Expenses Paid (416) (259) (260)
Settlements (32,794) (34,634) -
Fair Value of Plan Assets at End of
Year

$ 104,276 $ 165,274 $ 171,775

Funded Status of Plan and Accrued Liability Recognized at End of
Year:Other Liabilities $ 3,875 $ 7,234 $ 40,791

Accumulated Benefit Obligation at End of
Year

$ 91,770 $ 149,569 $ 177,362

Components of Net Periodic Benefit
Costs:Service Cost $ 6,289 $ 6,971 $ 5,828
Interest Cost 4,665 4,885 5,612
Expected Return on Plan
Assets

(10,701) (11,147) (10,993)
Amortization of Prior Service Costs 15 15 15
Special/Contractual Termination Benefits - - 61
Net Loss
Amortization

1,713 6,764 3,933
Net Loss Settlements 2,321 3,072 -
Net Periodic Benefit
Cost

$ 4,302 $ 10,560 $ 4,456

Weighted-Average Assumptions Used to Determine Benefit Obligation:
Discount Rate 5.63% 3.11% 2.88%
Rate of Compensation
Increase

(1) 5.10% 4.40% 4.00%
Measurement Date 12/31/22 12/31/21 12/31/20

Weighted-Average Assumptions Used to Determine Benefit
Cost:Discount Rate 3.11% 2.88% 3.53%
Expected Return on Plan
Assets

6.75% 6.75% 7.00%
Rate of Compensation
Increase

(1) 4.40% 4.00% 4.00%

Amortization Amounts from Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income:Net Actuarial Loss (Gain)
 

$ (3,612) $ (34,265) $ 26,098
Prior Service Cost (15) (15) (15)
Net Loss (4,034) (9,836) (3,933)
Deferred Tax Expense (Benefit) 1,942 11,183 (5,615)
Other Comprehensive Loss (Gain), net of tax $ (5,719) $ (32,933) $ 16,535

Amounts Recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income:Net Actuarial
Losses

$ 7,653 $ 15,300 $ 59,400
Prior Service Cost 5 20 35
Deferred Tax Benefit (1,941) (3,884) (15,066)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss, net of tax $ 5,717 $ 11,436 $ 44,369

(1) The Company utilized an age-graded approach that varies the rate based on the age of the
participants.
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During 2022 and 2021, lump sum payments made under the Company’s defined benefit pension plan triggered
settlementaccounting. In accordance with applicable accounting guidance for defined benefit plans, the Company recorded 
settlementlosses of $ 2.3 million and $ 3.1 million during 2022 and 2021,

respectively. 
The service cost component of net periodic benefit cost is reflected in compensation expense in the accompanying
ConsolidatedStatements of Income. The other components of net periodic cost are included in “other” within the noninterest expense category
in the Consolidated Statements of Income. See Note 1 – Significant Accounting Policies for additional
information.
The Company expects to recognize $ 0.9 million of the net actuarial loss reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income 

atDecember 31, 2022 as a component of net periodic benefit cost during
2023.
Plan Assets. The Company’s pension plan asset allocation at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the target asset allocation

for2022 are as follows:
Target Percentage of

PlanAllocation Assets at December
31

(1)

2023 2022 2021
Equity Securities 68 % 73 % 71 %
Debt Securities 27 % 23 % 21 %
Cash and Cash
Equivalents

5 % 4 % 8 %
Total 100 % 100 % 100 %

(1) Represents asset allocation at December 31 which may differ from the average target allocation for the year due to the
year-end cash contribution to the
plan.

The Company’s pension plan assets are overseen by the CCBG Retirement Committee. Capital City Trust Company acts as
theinvestment manager for the plan. The investment strategy is to maximize return on investments while minimizing risk. The
Company believes the best way to accomplish this goal is to take a conservative approach to its investment strategy by
investingin mutual funds that include various high-grade equity securities and investment -grade debt issuances with varying
investmentstrategies. The target asset allocation will periodically be adjusted based on market conditions and will operate within
thefollowing investment policy statement allocation ranges: equity securities ranging 
from

55% and 81%, debt securities
rangingfrom 17% and 37%, and cash and cash equivalents ranging

from
0% and 10%. The overall expected long-term rate of return

onassets is a weighted-average expectation for the return on plan assets. The Company considers historical performance data
andeconomic/financial data to arrive at expected long-term rates of return for each asset
category.
The major categories of assets in the Company’s pension plan at December 31 are presented in the following table. Assets
aresegregated by the level of the valuation inputs within the fair value hierarchy established by ASC Topic 820 utilized to
measurefair value (see Note 22 – Fair Value 
Measurements).
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021
Level 1:

U.S. Treasury Securities $ 17,264 $ 200
Mutual Funds 81,231 156,726
Cash and Cash
Equivalents

5,327 6,881

Level 2:
U.S. Government
Agency

- 527
Corporate Notes/Bonds 454 940

Total Fair Value of Plan Assets $ 104,276 $ 165,274
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Expected Benefit Payments.  At December 31, expected benefit payments related to the defined benefit pension plan were
asfollows:

(Dollars in Thousands) 2022
2023 $ 9,446
2024 8,896
2025 9,966
2026 9,638
2027 9,270
2028 through
2032

43,323
Total $ 90,539

Contributions. The following table details the amounts contributed to the pension plan in 2022 and 2021, and the
expectedamount to be contributed in

2023.
Expected

Contribution
(Dollars in Thousands) 2021 2022 2023 (1)

Actual
Contributions

$ 5,000 $ - $- - $10,000

(1) For 2023, the Company will have the option to make a cash contribution to the plan or utilize pre-funding
balances.

 

Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan
The Company has a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) and a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
II(“SERP II”) covering selected executive officers. Benefits under this plan generally are based on the same service
andcompensation as used for the pension plan, except the benefits are calculated without regard to the limits set by the
InternalRevenue Code on compensation and benefits. The net benefit payable from the SERP is the difference between this gross
benefitand the benefit payable by the pension plan. The SERP II was adopted by the Company’s Board on May 21, 2020 and
coverscertain executive officers that were not covered by the
SERP.
The following table details on a consolidated basis the changes in benefit obligation, the funded status of the plan, components
ofpension expense, amounts recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition, and major
assumptionsused to determine these
amounts.
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(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation:
Benefit Obligation at Beginning of
Year

$ 13,534 $ 13,402 $ 10,244
Service Cost 31 35 31
Interest Cost 315 243 321
Actuarial (Gain) Loss (2,932) (146) 1,826
Plan
Amendments

- - 980
Projected Benefit Obligation at End of
Year

$ 10,948 $ 13,534 $ 13,402

Funded Status of Plan and Accrued Liability Recognized at End of
Year:
Other Liabilities $ 10,948 $ 13,534 $ 13,402

Accumulated Benefit Obligation at End of
Year

$ 10,887 $ 12,803 $ 12,339

Components of Net Periodic Benefit
Costs:Service Cost $ 31 $ 35 $ 31
Interest Cost 315 243 321
Amortization of Prior Service Cost 277 277 327
Net Loss
Amortization

718 970 503
Net Periodic Benefit
Cost

$ 1,341 $ 1,525 $ 1,182

Weighted-Average Assumptions Used to Determine Benefit Obligation:
Discount Rate 5.45% 2.80% 2.38%
Rate of Compensation
Increase

(1) 5.10% 4.40% 4.00%
Measurement Date 12/31/22 12/31/21 12/31/20

Weighted-Average Assumptions Used to Determine Benefit
Cost:Discount Rate 2.80% 2.38% 3.16%
Rate of Compensation
Increase

(1) 4.40% 4.00% 3.50%

Amortization Amounts from Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income:Net Actuarial (Gain)
Loss

$ (2,932) $ (146) $ 1,826
Prior Service (Benefit) Cost (277) (219) 895
Net Loss (718) (970) (458)
Deferred Tax Expense (Benefit) 995 154 (573)
Other Comprehensive (Gain) Loss, net of tax $ (2,932) $ (1,181) $ 1,690

Amounts Recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income:Net Actuarial
Loss

$ (1,775) $ 1,875 $ 2,991
Prior Service Cost 151 429 895
Deferred Tax Benefit 412 (584) (985)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Gain, net of tax $ (1,212) $ 1,720 $ 2,901

(1) The Company utilized an age-graded approach that varies the rate based on the age of the
participants.

The Company expects to recognize approximately $ 0.5 million of the net actuarial loss reflected in accumulated
othercomprehensive income at December 31, 2022 as a component of net periodic benefit cost during

2023. 
In June 2023, lump sum retirement distributions to two plan participants will require the application of settlement accounting.
 The amount of the settlement charge cannot be determined until the time of cash payment utilizing discount rates at that
time.
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Expected Benefit Payments . As of December 31, expected benefit payments related to the SERP were as
follows:

(Dollars in Thousands) 2022
2023 $ 9,182
2024 1,044
2025 18
2026 19
2027 20
2028 through
2032

261
Total $ 10,544

401(k)
Plan
The Company has a 401(k) Plan which enables CCB and CCBG associates to defer a portion of their salary on a pre-
taxbasis. The plan covers substantially all associates of the Company who meet minimum age requirements. The plan is designed
toenable participants to contribute any amount, up to the maximum annual limit allowed by the IRS, of their compensation
withheldin any plan year placed in the 401(k) Plan trust account. Matching contributions
of

50% from the Company are made for up
to6% of the participant’s compensation for eligible associates. Further, in addition to the 50% match, all associates hired after

December 31, 2019 will receive annually a contribution by the Company equal
to

3% of their compensation. For 2022,
theCompany made annual matching contributions of

$
1.4 million. For 2021 and 2020, the Company made annual

matchingcontributions of $ 1.0 million and $ 0.8 million, respectively. The participant may choose to invest their contributions into
thirty-four investment options available to 401(k) participants, including the Company’s common stock. A total

of
50,000 shares of

CCBG common stock have been reserved for issuance. Shares issued to participants have historically been purchased in the
openmarket. 

CCHL has a 401(k) Plan available to all CCHL associates who are employed. The plan allows participants to contribute
anyamount, up to the maximum annual limit allowed by the IRS, of their compensation withheld in any plan year placed in
the401(k) Plan trust account. A discretionary matching contribution is determined annually by CCHL. For 2022, 2021, and
2020,matching contributions were made by CCHL up to 3% of eligible participant’s compensation totaling $ 0.4 million, $0.7 million,
and $0.5 million, respectively. 

Other
Plans
The Company has a Dividend Reinvestment and Optional Stock Purchase Plan. A total
of

250,000 shares have been reserved for
issuance. In recent years, shares for the Dividend Reinvestment and Optional Stock Purchase Plan have been acquired in the
openmarket and, thus, the Company did not issue any shares under this plan in 2022, 2021 and
2020.
Note 16
EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per
share:

(As Restated)
(Dollars and Per Share Data in
Thousands)

2022 2021 2020
Numerator:
Net Income Attributable to Common
Shareowners

$ 33,412 $ 33,396 $ 31,576

Denominator:
Denominator for Basic Earnings Per Share Weighted -Average
Shares

16,951 16,863 16,785
Effects of Dilutive Securities Stock Compensation Plans 34 30 37

Denominator for Diluted Earnings Per Share Adjusted Weighted -Average
  Shares and Assumed
Conversions

16,985 16,893 16,822

Basic Earnings Per
Share

$ 1.97 $ 1.98 $ 1.88
Diluted Earnings Per
Share

$ 1.97 $ 1.98 $ 1.88
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Note 17
REGULATORY MATTERS

Regulatory Capital
Requirements

. The Company (on a consolidated basis) and the Bank are subject to various regulatory 
capitalrequirements administered by the federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate

certainmandatory and possible additional discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on
the Company and Bank’s financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for 
promptcorrective action , the Company and the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of

theirassets, liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The capital amounts
andclassification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, and other factors.
 Prompt corrective action provisions are not applicable to bank holding companies. A detailed description of these
regulatorycapital requirements is provided in the section captioned “Regulatory Considerations – Capital Regulations” section on page
15.
Management believes, at December 31, 2022 and 2021, that the Company and the Bank meet all capital adequacy requirements
towhich they are subject. At December 31, 2022, the most recent notification from the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporationcategorized the Bank as well capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. To be categorized as
wellcapitalized, an institution must maintain minimum common equity Tier 1, total risk-based, Tier 1 risk based and Tier 1
leverageratios as set forth in the following tables. There are not conditions or events since the notification that management believes
havechanged the Bank’s category. The Company and Bank’s actual capital amounts and ratios at December 31, 2022 and 2021
arepresented in the following table.
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To Be Well 
-Capitalized

UnderRequired Prompt
For Capital Corrective

Actual Adequacy Purposes Action Provisions
(Dollars in Thousands) Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
2022 (As Restated)
Common Equity Tier 1:
CCBG $

 
335,512 12.38% $ 121,918 4.50% * *

CCB 358,882 13.25% 121,913 4.50% $ 176,096 6.50%

Tier 1 Capital:
CCBG  386,512 14.27% 162,557 6.00% * *
CCB 358,882 13.25% 162,550 6.00% 216,733 8.00%

Total Capital:
CCBG 414,569 15.30% 216,743 8.00% * *
CCB 386,067 14.25% 216,733 8.00% 270,917 10.00%

Tier 1 Leverage:
CCBG 386,512 8.91% 173,546 4.00% * *
CCB 358,882 8.27% 173,505 4.00% 216,881 5.00%

2021
Common Equity Tier 1:
CCBG $

 
310,947 13.86% $ 100,925 4.50% * *

CCB 346,959 15.50% 100,725 4.50% $ 145,491 6.50%

Tier 1 Capital:
CCBG 361,947 16.14% 134,566 6.00% * *
CCB 346,959 15.50% 134,300 6.00% 179,066 8.00%

Total Capital:
CCBG 384,743 17.15% 179,422 8.00% * *
CCB 369,754 16.52% 179,066 8.00% 223,833 10.00%

Tier 1 Leverage:
CCBG 361,947 8.95% 161,749 4.00% * *
CCB 346,959 8.59% 161,515 4.00% 201,894 5.00%

* Not applicable to bank holding
companies.
Dividend Restrictions . In the ordinary course of business, the Company is dependent upon dividends from its banking

subsidiaryto provide funds for the payment of dividends to shareowners and to provide for other cash requirements. Banking regulations
may limit the amount of dividends that may be paid. Approval by regulatory authorities is required if the effect of
dividendsdeclared would cause the regulatory capital of the Company’s banking subsidiary to fall below specified minimum levels.
 Approval is also required if dividends declared exceed the net profits of the banking subsidiary for that year combined with
theretained net profits for proceeding two years. In 2023, the bank subsidiary may declare dividends without regulatory approval 
of$47.0 million plus an additional amount equal to net profits of the Company’s subsidiary bank for 2023 up to the date of any

suchdividend declaration.
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Note 18
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

FASB Topic ASC 220, “Comprehensive Income” requires that certain transactions and other economic events that bypass
theConsolidated Statements of Income be displayed as other comprehensive income. Total comprehensive income is reported
inthe Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (net of tax) and Changes in Shareowners’ Equity (net of tax).
 
The following table shows the amounts allocated to accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss).

Accumulated
Securities Other
Available Interest Rate Retirement Comprehensive

 (Dollars in Thousands) for Sale Swap Plans (Loss)
IncomeBalance as of January 1, 2022 $ (4,588) $ 1,530 $ (13,156) $ (16,214)

Other comprehensive (loss) income during the
period

(32,761) 3,095 8,651 (21,015)
Balance as of December 31,
2022

$ (37,349) $ 4,625 $ (4,505) $ (37,229)

Balance as of January 1, 2021 $ 2,700 $ 428 $ (47,270) $ (44,142)
Other comprehensive income (loss) during the
period

(7,288) 1,102 34,114 27,928
Balance as of December 31,
2021

$ (4,588) $ 1,530 $ (13,156) $ (16,214)

Balance as of January 1, 2020 $ 864 $ - $ (29,045) $ (28,181)
Other comprehensive income (loss) during the
period

1,836 428 (18,225) (15,961)
Balance as of December 31,
2020

$ 2,700 $ 428 $ (47,270) $ (44,142)

Note 19
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, certain officers and directors were indebted to the Bank in the aggregate amount of
$

7.3 million
and $3.8 million, respectively. During 2022 and 2021,

$
8.5 million and $ 2.4 million in new loans were made and

repaymentstotaled $ 5.0 million and $ 2.9 million, respectively. These loans were all current at December 31, 2022 and
2021.

Deposits from certain directors, executive officers, and their related interests totaled
$

66.3 million and $ 50.1 million at
December31, 2022 and 2021,

respectively.
Under a lease agreement expiring
in

2052, the Bank leases land from a partnership in which William G. Smith, Jr. has an interest.
 The lease agreement with Smith Interests General Partnership L.L.P. provides for annual lease payments of approximately $ 0.2

million, to be adjusted for inflation in future
years.
William G. Smith, III, the son of our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, William G. Smith, Jr., is employed
asPresident, North Florida Region at Capital City Bank. In 2022, William G. Smith, III’s total compensation (consisting of
annualbase salary, annual bonus, and stock-based compensation) was determined in accordance with the Company’s 
standardemployment and compensation practices applicable to associates with similar responsibilities and
positions.
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Note 20
OTHER NONINTEREST EXPENSE

Components of other noninterest expense in excess of 1% of the sum of total interest income and noninterest income, which
arenot disclosed separately elsewhere, are presented below for each of the respective

years.

(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Legal Fees $ 1,413 $ 1,411 $ 1,570
Professional Fees 5,437 5,633 4,863
Telephone 2,851 2,975 2,869
Advertising 3,208 2,683 2,998
Processing Services 6,534 6,569 5,832
Insurance – Other 2,409 2,096 1,607
Pension – Other (3,043) 1,913 (216)
Pension – Settlement 2,321 3,072 -
Other 14,411 10,754 11,500
Total $ 35,541 37,106 31,023

Note 21
COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENCIES
Lending
Commitments

. The Company is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risks in the normal course
ofbusiness to meet the financing needs of its clients. These financial instruments consist of commitments to extend credit

andstandby letters of credit.

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit loss under standby letters of credit and commitments to extend credit
isrepresented by the contractual amount of those instruments. The Company uses the same credit policies in
establishingcommitments and issuing letters of credit as it does for on-balance sheet instruments. At December 31, the amounts
associatedwith the Company’s off-balance sheet obligations were as
follows:

2022 2021
(Dollars in Thousands) Fixed Variable Total Fixed Variable Total
Commitments to Extend
Credit

(1) $ 243,614 $ 531,873 $ 775,487 $ 217,531 $ 505,897 $ 723,428
Standby Letters of
Credit

5,619 - 5,619 5,205 - 5,205
Total $ 249,233 $ 531,873 $ 781,106 $ 222,736 $ 505,897 $ 728,633

(1) Commitments include unfunded loans, revolving lines of credit, and off-balance sheet residential loan commitments.

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a client so long as there is no violation of any condition established
inthe contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a
fee.Since many of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do
notnecessarily represent future cash requirements.

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Company to guarantee the performance of a client to a
thirdparty. The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities.
Ingeneral, management does not anticipate any material losses as a result of participating in these types of transactions. 
However,any potential losses arising from such transactions are reserved for in the same manner as management reserves for its
othercredit facilities.

For both on- and off-balance sheet financial instruments, the Company requires collateral to support such instruments when it
isdeemed necessary. The Company evaluates each client’s creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of
collateralobtained upon extension of credit is based on management’s credit evaluation of the counterparty. Collateral held varies,
butmay include deposits held in financial institutions; U.S. Treasury securities; other marketable securities; real estate;
accountsreceivable; property, plant and equipment; and
inventory.
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The allowance for credit losses for off-balance sheet credit commitments that are not unconditionally cancellable by the Bank
isadjusted as a provision for credit loss expense and is recorded in other liabilities. The following table shows the activity in
theallowance.

(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Beginning Balance $ 2,897 $ 1,644 $ 157
Impact of Adoption of ASC
326

- - 876
Provision for Credit
Losses

92 1,253 611
Ending Balance $ 2,989 $ 2,897 $ 1,644

Other
Commitments

. In the normal course of business, the Company enters into lease commitments which are classified
asoperating leases. See Note 7 – Leases for additional information on the maturity of the Company’s operating lease commitments.

 Furthermore, the Company has an outstanding commitment of up to 
$

1.0 million in a bank tech venture capital fund focused
onfinding and funding technology solutions for community banks and a commitment of up to

$
7.0 million in a solar tax credit

equityfund. At December 31, 2022, the Company had contributed
$

0.2 million of the bank tech commitment and
$

1.0 million of the
solar fund commitment. At December 31, 2021, the Company had contributed
$

0.1 million of the bank tech
commitment.

Contingencies . The Company is a party to lawsuits and claims arising out of the normal course of business. In
management’sopinion, there are no known pending claims or litigation, the outcome of which would, individually or in the aggregate, have a

material effect on the consolidated results of operations, financial position, or cash flows of the
Company.
Indemnification
Obligation

. The Company is a member of the Visa U.S.A. network. Visa U.S.A believes that its member 
banksare required to indemnify it for potential future settlement of certain litigation (the “Covered Litigation”) that relates to

severalantitrust lawsuits challenging the practices of Visa and MasterCard International. In 2008, the Company, as a member of the
VisaU.S.A. network, obtained Class B shares of Visa, Inc. upon its initial public offering. Since its initial public offering, Visa, 
Inc.has funded a litigation reserve for the Covered Litigation resulting in a reduction in the Class B shares held by the Company.
 During the first quarter of 2011, the Company sold its remaining Class B shares. Associated with this sale, the Company
enteredinto a swap contract with the purchaser of the shares that requires a payment to the counterparty in the event that Visa, Inc.
makessubsequent revisions to the conversion ratio for its Class B shares. Fixed charges included in the swap liability are
payablequarterly until the litigation reserve is fully liquidated and at which time the aforementioned swap contract will be terminated.
 Conversion ratio payments and ongoing fixed quarterly charges are reflected in earnings in the period incurred. Payments
during2022 totaled
$

0.9 million. Payments totaled
$

0.8 million and $ 0.7 million for the years 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
AtDecember 31, 2022, there was

$
0.1 million payable. There was $ 0.1 million payable December 31,

2021.
Note 22
FAIR VALUE 
MEASUREMENTS
The fair value of an asset or liability is the exchange price that would be received were the Bank to sell that asset or paid
totransfer that liability (exit price) in an orderly transaction occurring in the principal market (or most advantageous market in
theabsence of a principal market) for such asset or liability. In estimating fair value, the Company utilizes valuation techniques
thatare consistent with the market approach, the income approach and/or the cost approach. Such valuation techniques
areconsistently applied. Inputs to valuation techniques include the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an
assetor liability. ASC Topic 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy for valuation inputs that gives the highest priority to quoted
pricesin active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy is
asfollows:

● Level 1 Inputs
-

Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity
hasthe ability to access at the measurement

date
.

● Level 2 Inputs
-

Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
eitherdirectly or indirectly. These might include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted

pricesfor identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that
areobservable for the asset or liability (such as interest rates, volatilities, prepayment speeds, credit risks, etc.) or inputs
thatare derived principally from, or corroborated, by market data by correlation or other
means

.

● Level 3 Inputs
-

Unobservable inputs for determining the fair values of assets or liabilities that reflect an entity’s
ownassumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the assets or

liabilities.
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring
Basis
Securities Available for Sale. U.S. Treasury securities are reported at fair value utilizing Level 1 inputs. Other

securitiesclassified as available-for-sale are reported at fair value utilizing Level 2 inputs. For these securities, the Company obtains
fairvalue measurements from an independent pricing service. The fair value measurements consider observable data that
mayinclude dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, the U.S. Treasury yield curve, live trading levels, trade execution data,
creditinformation and the bond’s terms and conditions, among other
things.
In general, the Company does not purchase securities that have a complicated structure. The Company’s entire portfolio
consistsof traditional investments, nearly all of which are U.S. Treasury obligations, federal agency bullet or mortgage pass-
throughsecurities, or general obligation or revenue based municipal bonds. Pricing for such instruments is easily obtained. At
leastannually, the Company will validate prices supplied by the independent pricing service by comparing them to prices obtained
from an independent third-party
source.
Loans Held for
Sale

. The fair value of residential mortgage loans held for sale based on Level 2 inputs is determined, 
whenpossible, using either quoted secondary-market prices or investor commitments. If no such quoted price exists, the fair value

isdetermined using quoted prices for a similar asset or assets, adjusted for the specific attributes of that loan, which would be
usedby other market participants. The Company has elected the fair value option accounting for its held for sale loans.
 
Mortgage Banking Derivative
Instruments.

The fair values of IRLCs are derived by valuation models incorporating 
marketpricing for instruments with similar characteristics, commonly referred to as best execution pricing, or investor commitment

prices for best effort IRLCs which have unobservable inputs, such as an estimate of the fair value of the servicing rights
expectedto be recorded upon sale of the loans, net estimated costs to originate the loans, and the pull-through rate, and are
thereforeclassified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of forward sale commitments is based on observable
marketpricing for similar instruments and are therefore classified as Level 2 within the fair value
hierarchy.
Interest Rate
Swap.

The Company’s derivative positions are classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy and are valued
using models generally accepted in the financial services industry and that use actively quoted or observable market input
valuesfrom external market data providers. The fair value derivatives are determined using discounted cash flow
models.
Fair Value 
Swap

. The Company entered into a stand-alone derivative contract with the purchaser of its Visa Class B shares. The
valuation represents the amount due and payable to the counterparty based upon the revised share conversion rate, if any, 
duringthe period. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, there was
$

0.1 million payable. 
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A summary of fair values for assets and liabilities at December 31 consisted of the
following:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

FairInputs Inputs Inputs Value
2022 (As Restated)
ASSETS:
Securities Available for Sale:

U.S. Government Treasury $ 22,050 $ - $ - $ 22,050
U.S. Government
Agency

- 186,052 - 186,052
States and Political
Subdivisions

- 40,329 - 40,329
Mortgage-Backed Securities - 69,405 - 69,405
Corporate Debt
Securities

- 88,236 - 88,236
Loans Held for
Sale

- 26,909 - 26,909
Interest Rate Swap Derivative - 6,195 - 6,195
Mortgage Banking Hedge Derivative - 187 - 187
Mortgage Banking IRLC Derivative - - 819 819

2021
ASSETS:
Securities Available for Sale:

U.S. Government Treasury $ 187,868 $ - $ - $ 187,868
U.S. Government
Agency

- 237,578 - 237,578
State and Political
Subdivisions

- 46,980 - 46,980
Mortgage-Backed Securities - 88,869 - 88,869
Corporate Debt
Securities

- 86,222 - 86,222
Loans Held for
Sale

- 52,532 - 52,532
Interest Rate Swap Derivative - 2,050 - 2,050
Mortgage Banking IRLC Derivative - - 1,258 1,258

LIABILITIES:
Mortgage Banking Hedge Derivative $ - $ 7 $ - $ 7

Mortgage Banking Activities.
 

The Company had Level 3 issuances and transfers of $ 15.4 million and $ 28.5 million, respectively
for the year ended December 31, 2022 related to mortgage banking activities. The Company had Level 3 issuances and
transfersof $31.3 million and $ 47.7 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2021. Issuances are valued based on

thechange in fair value of the underlying mortgage loan from inception of the IRLC to the Consolidated Statement of
FinancialCondition date, adjusted for pull-through rates and costs to originate. IRLCs transferred out of Level 3 represent IRLCs that
werefunded and moved to mortgage loans held for sale, at fair
value.
Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring
Basis
Certain assets are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis (i.e., the assets are not measured at fair value on an
ongoingbasis but are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances). An example would be assets exhibiting evidence
ofimpairment. The following is a description of valuation methodologies used for assets measured on a non-recurring basis.
 
Collateral Dependent
Loans

. Impairment for collateral dependent loans is measured using the fair value of the collateral
lessselling costs. The fair value of collateral is determined by an independent valuation or professional appraisal in conformance

withbanking regulations. Collateral values are estimated using Level 3 inputs due to the volatility in the real estate market, and
thejudgment and estimation involved in the real estate appraisal process. Collateral dependent loans are reviewed and evaluated
onat least a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly. Valuation techniques are consistent with
thosetechniques applied in prior periods. Collateral dependent loans had a carrying value of
$

0.7 million with a valuation allowance
of$0.1 million at December 31, 2022. Collateral dependent loans had a carrying value of

$
2.8 million with a valuation allowance

of$0.2 million at December 31,
2021.
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Other Real Estate
Owned

. During 2022 and 2021, certain foreclosed assets, upon initial recognition, were measured and
reportedat fair value through a charge-off to the allowance for credit losses based on the fair value of the foreclosed asset less

estimatedcost to sell. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, these assets were recorded at fair value, which is determined by an
independentvaluation or professional appraisal in conformance with banking regulations. On an ongoing basis, we obtain updated
appraisalson foreclosed assets and record valuation adjustments as necessary. The fair value of foreclosed assets is estimated using Level
3inputs due to the judgment and estimation involved in the real estate valuation process.
 
Mortgage Servicing Rights . Residential mortgage loan servicing rights are evaluated for impairment at each reporting

periodbased upon the fair value of the rights as compared to the carrying amount. Fair value is determined by a third-party
valuationmodel using estimated prepayment speeds of the underlying mortgage loans serviced and stratifications based on the
riskcharacteristics of the underlying loans (predominantly loan type and note interest rate). The fair value is estimated using Level
3inputs, including a discount rate, weighted average prepayment speed, and the cost of loan servicing. Further detail on the
keyinputs utilized are provided in Note 4 – Mortgage Banking Activities. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, there
was

no valuation
allowance for mortgage servicing rights.

Assets and Liabilities Disclosed at Fair
Value
The Company is required to disclose the estimated fair value of financial instruments, both assets and liabilities, for which it
ispractical to estimate fair value and the following is a description of valuation methodologies used for those assets and
liabilities.
Cash and Short-Term Investments.
 

The carrying amount of cash and short-term investments is used to approximate fair
value,given the short time frame to maturity and as such assets do not present unanticipated credit

concerns. 
Securities Held to
Maturity

. Securities held to maturity are valued in accordance with the methodology previously noted in
thecaption “Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis – Securities Available for

Sale”. 
Loans.  The loan portfolio is segregated into categories and the fair value of each loan category is calculated using present

valuetechniques based upon projected cash flows and estimated discount rates. Pursuant to the adoption of ASU 2016-
01,

Recognition
and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities

, the values reported reflect the incorporation of a
liquiditydiscount to meet the objective of “exit price” valuation.

 
Deposits.  The fair value of Noninterest Bearing Deposits, NOW Accounts, Money Market Accounts and Savings Accounts

arethe amounts payable on demand at the reporting date. The fair value of fixed maturity certificates of deposit is estimated
usingpresent value techniques and rates currently offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities.

Subordinated Notes Payable.  The fair value of each note is calculated using present value techniques, based upon projected
cashflows and estimated discount rates as well as rates being offered for similar

obligations.
Short-Term and Long-Term Borrowings.  The fair value of each note is calculated using present value techniques, based

uponprojected cash flows and estimated discount rates as well as rates being offered for similar
debt.
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A summary of estimated fair values of significant financial instruments at December 31 consisted of the
following:

2022 (As Restated)

(Dollars in Thousands)
Carrying Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Value Inputs Inputs Inputs
ASSETS:
Cash $ 72,114 $ 72,114 $ - $ -
Short-Term Investments 528,536 528,536 - -
Investment Securities, Held to
Maturity

660,774 431,733 180,968 -
Equity Securities (1) 10 - 10 -
Other Equity Securities (2) 2,848 - 2,848 -
Mortgage Servicing Rights 2,599 - - 4,491
Loans, Net of Allowance for Credit
Losses

2,522,617 - - 2,377,229

LIABILITIES:
Deposits $ 3,939,317 $ - $ 3,310,383 $ -
Short-Term Borrowings 56,793 - 56,793 -
Subordinated Notes
Payable

52,887 - 45,763 -
Long-Term
Borrowings

513 - 513 -

2021

(Dollars in Thousands)
Carrying Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Value Inputs Inputs Inputs
ASSETS:
Cash $ 65,313 $ 65,313 $ - $ -
Short-Term Investments 970,041 970,041 - -
Investment Securities, Held to
Maturity

339,601 113,877 225,822 -
Equity Securities (1) 861 - 861 -
Other Equity Securities (2) 2,848 - 2,848 -
Mortgage Servicing Rights 3,774 - - 4,718
Loans, Net of Allowance for Credit
Losses

1,909,859 - - 1,903,640

LIABILITIES:
Deposits $ 3,712,862 $ - $ 3,713,478 $ -
Short-Term Borrowings 34,557 - 34,557 -
Subordinated Notes
Payable

52,887 - 42,609 -
Long-Term
Borrowings

884 - 938 -

(1) Not readily marketable
securities.(2) Accounted for under the equity method - not readily marketable securities - reflected in other
assets.

All non-financial instruments are excluded from the above table. The disclosures also do not include goodwill. Accordingly,
theaggregate fair value amounts presented do not represent the underlying value of the
Company.
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Note 23
PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following are condensed statements of financial condition of the parent company at December
31:
Parent Company Statements of Financial
Condition

(As Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share 
Data)

2022 2021
ASSETS
Cash and Due From Subsidiary
Bank

$ 42,737 $ 25,768
Equity Securities 199 120
Investment in Subsidiary
Bank

404,892 415,580
Goodwill and Other Intangibles 3,998 4,158
Other Assets 11,297 7,866
Total Assets $ 463,123 $ 453,492
 
LIABILITIES
Subordinated Notes
Payable

52,887 52,887
Other Liabilities 22,955 17,439
Total Liabilities $ 75,842 $ 70,326
 
SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock, $ .01 par value; 90,000,000  shares

authorized;
16,986,785  and 16,892,060  shares

issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively

170 169

Additional Paid-In
Capital

37,331 34,423
Retained Earnings 387,009 364,788
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax (37,229) (16,214)
Total Shareowners’ 
Equity

387,281 383,166
Total Liabilities and Shareowners’ 
Equity

$ 463,123 $ 453,492
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The operating results of the parent company for the three years ended December 31 are shown
below:
Parent Company Statements of
Operations

(As Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
OPERATING INCOME
Income Received from Subsidiary
Bank:Administrative Fees $ 5,396 $ 5,516 $ 6,068

Dividends 23,000 10,000 21,000
Other Income 253 174 193

Total Operating Income 28,649 15,690 27,261
 
OPERATING EXPENSE
Salaries and Associate
Benefits

5,034 3,558 3,418
Interest on Subordinated Notes
Payable

1,652 1,233 1,514
Professional Fees 616 1,113 1,079
Advertising 232 134 140
Legal Fees 370 589 456
Other 2,186 2,087 1,673
Total Operating Expense 10,090 8,714 8,280
Earnings Before Income Taxes and Equity in
UndistributedEarnings of Subsidiary

Bank
18,559 6,976 18,981

Income Tax Benefit (661) (717) (406)
Earnings Before Equity in Undistributed Earnings of Subsidiary
Bank

19,220 7,693 19,387
Equity in Undistributed Earnings of Subsidiary
Bank

14,192 25,703 12,189
Net Income Attributable to Common
Shareowners

$ 33,412 $ 33,396 $ 31,576
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The cash flows for the parent company for the three years ended December 31 were as
follows:
Parent Company Statements of Cash
Flows

(As Restated)
(Dollars in Thousands) 2022 2021 2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net Income Attributable to Common
Shareowners

$ 33,412 $ 33,396 $ 31,576
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided By
 Operating Activities:
Equity in Undistributed Earnings of Subsidiary
Bank

(14,192) (25,703) (12,189)
Stock Compensation 1,278 843 892
Amortization of Intangible Asset 160 107 -
Increase in Other Assets (336) (21) (217)
Increase in Other Liabilities 5,847 3,131 1,900
Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities $ 26,169 $ 11,753 $ 21,962

CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of Equity Securities $ (79) $ (120) $ -
Net Cash Paid for Acquisition - (4,482) -
Decrease (Increase) in Investment in Subsidiaries 770 (10,770) -
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing
Activities

$ 691 $ (15,372) $ -

CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repayment of Long-Term Borrowings - (900) (600)
Dividends Paid (11,191) (10,459) (9,567)
Issuance of Common Stock Under Compensation
Plans

1,300 1,028 1,041
Payments to Repurchase Common
Stock

- - (2,042)
Net Cash Used In Financing Activities $ (9,891) $ (10,331) $ (11,168)

Net Increase (Decrease) in
Cash

16,969 (13,950) 10,794
Cash at Beginning of
Year

25,768 39,718 28,924
Cash at End of
Year

$ 42,737 $ 25,768 $ 39,718

Note 24
QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

As further described in Note 1, the previously reported financial information for each of the quarters ended March 31, 2022,
June30, 2022 and September 30, 2022 have been restated and are reflected in the tables that follow. See “Restatement of
PreviouslyIssued Consolidated Financial Statements – Description of Misstatements” in Note 1. The unaudited interim financial
statementsreflect all adjustments that are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair statement of the results for the interim
periodspresented. Restated amounts are computed independently for each quarter presented; therefore, the sum of the quarterly
amountsmay not equal the total amount for the respective year due to
rounding.
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

(Unaudited)
As
Restated(Dollars in Thousands, except per share

data)
Mar 31,
2022

Jun 30,
2022

Sept 30,
2022ASSETS:

Cash and Due From
Banks

$ 77,963 $ 91,209 $ 72,686
Federal Funds Sold and Interest Bearing
Deposits

790,465 603,315 497,679
Total Cash and Cash
Equivalents

868,428 694,524 570,365

Investment Securities Available for Sale (amortized cost of
$

655,927 ,
$643,679 , and $461,646) 624,361 601,405 416,745
Investment Securities Held to Maturity (fair value of
$

501,277 and $498,963 ,
and $623,628) 518,678 528,258 676,178
Other Equity Securities 855 900 1,349
 Total Investment Securities 1,143,894 1,130,563 1,094,272

Loans Held For
Sale

46,256 24,986 23,162

Loans, Net of Unearned Income 1,988,660 2,235,252 2,369,785
Allowance for Loan
Losses

(20,788) (21,463) (22,747)
Loans, Net 1,967,872 2,213,789 2,347,038

Premises and Equipment,
Net

82,518 82,932 81,736
Goodwill 93,213 93,173 93,133
Other Real Estate Owned 17 90 13
Other Assets 106,330 111,270 118,272
Total Assets $ 4,308,528 $ 4,351,327 $ 4,327,991

LIABILITIES
Deposits:

Noninterest Bearing
Deposits

$ 1,704,329 $ 1,724,671 $ 1,737,046
Interest Bearing
Deposits

2,061,178 2,061,587 2,022,332
Total
Deposits

3,765,507 3,786,258 3,759,378

Short-Term Borrowings 30,865 39,463 52,271
Subordinated Notes
Payable

52,887 52,887 52,887
Other Long-Term Borrowings 806 612 562
Other Liabilities 77,323 93,319 84,657
Total Liabilities 3,927,388 3,972,539 3,949,755

Temporary Equity 10,512 10,083 9,751

SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY
Preferred Stock, $ .01 par value; 3,000,000  shares

authorized;
no shares

issuedand outstanding - - -
Common Stock, $ .01 par value; 90,000,000  shares

authorized;
16,947,602 ,

16,959,280 , and $16,961,812  shares issued and outstanding,
respectively

169 170 170
Additional Paid-In
Capital

35,188 35,738 36,234
Retained Earnings 369,014 373,562 380,284
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax (33,743) (40,765) (48,203)

Total Shareowners'
Equity

370,628 368,705 368,485
 Total Liabilities, Temporary Equity, and Shareowners'
Equity

$ 4,308,528 $ 4,351,327 $ 4,327,991
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (Unaudited)

As
RestatedFor Three Months Ended

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

Mar
31,2022

Jun
30,2022

Sept
30,2022

INTEREST INCOME
Loans, Including Fees $ 22,429 $ 24,268 $ 27,839
Investment Securities:

Taxable Securities 2,890 3,833 4,360
Tax Exempt
Securities

6 7 12
Funds Sold 409 1,408 3,231

Total Interest Income 25,734 29,516 35,442

INTEREST EXPENSE
Deposits 224 266 1,052
Short-Term Borrowings 192 343 536
Subordinated Notes
Payable

317 370 443
Other Long-Term Borrowings 9 8 6

Total Interest Expense 742 987 2,037
Net Interest Income 24,992 28,529 33,405
Provision for Loan
Losses

32 1,692 2,154
Net Interest Income After Provision For Loan
Losses

24,960 26,837 31,251

NONINTEREST INCOME
Deposit Fees 5,191 5,447 5,947
Bank Card
Fees

3,763 4,034 3,860
Wealth Management Fees 6,070 4,403 3,937
Mortgage Banking Fees 4,055 4,857 2,895
Other 1,733 1,823 1,870

Total Noninterest Income 20,812 20,564 18,509

NONINTEREST EXPENSE
Compensation 22,298 23,222 22,967
Occupancy, Net 6,093 6,075 6,153
Other 8,132 8,853 8,579

Total Noninterest Expense 36,523 38,150 37,699

INCOME BEFORE INCOME
TAXES

9,249 9,251 12,061
Income Tax Expense 1,720 1,685 2,493

NET INCOME 7,529 7,566 9,568
Pre-Tax Income Attributable to Noncontrolling
Interests

(591) (306) 37

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON
SHAREOWNERS

$ 6,938 $ 7,260 $ 9,605

BASIC NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 0.41 $ 0.43 $ 0.57
DILUTED NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 0.41 $ 0.43 $ 0.57

AVERAGE SHARES:
Basic 16,931 16,949 16,960
Diluted 16,946 16,971 16,996
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME (Unaudited)

As
RestatedFor Three Months Ended

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

Mar
31,2022

Jun
30,2022

Sept
30,2022

NET INCOME $ 6,938 $ 7,260 $ 9,605
Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:Investment Securities:

Change in net unrealized (loss) gain on securities available for
sale

(25,445) (10,714) (2,618)
Unrealized losses on securities transferred from available for sale to held 
tomaturity - - (9,384)
Amortization of unrealized losses on securities transferred from available for sale
toheld to maturity - - 586

Total Investment Securities (25,445) (10,714) (11,416)
Derivative:

Change in net unrealized gain on effective cash flow 
derivative

1,836 1,161 1,407
Benefit Plans:

Defined benefit plan
settlement

209 169 102
 Total Benefit Plans 209 169 102

Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:

(23,400) (9,384) (9,907)
Deferred tax (benefit) expense related to other comprehensive
income

(5,871) (2,362) (2,469)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
tax

(17,529) (7,022) (7,438)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME $ (10,591) $ 238 $ 2,167
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY

(Unaudited)
As
RestatedFor Three Months Ended March 31,

2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss, Net of

Taxes Total
 Balance, January 1, 2022, as restated 16,892,060 $ 169 $ 34,423 $ 364,788 $ (16,214) $ 383,166

Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - 6,938 - 6,938
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (17,529) (17,529)
Cash Dividends ($0.16 per share) - - - (2,712) - (2,712)
Stock Based Compensation - - 245 - - 245
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 55,542 520 - - 520
Balance, March 31, 2022, as restated 16,947,602 $ 169 $ 35,188 $ 369,014 $ (33,743) $ 370,628

As
RestatedFor Six Months Ended June 30,

2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss, Net of

Taxes Total
 Balance, January 1, 2022, as restated 16,892,060 $ 169 $ 34,423 $ 364,788 $ (16,214) $ 383,166

Net Income - - - 14,198 - 14,198
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (24,551) (24,551)
Cash Dividends ($0.32 per share) - - - (5,424) - (5,424)
Stock Based Compensation - - 489 - - 489
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 67,220 1 826 - - 827
Balance, June 30, 2022, as restated 16,959,280 $ 170 $ 35,738 $ 373,562 $ (40,765) $ 368,705

As
RestatedFor Nine Months Ended September 30,

2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss, Net of

Taxes Total
 Balance, January 1, 2022 16,892,060 $ 169 $ 34,423 $ 364,788 $ (16,214) $ 383,166

Net Income - - - 23,803 - 23,803
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (31,989) (31,989)
Cash Dividends ($0.49 per share) - - - (8,307) - (8,307)
Stock Based Compensation - - 904 - 904
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 69,752 1 907 - 908
Balance, September 30, 2022 16,961,812 $ 170 $ 36,234 $ 380,284 $ (48,203) $ 368,485
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

As
Restated

(Dollars in Thousands)

For Three
Months
Ended 

Mar 31,
2022

For
SixMonths
Ended 

Jun 30,
2022

For
NineMonths
Ended 

Sept 30,
2022CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Income Attributable to Common
Shareowners

$ 6,938 $ 14,198 $ 23,803
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to
 Provision for Credit
Losses

32 1,724 3,878
 Depreciation 1,907 3,802 5,689
 Amortization of Premiums, Discounts, and Fees, net 2,610 5,053 6,618
 Amortization of Intangible Assets 40 80 120
 Pension Settlement Charge 209 378 480
 Originations of Loans Held-for-Sale (242,253) (549,018) (772,089)
 Proceeds From Sales of Loans Held-for-
Sale

252,584 585,476 813,267
 Mortgage Banking Revenues (4,055) (8,912) (11,807)
 Net Additions for Capitalized Mortgage Servicing
Rights

364 360 570
 Stock Compensation 245 489 904
 Net Tax Benefit From Stock-Based Compensation (19) (19) (19)
 Deferred Income Taxes (Benefit) (6,682) (9,887) (12,854)
 Net Change in Operating
Leases

(27) (72) (83)
 Net (Gain) Loss on Sales and Write-Downs of Other Real Estate
Owned

- (26) (136)
 Net Decrease (Increase) in Other Assets 1,897 3,516 3,696
 Net (Decrease) Increase in Other
Liabilities

7,036 22,040 12,839
Net Cash Provided (Used In) By Operating Activities 20,826 69,182 74,876
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIESSecurities Held to
Maturity: Purchases (194,448) (218,548) (219,865)
 Payments, Maturities, and Calls 14,441 28,111 40,096
 Purchases (25,139) (37,044) (41,880)
 Proceeds from Sale of
Securities

3,365 3,365 3,365
 Payments, Maturities, and Calls 24,824 47,413 64,301
Purchase of loans held for
investment

(26,713) (174,779) (329,481)
Net Increase in Loans Held for
Investment

(31,260) (130,913) (113,116)
Proceeds From Sales of Other Real Estate
Owned

- 30 1,683
Purchases of Premises and Equipment (1,013) (3,322) (4,013)
Noncontrolling interest contributions received 1,838 2,573 2,867
Net Cash Used In Investing
Activities

(234,105) (483,114) (596,043)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIESNet Increase in
Deposits

52,645 73,396 46,516
Net (Decrease) Increase in Other Short-Term 
Borrowings

(3,692) 4,784 17,592
Repayment of Other Long-Term Borrowings (78) (150) (200)
Dividends Paid (2,712) (5,424) (8,307)
Issuance of Common Stock Under Compensation
Plans

190 496 577
Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities 46,353 73,102 56,178
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

(166,926) (340,830) (464,989)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period
 

1,035,354 1,035,354 1,035,354
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period
 

$ 868,428 $ 694,524 $ 570,365
Supplemental Cash Flow
Disclosures: Interest Paid $ 715 $ 1,617 $ 3,588
 Income Taxes Paid $ 20 $ 3,765 $ 6,410
Noncash Investing and Financing
Activities: Loans and Premises Transferred to Other Real Estate Owned $ - $ 77 $ 1,543
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

(Unaudited)
As of March 31,
2022

(Dollars in Thousands, except per share
data)

As
Previously
Reported

Restatement
Impact

As
Restated

ASSETS:
Cash and Due From
Banks

$ 77,963 $ - $ 77,963
Federal Funds Sold and Interest Bearing
Deposits

790,465 - 790,465
Total Cash and Cash
Equivalents

868,428 - 868,428

Investment Securities Available for Sale (amortized cost of
$

655,927 ) 624,361 - 624,361
Investment Securities Held to Maturity (fair value of
$

501,277) 518,678 - 518,678
Other Equity Securities 855 - 855
 Total Investment Securities 1,143,894 - 1,143,894

Loans Held For
Sale

50,815 (4,559) 46,256

Loans, Net of Unearned Income 1,985,509 3,151 1,988,660
Allowance for Loan
Losses

(20,756) (32) (20,788)
Loans, Net 1,964,753 3,119 1,967,872

Premises and Equipment,
Net

82,518 - 82,518
Goodwill 93,213 - 93,213
Other Real Estate Owned 17 - 17
Other Assets 106,407 (77) 106,330
Total Assets $ 4,310,045 $ (1,517) $ 4,308,528

LIABILITIES
Deposits:

Noninterest Bearing
Deposits

$ 1,704,329 $ - $ 1,704,329
Interest Bearing
Deposits

2,061,178 - 2,061,178
Total
Deposits

3,765,507 - 3,765,507

Short-Term Borrowings 30,865 - 30,865
Subordinated Notes
Payable

52,887 - 52,887
Other Long-Term Borrowings 806 - 806
Other Liabilities 77,323 - 77,323
Total Liabilities 3,927,388 - 3,927,388

Temporary Equity 10,512 - 10,512

SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY
Preferred Stock: $ .01 par

value,
3,000,000  shares authorized

no shares issues and outstanding - - -
Common Stock, $ .01 par

value,
90,000,000  shares authorized

16,947,602  shares issued and
outstanding

169 - 169
Additional Paid-In
Capital

35,188 - 35,188
Retained Earnings 370,531 (1,517) 369,014
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax (33,743) - (33,743)

Total Shareowners'
Equity

372,145 (1,517) 370,628
 Total Liabilities, Temporary Equity, and Shareowners'
Equity

$ 4,310,045 $ (1,517) $ 4,308,528
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

(Unaudited)

As of June 30,
2022

(Dollars in Thousands, except per share
data)

As
Previously
Reported

Restatement
Impact

As
Restated

ASSETS:
Cash and Due From
Banks

$ 91,209 $ - $ 91,209
Federal Funds Sold and Interest Bearing
Deposits

603,315 - 603,315
Total Cash and Cash
Equivalents

694,524 - 694,524

Investment Securities Available for Sale (amortized cost of
$

643,679 ) 601,405 - 601,405
Investment Securities Held to Maturity (fair value of
$

498,963) 528,258 - 528,258
Other Equity Securities 900 - 900
 Total Investment Securities 1,130,563 - 1,130,563

Loans Held For
Sale

48,708 (23,722) 24,986

Loans, Net of Unearned Income 2,213,653 21,599 2,235,252
Allowance for Loan
Losses

(21,281) (182) (21,463)
Loans, Net 2,192,372 21,417 2,213,789

Premises and Equipment,
Net

82,932 - 82,932
Goodwill 93,173 - 93,173
Other Real Estate Owned 90 - 90
Other Assets 111,935 (665) 111,270
Total Assets $ 4,354,297 $ (2,970) $ 4,351,327

LIABILITIES
Deposits:

Noninterest Bearing
Deposits

$ 1,724,671 $ - $ 1,724,671
Interest Bearing
Deposits

2,061,587 - 2,061,587
Total
Deposits

3,786,258 - 3,786,258

Short-Term Borrowings 39,463 - 39,463
Subordinated Notes
Payable

52,887 - 52,887
Other Long-Term Borrowings 612 - 612
Other Liabilities 93,319 - 93,319
Total Liabilities 3,972,539 - 3,972,539

Temporary Equity 10,083 - 10,083

SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY
Preferred Stock: $ .01 par

value,
3,000,000  shares authorized

no shares issues and outstanding - - -
Common Stock, $ .01 par

value,
90,000,000  shares authorized

16,959,280  shares issued and
outstanding

170 - 170
Additional Paid-In
Capital

35,738 - 35,738
Retained Earnings 376,532 (2,970) 373,562
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax (40,765) - (40,765)

Total Shareowners'
Equity

371,675 (2,970) 368,705
 Total Liabilities, Temporary Equity, and Shareowners'
Equity

$ 4,354,297 $ (2,970) $ 4,351,327
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

(Unaudited)
As of September 30,
2022

(Dollars in Thousands, except per share
data)

As
Previously
Reported

Restatement
Impact

As
Restated

ASSETS:
Cash and Due From
Banks

$ 72,686 $ - $ 72,686
Federal Funds Sold and Interest Bearing
Deposits

497,679 - 497,679
Total Cash and Cash
Equivalents

570,365 - 570,365

Investment Securities Available for Sale (amortized cost of
$

461,646 ) 416,745 - 416,745
Investment Securities Held to Maturity (fair value of
$

623,628) 676,178 - 676,178
Other Equity Securities 1,349 - 1,349
 Total Investment Securities 1,094,272 - 1,094,272

Loans Held For
Sale

50,304 (27,142) 23,162

Loans, Net of Unearned Income 2,346,185 23,600 2,369,785
Allowance for Loan
Losses

(22,510) (237) (22,747)
Loans, Net 2,323,675 23,363 2,347,038

Premises and Equipment,
Net

81,736 - 81,736
Goodwill 93,133 - 93,133
Other Real Estate Owned 13 - 13
Other Assets 119,173 (901) 118,272
Total Assets $ 4,332,671 $ (4,680) $ 4,327,991

LIABILITIES
Deposits:

Noninterest Bearing
Deposits

$ 1,737,046 $ - $ 1,737,046
Interest Bearing
Deposits

2,022,332 - 2,022,332
Total
Deposits

3,759,378 - 3,759,378

Short-Term Borrowings 52,271 - 52,271
Subordinated Notes
Payable

52,887 - 52,887
Other Long-Term Borrowings 562 - 562
Other Liabilities 84,657 - 84,657
Total Liabilities 3,949,755 - 3,949,755

Temporary Equity 9,751 - 9,751

SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY
Preferred Stock: $ .01 par

value,
3,000,000  shares authorized

no shares issues and outstanding - - -
Common Stock, $ .01 par

value,
90,000,000  shares authorized

16,961,812  shares issued and
outstanding

170 - 170
Additional Paid-In
Capital

36,234 - 36,234
Retained Earnings 384,964 (4,680) 380,284
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax (48,203) - (48,203)

Total Shareowners'
Equity

373,165 (4,680) 368,485
 Total Liabilities, Temporary Equity, and Shareowners'
Equity

$ 4,332,671 $ (4,680) $ 4,327,991
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (Unaudited)

For Three Months Ended March 31,
2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated
INTEREST INCOME
Loans, Including Fees $ 22,133 $ 296 $ 22,429

Taxable Securities 2,890 - 2,890
Tax Exempt
Securities

6 - 6
Funds Sold 409 - 409

Total Interest Income 25,438 296 25,734

INTEREST EXPENSE
Deposits 224 - 224
Short-Term Borrowings 192 - 192
Subordinated Notes
Payable

317 - 317
Other Long-Term Borrowings 9 - 9

Total Interest Expense 742 - 742
Net Interest Income 24,696 296 24,992
Provision for Loan
Losses

- 32 32
Net Interest Income After Provision For Loan
Losses

24,696 264 24,960

NONINTEREST INCOME
Deposit Fees 5,191 - 5,191
Bank Card
Fees

3,763 - 3,763
Wealth Management Fees 6,070 - 6,070
Mortgage Banking Fees 8,946 (4,891) 4,055
Other 1,848 (115) 1,733

Total Noninterest Income 25,818 (5,006) 20,812

NONINTEREST EXPENSE
Compensation 24,856 (2,558) 22,298
Occupancy, Net 6,093 - 6,093
Other Real Estate, Net 25 - 25
Pension Settlement 209 - 209
Other 8,050 (152) 7,898

Total Noninterest Expense 39,233 (2,710) 36,523

INCOME BEFORE INCOME
TAXES

11,281 (2,032) 9,249
Income Tax Expense 2,235 (515) 1,720

NET INCOME 9,046 (1,517) 7,529
Pre-Tax Income Attributable to Noncontrolling
Interests

(591) - (591)

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON
SHAREOWNERS

$ 8,455 $ (1,517) $ 6,938

BASIC NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 0.50 $ (0.09) $ 0.41
DILUTED NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 0.50 $ (0.09) $ 0.41

AVERAGE SHARES:
Basic 16,931 - 16,931
Diluted 16,946 - 16,946
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (Unaudited)

For Three Months Ended June 30,
2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated
INTEREST INCOME
Loans, Including Fees $ 24,072 $ 196 $ 24,268

Taxable Securities 3,833 - 3,833
Tax Exempt
Securities

7 - 7
Funds Sold 1,408 - 1,408

Total Interest Income 29,320 196 29,516

INTEREST EXPENSE
Deposits 266 - 266
Short-Term Borrowings 343 - 343
Subordinated Notes
Payable

370 - 370
Other Long-Term Borrowings 8 - 8

Total Interest Expense 987 - 987
Net Interest Income 28,333 196 28,529
Provision for Loan
Losses

1,542 150 1,692
Net Interest Income After Provision For Loan
Losses

26,791 46 26,837

NONINTEREST INCOME
Deposit Fees 5,447 - 5,447
Bank Card
Fees

4,034 - 4,034
Wealth Management Fees 4,403 - 4,403
Mortgage Banking Fees 9,065 (4,208) 4,857
Other 1,954 (131) 1,823

Total Noninterest Income 24,903 (4,339) 20,564

NONINTEREST EXPENSE
Compensation 25,383 (2,161) 23,222
Occupancy, Net 6,075 - 6,075
Other Real Estate, Net (29) - (29)
Pension Settlement 169 - 169
Other 8,900 (187) 8,713

Total Noninterest Expense 40,498 (2,348) 38,150

INCOME BEFORE INCOME
TAXES

11,196 (1,945) 9,251
Income Tax Expense 2,177 (492) 1,685

NET INCOME 9,019 (1,453) 7,566
Pre-Tax Income Attributable to Noncontrolling
Interests

(306) - (306)

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON
SHAREOWNERS

$ 8,713 $ (1,453) $ 7,260

BASIC NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 0.51 $ (0.08) $ 0.43
DILUTED NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 0.51 $ (0.08) $ 0.43

AVERAGE SHARES:
Basic 16,949 - 16,949
Diluted 16,971 - 16,971
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (Unaudited)

For Six Months Ended June 30,
2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated
INTEREST INCOME
Loans, Including Fees $ 46,205 $ 492 $ 46,697

Taxable Securities 6,723 - 6,723
Tax Exempt
Securities

13 - 13
Funds Sold 1,817 - 1,817

Total Interest Income 54,758 492 55,250

INTEREST EXPENSE
Deposits 490 - 490
Short-Term Borrowings 535 - 535
Subordinated Notes
Payable

687 - 687
Other Long-Term Borrowings 17 - 17

Total Interest Expense 1,729 - 1,729
Net Interest Income 53,029 492 53,521
Provision for Loan
Losses

1,542 182 1,724
Net Interest Income After Provision For Loan
Losses

51,487 310 51,797

NONINTEREST INCOME
Deposit Fees 10,638 - 10,638
Bank Card
Fees

7,797 - 7,797
Wealth Management Fees 10,473 - 10,473
Mortgage Banking Fees 18,011 (9,099) 8,912
Other 3,802 (246) 3,556

Total Noninterest Income 50,721 (9,345) 41,376

NONINTEREST EXPENSE
Compensation 50,239 (4,719) 45,520
Occupancy, Net 12,168 - 12,168
Other 17,324 (339) 16,985

Total Noninterest Expense 79,731 (5,058) 74,673

INCOME BEFORE INCOME
TAXES

22,477 (3,977) 18,500
Income Tax Expense 4,412 (1,007) 3,405

NET INCOME 18,065 (2,970) 15,095
Pre-Tax Income Attributable to Noncontrolling
Interests

(897) - (897)

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON
SHAREOWNERS

$ 17,168 $ (2,970) $ 14,198

BASIC NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 1.01 $ (0.17) $ 0.84
DILUTED NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 1.01 $ (0.17) $ 0.84

AVERAGE SHARES:
Basic 16,940 - 16,940
Diluted 16,958 - 16,958



   

140

 

 

        

     

              
   

   

     

     
   

           

           
   

   

     

     

              
   

   

     

              
   

     

        

     
   

          
 

          
 

     

     

CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (Unaudited)

For Three Months Ended September
30, 2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated
INTEREST INCOME
Loans, Including Fees $ 27,761 $ 78 $ 27,839

Taxable Securities 4,360 - 4,360
Tax Exempt
Securities

12 - 12
Funds Sold 3,231 - 3,231

Total Interest Income 35,364 78 35,442

INTEREST EXPENSE
Deposits 1,052 - 1,052
Short-Term Borrowings 536 - 536
Subordinated Notes
Payable

443 - 443
Other Long-Term Borrowings 6 - 6

Total Interest Expense 2,037 - 2,037
Net Interest Income 33,327 78 33,405
Provision for Loan
Losses

2,099 55 2,154
Net Interest Income After Provision For Loan
Losses

31,228 23 31,251

NONINTEREST INCOME
Deposit Fees 5,947 - 5,947
Bank Card
Fees

3,860 - 3,860
Wealth Management Fees 3,937 - 3,937
Mortgage Banking Fees 7,116 (4,221) 2,895
Other 2,074 (204) 1,870

Total Noninterest Income 22,934 (4,425) 18,509

NONINTEREST EXPENSE
Compensation 24,738 (1,771) 22,967
Occupancy, Net 6,153 - 6,153
Other 8,919 (340) 8,579

Total Noninterest Expense 39,810 (2,111) 37,699

INCOME BEFORE INCOME
TAXES

14,352 (2,291) 12,061
Income Tax Expense 3,074 (581) 2,493

NET INCOME 11,278 (1,710) 9,568
Pre-Tax Income Attributable to Noncontrolling
Interests

37 - 37

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON
SHAREOWNERS

$ 11,315 $ (1,710) $ 9,605

BASIC NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 0.67 $ (0.10) $ 0.57
DILUTED NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 0.67 $ (0.10) $ 0.57

AVERAGE SHARES:
Basic 16,960 - 16,960
Diluted 16,996 - 16,996
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (Unaudited)

For Nine Months Ended September 30,
2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated
INTEREST INCOME
Loans, Including Fees $ 73,966 $ 570 $ 74,536

Taxable Securities 11,083 - 11,083
Tax Exempt
Securities

25 - 25
Funds Sold 5,048 - 5,048

Total Interest Income 90,122 570 90,692

INTEREST EXPENSE
Deposits 1,542 - 1,542
Short-Term Borrowings 1,071 - 1,071
Subordinated Notes
Payable

1,130 - 1,130
Other Long-Term Borrowings 23 - 23

Total Interest Expense 3,766 - 3,766
Net Interest Income 86,356 570 86,926
Provision for Loan
Losses

3,641 237 3,878
Net Interest Income After Provision For Loan
Losses

82,715 333 83,048

NONINTEREST INCOME
Deposit Fees 16,585 - 16,585
Bank Card
Fees

11,657 - 11,657
Wealth Management Fees 14,410 - 14,410
Mortgage Banking Fees 25,127 (13,320) 11,807
Other 5,876 (450) 5,426

Total Noninterest Income 73,655 (13,770) 59,885

NONINTEREST EXPENSE
Compensation 74,977 (6,490) 68,487
Occupancy, Net 18,321 - 18,321
Other 26,243 (679) 25,564

Total Noninterest Expense 119,541 (7,169) 112,372

INCOME BEFORE INCOME
TAXES

36,829 (6,268) 30,561
Income Tax Expense 7,486 (1,588) 5,898

NET INCOME 29,343 (4,680) 24,663
Pre-Tax Income Attributable to Noncontrolling
Interests

(860) - (860)

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON
SHAREOWNERS

$ 28,483 $ (4,680) $ 23,803

BASIC NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 1.68 $ (0.28) $ 1.40
DILUTED NET INCOME PER SHARE $ 1.68 $ (0.28) $ 1.40

AVERAGE SHARES:
Basic 16,947 - 16,947
Diluted 16,973 - 16,973
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME (Unaudited)

For Three Months Ended March 31,
2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated

NET INCOME $ 8,455 $ (1,517) $ 6,938
Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:Investment Securities:

Change in net unrealized (loss) gain on securities available for
sale

(25,445) - (25,445)
Derivative:

Change in net unrealized gain on effective cash flow 
derivative

1,836 - 1,836
Benefit Plans:

Defined benefit plan
settlement

209 - 209
 Total Benefit Plans 209 - 209

Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:

(23,400) - (23,400)
Deferred tax (benefit) expense related to other comprehensive
income

(5,871) - (5,871)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
tax

(17,529) - (17,529)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME $ (9,074) $ (1,517) $ (10,591)
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME (Unaudited)

For Three Months Ended June 30,
2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated

NET INCOME $ 8,713 $ (1,453) $ 7,260
Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:Investment Securities:

Change in net unrealized (loss) gain on securities available for
sale

(10,714) - (10,714)
Derivative:

Change in net unrealized gain on effective cash flow 
derivative

1,161 - 1,161
Benefit Plans:

Defined benefit plan
settlement

169 - 169
 Total Benefit Plans 169 - 169

Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:

(9,384) - (9,384)
Deferred tax (benefit) expense related to other comprehensive
income

(2,362) - (2,362)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
tax

(7,022) - (7,022)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) $ 1,691 $ (1,453) $ 238
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME (Unaudited)

For Six Months Ended June 30,
2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated
NET INCOME $ 17,168 $ (2,970) $ 14,198
Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:Investment Securities:

Change in net unrealized (loss) gain on securities available for
sale

(36,158) - (36,158)
Derivative:

Change in net unrealized gain on effective cash flow 
derivative

2,997 - 2,997
Benefit Plans:

Defined benefit plan
settlement

378 - 378
 Total Benefit Plans 378 - 378

Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:

(32,783) - (32,783)
Deferred tax (benefit) expense related to other comprehensive
income

(8,232) - (8,232)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
tax

(24,551) - (24,551)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME $ (7,383) $ (2,970) $ (10,353)
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME (Unaudited)

For Three Months Ended September 30,
2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated

NET INCOME $ 11,315 $ (1,710) $ 9,605
Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:Investment Securities:

Change in net unrealized (loss) gain on securities available for
sale

(2,618) - (2,618)
Unrealized losses on securities transferred from available for sale to held 
tomaturity (9,384) - (9,384)
Amortization of unrealized losses on securities transferred from available 
forsale to held to
maturity

586 - 586
Derivative:

Change in net unrealized gain on effective cash flow 
derivative

1,407 - 1,407
Benefit Plans:

Defined benefit plan
settlement

102 - 102
 Total Benefit Plans 102 - 102

Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:

(9,907) - (9,907)
Deferred tax (benefit) expense related to other comprehensive
income

(2,469) - (2,469)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
tax

(7,438) - (7,438)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) $ 3,877 $ (1,710) $ 2,167
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Unaudited)

For Nine Months Ended September 30,
2022

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated

NET INCOME $ 28,483 $ (4,680) $ 23,803
Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:Investment Securities:

Change in net unrealized (loss) gain on securities available for
sale

(38,778) - (38,778)
Unrealized losses on securities transferred from available for sale to held 
tomaturity (9,384) - (9,384)
Amortization of unrealized losses on securities transferred from available 
forsale to held to
maturity

586 - 586
Derivative:

Change in net unrealized gain on effective cash flow 
derivative

4,403 - 4,403
Benefit Plans:

Defined benefit plan
settlement

480 - 480
 Total Benefit Plans 480 - 480

Other comprehensive income (loss), before 
tax:

(42,693) - (42,693)
Deferred tax expense (benefit) related to other comprehensive
income

10,704 - 10,704
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
tax

(31,989) - (31,989)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $ (3,506) $ (4,680) $ (8,186)
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY

(Unaudited)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss, Net
of Taxes Total

 As Previously Reported
Balance, January 1, 2022, as previously reported 16,892,060 $ 169 $ 34,423 $ 364,788 $ (16,214) $ 383,166
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - 8,455 - 8,455
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (17,529) (17,529)
Cash Dividends ($0.16 per share) - - - (2,712) - (2,712)
Stock Based Compensation - - 245 - - 245
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 55,542 - 520 - - 520
Balance, March 31, 2022, as previously reported 16,947,602 169 35,188 370,531 (33,743) 372,145

Restatement Impacts
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - (1,517) - (1,517)
Balance, March 31, 2022 - - - (1,517) - (1,517)

As Restated
Balance, January 1, 2022, as restated 16,892,060 169 34,423 364,788 (16,214) 383,166
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - 6,938 - 6,938
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - (17,529) (17,529)
Cash Dividends ($0.16 per share) - - - (2,712) - (2,712)
Stock Based Compensation - - 245 - - 245
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 55,542 - 520 - - 520
Balance, March 31, 2022, as restated 16,947,602 $ 169 $ 35,188 $ 369,014 $ (33,743) $ 370,628
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY

(Unaudited)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss, Net
of Taxes Total

 As Previously
ReportedBalance, April 1, 2022, as previously reported 16,947,602 $ 169 $ 35,188 $ 370,531 $ (33,743) $ 372,145
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - 8,713 - 8,713
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - (7,022) (7,022)
Cash Dividends ($0.16 per share) - - - (2,712) - (2,712)
Stock Based Compensation - - 244 - - 244
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 11,678 1 306 - - 307
Balance, June 30, 2022, as previously reported 16,959,280 170 35,738 376,532 (40,765) 371,675

Restatement Impacts
Balance, April 1, 2022 - - - (1,517) - (1,517)
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - (1,453) - (1,453)
Balance, June 30, 2022 - - - (2,970) - (2,970)

As
RestatedBalance, April 1, 2022, as restated 16,947,602 169 35,188 369,014 (33,743) 370,628
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - 7,260 - 7,260
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (7,022) (7,022)
Cash Dividends ($0.16 per share) - - - (2,712) - (2,712)
Stock Based Compensation - - 244 - - 244
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 11,678 1 306 - - 307
Balance, June 30, 2022, as restated 16,959,280 $ 170 $ 35,738 $ 373,562 $ (40,765) $ 368,705
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY

(Unaudited)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss, Net
of Taxes Total

 As Previously
ReportedBalance, January 1, 2022, as previously reported 16,892,060 $ 169 $ 34,423 $ 364,788 $ (16,214) $ 383,166
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - 17,168 - 17,168
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (24,551) (24,551)
Cash Dividends ($0.32 per share) - - - (5,424) - (5,424)
Stock Based Compensation - - 489 - - 489
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 67,220 1 826 - - 827
Balance, June 30, 2022, as previously reported 16,959,280 170 35,738 376,532 (40,765) 371,675

Restatement Impacts
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - (2,970) - (2,970)
Balance, June 30, 2022 - - - (2,970) (2,970)

As
RestatedBalance, January 1, 2022, as restated 16,892,060 169 34,423 364,788 (16,214) 383,166
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - 14,198 - 14,198
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - (24,551) (24,551)
Cash Dividends ($0.32 per share) - - - (5,424) - (5,424)
Stock Based Compensation - - 489 - - 489
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 67,220 1 826 - - 827
Balance, June 30, 2022, as restated 16,959,280 $ 170 $ 35,738 $ 373,562 $ (40,765) $ 368,705
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY

(Unaudited)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss, Net
of Taxes Total

 As Previously Reported

Balance, July 1, 2022, as previously reported 16,959,280 $ 170 $ 35,738 $ 376,532 $ (40,765) $ 371,675
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - 11,315 - 11,315
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (7,438) (7,438)
Cash Dividends ($0.16 per share) - - - (2,883) - (2,883)
Stock Based Compensation - - 415 - - 415
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 2,532 - 81 - - 81
Balance, September 30, 2022, as previously
reported 16,961,812 170 36,234 384,964 (48,203) 373,165

Restatement Impacts

Balance, July 1, 2022 - - - (2,970) - (2,970)
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - (1,710) - (1,710)
Balance, September 30, 2022 - - - (4,680) - (4,680)

As Restated

Balance, July 1, 2022, as restated 16,959,280 170 35,738 373,562 (40,765) 368,705
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - 9,605 - 9,605
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (7,438) (7,438)
Cash Dividends ($0.16 per share) - - - (2,883) - (2,883)
Stock Based Compensation - - 415 - - 415
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 2,532 - 81 - - 81
Balance, September 30, 2022, as restated 16,961,812 $ 170 $ 36,234 $ 380,284 $ (48,203) $ 368,485
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY

(Unaudited)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share
data)

Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss, Net
of Taxes Total

 As Previously Reported
Balance, January 1, 2022, as previously reported 16,892,060 $ 169 $ 34,423 $ 364,788 $ (16,214) $ 383,166
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - 28,483 - 28,483
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (31,989) (31,989)
Cash Dividends ($0.49 per share) - - - (8,307) - (8,307)
Stock Based Compensation - - 904 - - 904
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 69,752 1 907 - - 908
Balance, September 30, 2022, as previously
reported

16,961,812 170 36,234 384,964 (48,203) 373,165

Restatement Impacts
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - (4,680) - (4,680)
Balance, September 30, 2022 - - - (4,680) (4,680)

As Restated
Balance, January 1, 2022, as restated 16,892,060 169 34,423 364,788 (16,214) 383,166
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareowners - - - 23,803 - 23,803
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax - - - - (31,989) (31,989)
Cash Dividends ($0.49 per share) - - - (8,307) - (8,307)
Stock Based Compensation - - 904 - - 904
Stock Compensation Plan Transactions, net 69,752 1 907 - - 908
Balance, September 30, 2022, as restated 16,961,812 $ 170 $ 36,234 $ 380,284 $ (48,203) $ 368,485
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

For the Three Months Ended March 31,
2022

(Dollars in Thousands)
As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Income $ 8,455 $ (1,517) $ 6,938
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to
 Provision for Credit
Losses

- 32 32
 Depreciation 1,907 - 1,907
 Amortization of Premiums, Discounts, and Fees, net 2,907 (297) 2,610
 Amortization of Intangible Assets 40 - 40
 Pension Settlement Charges 209 - 209
 Originations of Loans Held for
Sale

(246,887) 4,634 (242,253)
 Proceeds From Sales of Loans Held for
Sale

257,550 (4,966) 252,584
 Mortgage Banking Revenues (8,946) 4,891 (4,055)
 Net Additions for Capitalized Mortgage Servicing
Rights

227 137 364
 Stock Compensation 245 - 245
 Net Tax Benefit from Stock
Compensation

(19) - (19)
 Deferred Income Taxes (Benefit) (6,167) (515) (6,682)
 Net Change in Operating
Leases

(27) - (27)
 Net (Increase) Decrease in Other Assets 1,441 456 1,897
 Net Increase (Decrease) in Other
Liabilities

7,036 - 7,036
Net Cash Provided (Used In) By Operating Activities 17,971 2,855 20,826

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIESSecurities Held to
Maturity: Purchases (194,448) - (194,448)
 Payments, Maturities, and Calls 14,441 - 14,441
Securities Available for Sale:
 Purchases (25,139) - (25,139)
 Proceeds from the Sale of
Securities

3,365 - 3,365
 Payments, Maturities, and Calls 24,824 - 24,824
Purchases of Loans Held for
Investment

(26,713) - (26,713)
Net (Increase) Decrease in Loans (28,405) (2,855) (31,260)
Purchases of Premises and Equipment,
net

(1,013) - (1,013)
Noncontrolling Interest
Contributions

1,838 - 1,838
Net Cash Used In Investing
Activities

(231,250) (2,855) (234,105)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIESNet Increase in
Deposits

52,645 - 52,645
Net (Decrease) Increase in Other Short-Term
Borrowings

(3,692) - (3,692)
Repayment of Other Long-Term Borrowings (78) - (78)
Dividends Paid (2,712) - (2,712)
Issuance of Common Stock Under Compensation
Plans

190 - 190
Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities 46,353 - 46,353

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

(166,926) - (166,926)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period
 

1,035,354 - 1,035,354
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period
 

$ 868,428 $ - $ 868,428

Supplemental Cash Flow
Disclosures: Interest Paid $ 715 $ - $ 715
 Income Taxes Paid $ 20 $ - $ 20

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these
statements.
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

For the Six Months Ended June 30,
2022

(Dollars in Thousands)
As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Income Attributable to Common
Shareowners

$ 17,168 $ (2,970) $ 14,198
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to
 Provision for Credit
Losses

1,542 182 1,724
 Depreciation 3,802 - 3,802
 Amortization of Premiums, Discounts, and Fees, net 5,545 (492) 5,053
 Amortization of Intangible Assets 80 - 80
 Pension Settlement Charges 378 - 378
 Originations of Loans Held for
Sale

(573,239) 24,221 (549,018)
 Proceeds From Sales of Loans Held for
Sale

595,074 (9,598) 585,476
 Mortgage Banking Revenues (18,011) 9,099 (8,912)
 Net Additions for Capitalized Mortgage Servicing
Rights

1,358 (998) 360
 Stock Compensation 489 - 489
 Net Tax Benefit from Stock
Compensation

(19) - (19)
 Deferred Income Taxes (Benefit) (8,879) (1,008) (9,887)
 Net Change in Operating
Leases

(72) - (72)
 Net Gain on Sales and Write-Downs of Other Real Estate
Owned

(26) - (26)
 Net (Increase) Decrease in Other Assets 845 2,671 3,516
 Net Increase (Decrease) in Other
Liabilities

22,040 - 22,040
Net Cash Provided (Used In) By Operating Activities 48,075 21,107 69,182

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIESSecurities Held to
Maturity: Purchases (218,548) - (218,548)
 Payments, Maturities, and Calls 28,111 - 28,111
 Purchases (37,044) - (37,044)
 Proceeds from the Sale of
Securities

3,365 - 3,365
 Payments, Maturities, and Calls 47,413 - 47,413
Purchases of Loans Held for
Investment

(174,779) - (174,779)
Net (Increase) Decrease in Loans (109,806) (21,107) (130,913)
Proceeds From Sales of Other Real Estate
Owned

30 - 30
Purchases of Premises and Equipment,
net

(3,322) - (3,322)
Noncontrolling Interest
Contributions

2,573 - 2,573
Net Cash Used In Investing
Activities

(462,007) (21,107) (483,114)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIESNet Increase in
Deposits

73,396 - 73,396
Net (Decrease) Increase in Other Short-Term
Borrowings

4,784 - 4,784
Repayment of Other Long-Term Borrowings (150) - (150)
Dividends Paid (5,424) - (5,424)
Issuance of Common Stock Under Compensation
Plans

496 - 496
Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities 73,102 - 73,102

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

(340,830) - (340,830)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period
 

1,035,354 - 1,035,354
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period
 

$ 694,524 $ - $ 694,524

Supplemental Cash Flow
Disclosures: Interest Paid $ 1,617 $ - $ 1,617
 Income Taxes Paid $ 3,765 $ - $ 3,765

Noncash Investing and Financing
Activities: Loans and Premises Transferred to Other Real Estate Owned $ 77 $ - $ 77

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these
statements.
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CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

For the Nine Months Ended September 30,
2022

(Dollars in Thousands)
As
PreviouslyReported

Restatement
Impact As

Restated
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Income Attributable to Common
Shareowners

$ 28,483 $ (4,680) $ 23,803
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to
 Provision for Credit
Losses

3,641 237 3,878
 Depreciation 5,689 - 5,689
 Amortization of Premiums, Discounts, and Fees, net 7,190 (572) 6,618
 Amortization of Intangible Assets 120 - 120
 Pension Settlement Charges 480 - 480
 Originations of Loans Held for
Sale

(799,482) 27,393 (772,089)
 Proceeds From Sales of Loans Held for
Sale

826,837 (13,570) 813,267
 Mortgage Banking Revenues (25,127) 13,320 (11,807)
 Net Additions for Capitalized Mortgage Servicing
Rights

(1,921) 2,491 570
 Stock Compensation 904 - 904
 Net Tax Benefit from Stock
Compensation

(19) - (19)
 Deferred Income Taxes (Benefit) (11,265) (1,589) (12,854)
 Net Change in Operating
Leases

(83) - (83)
 Net Gain on Sales and Write-Downs of Other Real Estate
Owned

(136) - (136)
 Net (Increase) Decrease in Other Assets 3,696 - 3,696
 Net Increase (Decrease) in Other
Liabilities

12,839 - 12,839
Net Cash Provided (Used In) By Operating Activities 51,846 23,030 74,876

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIESSecurities Held to
Maturity: Purchases (219,865) - (219,865)
 Payments, Maturities, and Calls 40,096 - 40,096
 Purchases (41,880) - (41,880)
 Proceeds from the Sale of
Securities

3,365 - 3,365
 Payments, Maturities, and Calls 64,301 - 64,301
Purchases of Loans Held for
Investment

(329,481) - (329,481)
Net (Increase) Decrease in Loans (90,086) (23,030) (113,116)
Proceeds From Sales of Other Real Estate
Owned

1,683 - 1,683
Purchases of Premises and Equipment,
net

(4,013) - (4,013)
Noncontrolling Interest
Contributions

2,867 - 2,867
Net Cash Used In Investing
Activities

(573,013) (23,030) (596,043)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIESNet Increase in
Deposits

46,516 - 46,516
Net (Decrease) Increase in Other Short-Term
Borrowings

17,592 - 17,592
Repayment of Other Long-Term Borrowings (200) - (200)
Dividends Paid (8,307) - (8,307)
Issuance of Common Stock Under Compensation
Plans

577 - 577
Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities 56,178 - 56,178

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

(464,989) - (464,989)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period
 

1,035,354 - 1,035,354
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period
 

$ 570,365 $ - $ 570,365

Supplemental Cash Flow
Disclosures: Interest Paid $ 3,588 $ - $ 3,588
 Income Taxes Paid $ 6,410 $ - $ 6,410

Noncash Investing and Financing
Activities: Loans and Premises Transferred to Other Real Estate Owned $ 1,543 $ - $ 1,543

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these
statements.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and
Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and
Procedures

. At December 31, 2022, the end of the period covered by this Form 10-
K/A,our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our

disclosurecontrols and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Based upon that evaluation,
atthe time the Original Form 10-K was filed, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer each concluded that
atDecember 31, 2022, we maintained effective disclosure controls and procedures. Subsequent to that evaluation,
managementconducted a reevaluation, concluding that our disclosure controls and procedures were ineffective as of December 31, 2022 due
tothe identification of the material weakness discussed in “Existence of Material Weakness as of December 31, 2022”
below.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting.

 Our management is responsible for establishing
andmaintaining effective internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed

toprovide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
forexternal purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles.
Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives because
ofits inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and
issubject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal control over financial reporting can also
becircumvented by collusion or improper management override. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that
materialmisstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. However,
theseinherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the
processsafeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.

Management is also responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements and
otherfinancial information contained in this report. The accompanying consolidated financial statements were prepared in
conformitywith U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and include, as necessary, best estimates and judgments by
management.
Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
FinancialOfficer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework
inInternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission(2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). Based on this evaluation, at the time the Original Form 10-K was filed, under
theframework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework, our management concluded we maintained effective internal control
overfinancial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f), as of December 31, 2022. Subsequent to
thatevaluation, management conducted a reevaluation, concluding that our internal control over financial reporting was ineffective
asof December 31, 2022 due to the identification of the material weakness discussed below.
 
Existence of Material Weakness as of December 31,
2022
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there
isa reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not
beprevented or detected on a timely basis. Based on this definition, management has concluded that the material weakness
notedbelow existed in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during fiscal year 2022 and as of December 31,
2022.Based on management’s assessment described above, the Company’s control over the review of significant inter-
companymortgage loan sales and servicing transactions did not operate effectively. Specifically, its management review control over
thecompleteness and accuracy of elimination entries in its consolidation process was not designed effectively as it was
notsufficiently precise to identify all of the necessary elimination entries between CCB and its subsidiary, CCHL. As a result,
totalassets were overstated by $6.7 million as of December 31, 2022 and net income was overstated by $6.7 million for the year
endedDecember 31, 2022. The material weakness resulted in the restatement of the Company’s consolidated financial statements as
ofand for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the unaudited condensed quarterly financial information for the quarterly
periodsended March 31, 2022, June 30, 2022, and September 30, 2022 to reflect the correction of this error. For more
informationregarding the error and the restatements, see “Part II – Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Note 1
–Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements” in this Form 10-
K/A.
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Remediation Plan

Since identifying the material weakness described above, management, with oversight from the Audit Committee and input
fromthe Board of Directors, has devoted substantial resources to the ongoing implementation of remediation efforts.
Theseremediation efforts, summarized below, which either have already been implemented or are continuing to be implemented,
areintended to address both the identified material weakness and to enhance the Company’s overall internal control over financial
reporting and disclosure controls and
procedures.
Certain internal control and procedural enhancements and remedial actions are in the process of completion, including:

● Enhance the precision level for the review of existing accounts subject to elimination and confirmation of
properelimination in consolidation;

● Enhance the procedures for identifying new inter-company accounts and activities subject to elimination in
consolidation; 

● Increase the granularity of general ledger mapping for inter-company accounts subject to elimination in
consolidation;and

● Enhance financial close checklist and pre-close meeting agenda to ensure proper and timely identification of
inter-company activities subject to
elimination.

The Company is working to remediate the material weakness as efficiently and effectively as possible. The material
weaknesscannot be considered remediated until the applicable controls have operated for a sufficient period of time and management
hasconcluded, through testing, that these controls are designed and operating effectively. Accordingly, management will continue
tomonitor and evaluate the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and the disclosure controls and
procedures.
The 2022 financial statements have been audited by the independent registered public accounting firm of FORVIS LLP
(f/k/aBKD, LLP). FORVIS has also issued a report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. That report has
alsobeen made a part of this Form 10-
K/A.
Change in Internal
Control

. Except as identified above with respect to remediation of the material weakness, there have been no
changes in our internal control during the fourth fiscal quarter of 2022 that materially affected, or are likely to materially
affect,our internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm

To the Shareowners, Board of Directors and Audit Committee
 Capital City Bank Group,
Inc.Tallahassee, Florida

Opinion on the Internal Control over Financial
Reporting
We have audited Capital City Bank Group, Inc.’s (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of December
31,2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework:

(2013)
 issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

In our report dated March 1, 2023, we expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
controlover financial reporting. As described below, a material weakness was subsequently identified as a result of the restatement
ofthe previously issued consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, management has revised its assessment about
theeffectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and our present opinion on the effectiveness of
theCompany’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, as expressed herein, is different from
thatexpressed in our previous report.
 
In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described above on the achievement of the objectives of the
controlcriteria, the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based
oncriteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework:

(2013)
 issued by the COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States)(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and for each of the years
inthe two-year period ended December 31, 2022, and our report dated March 1, 2023, (December 22, 2023, as to the
restatementdescribed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements), expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated
financialstatements and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the
restatement.
Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
itsassessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the
accompanying

Management’s Report
on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting

. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control
overfinancial reporting based on our audit.

 
We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company
inaccordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
ExchangeCommission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
theaudit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
allmaterial respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
riskthat a material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
Webelieve that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
Definitions and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial
Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
thereliability of financial reporting and the preparation of reliable financial statements for external purposes in accordance
withgenerally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
andprocedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactionsand dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
topermit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
andexpenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
theCompany; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
ordisposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also,projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequatebecause of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
Material
Weakness
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that 
thereis a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not
beprevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material weakness has been identified and included in
management’sassessment:

The errors identified as to the restatement described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements resulted from a
materialweakness in the control environment, as follows:

● The Company’s control over the review of significant inter-company mortgage loan sales and servicing transactions 
didnot operate effectively. Specifically, its management review control over the completeness and accuracy of
eliminationentries in its consolidation process was not designed effectively as it was not sufficiently precise to identify all of
thenecessary elimination entries between Capital City Bank and its subsidiary, Capital City Home
Loans.

The Company determined inter-company transactions related to the sale of residential mortgage loans between wholly
ownedsubsidiaries were not properly eliminated and net loan fees were not properly recorded.
 
This material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of auditing procedures applied in our
auditof the Company’s consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 1, 2023, on
thoseconsolidated financial
statements.
FORVIS, LLP
 (Formerly, BKD, LLP)
 
Little Rock,
Arkansas
March 1, 2023 (December 22, 2023, as to the material
weakness)



159

Item 9B. Other
Information
None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent
Inspections
None.
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Part III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate
Governance
Incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “Proposal No. 1 – Election of Directors”, “Corporate Governance
atCapital City,” “Share Ownership,” and “Board Committee Membership” in the Registrant’s Proxy Statement relating to
itsAnnual Meeting of Shareowners held April 25,
2023.
Item 11. Executive
Compensation
Incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Executive
Compensation,”and “Director Compensation” in the Registrant’s Proxy Statement relating to its Annual Meeting of Shareowners held April
25,2023.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareowners
Matters. 
Information required by Item 12 of Form 10-K/A is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the
sectionscaptioned “Share Ownership” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Registrant’s Proxy Statement relating to
itsAnnual Meeting of Shareowners held April 25, 2023.
 
Item
13.

 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director
Independence

Incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “Transactions With Related Persons” and “Corporate Governance 
atCapital City” in the Registrant’s Proxy Statement relating to its Annual Meeting of Shareowners held April 25, 2023.
 
Item
14.

 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Audit Committee Matters” in the Registrant’s Proxy Statement relating
toits Annual Meeting of Shareowners held April 25, 2023.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
 
The following documents are filed as part of this
report
 1. Financial Statements

 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at the End of Fiscal Years 2022 and
2021 Consolidated Statements of Income for Fiscal Years 2022, 2021, and
2020 Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for Fiscal Years 2022, 2021, and
2020 Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareowners’ Equity for Fiscal Years 2022, 2021, and

2020 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for Fiscal Years 2022, 2021, and
2020 Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements
 2. Financial Statement Schedules

Other schedules and exhibits are omitted because the required information either is not applicable or is shown in
thefinancial statements or the notes
thereto.

 3. Exhibits Required to be Filed by Item 601 of Regulation S-
K

Reg. S-K
Exhibit 
Table
Item No. Description of
Exhibit
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation - incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1

ofthe Registrant’s Form 8-K (filed 5/3/21) (No. 0-
13358).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws - incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the
Registrant’sForm 8-K (filed 5/3/21) (No. 0-
13358).4.1 See Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2 for provisions of Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation 

and Amended and Restated Bylaws, which define the rights of the Registrant’s 
shareowners.4.2 Capital City Bank Group, Inc. 2021 Director Stock Purchase Plan - incorporated herein by reference
toExhibit 4.3 of the Registrant’s Form S-8 (filed 5/14/21) (No. 333-
256134).

4.3 Capital City Bank Group, Inc. 2021 Associate Stock Purchase Plan - incorporated herein by
referenceto Exhibit 4.4 of the Registrant’s Form S-8 (filed 5/14/21) (No. 333-
256134).4.4 Capital City Bank Group, Inc. 2021 Associate Incentive Plan - incorporated herein by reference
toExhibit 4.5 of the Registrant’s Form S-8 (filed 5/14/21) (No. 333-
256134).4.5 In accordance with Regulation S-K, Item 601(b)(4)(iii)(A) certain instruments defining the rights

of holders of long-term debt of Capital City Bank Group, Inc. not exceeding 10% of the total assets
ofCapital City Bank Group, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries have been omitted; the
Registrantagrees to furnish a copy of any such instruments to the Commission upon
request.10.1 Capital City Bank Group, Inc. 1996 Dividend Reinvestment and Optional Stock Purchase Plan
-incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 of the Registrant’s Form S-3 (filed 01/30/97) (No.
333-20683).

10.2 Capital City Bank Group, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan - incorporated herein
byreference to Exhibit 10(d) of the Registrant’s Form 10-K (filed 3/27/03) (No. 0-
13358).10.3 Capital City Bank Group, Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan – incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit4.3 of Registrant’s Form S-8 (filed 09/30/97) (No. 333-
36693).

10.6 Form of Participant Agreement for Long-Term Incentive Plan. - incorporated herein by reference
toExhibit 10.6 of the Registrant's Form 10-K (filed 3/01/23) (No. 0-
13358).14 Capital City Bank Group, Inc. Code of Ethics for the Chief Financial Officer and Senior
FinancialOfficers - incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 14 of the Registrant's Form 8-K (filed
3/11/05)(No. 0-13358).

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000726601/000117120021000234/i21280_ex3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000726601/000117120021000234/i21280_ex3-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000726601/000117120021000234/i21280_ex3-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000726601/000117120021000234/i21280_ex3-2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000726601/000117120021000238/i21385_ex4-3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000726601/000117120021000238/i21385_ex4-3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000726601/000117120021000238/i21385_ex4-4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000726601/000117120021000238/i21385_ex4-4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000726601/000117120021000238/i21385_ex4-5.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0000726601/000117120021000238/i21385_ex4-5.htm
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21 Capital City Bank Group, Inc. Subsidiaries, as of December 31, 
2022.**

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.**

23.2 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.**

31.1 Certification of CEO pursuant to Securities and Exchange Act Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of
2002.**31.2 Certification of CFO pursuant to Securities and Exchange Act Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Actof
2002.**

32.1 Certification of CEO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
theSarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.**32.2 Certification of CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
theSarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.**101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

Document**101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document**
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
Document**101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document**101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document**
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit
101)

* Information required to be presented in Exhibit 11 is provided in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements
underPart II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K/A in accordance with the provisions of U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.** Filed electronically herewith. 

Item 16. Form 10-K/A
Summary
None.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
thisreport to be signed on December 22, 2023, on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.
CAPITAL CITY BANK GROUP, 
INC.

/s/ William G. Smith, Jr.
 William G. Smith,
Jr.Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed on December 22, 2023 by
thefollowing persons in the capacities indicated.

/s/ William G. Smith, Jr.
 William G. Smith,
Jr.Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Jeptha E. Larkin 
Jeptha E. Larkin
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer(Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
thisreport to be signed on December 22, 2023, on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

Directors:

  

   
/s/ Robert
Antoine

 /s/ Eric Grant
 Robert Antoine  Eric Grant
  
/s/ Thomas A. Barron  /s/ Laura

Johnson Thomas A. Barron   Laura Johnson
   
/s/ William
Butler

 /s/ John G. Sample, Jr.
 William
Butler

 John G. Sample,
Jr  

/s/ Stanley W. Connally, Jr.  /s/ William G. Smith,
Jr. Stanley W. Connally,

Jr
 William G. Smith,

Jr.
/s/ Marshall M. Criser III /s/ Ashbel C. Williams
 Marshall M. Criser III  Ashbel C. Williams

/s/ Kimberly Crowell
 Kimberly Crowell
  
/s/ Bonnie Davenport  
 Bonnie Davenport  

 
 

 
  





1

Exhibit 21. Capital City Bank Group, Inc. Subsidiaries, at December 31,
2022.
Direct Subsidiaries:
Capital City Banc Investments Inc.
(Florida)Capital City Bank
(Florida)Capital City Strategic Wealth, LLC
(Florida)CCBG Capital Trust I
(Delaware)CCBG Capital Trust II
(Delaware)
Indirect Subsidiaries:
Capital City Investments
(DBA)Capital City Trust Company
(Florida)Capital City Home Loans, LLC
(Georgia)FNB Financial Services, LLC
(Florida)Southeastern Oaks, LLC (Florida)
Capital City Wealth Advisors, Inc. (Florida)
 Southern Live Oak Investments, Inc.
(Delaware)Red Hills REIT, Inc. 
(Florida)
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-3D (Registration No. 333-20683) and
theRegistration Statements on Form S-8 (Registration Nos. 333-36693 and 333-256134) of Capital City Bank Group, Inc.
(theCompany) of our report dated March 1, 2023 (December 22, 2023, as to the effects of the restatement discussed in Note 1), on
ouraudits of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and for each of the years in
thetwo-year period ended December 31, 2022, which report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A. We also consent to
theincorporation by reference of our report dated March 1, 2023 (December 22, 2023, as to the material weakness), on our audit of
theinternal control over financial reporting of the Company as of December 31, 2022, which report is included in this Annual Report
onForm 10-
K/A.
FORVIS, LLP (Formerly, BKD,
LLP)

Little Rock,
Arkansas
December 22,
2023
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Exhibit 23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration
Statements:
(1)  Registration Statement (Form S-3D No. 333-20683) of Capital City Bank Group, 

Inc.,(2)  Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-36693) of Capital City Bank Group, Inc.,
and(3)  Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-256134) of Capital City Bank Group, 
Inc. of our report dated March 1, 2021, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Capital City Bank Group, Inc.

includedin this Annual Report (Form 10-K/A) of Capital City Bank Group, Inc. for the year ended December 31,
2020.

/s/ Ernst & Young, 
LLP

Tallahassee, Florida
December 22,
2023
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Exhibit 31.1
Certification of CEO Pursuant to Securities Exchange
ActRule 13a-14(a) / 15d-14(a) as Adopted Pursuant

toSection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, William G. Smith, Jr., certify
that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A of Capital City Bank Group, 
Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
materialfact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not

misleadingwith respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairlypresent in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,

theperiods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
andprocedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as

definedin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
bedesigned under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its

consolidatedsubsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
isbeing prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financialreporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financialreporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
acceptedaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
thisreport our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the

periodcovered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurredduring the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)

thathas materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financialreporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 
controlover financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or

personsperforming the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarizeand report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significantrole in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.

/s/ William G. Smith, Jr.
 William G. Smith,
Jr.Chairman, President and
 Chief Executive Officer

Date: December 22,
2023
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Exhibit 31.2
Certification of CFO Pursuant to Securities Exchange
ActRule 13a-14(a) / 15d-14(a) as Adopted Pursuant

toSection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Jeptha E. Larkin, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A of Capital City Bank Group, 
Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
materialfact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not

misleadingwith respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairlypresent in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,

theperiods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
andprocedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as

definedin Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
bedesigned under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its

consolidatedsubsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
isbeing prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financialreporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financialreporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
acceptedaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
thisreport our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the

periodcovered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurredduring the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)

thathas materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financialreporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 
controlover financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or

personsperforming the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarizeand report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significantrole in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.

/s/ Jeptha E. Larkin 
Jeptha E. Larkin
Executive Vice President and
 Chief Financial
Officer
Date: December 22,
2023
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Exhibit 32.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906

 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
theundersigned certifies that, to the undersigned’s knowledge, (1) this Annual Report of Capital City Bank Group, Inc.

(the“Company”) on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
onthe date hereof (this “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
asamended, and (2) the information contained in this Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of
theCompany and its results of operations as of and for the periods covered
therein.

/s/ William G. Smith, Jr.
 William G. Smith,
Jr.Chairman, President
andChief Executive Officer

Date: December 22,
2023
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Exhibit 32.2

Certification of CFO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906

 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
theundersigned certifies that, to the undersigned’s knowledge, (1) this Annual Report of Capital City Bank Group, Inc.

(the“Company”) on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
onthe date hereof (this “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
asamended, and (2) the information contained in this Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of
theCompany and its results of operations as of and for the periods covered
therein.

/s/ Jeptha E. Larkin 
Jeptha E. Larkin
Executive Vice President and
 Chief Financial
Officer

Date: December 22,
2023




